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The theme of this year’s Annual  
and  Sustainability Report is 
community engagement

Koskikara
Valkeakoski
Citycon’s gross leasable area 5,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, Alko, Vapaa Valinta, Seppälä

Koskikeskus
Tampere
Citycon’s gross leasable area 34,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Intersport, Gina Tricot, Bik Bok, Promod, 
Seppälä, Lindex

Linjuri
Salo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 9,200 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Pharmacy, Alko, Anttila, K-market, Posti

Lippulaiva
Espoo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 19,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Alko, Anttila, pharmacy, K-supermarket, 
Lidl, Posti, Sky Bowl

Martinlaakso
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 7,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, Lidl, Sampo Pankki, pharmacy

Myllypuro
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 7,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, K-supermarket, media library, 
pharmacy

Myyrmanni
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 39,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-citymarket, H&M, Anttila, pharmacy, 
Alko, Suomalainen Kirjakauppa, Stadium

Sampokeskus
Rovaniemi
Citycon’s gross leasable area 13,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Dressmann, Jack&Jones, MODA, Gina 
Tricot, Pentik, Vero Moda, Vila, Duetto

Torikeskus
Seinäjoki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 11,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, Aleksi 13, KappAhl, Lindex, Pentik

Tikkuri
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 13,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Valintatalo, Nordea, Dressmann, Aleksi 13, 
Seppälä

Trio
Lahti
Citycon’s gross leasable area 45,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, K-supermarket, Gina Tricot, Kekäle, 
Cumulus, Posti

Galleria Esplanad
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 11,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Tiger of Sweden, Maranello, Gant Store, 
Della Marga, Marimekko, M-Boxi, Oscar Jacobson Shop

Tullintori
Tampere
Citycon’s gross leasable area 10,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-market, Seppälä, Vapaa Valinta, phar-
macy

Fruängen Centrum
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 14,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Library, Systembolaget, Läkarhuset

Högdalen Centrum
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 19,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, MatDax, Lindex, Dressmann, pharmacy

Jakobsbergs Centrum
Järfälla
Citycon’s gross leasable area 45,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Coop, H&M, Lindex, Systembolaget

Kista Galleria
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 90,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Åhléns, ICA, New Yorker, Clas Ohlson, 
StayAt Hotel 

Liljeholmstorget Galleria
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 40,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA Kvantum, Willy’s, H&M, Systembola-
get, SATS, Clas Ohlson, MQ, Lindex

Stenungs Torg
Stenungsund
Citycon’s gross leasable area 36,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: KappAhl, Hemtex, Systembolaget, Coop

Strömpilen
Umeå
Citycon’s gross leasable area 26,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA Maxi, Elgiganten, Lindex, H&M

Tumba Centrum
Botkyrka
Citycon’s gross leasable area 25,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, KappAhl, H&M, Dressmann

Åkersberga Centrum
Österåker
Citycon’s gross leasable area 27,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, KappAhl, Lindex, library, Systembolaget

Åkermyntan Centrum
Hässelby
Citycon’s gross leasable area 9,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, Coop, pharmacy, Lidl

Citycon’s shopping centres in the baltic 
countries and in denmark

Rocca al Mare
Tallinn
Citycon’s gross leasable area 53,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Prisma, Marks&Spencer, NewYorker, 
Lindex, Rademar

Kristiine
Tallinn
Citycon’s gross leasable area 42,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Prisma, Zara, NewYorker, M&S, Benetton, 
JYSK

Magistral
Tallinn
Citycon’s gross leasable area 11,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Rimi, Koduextra, Rademar, Tiimari, 
Seppälä

Mandarinas
Vilnius
Citycon’s gross leasable area 7,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Rimi, Hansapank, Farma

Albertslund Centrum
Alberstlund
Citycon’s gross leasable area 14,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Aldi, SuperBest, Vero Moda

Citycon’s shopping centres in Sweden

Shopping centres managed by Citycon
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INTRODUCTION OF THEME

Shopping centres help build  
and support a community engagement
The theme of Citycon's Annual and Sustainabil-
ity Report this year is community engagement. 
Illustrations and stories depicting everyday life 
in shopping centres are used throughout the re-
port. 

Community engagement for Citycon means 
that the majority of its shopping centres are 
centrally located in towns and cities, close to or 
within easy reach for people in their daily lives. 
As a company, Citycon contributes to the future 
and the development of the towns and cities in 
which it operates. 

In 2012, Citycon made special efforts to con-
nect with its stakeholders. Results of the stake-
holder group surveys confirmed for example 
that although Citycon is the physical owner of 
the shopping centres, the users of the centre - 
the consumers - also consider the centres their 

own. Shopping centres are seen as modern-day 
town squares. They are places where you spend 
time with family and friends, get together with 
others, enjoy good food, and do the week’s 
shopping at the same time. Thanks to their cen-
tral location, Citycon’s shopping centres are 
ideal for this purpose.

Even though the methods used to design 
built environment are not as such suitable for 
building community engagement, they can help 
make the environment conducive to community 
engagement and to facilitate interaction be-
tween people (Aalto University: Land Use Plan-
ning and Urban Studies Group). This is Citycon’s 
goal, too. 

For more information, view Citycon’s An-
nual and Sustainability Report online at 
www.annualreport2012.citycon.com

The built environment 
can contribute to 

the creation of 
better community 

engagement
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CEO's review

Citycon’s philosophy is based on community thinking 
Inside the company we have been talking a lot this year about com-
munity thinking, internally called “Cityconmunity”. Our centres are 
located close to where the people live and work and we want to 
be part of their society and everyday life. There is a natural role in 
social interaction, which is more than only shopping. We sell more 
than space; our operations are driven by the fact that we are in a 
hospitality business. We want to attract and bring people together 
in our shopping centres, because they need or want to be there. 
One concrete way to create a positive customer experience and 
enhance communality is through focusing on digital marketing like 
Facebook. I’m delighted to say that we have been able to increase 
the number of the fans of Citycon’s shopping centres to 215 000 
by year end. In Finland, for example, the number of fans sextupled 
during the year! 

Our choice is to be in urban locations, close to where the people 
live, connected to public transportation, health care and munici-
pality facilities. This choice is also based on our aim to contribute 
to social and environmental responsibility aspects.

Costs and revenues
In 2012, the company’s like-for-like net rental income grew by 4.9 
per cent. In 2011 we worked on “Project Now!”. This is an internal 
business improvement and cost reduction program. A more cost 
conscious mentality throughout the company, has already lead to 
savings in 2012. For 2013 another reduction in administrative 
costs is set up to EUR 5 million compared to the 2012 level.  One 
area of cost efficiency is energy saving investments, which have 
been implemented throughout the year. This work will continue 
and further efficiencies will be sought after.

During the year our Finnish operations moved to Iso Omena 
in order to be closer to the clients and more cost efficient. Also 
Group operations moved to a more functional and more cost ef-
ficient office. 

We worked hard on inward extensions and efficiencies of 
space, which lead to gaining more leasable area within shopping 
centres. In addition we concentrated on gaining additional in-
come by specialty leasing and most importantly worked towards 
a better tenant mix. We see that international tenants are looking 
for expansion opportunities from a regional/Nordic point of view,  
whilst still expanding traditionally one country at a time. This is 
proven for example by the British department store chain Deben-
hams signing a deal with us to come to both Estonia (in the fall 
of 2013) and Finland (a letter of intent has been signed). Citycon 
also succeeded in bringing Hennes&Mauritz to Estonia to our 
shopping centres Kristiine and Rocca al Mare in the fall of 2013.

Solid balance sheet
In 2012 we worked successfully on improving our balance sheet. 
Practically all material bank loans due 2013 have been refinanced 
and Citycon’s average debt maturity is extended after Citycon 
signed a EUR 360 million five-year credit facility with a group of 
Nordic banks. These are important achievements in the current 
uncertain economic environment. The company also strength-
ened its liquidity and balance sheet by issuing a EUR 150 million 
senior unsecured domestic bond in May and through an about 
EUR 90 million rights issue in September. As bank financing con-
ditions remain tight, the company will continue to actively look for 
diversification of funding sources.

Think regional, act local
Citycon turns 25 years in 2013. The year will be characterized by 
strengthening the Citycon quality brand and profile. We believe 
that the power of the local shopping centre brand should be com-
bined with the strength and knowledge of Citycon as a Nordic in-
dustry leader. In practice we want to shift decision making power 
closer to the markets. At the same time we will further build on 
standardization and harmonization of Citycon competences and 

Towards one Citycon

The key focus in 2012 has been to improve profitability and solid 
cash flows. This has meant operational improvements, identifying 
and working on redevelopment potential and carrying through se-
lective acquisitions. We have broadened our portfolio geographi-
cally to Denmark by acquiring Albertslund Centrum in Copenha-
gen in July and strengthened our market position considerably in 
Sweden by acquiring Kista Galleria in Stockholm (deal closed in 
January 2013). We have outlined a strategy to be a top three play-
er in the main markets that we operate in. In Finland and Estonia 
we already have the top position, and now after the acquisition of 
Kista Galleria we will also be one of the top three players in Swe-
den, which is our most important market in the area. When looking 

at the portfolio on a more micro level, our strategy is focused on 
urban locations. 

Strong quality criteria for asset selection
Citycon’s asset selection is strict and focused and consists of 

four criteria. The chosen properties should always be/have:
1. dominant in their catchment area, in markets with

high barriers of entry,
2. situated in growing cities,

3. well located, typically grocery-anchored and ne-
cessity based in an urban environment, 

4. (re)development potential and intensification 
opportunities achievable by active retail man-

agement.
In Citycon’s shopping centres a division 

could be made into two different catego-
ries: larger regional shopping centres of-

fering an element of entertainment and 
hospitality. Examples being Estonia’s 

Rocca al Mare, Finland’s Iso Omena 
and Sweden’s newly acquired Kista 

Galleria. The second category is 
the smaller, centers that cater 

everyday needs  like Colum-
bus and Duo in Finland and 

Magistral in Estonia.

Our choice is to be in urban 
locations, close to where the 
people live, connected to public 
transportation, health care and 
municipality facilities. 
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Key Figures
 2012 2011

Turnover, EUR million 239.2 217.1
Operating profit, EUR million 163.4 81.8

% of turnover 68.3% 37.7%
Profit before taxes, EUR million 95.5 19.7
Profit for the period, EUR million 87.7 21.3
EPRA operating profit, EUR million 135.7 117.4
EPRA Earnings, EUR million 63.9 53.3
Fair value of investment properties, EUR million 2,714.2 2,522.1
Earnings per share (basic), EUR 1) 0.26 0.05
Earnings per share (diluted), EUR  1) 0.26 0.05
EPRA earnings per share (basic), EUR 1) 0.214 0.197
Dividend and return from invested unrestricted equity fund per 
share total, EUR 1) 0.15 2) 0.15 
Net cash from operating activities per share, EUR 1) 0.21 0.25
Equity per share, EUR 3.11 3.25
Net asset value (EPRA NAV) per share, EUR 3.49 3.62
EPRA NNNAV per share, EUR 3.08 3.29
Equity ratio, %  37.8 36.0
Gearing, %   139.8 151.4
Net interest-bearing debt (fair value), EUR million 1,487.8 1,463.5
Net rental yield, % 6.4 6.0
Average net yield requirement by external appraiser, % 6.3 6.4
Occupancy rate (economic), % 95.7 95.5
Personnel (average for the period) 132 131
Personnel at the end of the period 129 136
Energy consumption, kWh/visitor 1.53 1.55
Carbon footprint, kgCO2e/gross leasable area  (sq.m.) 50 47
Water consumption, l/visitor/year 4.2 4.3
Recycling rate, % 83.2 77.6

1) 	 Per share result key figures have been calculated with the issue-adjusted  
number of shares resulting from the rights issue executed in October 2012.

2)	 Board proposal

best practices. This is what we will continue 
to manage and further implement in our struc-
ture, processes and mentality. 

As we now start our 25th birthday year at 
Citycon, we wish to keep in mind our shopping 
centres’ local history and important role inside 
their communities. For 2013 all focus will be 
on operational improvements in a more effi-
cient and restructured organization, with the 
one philosophy: building one Citycon.

I would like to thank all of our tenants, 
shareholders and other stakeholders for the 
great year 2012. A special thanks goes to our 
employees for their good work and dedication.  

Helsinki, 6 February 2013

Marcel Kokkeel
CEO

CEO
'S REVIEW
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Highlights in 2012

Highlights in 2012  

JANUARY
•	 Efva Attling design 

jewellery store opens a 
shop in the Kämp Galleria 
shopping centre 

•	 Citycon launches internal 
competition ‘Pinkest Act’ 

JUNE
•	 Citycon announces it 

will bring H&M to the 
Estonian market in 
2013

•	 Citycon announces 
the acquisition of 
Albertslund Centrum, 
the company's first 
shopping centre in 
Denmark

APRIL
•	 Changes in Group structure: 

Citycon’s Finnish real estate 
operations transferred to two new 
holding companies: Citycon Finland 
Oy and Etelä-Suomen Kauppakiin-
teistöt Oy 

•	 COS (Collection of Style) opens its 
first store in Finland in the Kämp 
Galleria shopping centre 

•	 EKFL rewarded Citycon with “The 
best real estate performance of 
2011 award” in Estonia  

•	 Citycon acquires the Arabia shop-
ping centre in Helsinki

•	 The Tallinn City Government 
declares the Magistral shopping 
centre extension the best-main-
tained construction site 

•	 Martinlaakso Ostari shopping 
centre awarded LEED certification 

•	 Nilf Styf appointed Citycon's Chief 
Investment Officer and a member 
of the Corporate Management 
Committee

In accordance with the lease agreement 
Citycon signed with H&M in June, the 

two first H&M stores in Estonia will 
open in the autumn 2013 in shopping 

centres owned by Citycon.

Shopping centre Arabia, acquired by 
Citycon in April 2012, is located in the 

North-East part of Helsinki’s city centre, 
with good transport connections. As an 
urban residential, working and campus 

area, today’s Arabianranta offers 
growth potential to daily shopping 

at the shopping centre. In the future, 
Citycon intends to develop shopping 

centre Arabia actively to diversify its 
offerings further.

FEBRUARY
•	 Furla opens a store in the Kämp 

Galleria shopping centre 
•	 Citycon’s Finnish operations 

move to Iso Omena

MaRCH
•	 Citycon Creating Green 

campaign in shopping 
centres 

•	 Almost all Citycon shop-
ping centres participate 
in the Earth Hour on 31 
March at 20.30-21.30 

•	 Tenant satisfaction 
survey in Finland 

MAY
•	 Opening ceremony of 

the Magistral shop-
ping centre extension 

•	 The Myllypuron 
Ostari shopping centre 
reached full completion

•	 City of Stockholm 
Transport Services 
and Citycon agree to 
promote safety and 
visitor comfort in the 
Högdalen Centrum 
shopping centre

•	 Citycon issues a EUR 
150 million senior 
unsecured domestic 
bond
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JULY
•	 Citycon expands to the 

Danish market by acquiring 
Albertslund Centrum shop-
ping centre

•	 Citycon acquires the rest 
of the Strömpilen shopping 
centre and the Länken retail 
property in Umeå, Sweden

•	 Finland's first Yo! Frozen 
Yogurt Bar opens in the Iso 
Omena shopping centre

•	 Marko Juhokas appointed 
Head of Finnish Operations 
and member of Citycon's 
Corporate Management 
Committee 

November
•	 Opening ceremony 

of the Koskikeskus 
shopping centre 
extension

•	 Citycon's head 
office relocates to 
Korkeavuorenkatu 

•	 Citycon announces 
the arrival of a 
Sokos department 
store and S-market 
in the IsoKristiina 
shopping centre  

DECEMBER
•	 Citycon announces the ac-

quisition of shopping centre 
Kista Galleria in Stockholm 
together with CPPIB. The 
company also states that it 
will finance the deal with a 
stand-alone asset backed 
loan and starts to plan a 
rights issue

•	 Changes in the Corporate 
Management Committee and 
Harri Holmström is appoint-
ed as Chief Operating Officer

OCTOBER
•	 Iso Omena to provide electric-vehicle charging points that utilise new 

technology 
•	 Kämp Galleria renamed Galleria Esplanad
•	 The Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB) rates Citycon as 

being at Green Stars leadership level in 2012
•	 Citycon acquires a minority share in the Stenungstorg shopping centre
•	 Tenant satisfaction survey in Sweden and Estonia 

Completion of the large-
scale refurbishment 

project of Koskikeskus in 
Tampere was celebrated 

on 15-18 November. 
Almost EUR 40 million 

were invested in the 
project, involving i.a. the 

renovation of facades 
and entrances. For in-

stance, the transformed 
circular central plaza 

has become more func-
tional, both as a stage 
for various events and 
as a meeting point for 
the city’s inhabitants.

Citycon took its first step to the Danish 
market by acquiring Albertslund Centrum 
shopping centre on 1 July. Albertslund Cen-
trum is the social hub of the area catering, in 
addition to shops, to the needs of everyday 
life, through municipal services, a town hall, a 
theatre, a cinema and offices.  

In December 2012, 
Citycon announced 
the acquisition 
of Kista Galleria 
shopping centre in 
Stockholm together 
with CPPIB. By 
gross leasable area, 
Kista Galleria will 
be Citycon’s largest 
shopping centre. The 
acquisition of Kista 
Galleria strengthens 
Citycon’s position and 
market share in Swe-
den considerably.  
 

AUGUST
•	 The Kontti department store 

of the Finnish Red Cross 
opens in the former Anttila 
department store building in 
Tikkurila

SEPTEMBER
•	 Citycon Oyj signs a EUR 360 million long-

term unsecured credit facility agreement 
with a Nordic bank group

•	 The European Public Real Estate Associ-
ation (EPRA) recognises Citycon's Annual 
and Sustainability Report 2011 again 
as one of the best in the industry and 
Citycon wins the Gold Award in the new 
Sustainability Best Practices series  

•	 The Board of Directors decides on a new 
EUR 90.7 million share issue based on 
the shareholders’ pre-emptive subscrip-
tion right 

•	 The Estonian Expressions chain opens its 
first store in Finland, in the Myyrmanni 
shopping centre

•	 Citycon accepts President of the 
Republic, Sauli Niinistö's, challenge to 
businesses to do more on behalf of young 
people 

•	 Citycon arranges its first-ever joint 
stakeholder discussion in Helsinki, Fin-
land

•	 Citycon announces that it will bring the 
British Debenhams to Estonia, a letter 
of intent to bring  Debenhams to Finland 
also signed

H
IGH


LIGHT
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materiality assessment

Towards more integrated reporting

This is Citycon's fourth integrated Annual and Sustainability Re-
port. The objective of the report is to provide a comprehensive 
description of the company's business environment, as well as its 
economic, social and environmental responsibilities. 

Reporting covers all of Citycon's operations in all operating 
countries. This is the second time that Citycon will apply the con-
struction and real-estate sector-specific (CRESS) guidelines of 
the Global Reporting Initiative, regarding the content and princi-
ples of sustainability reporting. Environmental responsibilities 
are reported in accordance with the guidelines published by EPRA 
in autumn 2011. Calculation methods have been retroactively re-
vised to achieve compliance with the new and revised guidelines. 
Coverage in terms of GRI's G3.1 reporting recommendations is 
presented on pages 78-80. Based on Citycon's self-assessment, 
the report represents GRI Application Level B. 

The report is published annually and the information present-
ed corresponds to the company's financial year i.e. 1 January - 31 
December. The next report will be published in the first quarter of 
2014. The key financial figures presented are based on audited 
accounting records and approved annual accounts. 

The content and structure of this integrated Annual and Sus-
tainability Report have been revised to include all key themes 
associated with the most significant economic, social and envi-
ronmental impacts of Citycon’s operations, or themes that are 
sufficiently important to materially affect the choices made by 
Citycon’s stakeholders. The objective of reporting is to increase 

openness and transparency, thereby making stakeholders better 
equipped to assess our operations and make decisions. Key sus-
tainability results are presented on the pages of each business 
unit, shown on pages 24, 28 and 31.  

The following factors contributed to the selection of material 
items:
• Views expressed in the context of stakeholder interaction
• Citycon's strategic policies
• Risk management programme
• Changes in the internal and external business environment, 

e.g. trends
• Industry benchmarking
• Sustainable development framework 
•	P rinciples regarding the scope of reporting.
Various stakeholder group studies were conducted and informal
discussions with local communities were arranged to find out
which issues stakeholders considered material. Similarly, account 
was taken of stakeholder feedback received through other chan-
nels. Themes considered material varied a great deal, depending 
on the stakeholder group. A diagram indicating the significance of 
themes to stakeholders and to Citycon's business is shown on the 
company website.

The GRI indicators presented in this report were selected on 
the basis of materiality assessment results. Topics considered 
material are discussed at varying length, depending on their im-
portance. 

Current trends  
driving the industry:

Community engagement
Desire for experiences

Wellbeing
Do-it-yourself

Online commerce  
and mobile applications

Recycling
Climate change
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Citycon’s mission and strategy 

Mission
We want to be the best owner and operator of Nordic and Baltic 
quality shopping centres.

Strategy
To become better, stronger and bigger in order to be a leader in the 
shopping centre business in the Nordic and Baltic regions.
•	 Better: Focus on improving profitability by enhancing opera-

tional performance.
•	 Stronger: To further strengthen the balance sheet, divest non-

core properties and bring joint venture partners into selected 
core properties to recycle capital.

•	 Bigger: Grow through extension and redevelopment of exist-
ing shopping centres as well as selective mergers and acquisi-
tions in order to become more efficient and more relevant to 
stakeholders.

A key part of Citycon’s strategy is improving the direct result from 
operations (EPRA Earnings). Costs are controlled very closely and 
the company strives for stronger rental growth. Marketing has a 
key role in this effort. The company will further focus on improving 
the occupancy rates by implementing appealing marketing pro-
grammes and by bringing in new retailers.

Strategy

The strategy includes acceleration of planned redevelopments of 
its existing strategic shopping centres and divestment of non-core 
assets. Citycon also seeks acquisitions that allow value addition by 
active shopping centre management. 

While Citycon intends to retain its market leadership in Finland 
and Estonia, it also aims to increase the relative importance of other 
countries included in its strategy, especially Sweden. In addition to 
Finland, Citycon also owns shopping centres in Sweden, Estonia, 
Lithuania and Denmark. In 2012, the company entered Denmark 
according to its strategy. Citycon will concentrate on competitive, 
urban  shopping centres located in large cities.

BETTER

Operational 
excellence: Improve 

organic growth

Improving
profitability

Financial excellence: 
Strong balance sheet 

and higher returns

Divestments & 
Recycle capital

Leverage the 
expertise: 

Economics of scale

Selective acquisitions 
and joint ventures

STRONGER BIGGER

STRATEGY
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StratEGIC Objectives    

Strat.  
Objectives     Strat. Activities     Key Performance Indicators KPIs in 2012 Targets for KPIs (-2016)

BETTER •	 Improve  
profitability

•	  Like-for-like NRI growth
•	 Occupancy rate
•	 Rent/sq. m. 
•	 Specialty leasing income
•	 OPEX recoverability
•	 Administration expenses growth versus 

portfolio size growth

• 	 Like-for-like NRI growth: 4.9%
• 	 Occupancy rate: 95.7%, shopping centres: 

96.8% and supermarkets and shops: 
88.7%

• 	 Rent/sq.m.: EUR 20.7/sq.m., growth 5.2%
• 	 Specialty leasing income: EUR 2.8 million 

(EUR 2.0 million in 2011)
• 	 OPEX recoverability: less than 100%
• 	 Decrease in administration expenses of 

4.3% and growth in portfolio size of 7.6%

• 	 Like-for-like NRI growth 1% above CPI
• 	 Average occupancy rate for shopping 

centres above 98%
• 	 Rent/sq. m. growth above CPI
• 	 Specialty leasing income enhanced
• 	 OPEX recoverability aimed at 100%
• 	 G&A growth clearly less than portfolio 

size growth (target for 2013: G&A savings 
up to EUR 5 million compared to 2012)

STRONGER •	 Divest and 
recycle capital

•	 Strengthen the 
balance sheet

•	  Divestment amount annually
•	 Value of the non-core properties (re-

sidential in Sweden and supermarkets 
and shops) in the statement of financial 
position

•	 Long-term equity ratio level
•	 Debt portfolio's hedge ratio
•	 Average loan maturity

• 	 Divestments in 2012: EUR 31.1 million
• 	 Value of the non-core properties in the 

statement of financial position on 31 Dec 
2012: approx. EUR 200 million

• 	 Equity ratio: 37.8%
• 	 Debt portfolio's hedge ratio: 89.2%
• 	 Average loan maturity: 3.2 years

• 	 Divestments: EUR 200-300 million
• 	 Equity ratio 40 - 45% over the cycle
• 	 Hedge ratio between 70% - 90%
• 	 Loan maturity on average >5 years

BIGGER •	 Execute selec-
tive property 
acquisitions 
and accelerate 
(re)develop-
ment

•	  Fair value of properties under manage-
ment (properties owned fully, partially or 
via JVs)

•	 Annual acquisition amount
•	 EPS impact of acquisitions
•	 Investments in (re)development projects

• 	 Fair value of properties under manage-
ment: EUR 2.7 billion

• 	P roperty acquisitions of EUR 58.8 million 
executed in 2012

• 	 Investments on (re)development projects: 
EUR 101.6 million

• 	 Fair value of properties under manage-
ment (either owned fully, partially or via 
JVs) after 5 years: EUR 4.0- 5.0 billion

• 	 EPS impact of acquisitions accretive
• 	 Investments in (re)development projects: 

EUR 100 - 150 million p.a. on average
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COMPETITIVE SHOPPING CENTRES THE CORE OF THE 
PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
Citycon's objective is to invest in growing shopping centres in winning cities. An at-
tractive shopping centre has a strong share of the local market, and offers oppor-
tunities for increasing rental income. In its five-year strategy published in summer 
2011, Citycon divided all of its properties into the strategic segments shown here, 
according to their strategic fit with the position Citycon is seeking. 

Prime shopping centres in metropolitan areas and other winning cities will be fur-
ther developed and kept at the core of the company's shopping centre portfolio. A 
case in point is the Koskikeskus shopping centre in Tampere. These shopping centres 
will be kept in Citycon's property portfolio and developed to ensure their vitality and 
competitiveness. The largest and highly established shopping centres, such as Iso 
Omena, will represent the core of the property portfolio, but closely selected joint 
venture partners may  be accepted as co-owners. This helps to untie capital for the 
development of other properties in the shopping centre portfolio. 

The objective is to increase the value of non-core properties and then sell them 
when the prevailing market conditions allow. These properties include apartments 
connected to shopping centres in Sweden, and supermarket and shop properties in 
Finland, as well as some smaller shopping and commercial centres.

Strategy

DEVELOPMENT OF NET RENTAL INCOME 2008-2012
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Net Rental Income and Turnover by Segment and Property Portfolio		

Net rental income by segments and portfolios
 Turnover by 

portfolios

EUR million Finland Sweden

Baltic 
Countries 

and New 
Business Other Total

Citycon 
total

2010 86.7 28.7 11.8 0.0 127.2 195.9
Acquisitions 0.1 0.8 6.0 - 7.0 10.3
(Re)development projects 4.2 1.4 -0.3 - 5.3 6.5
Divestments 0.1 -0.9 - - -0.8 -1.8
Like-for-like properties -0.7 3.8 0.9 - 4.0 3.2
Other (incl. exchange rate diff.) -0.1 1.6 0.1 0.0 1.6 3.0

2011 90.5 35.4 18.4 0.0 144.3 217.1
Acquisitions 1.5 1.4 4.6 - 7.5 11.1
(Re)development projects 4.6 0.6 0.6 - 5.8 8.3
Divestments -0.5 -1.7 - - -2.3 -4.6
Like-for-like properties 2.2 2.3 1.1 - 5.5 5.4
Other (incl. exchange rate diff.) 0.0 1.2 -0.1 0.0 1.1 1.8

2012 98.2 39.2 24.6 0.0 162.0 239.1

Net rental income LFL  
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The extension of the Magistral shopping centre in Tallinn’s Mustamäe 
district was completed in May 2012. The entire population of Mustamäe 

district was invited to join the opening ceremony of the extension and 
to celebrate the district’s 50th anniversary. District Mayor Helle Kalda 

(in the photo) has personally been involved in building co-operation 
between Magistral and Mustamäe. She is particularly pleased with 

the community activities available at the shopping centre, such as a 
children’s art exhibition. 

A video clip filmed at Magistral’s new extension can be viewed at:
www.annualreport2012.citycon.com/magistralvideo

Magistral is the heart 
of the Mustamäe district



Citycon Oyj • annual and sustainabILIty report • INTRODUCTION    AR 11



AR 12    Citycon Oyj • annual and sustainabILIty report 2012 • INTRODUCTION

Business environment

The outlook for retail sales remains 
strong in Citycon's operational areas

In Sweden, ICA is the grocery market leader, with a market 
share of almost 50 per cent. COOP held more than 20 per cent 
and Axfood some 15 per cent of the market⁸⁾. More continental 
European chains operate in Denmark, such as Coop, Spar, Super-
Best and Lidl. In Estonia, the largest grocery retailers include Rimi, 
owned by ICA; local co-operative ETK; Selver, the subsidiary of Tal-
linna Kaubamaja; the Lithuanian Maxima; and Prisma, part of the S 
Group. In Lithuania, the local Maxima is the largest grocery retail-
er in the market. Other larger retailers are Rimi and the local IKI.

In accordance with its strategy, Citycon focuses on shopping 
centres with a grocery store or a retailer of daily necessities as 
the anchor tenant. Grocery retailers represent one fifth of City-
con’s shopping centre tenants. In Finland grocery sales was ap-
proximately 15.3 billion euros, of which food represented approx-
imately 80 percent. 

Shopping centre prime yields have remained stable
Demand for investment has remained stable in the Finnish prop-
erty investment market but the scant supply of prime assets has 
limited transactional activities. During 2012 retail investment 
volume in Finland exceeded the low levels of 2011 ending up to 
EUR 400 million. The forecast for 2013 does not indicate any 
big changes in the market. Shopping centre prime yields have re-
mained stable but the secondary yields are facing upward pres-
sure. As a consequence of relatively strong development in retail 
sales, retail rents have also kept rising, although such increases 
have been concentrated in the very best locations only.

In Sweden the retail property transaction volume SEK 13.4 billion 
for the year 2012 was clearly lower than in the previous year (SEK 
16.1 billion). Investors’ interest is strong for retail properties which 
have a good location, strong tenants and low vacancy rates. Howev-

In the Nordic countries, unemployment is lower than the Euro-
pean Union average: at the end of December, the unemployment 
rate was 7.7 per cent in Finland, 8.1 per cent in Sweden and 7.9 
per cent in Denmark. Unemployment remained high in Estonia and 
Lithuania but, in contrast to the Nordic region, was falling, being 
9.5 per cent in Estonia and 12.5 per cent in Lithuania at the end 
of October. Relatively low unemployment and reasonably strong 
consumer confidence, combined with low interest rates, is having 
a positive effect on retail sales in the Nordic countries despite the 
market uncertainty. ¹⁾²⁾³⁾

The Europe-wide instability of the financial market deepened 
towards the year-end, adversely impacting the availability and 
cost of financing. Citycon’s long-term relationship with banks has 
been a key factor in financing decisions. Citycon’s financial posi-
tion remained good throughout the year. More detailed informa-
tion on Citycon's profit performance and financial position can be 
found on pages 60-62 of this Annual Report.

Retail is still concentrated on few players 
Retail sales grew in both Finland and Sweden during the report 
year. The total retail sales growth rate in 2012 was 4.4 per cent 
in Finland, 2.3 per cent in Sweden. January-November retail sales 
grew by 7.0 per cent in Estonia and 4.8 per cent in Lithuania. 

Grocery sales continued to grow in Finland and Sweden. In both 
countries, large retail units such as hypermarkets and supermar-
kets continue to grow their sales. For instance, turnover of Finnish 
hypermarkets grew by 3.7 per cent.⁶⁾

Of Finnish retailers, the S Group has the strongest market po-
sition in the grocery trade, accounting for approximately 45 per 
cent of the national grocery retail market. With its approximately 
35 per cent market share, the Kesko Group is the second-biggest 
retailer in Finland. Of other retailers, Suomen Lähikauppa Oy’s 
(previously Tradeka) market share was less than ten per cent. ⁷⁾

During the report year, market uncertainty mounted due to the 
government debt crisis in eurozone countries. Economic sentiment 
fluctuated during the year, taking a deeper turn for the negative af-
ter the summer, particularly due to government debt problems in 
the eurozone countries and the personnel cuts made by companies. 
This was reflected in consumer confidence, but had no major im-
pacts on consumer behaviour, at least during the report year.

Retail sales growth and the inflation rate are key drivers for 
Citycon's business and have a direct impact on rents from busi-
ness premises. Almost all of the company's leases are tied to the 
cost-of-living index. A significant number of leases also feature a 

turnover-linked component. Consumer prices continued to rise 
during the year in all of Citycon's operating countries. In Decem-

ber, the annual inflation rate was 2.4 per cent in Finland, -0.1 
per cent in Sweden, 3.9 per cent in Estonia and 2.8 per cent 

in Lithuania. ¹⁾²⁾³⁾⁴⁾⁵⁾ 
Household consumer confidence remained positive 

in the Nordic countries, unlike in the Baltic countries, 
where consumer confidence was negative during 

the entire year. The uncertain economic climate 
and unfavourable news impacted on consumer 

confidence in the Nordic countries; the positive 
trend came to an end in the summer, weakening 

further during the last months of the year in 
all of the company’s operating countries. In 

December, consumer confidence in Finland 
and Denmark returned to the positive lev-

el seen in the early months of the year, 
but in Sweden it declined to almost 

zero. ⁵⁾ 
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er, retail properties which do not meet some or all of these criteria 
will be more difficult to sell. Prime yields for shopping centres have 
generally remained stable since mid-2011 but prime yields for retail 
warehouse parks increased in the last quarter of 2012. 

In Estonia retail sales development has been strong which en-
courages demand for retail space, especially in Tallinn downtown 
areas and modern shopping centres. Vacancy rates in shopping 
centres are close to zero and rents have increased along with in-
flation. Also the retail property investment market has picked up 
and retail yields have dropped below 8 per cent. Also in Lithuania 
retail investment market is recovering and investor demand is 
forecasted to decrease yield requirements. ⁷⁾

Shopping centres will also be digitalized

Digital communications development is a key driver also for the shopping centre 
operators. In 2016 electronic retail will account for 9 per cent of total retail sales 
in Europe, which represents a compound annual growth rate of 10.1 per cent over 
a five year forecast period (source: Forrester). In addition market experts estimate 
that internet usage through mobile devices will exceed internet usage through lap-
tops already in 2013.

In order to face up to the challenges of digitalization and e-commerce, Citycon 
shopping centres are being evolved from places to shop to places that also offer en-
tertainment and appeal to social motives. Consumers are no longer seen as passive 
customers, but active co-creators. 

Marketing is of key importance in succeeding in these goals. Current and fu-
ture marketing measures at Citycon relate to creating a positive customer ex-
perience through for example a balanced tenant structure, well functioning 
basic services and interesting events. Citycon's marketing intends to in addi-
tion strengthen community engagement and increase visitor loyalty. Online 
solutions and digital communications play an important part in marketing. 
Citycon is for example developing solutions utilizing digital and mobile 
technologies that make visiting the shopping centres easier and help 
engage, commit and reward visitors. 

As a consequence, Citycon’s shopping centres have increased 
the number of Facebook fans of Citycon’s shopping centres to  
215 000 by year end, and Citycon aims to grow the number 
further.

1) 	 Statistics Finland
2) 	 Statistiska Centralbyrån
3) 	 Statistics Estonia
4) 	 Statistics Lithuania
5) 	 Eurostat 
6) 	 The Finnish Grocery Trade Association
7) 	 Jones Lang LaSalle 
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Citycon as an investment

Domestic shareholding increased

million at the end of 2011. Citycon is one of the companies with 
the most international ownership base on the Helsinki Stock Ex-
change. However, following the rights issue, the number of regis-
tered shareholders, mainly Finnish, increased significantly and to-
talled 7,177 (4,276) at the year-end. International, predominantly 
nominee registered shareholders owned 76.7 (82.9) per cent of 
company shares at the year-end. 

Citycon is included in international real estate indices. For ex-
ample, the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index serves as 
a benchmarking index for international investors, tracking share-
price performance and total return. Last year, Citycon achieved 
the highest, or the Green Star level in the international Global Real 
Estate Sustainability Benchmark survey. The survey was commis-

An investment in Citycon is also an investment in retail industry 
properties.  Citycon Oyj is a real estate company listed on the 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd (CTY1S) since 1988, that combines 
property investment with shopping centre business. Citycon 
owns, leases, develops and manages shopping centres in Finland, 
Sweden, Estonia, Lithuania and Denmark. It also owns hypermar-
kets and retail centres in Finland and Sweden. 

Shareholding and share price development
Citycon’s largest shareholder is Gazit-Globe Ltd., a company 
listed on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange and the New York Stock 

Exchange. Both directly and through subsidiaries and affiliates, 
Gazit-Globe Ltd. owns retail properties, particularly shopping 

centres, in different parts of Europe, North America, Israel 
and Brazil. Gazit-Globe Ltd. has been a shareholder since 

2004 and currently owns approximately 49.0 per cent of 
Citycon’s shares (source: Gazit-Globe).

Citycon’s second largest shareholder is the Ilmarinen 
Mutual Pension Insurance Company with a sharehold-

ing of approximately 9 per cent. 
Citycon has been able to maintain its investor 

attraction, as evidenced by the fact that the rights 
issue of EUR 90.7 million organised in Septem-

ber-October was oversubscribed. Citycon’s 
market capitalisation at the end of 2012 was 

EUR 840.1 million compared to EUR 641.7 

sioned by a global investment forum for the purpose of comparing 
the environmental management objectives and achievements of 
property investment companies and funds.  For many property 
investors, this recognition represents an important investment 
criterion. 

In 2012, 82.0 million (97.5 million) Citycon shares were traded 
on the Helsinki stock exchange for a total value of EUR 199.2 mil-
lion (EUR 270.7 million). 

Financial targets
The Board of Directors has set the following financial targets for 
the company:
-	 In dividends, the company will pay out a minimum of 50 per 

cent of the profit for the period after taxes, excluding fair 
value changes in investment properties.

Share price and volume
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Events calendar for 2013

Financial Statement Release, Financial Statements, Report by the Board of Directors  
and Corporate Governance Statement for the financial year  
1 January–31 December 2012 6 February 2013 at approx. 9.00 a.m.
Annual and Sustainability Report 2012 week 9, 2013
Notice of AGM at the latest 28 February 2013
AGM record date 11 March 2013
Last day for pre-registration for the AGM 18 March 2013
AGM 21 March 2013 at 3.00 p.m., Helsinki
Ex-dividend date 22 March 2013
Record date for dividend payment 26 March 2013
Dividend payment date 4 April 2013
Interim Report for January-March 2013 24 April 2013 at approx. 9.00 a.m.
Interim Report for January-June 2013 10 July 2013 at approx. 9.00 a.m.
Interim Report for January-September 2013 16 October 2013 at approx. 9.00 a.m.
 
The key channel for Citycon's investor communications is the corporate website, where all stock exchange releases and press releases, 
financial statements, interim reports, annual reports and notices of general meetings are published. Also available on the website are the 
executive presentations on the financial results, webcast recordings of these events, as well as the presentation material for regular 
investor meetings. Web access to the company’s financial results presentation events and possible Capital Markets Days is enabled. 
Investor information material published by Citycon can be ordered from the corporate website at www.citycon.com/materialre-
quest, by e-mail from info@citycon.fi or by phone at +358 20 7664 400. 

-	 The company’s long-term equity ratio target is 40 per cent.
The profit distribution for 2011 totalled EUR 0.15 per share, 

consisting of a dividend of EUR 0.04 per share and an equity re-
turn of EUR 0.11 per share from the invested unrestricted equity 
fund. Citycon raised the dividend and equity return to EUR 0.15 
per share from the previous EUR 0.14. Citycon has had a very sta-
ble dividend policy, paying its shareholders a per-share dividend 
of EUR 0.14 since 2003, even though the number of company 
shares has almost tripled.

The equity ratio at year-end stood at 37.8 per cent.

Board of Directors’ proposal on dividends and distribution of 
assets from the invested unrestricted equity fund
The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend of EUR 0.04 per 
share be paid for the year 2012, and that EUR 0.11 be returned 
from the invested unrestricted equity fund. 

Public review of shareholders’ register 
The company’s register of shareholders is available for public 
review at Euroclear Finland Ltd’s customer service outlet, Urho 
Kekkosen katu 5 C, Helsinki, Finland.

Notification of changes in the register of shareholders
Shareholders are requested to notify their book-entry account 
manager of any changes in their name or address. This will auto-
matically update information in the company’s shareholders’ reg-
ister maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd.

Investor relations
The primary objective of Citycon’s investor relations is to increase 
interest in the company’s shares as an investment. The company 
aims to support shareholder value by providing more transparent 

investor information and by strengthening the company’s busi-
ness profile. Investor communications focus on long-term value 
creation rather than short-term returns.

The principle behind Citycon’s investor communications is 
to continuously provide the market with accurate, consistent, 
transparent and up-to-date information on the company in order 
to give an open and clear picture, which allows markets to make 
informed assessments of the company’s securities. In its investor 
communications, Citycon adheres to the principle of objectivity 
and simultaneousness.

Citycon was again internationally recognised for its excellent 
investor relations. In its annual conference, EPRA cited Citycon’s 
2011 Annual and Corporate Social Responsibility Report as one 
of the best in the sector for the third year in a row. Citycon was 
also a winner of the EPRA Gold award.  

Investor meetings
Citycon actively meets with investors both in and 
outside Finland. In addition, company management 
meet investors in seminars arranged by various 
associations and banks, at broader public events 
and during tours of the company’s shopping cen-
tres. 

CITYCON
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Local residents participate  
in the development of  
Koskikeskus 



At the year-end, Citycon invited consumers on Facebook 
to take part in shopping centre development activ-
ities. This involves four groups of different-aged 
consumers discussing various ways of developing 
the local shopping centre. Susanna Murtola and 
Juho Heikkilä (in the photo) engage actively in 
the discussions and visit the shopping cen-
tre regularly. They say it’s easy to have a 
discussion in the group, and explain that 
they took part because they wanted to 
have their say on matters regarding 

the shopping centre.

Interested? Visit your local 
Citycon-operated shopping 
centre on Facebook. New devel-
opment groups start all year 
round. 
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greetings from business units

During these turbulent times of low economic predictability we 
are happy to say that Citycon has a strong strategy. It is natural 
for us to be in places where the people are: in city centres and ur-
ban environment. To support this, our shopping centres especially 
in Finland and Sweden have a wide range of services like libraries, 
post offices and health clinics, in addition to, in most cases, being 
grocery anchored. 

The future trends in our shopping centre development are also 
related to service variety: we see shopping centres as “people 
centres”, where consumers can spend time in areas especially de-
voted to their needs in ways they wish to be served. This will mean 
strengthening the hospitality of the centres. Concrete examples 
being for example more intimate slow-food restaurants instead 
of fast food, homey and cozy cafes, offering theater and other 
cultural experiences at the centre, developing versatile areas for 
children to play and eat, equipping centres with quiet spaces for 

working and reading and also taking into account the needs of 
the growing amount of senior citizens in our market areas. We 

see that the amount of people we attract to our centres and 
the time they spend in the centres can be hugely effected not 

only by the offering itself but also the shopping and service 
experience.

Our shopping centres serve the surrounding 
communities

Because of their central and urban locations, Citycon 
shopping centres can be seen as an established 

part of the community. Working together with 
the municipality is a natural part of operations. 

In order for us to manage the centres in a way 
that we keep up active dialogue with our 

customers, consumers and community, the 
managers of the shopping centres are of 

key role. The understanding of customer 

needs and the creation of an interesting tenant mix are the most 
important tasks of shopping centre management. To support this, 
their role will be considerable strengthened in 2013 especially in 
Finland. This means that the accountability is closer to the centres 
thus giving the centre managers more power over tenant improve-
ments, internal development  and leasing in their own centres, 
which will increase internal co-operation. This type of interaction 
will also help the managers keep on top of the situation of tenants’ 
and plan the development of the centres together as well as spot 
possible challenges tenants face early on and support them.

There is a great need for consumers to receive alternatives 
through new international brands or smaller local stores. In order 
to answer this Citycon is in key position, as we have a wide spread 
shopping centre network that interests international brands. In 
2012 this was witnessed as the UK-based Debenhams decided to 
broaden their presence to Rocca al Mare in Estonia and they also 
intend to open shop in Finland in 2013. In addition H&M decided to 
establish its first stores in Estonia at Rocca al Mare and Kristiine 
in 2013. It’s easier for brands to find partners to start operation 
from the Baltic States and Estonia, where Citycon has big centres. 
In the future we expect to see many brands climbing to Finland 
and Sweden through this route. One example from this year is YO! 
Frozen Yogurt bar, that decided to expand from Estonia to Finland 
and opened successfully at Iso Omena and Columbus.

Property shape ups and centre developing in 2013
If looking at the entire portfolio country by country, the emphasis 
in Finland next year is to shape up and fix smaller markets and 
properties. Generally it can be said that the cities of Helsinki, Van-
taa, Espoo, Tampere, Jyväskylä and Lahti are the growth areas in 
Finland and for Citycon. Also for example Lappeenranta is a big 
opportunity. Otherwise major emphasis is put on getting more out 
of specialty leasing, which includes innovating new ways to use 
the leasable areas for example on the shopping centre aisles and 

market squares that support the idea of bringing more hospitality 
into the centres. 

In Sweden Citycon took a significant strategic step as it ac-
quired Kista Galleria, one of Stockholm's largest shopping cen-
tres. Through the acquisition Citycon became one of the largest 
shopping centre operators in Sweden. The future will concen-
trate on advancing the Kista Galleria development plans and on 
strengthening the centre's market position. In addition there are 
several ongoing smaller and mid-sized projects in other centres. 
The development work is mainly focused on the growing Stock-
holm region. In Sweden our shopping centres have a particularly 
important role as a part of the community. Contact and co-oper-
ation with the municipalities is ongoing and hands on, with many 
common projects.

In Estonia concentration is on the renovation of Kristiine and 
development of Rocca al Mare, that are tied to Debenhams and 
Hennes&Maurtz starting operations in the centres. These pro-
jects are estimated to be finished in the autumn of 2013. Empha-
sis is also put on linking community events and entertainment to 
the centre. In the future it is expected that the mixed use of shop-
ping centres with hospitals, libraries and so on will catch up from 
Sweden and Finland also to our Baltic centres. 

Marko Juhokas
Senior Vice President of Group Development and Sustainability  
(as of 1 Feb, 2013, on the left in the picture) 

Harri Holmström
Chief Operating Officer (on the right in the picture)

Nils Styf
Chief Investment Officer

From shopping centres to people centres
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leasing operations

Shops and services to meet local customers’ needs 

level in each location. With the introduction of new retail chains in 
different countries – such as Hennes & Mauritz, who are sched-
uled to open stores in Estonia in 2013 – cross-border leasing is 
now high on our agenda. Meanwhile retail chains that first estab-
lished their presence in Estonia and opened stores in Finland this 
year include SockDrawer, Expressions, and YO! Frozen Yogurt Bar. 

Key tenants 
Grocery and fashion stores are strongly represented in Citycon’s 
tenant base.

Major tenants in Finland include different retail chains oper-
ating under Kesko, such as K-Citymarket and K-market, as well as 
speciality stores such as the Intersport sporting goods store and 
the K-kenkä footwear store.  At the end of 2012, Kesko accounted 
for 16.9 per cent (17.2%) of Citycon’s gross rental income. Kes-
ko’s share of gross rental income has been decreasing as Citycon 
continues to expand to locations outside Finland. S Group is an-
other major tenant. In addition to these two, significant players in-
clude fashion store chains, the biggest of them being H&M, Stock-
mann-owned Lindex and Seppälä; Varner, Bestseller and KappAhl.

Citycon’s tenant base is very similar in shopping centres in 
Sweden and Finland. The biggest names in grocery retail in Swe-
den are ICA, COOP and Axfood. In speciality retail, the same 
brands are strong in Sweden and Finland alike, which is reflected 
in Citycon’s tenant base.  

Citycon’s biggest shopping centres in the Baltic countries, Roc-
ca al Mare and Kristiine, both have a distinct focus on speciality 
retail, particularly fashion. Tenants include several international 
brands such as Marks & Spencer and New Yorker. The largest in-

dividual tenant, however, is S Group’s Prisma hypermarket chain, 
which has large stores in Rocca al Mare and Kristiine. In the two 
smaller local centres operating in the Baltic countries, the offer-
ing is focused more on daily shopping and other daily consumer 
needs. Their anchor tenant is the RIMI grocery store, which is part 
of the Swedish ICA Group. Similarly, daily consumer goods are the 
driver in Albertslund in Denmark, the anchor tenants being the Su-
perBest and ALDI grocery store chains. 

New tenants include Tiger in Finland and Debenhams in Esto-
nia. The share of rental income from non-Nordic or non-Baltic ten-
ants continues to be relatively small. 

The portfolio is managed with leases of different length   
Shopping centres that primarily cater to consumers’ everyday 
needs, such as Myyrmanni in Vantaa or Liljeholmstorget in Stock-
holm, are anchored by one or more grocery store or hypermarket. 
With these anchor tenants, Citycon usually signs long-term leas-
es of approximately ten years. Shopping centres that consumers 
tend to visit on a daily basis also offer a wide selection of other 
services such as banking, postal services, pharmacies, real estate 
agents, hair salons and other beauty services, gyms, laundries and 
municipal services such as libraries. The lease terms for these ser-

Citycon shopping centres are located close to customers, and 
the tenant mix also reflects the central location and daily service 
provider role of shopping centres. A thriving shopping centre at-
tracts customers, and frequent visits help maintain the vitality 
of the shopping centre and ensure tenant success. Citycon wants 
to keep its shopping centres attractive and dynamic for both cus-
tomers and tenants.  This requires a balanced tenant mix, which in 
turn requires a long-term approach to shopping centre manage-
ment and active leasing operations. 

Leasing management 
On-site shopping centre managers and each business unit’s leas-
ing teams are responsible for tenant and lease management.  In 
Sweden, the Baltic countries and Denmark, responsibility for 
leasing operations has been assigned to named contact people.  
In Finland, there are separate contact people in charge of spe-

ciality leasing, leasing of supermarket and shop properties and 
(re)development project leasing. Similarly, there are designat-

ed leasing specialists for chain operators, such as cafes and 
restaurants, leading retailers, fashion and clothing, health 

and beauty, banking and retail, and department stores and 
speciality stores. Harri Holmström, Chief Operating Of-

ficer, has the overall responsibility for Citycon’s leasing 
operations.

Having leasing specialists that focus on specific 
sectors allows Citycon to sign several lease agree-

ments in multiple locations at the same time, to 
understand the requirements and opportunities 

in each sector, and to identify the optimal rent 

Shopping Centre Rental Income by Branches 
based on valid rent roll at 31 Dec. 2012

•	 Cafes and Restaurants 8%

•	 Health and Beauty 8%

•	 Other Specialty Stores 3%

•	 Services and Offices 10%

•	 Clothes and Fashion 26%

•	 Groceries 20%

•	 Department Stores 7%

•	 Leisure, Home Supplies 17%
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vice providers may vary a great deal; the lease for a library is typ-
ically as long as that of an anchor tenant, in other words approxi-
mately ten years, whereas the shorter term leases are signed for 
3-5 years to allow for a flexible rearrangement of the tenant mix 
in response to changing customer needs.

Shopping centres located in city centres, such as Koskikeskus 
in Tampere or Kristiine in Tallinn, typically offer an extensive selec-
tion of fashion stores and cafes and restaurants. In the past few 
years, restaurants and cafes have become an increasingly impor-
tant part of the tenant mix. In all of Citycon’s operating countries, 
restaurants and cafes are mostly locally owned and operated, ei-
ther as individual stores or as part of a local chain.  International 
chains still have a relatively small presence. The lease term for 
cafes and restaurants is generally 5-10 years. Shopping centres 
located in city centres are often anchored by one or more fashion  
and/or specialty store, such as a sporting goods store. 

Services play a major role in all Citycon shopping centres; ten-
ants include 39 pharmacies, 56 banks, two Evangelical-Lutheran 
chapels and 60 health care or medical centres.   

Speciality leasing such as aisle space leasing and temporary 
pop-up stores mean that the shopping centre renewes itself 

constantly. Citycon’s focus on speciality leasing in the past few 
years has produced results: from the rather modest beginnings, 
speciality leasing in 2012 was up by a staggering 37.5 per cent on 
the previous year and represents approximately one per cent of 
Citycon’s (gross) rental income. These leases are typically signed 
for a short period of a few weeks or months.

Longer leases
Although longer leases balance the cash flow, especially in times 
of economic hardship, shorter leases provide more opportuni-
ties for revitalising the shopping centre and for maintaining an 
attractive tenant mix that offers variety for customers. In Fin-
land, Citycon generally signs long-term leases of ten years or 
more with anchor tenants, eg. grocery stores. With chain oper-
ators, Citycon mainly negotiates contracts with a term ranging 
from five to seven years. Fashion retailers are particularly keen 
to sign leases for longer terms than before. 

Also in Sweden, leases with anchor tenants are typically signed 
for a long term, up to ten years. Other fixed-term leases are typi-

cally signed for a term of three to five years, after which the lessor 
may terminate the lease or propose new lease terms.  

In the Baltic countries, major anchor tenants have lease 
terms of at least ten years; for smaller players they are approx-
imately three to five years. The share of five-year and six-year 
leases increased in 2012. 

Following the acquisition of Albertslund Centrum, Citycon 
has now established a presence in the Danish market.In 
Denmark tenants legal protection is on a high level. Leases 
with anchor tenants are typically signed for long periods, 
in some cases even more than fifteen years.  

At the turn of the year, the average remaining length 
of the lease portfolio was 3.5 years (3.4 years). The 
increase in the average remaining length was most-
ly due to the completion of (re)development pro-
jects and apartment divestments.

Aging Structure of Trade Receivables Development of Investments During 2008-2012
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO AND LEASING

sales (occupancy cost ratio, OCR) is not at a sustainable level, or 
if sales per square metre is too low, shopping centre management 
will discuss potential remedies with the tenant.  The occupancy 
cost ratio can vary quite significantly depending on the tenant’s 
business. 

In 2012, the occupancy cost ratio for like-for-like shopping 
centre properties was 8.9 per cent, which can be considered a 
healthy and sustainable level. The occupancy cost ratio for like-
for-like shopping centres was 9.5 per cent in Finland, 7.3 per cent 
in Sweden, and 11.1 per cent in the Baltic countries. The higher 
ratio in the Baltic shopping centres can be attributed to the high 
percentage of fashion retailers, 34 per cent, compared to 26 per 
cent in all like-for-like shopping centres. 

Citycon’s gross rents are close to the market rent level. Leases 
often contain a turnover-linked component, but due to the level 
of the minimum base rent, this is not a significant source of addi-
tional rental income. At the end of the year, turnover-based lease 
agreements accounted for 53 per cent (49 %) of Citycon’s lease 
portfolio, while approximately 2 per cent (2%) of rental income 
came from the turnover-based part of leases. In the past, turn-
over-based leases were signed primarily with fashion retailers, 
speciality stores and cafes and restaurants, but today almost all 
leases signed in shopping centres are turnover-based. For legis-
lative reasons these do not include certain services and regulated 
retailers, such as alcohol stores. 

Property portfolio
Citycon owns a total of 37 shopping centres: 23 in Finland, nine 
in Sweden, three in Estonia, one in Lithuania, and the Albertslund 
Centrum in Denmark, which was acquired in 2012. In addition to 
shopping centres, Citycon owns 40 other retail properties, 35 of 
them in Finland and 5 in Sweden. Citycon also owns one undevel-
oped plot in Finland.  

Besides owning shopping centres, Citycon is also responsi-
ble for the commercial management of two shopping centres in 

Finland: Galleria Esplanad in Helsinki city centre, which is owned 
by Ilmarinen, and Tullintori in Tampere, which Citycon sold to 
Eläke-Fennia in 2011. 

Changes in property portfolio
Acquisitions and divestments are listed with full details on page 4 
of the Financial Statements 2012.  

Summary of acquisitions
In December, Citycon announced its intention to acquire the Kista 
Galleria shopping centre in Stockholm together with the Canada 
Pension Plan Investment Board (CPPIB) for approximately EUR 
530 million (SEK 4.6 billion). The acquisition was finalised on 17 
January and it will not affect Citycon’s result or property portfolio 
in 2012.

In July, Citycon acquired Citytalo in Oulu, Finland, for EUR 13.5 
million, and a 25 per cent holding in the Strömpilen shopping 
centre and a retail property called Länken in Umeå, Sweden, for 
approximately SEK 121 million (EUR 13.8 million).  Another acqui-
sition in July was the Albertslund Centrum in the Greater Copen-
hagen area for DKK 181 million (EUR 24 million).  

In April, Citycon acquired the Arabia shopping centre in Hel-
sinki, Finland, for EUR 19.5 million, and the remaining minority 
shares in Koskikeskus shopping centre in Tampere, Finland, by 
acquiring 41.7 per cent of the shares in MREC Kiinteistö Oy Tam-
pereen Koskenranta for EUR 7.8 million. 

Summary of divestments
In November, Citycon acquired 30 per cent of shopping centre 
Stenungstorg located in the Stenungsund municipality north of 
Gothenburg, Sweden for approximately SEK 126 million (approx. 
EUR 14.7 million) from KF Fastigheter AB. Citycon acquired the 
70 percent share of the shopping centre in 2006 and then KF Fas-
tigheter AB remained as a minority shareholder.

In August, Citycon sold all shares in Drabanten Bostäder AB 

New leases showed positive upswing 

Lease structure 
The objective of lease portfolio management is to generate 
steady cash flow and to allow flexible development of shopping 
centres. To ensure a steady cash flow, leases with anchor tenants 
are signed for longer periods, and the lease timeline is observed 
closely to avoid the expiry of a large number of leases at the 
same time. To enable flexible shopping centre development, 
Citycon signs different types of leases, such as shorter fixed-
term leases and leases that remain in effect until further notice.  
Leases for new retail premises are almost always signed for a 
fixed term, whereas leases for storage facilities and individual 
parking spaces usually remain in effect until further notice. 
Similarly, residential leases are, for legislative reasons, in effect 
until further notice. At the turn of the year, the average remaining 
length of the entire lease portfolio was 3.5 years.

Leases in effect until further notice represent about 9 per cent 
(12%) of Citycon’s lease portfolio. The typical notice period for 

these leases ranges from three to 12 months. Despite the short 
notice period, the actual term of lease in effect until further 

notice can be very long; the oldest leases in effect until fur-
ther notice were signed more than 30 years ago. 

Leases in effect until further notice and short leases 
for retail and office premises signed for a fixed period 

offer flexibility in tenant mix development. Similarly, 
these types of leases allow Citycon to have ten-

ants in premises that will need to be vacated for 
(re)development. 

Lease-related risk management 
Local management at Citycon’s shopping 

centres usually look after tenant-related 
risks. Most of the tenants are obliged to 

report their monthly sales figures to the 
shopping centre management. If the 

tenant’s annual rent in relation to its 
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for approximately SEK 50.0 million (EUR 5.6 million). The divested 
company owns 47 apartments in Tumba Centrum. 

In July, Citycon sold all shares in Jakobsberg Bostäder 3 AB for 
approximately SEK 90.0 million (EUR 10.0 million). The divested 
company owns 129 apartments Jakobsberg Centrum in the Järfäl-
la municipality. 

During the year, Citycon sold two non-core properties in Finland 
and two non-core properties and two residential portfolios in Sweden.

Fair value development in 2012 
At year-end, the fair value of Citycon’s property portfolio was EUR 
2,714.2 million; an increase of EUR 192.1 million on the previous 
year. The increase could primarily be attributed to investments 
committed to (re)development projects, new property acquisitions 
and the strengthening of the Swedish krona against the euro. In ad-
dition, the net fair value gains on investment properties increased 
the value of investment properties. 

Fair value change, i.e. the change in market values excluding in-
vestments and foreign exchange rate differences, was EUR 23.6 
million during the financial year. Fair value gains recorded for the 
year totalled EUR 54.4 million for 28 properties, while fair value 
losses came to EUR 30.8 million for 47 properties. Fair value gains 
were recorded for the shopping centre properties while fair value 
losses were recorded for the supermarket and shop properties in 
particular. The aggregate net impact of changes in the statement 
of comprehensive income was therefore EUR 23.6 million. 

Property valuation 
In accordance with the International Accounting Standards (IAS) 
and the International Valuation Standards (IVS), an external pro-
fessional appraiser conducts a valuation of Citycon’s property 
portfolio on a property-by-property basis at least once a year. Over 
the past few years, an evaluation by an external appraiser has been 
conducted every quarter. Since the end of 2011, Citycon’s proper-
ty valuation has been conducted by the global property specialist 
Jones Lang LaSalle. The most recent valuation statement as per 
year-end 2012 is available on page 69 in the enclosed Financial 

Statements. The valuation statement includes a description of 
the valuation process and factors contributing to the valuation, 
as well as the results of the valuation and a sensitivity analysis. 
Such valuation has principally been conducted using a cash-flow 
method for a period of ten years. 

According to Jones Lang LaSalle’s evaluation, the average yield 
requirement for Citycon’s property portfolio was 6.3 (6.4) per cent 
at the year-end. Strong demand in the Finnish property markets 
has kept the yield requirement for prime properties stable, but in 
secondary properties, yield requirements are taking an upward 
turn. The average yield requirement for Citycon’s properties in 
Finland was set at 6.2 per cent. In Sweden, the yield requirements 
for prime shopping centres have remained generally stable since 
mid-2011 but prime yields for retail warehouse parks increased 
in the last quarter of 2012. The average yield requirement for 
Citycon’s properties in Sweden was set at 6.0 per cent. 

The investment markets for retail properties in Estonia have 
improved, with prime retail yield requirements falling below 8 per 
cent. Also in Lithuania retail investment market is recovering and 
investor demand is forecasted to decrease yield requirements. 
The yield requirement for Citycon’s shopping centres in the Bal-
tic countries and Denmark was set at 7.7 per cent, reducing the 
yield requirement for Citycon’s entire property portfolio by 0.1 
percentage points. 

Recognition of market value  
Citycon recognises its investment property at fair value in accord-
ance with IAS 40. The combined market value (fair value) of its 
properties on the closing date is recorded in the statement of fi-
nancial position, and any changes in their fair value are recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income under net fair value 
losses/gains on investment property. Consequently, a change in 
fair value also affects profit; this is reported as a separate item 
in the company’s financial reports, as part of the operating profit 
and profit for the period. 

The fair value of investment properties recognised in 
Citycon’s statement of financial position includes:
-	 the property portfolio’s total value, determined by 

the external appraiser
-	 capital expenditure on development projects 

that the external appraiser does not take into 
account in the valuation

-	 acquisition cost of new properties ac-
quired during the last three months. 

FIRST POSSIBLE TERMINATION YEAR OF THE LEASES 
BY CONTRACT TYPE

•	 Initially fixed-term contracts

•	 Fixed-term contracts

•	 Valid until further notice leases

Fair value of investment properties

•	 Finland EUR 1,659.0 million

•	 Sweden EUR 739.2 million 

•	 Baltic Countries and New Business 
EUR 316.0 million 

0

5

10

15

20
Toistaiseksi voimassaoleva sopimus

Määräaikainen sopimus

Aluksi määräaikainen sopimus

2023+-22-21-20-19-18-17-16-15-142013

%

PRO
PERTY

 PORTFO


LIO
 AND


 LEASING





AR 24    Citycon Oyj • annual and sustainabILIty report 2012 • BUSINESS UNITS AND PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

Citycon in Finland

Citycon is a proactive shopping centre  
expert in Finland

In addition to its shopping centres, Citycon owns 37 supermarket and shop properties 
in Finland. These properties generally have one or two large tenants that use most of the 
leasable property area. Citycon’s commercial development expertise thus plays a smaller 
role in these properties, and proactive shopping centre management cannot generate add-
ed value in the same way as in shopping centres. 

That said, many of these properties are in central locations and often have good yield 
levels. Their value could be increased substantially, such as by building new housing after 
rezoning. The company’s long-term objective is to divest these properties, but it is in no hur-
ry to do so. This year, the company has paid particular attention to the management of its 
supermarket and shop portfolio in order to manage value enhancements, eg. through the 
long-term development of each property and the leasing of vacant premises.   

In its Finnish operations, Citycon invited tenders in the autumn for the maintenance of 
its properties. The company phased out its single-partner model. Under an agreement ef-
fective 1 February 2013, responsibility for property maintenance was assigned to three 

Citycon is a leading player in the Finnish shopping centre market. The company owns 23 
shopping centres in Finland and also manages two others on behalf of their owner. Citycon’s 
shopping centres are strongly positioned as providers of commercial services in city cen-
tres and dynamic regional centres. This strategic choice of locations has demonstrated its 
strength also in economic downturns.

In Finland, Citycon’s growth strategy is based primarily on organic growth – that is, the 
(re)development of existing retail properties. Citycon’s focus is on the centres of thriving 
cities, which in practice means growth centres. In these locations, the company seeks to 
increase its market position by means such as (re)development projects. In November, the 
company completed the thorough redevelopment of the Koskikeskus shopping centre in 
the heart of Tampere. The last phase of Myllypuron Ostari was completed in the summer. 
The old rooftop parking lot of Iso Omena was roofed over and repurposed for retail use. De-
velopment projects are being planned for Iso Omena and Lippulaiva in Espoo, Myyrmanni in 
Vantaa and IsoKristiina in Lappeenranta. 

FINLAND, KEY FIGURES		
2012 2011

Gross rental income, EUR million 137.0 127.3
Turnover, EUR million 143.2 132.5
Net rental income, EUR million 98.2 90.5
Net fair value losses on investment property, EUR million -0.9 -40.4
Operating profit, EUR million 87.5 42.3
Capital expenditure (gross), EUR million 119.9 62.5
Fair market value of investment properties, EUR million 1,659.0 1,547.4
Net rental yield, % 6.3 6.0
Net rental yield, like-for-like properties 6.5 6.2
Number of emploeeys per 31.12. 60 58
Energy intensity, kWh/visitor 1.6 1.6
Carbon intensity, kgCO2e/gross leasable area 85 93
Water consumption, l/visitor 1.9 2.1
Recycling rate, % 77.5 69.8
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partners: Securitas handles security guard services, Lemminkäin-
en Kiinteistötekniikka takes care of the technical maintenance of 
properties and L&T is responsible for cleaning. In this extensive 
tender process, Citycon carefully analysed both its own needs and 
the available alternatives with a view to improving the efficiency 
and quality of property maintenance.  

Reorganisation: good balace between international and local 
A restructuring of Citycon’s Finnish operations was started in 
December 2012 and carried out in January 2013. All of Citycon’s 
shopping centres and other retail properties in Finland were divid-
ed into four clusters. Each cluster is headed up by a  commercial 
director with profit responsibility. The commercial director is as-

sisted by a team consisting of shopping centre managers, a tech-
nical manager and a leasing manager. 

This reorganisation aims to speed up decision-making and en-
sure that decisions are taken closer to the  properties. It is also 
intended to increase sense of ownership and customer focus in 
retail property management. The goal is to improve the organisa-
tion’s agility in reacting to changes in the business environment 
and its effectiveness in both the leasing of premises and retail 
property management. 

Citycon’s management system is geared towards effectively 
combining a local presence with an international approach, there-
by stepping up the competitiveness of its shopping centres in the 
long term. Citycon seeks to create joint operating methods for 
shopping centre management, marketing, leasing and develop-
ment projects at the Group level. 

   
New chains in Finland
Citycon is a major shopping centre player in Finland and is at the 
forefront of introducing new chains and concepts to the country. 
In 2012, Citycon opened the first – and to date only – COS Store, 
a Collage the Shop (a Danish chain selling clothing by numerous 
luxury brands), a Tommy Hilfiger flagship shop and a Furla shop in 
the Galleria Esplanad shopping centre (the former Kämp Galleria). 

The Estonian jewellery and accessory chain Expressions 
opened its first Finnish store in Myyrmanni, Vantaa. The Estonian 
Yo! Yogurt ice cream chain opened two cafes, one in Iso Omena, 
Espoo, and the other in Columbus, Helsinki. These were among the 
chain’s first cafes in Finland. The Danish interior decoration and 
gift store Tiger entered Finland in early 2012. In the autumn, this 
rapidly growing chain opened its first stores in Citycon shopping 
centres, one in Iso Omena and another in Trio, Lahti. 

Enjoyment and electronic channels as the focuses of market-
ing development
Competition in the shopping centre business is getting tougher. 
Online shopping is challenging all traditional brick-and-mortar 
stores. Citycon’s answer to this challenge is hospitality – the com-
pany seeks to develop its shopping centres into even more attrac-
tive places where people enjoy spending time. This means, for 
instance, adding more cafe and restaurant space as well as intro-
ducing new kinds of services and events at shopping centres. In 
addition, Citycon is developing measures to increase custom-
er loyalty, such as launching gift cards. Free WLAN networks 
are available in most of Citycon's Finnish shopping centres.

Citycon intends to develop its shopping centres into 
appealing communities for customers in their catch-

Finnish Shopping Centre Rental Income  
by Branches based on valid rent roll  
at 31 Dec. 2012

•	 Cafes and Restaurants 9%

•	 Health and Beauty 9%

•	 Other Specialty Stores 3%

•	 Services and Offices 5%

•	 Clothes and Fashion 26%

•	 Groceries 19%

•	 Department Stores 13%

•	 Leisure, Home Supplies 17%
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ment areas. Part of this involves integrating the shopping centres 
as both physical and virtual spaces. During the year, the company 
focused particularly on growing the Facebook pages of each of its 
shopping centres. At the beginning of the year, Citycon’s Finnish 
shopping centres had about 20,000 fans – at the end of the year, 
155,000. In late 2012, the Myyrmanni shopping centre also pilot-
ed Finland’s first mobile shopping centre application. 

A key target for 2013 is to harness electronic marketing 
channels and increase the number of customers reached through 
them. In the company’s view, electronic channels provide a major 
opportunity to communicate cost-effectively with customers and 
thereby improve their loyalty.   

Another clear marketing objective is to increase the amount of 
time that customers spend in shopping centres and ensure that 
they enjoy themselves more. 

The tenants of Iso Omena and Duo were most satisfied
According to the satisfaction survey done in the spring, the 

overall satisfaction of the Finnish tenants was fairly good. 
Tenants gave particularly high marks in regards to everyday 

functionality to the waste sorting possibilities as well as on 
the ease of moving around, going to stores and using ser-

vices. Improvements were requested in regards to the 
functionality of the air conditioning system and clean-

liness. The best overall scores per shopping centre 
were given by the tenants of Iso Omena in Espoo 

and Duo in Tampere.

Projects under planning: 
Iso Omena GETS EVEN SWEETER
Preparations for the expansion of Iso Omena – Citycon’s largest shopping centre in Finland – progressed well in 
2012. Citycon intends to expand Iso Omena by about 50 per cent. Following the completion of the works, Iso Omena 
will boast about 75,000 square metres of leasable space and over 200 different stores and services. Iso Omena will 
then be one of the largest shopping centres in Finland. 

The terminal station of the first phase of Länsimetro – the extension line of the Greater Helsinki metro system – 
and a feeder-traffic bus terminal will be built underneath the extension. The metro station will be directly connected 
to the shopping centre. The metro will turn Iso Omena into a major traffic hub. About 35,000 daily commuters will 
pass through the metro station. 

The households in Iso Omena’s catchment area have a great deal of purchasing power, twice the national average. 
The extension of Iso Omena will bolster and expand the range of its offerings, particularly with respect to fashion 
and attractive cafe and restaurant services. 

Iso Omena is a very attractive retail location – one proof of this is that Citycon has signed a preliminary agree-
ment with the UK retailer Debenhams. The goal is that Iso Omena will feature Finland’s very first Debenhams de-
partment store.  

Citycon intends to open the extended and refurbished Iso Omena at the same time as the Länsimetro starts run-
ning towards the end of 2015. Citycon is developing the project together with NCC Property Development Oy.  

Citycon's net investment is expected to be about EUR 80-90 million. Citycon plans to start the project in the first 
half of 2013.   
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A theatre and shopping  
centre under one roof  
in Lappeenranta      
Citycon is planning to extend and thoroughly redevelop the 
IsoKristiina shopping centre in Lappeenranta. The expansion will 
also house the new premises for Lappeenranta City Theatre. 

IsoKristiina will be transformed into a next generation shop-
ping centre, or rather an indoor city block that combines culture 
and retail services. Customers from a wide-ranging area will come 
to the shopping centre, and it will also attract Russian tourists, 
who have purchasing power and are coming to Lappeenranta in 
growing numbers. 

IsoKristiina will house the Southern Karelia Cooperative Socie-
ty’s new, top-notch Sokos department store and S-market grocery 
store, which will provide a wide range of services, as well as a new 
Finnkino cinema. 

Citycon's net investment is expected to be about EUR 55 mil-
lion. Citycon intends to start the project in spring 2013. 

Joint campus in Pori for  
University of Applied Sciences  
and University Consortium
Citycon is preparing a major redevelopment project for the former 
Citymarket property located next to central Pori’s railway station.

The intention is to refurbish part of the property adjacent to 
Asema-aukio, by demolishing the building partly and constructing 
new facilities in its place. Thoroughly renovated and completely 
new premises will house the new joint campus of the Satakunta 
University of Applied Sciences and the University Consortium of 
Pori. Later on, or at the same time, a planned public transport cen-
tre, Porin Matkakeskus, may be built on the same site.

In January 2013, the City Board of Pori decided to launch nego-
tiations with Citycon. The next phase involves a framework agree-
ment on the project, to be expanded into a lease agreement at a 
later stage. Citycon aims to launch the project as soon as possible, 
in order to have the property in use and fully leased.

A new look for Koskikeskus
The redevelopment of the Koskikeskus shopping centre in the 
heart of Tampere was completed on schedule in November. The 
shopping centre was thoroughly refurbished both inside and out-
side, and its retail concept was revised. 

With this project, the Koskikeskus retail complex was retar-
geted to better match the needs of customers in the city cen-
tre. Its range of offerings grew, particularly in the case of fash-
ion, and more space was allocated to cafes and restaurants. 
The project added about 1,500 square metres of leasable 
floor area to Koskikeskus and the number of stores rose 
from about 80 to slightly more than 90. 

Citycon invested about EUR 40 million into the pro-
ject.

More specific information on 
development projects can be 
found on pages 69-71 of the 
report
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Citycon in Sweden

Citycon has a strong market position in Sweden through its ten shopping centres and six 
other retail properties in the Stockholm, Gothenburg and Umeå areas. After the acquisition 
of Kista Galleria, Citycon is one of market leaders in the shopping centre business in Swe-
den. This means that Citycon has reached its targeted strategic goal. 

The Swedish market is a strategic market for Citycon in the coming years, which is 
strongly supported by the acquisition of Kista Galleria, Stockholm’s largest shopping 
centre when measured by footfall. The Swedish portfolio consists of shopping centres in 
locations with a steady footfall and a strong base in grocery and fashion. The centres are 
designed to meet the needs of consumers located conveniently on their way home.

Strategic disposals of non-core properties continued in Sweden. Residential properties 
in Tumba and Jakobsberg in the Greater Stockholm area were sold. Neighbourhood centres 
such as Landvetter and Floda in the Greater Gothenburg area were also divested. 

Market environment subdued brand extensions
The macroeconomic fundamentals for Sweden remain robust and are among the strongest 
in Europe. Key risks for the economy include high household debt and the Swedish econo-
my’s high dependency on exports.

Local grocery-based shopping centres where Citycon has a strong position are the win-
ners in a highly competitive retail market in Sweden. This can already be seen as Citycon’s 
centres in Sweden have developed better than the Swedish market. The current portfolio’s 
star is Liljeholmstorget, where retailers’ sales grew by 15% to nearly 1.5 billion Swedish 
kronor and the shopping centre had some 9.5 million visitors. These figures can be com-
pared with the 2% increase in general retail sales estimated by HUI, the Swedish trade in-
stitute, for 2012. 

Citycon's portfolio cornerstones of urbanity and a grocery anchor tenant give stability 
in an uncertain market. The market situation led to the fact that there were no new brands 
entering Citycon’s shopping centres in Sweden, and it also had an effect on the vacancy lev-
els of the Swedish portfolio. To meet the growing trend of online shopping, the number of 
cafés and restaurants has been increased.

Tenant communications and marketing intensified
Customized market surveys have been implemented in all Swedish shopping centres during 
the year. The connections and differences between each shopping centre’s image, identity 
and profile were clearly identified. The surveys helped pinpoint specified targets for all op-
erations in regards to what is the most important issues to improve. These included issues 

Also Citycon’s portfolio in Sweden is based  
on urbanity and locality

SWEDEN, KEY FIGURES		
2012 2011

Gross rental income, EUR million 60.3 57.4
Turnover, EUR million 63.1 60.1
Net rental income, EUR million 39.2 35.4
Net fair value gains on investment property, EUR million 9.0 1.7
Operating profit, EUR million 48.2 32.4
Capital expenditure (gross), EUR million 18.1 45.5
Fair market value of investment properties, EUR million 739.2 697.1
Net rental yield, % 5.6 5.4
Net rental yield, like-for-like properties, 5.7 5.5
Personnel at the end of the period 31 35
Energy intensity, kWh/visitor 1.6 1.8
Carbon intensity, kgCO2e/gross leasable area 11 11
Water consumption, l/visitor 3.8 5.5
Recycling rate, % 95.5 94.8
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related to effecting the customers’ impression and relation to the 
shopping centre. Specified measurable goals were set for each 
shopping centre and special effort has been taken to implement 
them into the entire organisation.

During the year, marketing campaigns were intensified leading 
to more effective centralised marketing campaigns for all centres. 
The campaigns were divided into different types of goals relating to 
unified offers, footfall, loyalty and goodwill. Each centre combines 
and customizes the campaigns by adding local partners and details. 
In accordance to this, all suppliers for marketing material and ser-
vices were centralized into one agreement per operational area. 

The shopping centres have team meetings to work in a closer 
and more unified manner in terms of the customer retail experi-
ence. Tenant communications are performed regularly through 
monthly tenant meetings, monthly newsletters and Facebook. 
“Mall walks” are performed on a daily basis in our centres to im-
prove hospitality. Partners (suppliers) are also actively selected 
to support hospitality.

Kista Galleria – a new crown jewel for CITYCON IN Sweden

In December, Citycon announced that it will acquire one of Sweden’s largest shopping centres, Kista Galleria, located 15 minutes 
north-west of the Stockholm city centre, together with Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (CPPIB). Its location within the 
Kista area in conjunction with its integrated metro and bus station and commuter train station, makes it a perfect urban fit for 
Citycon’s portfolio. With this transaction, Citycon’s market position in the Swedish market rose from eleventh place to the 
top three.

When measured by footfall, Kista Galleria is Sweden’s largest shopping centre. Its annual footfall is approximately 
18.1 million visitors and annual sales total EUR 280 million. Kista Galleria has 90,000 square metres of gross leasable 
area (GLA), including 60,000 square metres of retail space and the remaining 30,000 square metres comprising a ho-
tel, student housing, healthcare premises and municipal services. The Galleria has 185 shops and restaurants as well 
as cinemas, bowling, indoor go-karting and other leisure activities. Anchor tenants include Åhléns, ICA, NewYorker, 
Clas Ohlson and StayAt Hotel.

More than 125,000 people live in the Kista area, with another 70,000 people travelling there to work, making 
it the largest office submarket outside Stockholm city centre. With its large concentration of telecoms, Inter-
net and IT companies, the area is a rapidly expanding high-tech hub.

The centre holds many future development possibilities. During the next one to five years, Citycon plans 
to improve the food court, commercialise the rooftop and intensify the centre with residential, medical 
and/or hotel facilities. In the longer term, there is a possibility to build an extension of up to 10,000 
square metres for retail space towards the metro station.

The transaction was completed in January 2013.

Swedish Shopping Centre Rental Income  
by Branches based on valid rent roll  
at 31 Dec. 2012

•	 Cafes and Restaurants 7%

•	 Health and Beauty 8%

•	 Other Specialty Stores 1%

•	 Services and Offices 23%

•	 Clothes and Fashion 19%

•	 Groceries 26%

•	 Leisure, Home Supplies 16%
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In addition each shopping centre has a local public relations plan, which is updated each 
month and implemented to the agenda for the centres' monthly meetings. A majority of PR 
ideas have resulted in smaller or bigger local publicity.

Liljeholmstorget Galleria has the most satisfied Citycon tenants in Sweden 
In the tenant satisfaction survey performed in the autumn across Citycon, overall satisfac-
tion in Sweden was moderate. The best scores were received for everyday functionality 
and were at a good level, but improvement is particularly needed in terms of the number 
of stores and services in the centres and in some cases the appearance of the shopping 
centres. Scores varied significantly between different centres, with the best scores from 
all the shopping centres in Sweden being for Liljeholmstorget. 

Managing sustainable centres 
The organisation in Sweden was restructured in 2012, with the objective being to make it 
more effective and target-oriented. With the exception of the newly acquired Kista Galle-
ria, all shopping centre leaders, property managers and property technicians were placed 
under the leadership of two Centre Management Directors. They are responsible for both 
the operational management and for reaching property-specific financial targets (NRI). 
With regard to cost savings, many consultancy agreements have been terminated.

Sustainability is part of the daily management of shopping centres, with an emphasis on 
energy optimisation. Citycon works continuously to monitor operating costs for heating, 
electricity and cooling. Energy optimisation has been performed at all centres.

Centre development
Åkermyntan Centrum was opened after a redevelopment project at year end. During the 
project, the grocery store ICA was extended, and the centre received new commercial fa-
cades and an improved commercial offer with new stores. In total, the centre grew by 
1,600 square metres and the total investment was EUR 6.9 million.

A framework agreement was signed in 2012 with the municipality to devel-
op Tumba Centrum, together with the builder and developer Strabag, 
starting in 2014.
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Citycon in the Baltic Countries and New Business

Brand expansions in and  
through the Baltic countries

Baltic countries and new business, key figures		
2012 2011

Gross rental income, EUR million 28.6 21.2
Turnover, EUR million 32.8 24.5
Net rental income, EUR million 24.6 18.4
Net fair value gains on investement property, EUR million 15.4 3.4
Operating profit, EUR million 39.1 20.5
Capital expenditure (gross), EUR million 23.0 108.1
Fair market value of investment properties, EUR million 316.0 277.6
Net rental yield, % 8.6 7.9
Net rental yield, like-for-like properties 8.3 7.8
Personnel at the end of the period 10 10
Energy intensity, kWh/visitor 1.0 1.0
Carbon intensity, kgCO2e/gross leasable area 197 179
Water consumption, l/visitor 1.8 2.0
Recycling rate, % 86.4 82.1

In 2012 the centres in 
Estonia saw 13 new brands:
•	J acadi
•	 Mamas & Papas (Beebicenter)
•	 Geox
•	 Rieker
•	 Tommy Hilfiger
•	 Guess and Guess Accessorize
•	 Etam
•	 Change of Scandinavia
•	 Oodji
•	 OnOff
•	 Colombini Casa
•	 Takko
•	 L Cosmetics

The Baltic Operations unit was renamed in the beginning of the 
year to the Baltic Countries and New Business unit. In addition to 
the previous shopping centres in the Baltic region, this unit now 
encompasses Albertslund Centrum in Denmark. 

In Estonia, Citycon has a strong foothold and is the market 
leader in Tallinn with its three shopping centres and more than 
100,000 square metres of GLA. Citycon’s Rocca al Mare is Tal-
linn’s largest shopping centre, Kristiine shopping centre was ac-
quired in spring 2011, and the smaller Magistral is situated in the 
Mustamäe region. In Vilnius, Lithuania, Citycon owns Mandarinas, 
a shopping centre offering daily necessities. 

Citycon has stated that the whole Nordic region is of strategic 
interest to the company. As part of this strategy, Citycon widened 

its portfolio to Denmark in 2012 by acquiring its first shopping 
centre in the greater Copenhagen area in the summer. Albert-
slund Centrum’s gross leasable area is approximately 16,000 
square metres with 45 shops. 

Citycon offers a colourful brand palette in Estonia
The increased consumption behaviour and consumption 
growth figures in the Baltic Countries, especially among young 
people and young adults, has attracted brands from Central 
Europe to expand in the region. This, together with the entre-
preneurial culture in these countries, has offered quick and 
efficient expansion for many brands. The magnitude of new 
chains and brands entering Citycon’s centres in Estonia is 

Cityco
n

 in
 th

e baltic co
u

n
tries 

an
d

 n
ew

 bu
sin

ess



AR 32    Citycon Oyj • annual and sustainabILIty report 2012 • BUSINESS UNITS AND PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

evidence of this trend. Some brands have also made their way to 
Citycon centres in Finland through the Baltic States this year with 
the help of Baltic franchisees, and more expansions are expected 
in 2013.

Active marketing shields against market threats
To challenge Citycon’s market leadership in Estonia there are 
several new shopping centre projects being planned in Estonia 
and also Lithuania. In addition to  increasing competition, market 
challenges for shopping centre operators include the small mar-
ket size and low consumer purchasing power. These factors, as 
well as growing e-commerce, are being faced by Citycon through 
the strengthening of the tenant portfolio, the strong concept of 
restaurants and cafes in centres and continuous active marketing.

Despite the expected, and in many areas realised economic 
slowdown, Citycon’s shopping centres in the Baltic Countries and 
Denmark have maintained their market position and show stable 
growth. 

In the Baltics and Denmark, Citycon plans all its marketing 
events together with tenants. There are marketing committees 
in all centres that meet regularly with centre marketing leaders 
to discuss and decide on various marketing solutions.  Surveys 
regarding marketing events are also conducted regularly among 
tenants. In Albertslund, the centre association decides on market-
ing-related issues in cooperation with all tenants.  

Strong growth in footfall
The footfall in the Estonian shopping centres has been develop-
ing well in recent years. Kristiine’s footfall has increased by 7.1% 
on average compared to last year; Rocca al Mare has been stable 
although tenant sales have shown positive trends, being 11.5% 
above last year. Sales at Kristiine rose by 17.4% over last year.

Mandarinas in Lithuania showed stability, with tenant sales 
growth of 1.1%. Mandarinas’ anchor tenant Rimi renewed its en-
tire concept during autumn 2012, resulting in a negative impact 
on footfall this year, but this is expected to recover from the be-
ginning of 2013.

Magistral was reopened after redevelopment and extension 
in May. Magistral’s interior and parking facilities were totally re-
newed and the shopping centre was extended by 1,900 square 
metres. The centre was closed during the project and was reo-
pened together with the Mustamäe region authorities in May. Its 
market position strengthened considerably after the project in 
the Mustamäe region by being the preferred local area shop.

Tenants view Rocca al Mare as the best shopping centre in 
Estonia 
In the tenant satisfaction survey carried out in the autumn across 
Citycon, overall satisfaction in Estonia was good. The everyday 
functionality and co-operation between tenants and Citycon is 
working well in particular. Each centre had its own specific de-

Rental Income by Branches based  
on valid rent roll at 31 Dec. 2012  
in baltic countries and new business

•	 Cafes and Restaurants 5%

•	 Health and Beauty 7%

•	 Other Specialty Stores 9%

•	 Services and Offices 10%

•	 Clothes and Fashion 35%

•	 Groceries 16%

•	 Leisure, Home Supplies 18%
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Citycon enters Denmark
In June, Citycon announced the acquisition of the Albertslund Centrum shopping centre in the Greater Copenhagen area in 
Denmark. This is Citycon’s first centre in Denmark. 

Albertslund Centrum is a local open-air shopping centre with 45 shops located in the centre of the municipality of Al-
bertslund, approximately 17 kilometres west of Copenhagen city centre. It is located next to the train station and bus 
terminal. Albertslund Centrum is a community centre that serves as the social hub of the Albertslund Municipality pro-
viding, in addition to retail, extensive municipality services, the town hall, a theatre, cinema and job centre. Citycon’s 
partner in re-developing the centre is the local municipality. Citycon has an on-going dialogue with the authorities 
together with TK-Development, who runs the centre for Citycon.

The shopping centre’s gross leasable area is currently approximately 16,000 square metres. The transaction 
of Albertslund Centrum includes the purchase of an approximately 4,000 square metre grocery store extension 
which will be bought at the time of its completion at the end of 2014. It has been planned that in conjunction 
with the opening of the grocery store, Albertslund Centrum’s image will be also changed and the centre will 
be relaunched as a whole. The extension will increase the GLA to approximately 20,000 square metres. The 
good location next to the train and bus station provides the shopping centre with a steady footfall.

Albertslund Centrum is anchored by grocery tenants Superbest and Aldi. 

velopment needs relating to practical things like parking, waste 
sorting and disposal facilities or indoor temperature. In the survey 
Rocca al Mare was most often mentioned as the best shopping cen-
tre in Estonia.

Renovations and extensions in 2013
Citycon signed a deal with the fashion chain Hennes&Mauritz in 
the autumn of 2012 to open stores at Rocca al Mare and Kristiine. 
Opening is planned for autumn 2013. Another major agreement 
was signed with the British department store chain Debenhams to 
open a store at Rocca al Mare at the same time as H&M.

In relation to this, refurbishments and developments are 
planned for both centres. The investment decision has been made 
and construction work started in January 2013 which will result 
in an additional GLA of 3,500 square metres at Rocca al Mare 
and 995 square metres at Kristiine. The total investment cost for 
these has been estimated at EUR 8.4 million. The construction will 
not interfere with daily life at Kristiine and the shopping centre will 
remain open during the renovation. The project in Rocca al Mare is 
less publicly visible as the biggest construction works are mainly 
behind the current premises. The project at Rocca al Mare also 
includes the reallocation of existing tenants and the utilisation of 
current common spaces as rental area. In addition, there are plans 
for several reorganisations among existing tenants in both centres, 
which will lead to the renewed concept being opened in the autumn 
of 2013. 

At Albertslund Centrum, short term refurbishment possibilities 
include energy saving investments since the centre was originally 
built in the 1960s and now has some worn-out systems that need 
to be renewed. The preliminary plans for possible changes have 
been drawn up and will be carried out in 2013.
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Tripla is a place where  
young people can get together 

The City of Lahti youth services opened youth premises in the Trio shopping 
centre in autumn 2011. At the premises, young people can talk to a team of youth 

service providers, such as youth worker Tommi Aaltola (in the photo). Young 
people aged 13 to 25 can talk to the youth workers or attend events where 

issues such as sexual health, alcohol and drug use, and studying are addressed. 
“Tripla is a great place – it’s fun to come here and meet friends. I think it would 

be great if other shopping centres this size had a similar place for young peo-
ple,” says 15-year-old Paavo, a frequent Tripla visitor.

Read the touching story of another young person at:
www.annualreport2012.citycon.com/story



Tripla is a place where  
young people can get together 
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Greetings from VP sustainability

Citycon is a sustainability 
fore-runner
This past year has, in many ways, been very inter-
esting and rewarding for us. Our drive for results 
and hard work paid off: we achieved the Green 
Star level in the global GRESB (Global Real Es-
tate Sustainability Benchmark) survey, largely 
thanks to our positive performance.  We also 
reached gold level in the EPRA (European Public 
Real Estate Association) sustainability reporting. 
This was the first time EPRA awarded such rec-
ognition. Besides our sustainability reporting, our 
financial reporting also won the gold medal, mak-
ing us double winners.

While external recognition is an important sign 
of appreciation, the most important thing is the 
progress that has taken place in our operations. 
Our personnel have adopted the sustainability 
objectives and actions and further included them 
in daily operations along with the development of 
our sustainability indicators and follow-up sys-
tems. For some areas such as energy consump-
tion, target setting was a major part of the budg-
eting process, which will drive commitment to 
targets in the future. Shopping centres and op-
erating areas were actively engaged in sharing 
best practices.   

Another key contributor helping us achieve 
results was management support to energy effi-
ciency investments. These projects progressed 
swiftly. I think it's safe to say we will continue to 
see good results in the future.

Community engagement was identified as 
a strong theme in our stakeholder impact anal-

ysis.  For the first time ever, Citycon organised a 
stakeholder event in the autumn, inviting various 
stakeholder groups to express their views and 
development ideas regarding Citycon's opera-
tions. During the event, stakeholders expressed 

several valuable views on sustainability. One of 
the requests made to Citycon was to provide 
more information in shopping centres on our 
sustainability actions and achievements. Tenants 
and consumers in particular expressed an inter-
est in Citycon’s sustainability work. In response 
to stakeholder demands, more active communi-
cation was identified as one of our objectives for 
next year.  

Communication with stakeholders is one of our 
key priorities in sustainability work in 2013. Our 
actions and achievements deserve to be report-
ed to stakeholders, and stakeholders are keen to 
learn more about them. With practically an unlim-
ited number of communication and co-operation 
opportunities available to us, we hope to see in-
teresting developments during the year.   

In my opinion, one of the challenges we will 
have to address in 2013 is the changes in organ-
isational structures, which are bound to affect 
sustainability work and our operations in general. 
Management practices will play a major role here. 
I have full confidence in our personnel's profes-
sionalism and power and in our management's 
ability to implement the changes and maintain the 
level of achievement we have already reached, 
whether it involves commercial reforms or an im-
provement in energy efficiency. With every chal-
lenge, there’s always an opportunity.

 
Kirsi Borg 
Vice President, Sustainability
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What sustainability means 
for Citycon 

SUSTAINABILITY SUMMARY

Sustainability has been part of the company’s strategy since 
2008. The different aspects of responsibility – economic, social 
and environmental – are important parts of the company’s oper-
ations. 

Citycon’s most important mission is to develop and maintain 
financially stable and successful business operations. The com-
pany’s sustainability programme can generate added value for 
operations, improve financial performance, bolster stakeholder 
relations and improve risk management.

Through its environmental programme Citycon aims to curb 
climate change, improve energy efficiency, reduce water con-
sumption, enhance waste management and promote sustain-
able construction and land use. Environmental objectives and 
measures have been integrated into day-to-day operations and 
ordinary practices in shopping centre management and property 
development. The measures are geared towards achieving cost 
savings so that the properties will be attractive to stakeholders 
both now and in the future.

Citycon’s operations have an impact on many stakeholders 
such as tenants, personnel, partners and authorities. Regular in-
teraction and reporting increase transparency and facilitate the 
achievement of objectives. Social responsibility culminates in HR 
management and the promotion of ethical principles and good ad-
ministrative practices. Community engagement and local commu-
nities play a major role, particularly in shopping centre manage-
ment and property development. 

2012 highlights   

Social  
responsibility & 
governance:
-	 129 employees (52.7% 

women and 47.3% men)
-	 469 training days
-	 90 Pinkest Act*) proposals 
-	 EPRA Gold double award 

(Financial and Sustainability)
-	  539 tenants took part in 

tenant satisfaction survey
-	 First stakeholder event

 *) internal competition

Environmental 
responsibility:
-	 Carbon footprint decreased by 

3.3.%
-	 Energy consumption down by 

1.7% 
-	 Water consumption per visitor 

decreased by 11.2%
-	 Recycling rate of 83.2% 
-	 14,358 MWh of green 

electricity
-	 Gold-level LEED certif-

icate for the Martinlaakson 
Ostari project

-	 GRESB Star

Economic  
responsibility:
-	 Change in net  

rental income 12.3% 
-	 EPRA earnings per share  

EUR 0.214
-	P roposal for Dividend and equi-

ty return/share EUR 0.15
-	 Gross capital expenditure: 

EUR 161.7 million 
-	 Refinancing  

(debt and equity capital):  
circa EUR 600 million

-	 792 new leases
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Stakeholders

Interaction with stakeholders  
a vital requirement for success 
According to Citycon’s definition, stakeholders include parties 
that are or may be affected by Citycon’s operations and that may 
affect the fulfilment of Citycon’s objectives. 

Citycon’s stakeholders are:
•	 Consumers
•	 Tenants
•	 Shareholders, lenders and analysts
•	P ersonnel 
•	 Co-operation partners (service providers, suppliers, contrac-

tors, consultants)
•	 Authorities and local communities
•	 Media
•	 Industry associations and NGOs.

In property (re)development projects, business partners, author-
ities and local communities represent project-type stakeholders.

A good working relationship between Citycon and its stakehold-
ers:
• 	 Increases transparency
• 	P romotes the fulfilment of objectives
• 	 Consolidates mutual understanding
• 	 Acts as a shared learning process.
Citycon aims to further explore ways of improving interaction and 
taking account of issues identified in dealings with stakeholders. 
Channels of interaction between Citycon and its stakeholders 
include annual and interim reports, stock exchange and press re-
leases, presentation materials, general meetings, the company 
website, the portal service for tenants, customer satisfaction 
surveys, events at shopping centres, market research, consumer 
surveys, press conferences and informal discussions. Dialogue 
with stakeholders in 2012 is illustrated on the next page, in the 
light of surveys and studies conducted. 

Other forms of stakeholder engagement include appearanc-
es by company representatives in various events, meetings with 
media representatives, road shows, local co-operation, informal 
everyday interaction, participation in the work of industry asso-
ciations, as well as employee performance reviews and personnel  
surveys.   

The effects of Citycon's operations  
on stakeholders and society
Citycon is an active owner and long-term developer of shopping 
centres, creating success for retailing. Its retail properties serve 
both consumers and retailers. As far as possible, the company 
aims to take account of environmental aspects and well-being in 
the areas surrounding its retail properties. Citycon therefore has 
diverse impacts on stakeholders and society:

• 	 The effect of Citycon's investments on regional economic 
well-being, e.g. jobs, development of purchasing power

• 	 The effect on the local economy of salaries and taxes paid by 
Citycon, and of its personnel costs

• 	 Offering attractive retail properties to tenants
• 	 Offering business opportunities to international chains in 

Citycon's retail properties
• 	 Taking account of the environmental impacts of 

(re)development projects
• 	 The impact of customer traffic on climate change
• 	 The environmental impacts of the production of energy used 

in properties
• 	 The environmental impacts of waste generated by retail 

properties (= tenants) 
•	P romoting recycling by organising appropriate recycling 

facilities
• 	 The effect of employment relationships, and a work communi-

ty enabling career development, on personnel well-being and 
job satisfaction

• 	 The effect of retail properties on local community develop-
ment, for instance the availability of services and products

• 	 The effect of shopping centres on the urban image and struc-
ture, as well as on general ambience and functionality of the 
area

• 	 Safety in shopping centres. 

Citycon’s operations have an economic impact on several stake-
holders such as tenants, personnel, partners and authorities. The 
impacts of economic responsibility on various stakeholders are 
described in more detail on pages 44-45 and 76.
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Besides high-quality products, listening to customer needs and 
feedback are vital to building trust in companies in the future 
(Edelman Trust Barometer 2012). Citycon wants to be engaged 
in continuous dialogue with its stakeholders. Regular analysis of 
stakeholder views and opinions provides practical tools for every-
day work in shopping centres and for better company manage-
ment. The results are used in various ways to develop operations.

Surveys give concrete information 
on the current state
Actions to enhance stakeholder interaction taken at Citycon in 
2012 included:
-	 An extensive tenant satisfaction survey in Finland, Sweden 

and Estonia
-	 A journalist survey to assess media interest in the company in 

Finland
-	 Shopping centre attraction survey in Finland
-	 Consumers invited to suggest development ideas for three 

centres in Finland in Facebook groups
-	 Citycon's inhouse communications satisfaction survey
-	 Customer profiling surveys in Sweden
-	 A joint discussion with all of Citycon's stakeholders in Finland.

Special focus  
on tenant feedback
In 2012, Citycon conducted its first extensive tenant satisfaction 
survey in three key operating areas: Finland, Sweden and Estonia. 
The survey conducted was identical in each country, with the sur-
vey being aimed at store managers and entrepreneurs responsible 
for the practical management of the stores. The survey covered ar-
eas such as functionality in everyday work, shopping centre man-
agement, sustainability in shopping centres, marketing and overall 
image of Citycon. There was a total of 539 respondents, which 
accounts for some 33 per cent of the survey recipients. Citycon's 
tenants in shopping centres in Finland rated their overall satisfac-
tion at 7.6 (the highest score being 10), while the equivalent rat-
ing in Sweden was 7.0 and 8.0 in Estonia. These results provide a 
benchmark for surveys in 2013.

The results of the survey were discussed in Citycon's Finnish 
and Corporate Management Committees, resulting in the prepa-
ration of targeted action plans for each shopping centre. Special 
attention was paid to recurring development ideas suggested in 
the open questions section.

In 2011-2012, Citycon carried out a qualitative survey based 
on group interviews at most of its shopping centres. The aim of 
the survey was to correctly position the shopping centres in the 
market and thereby obtain information for planning retail man-
agement, tenant mix and marketing. 

WHAT CAN WE DO BETTER?

Stakeholder groups were gathered 
to discuss together
In the autumn, Citycon organised its first-ever extensive stake-
holder discussion to hear about the ideas, expectations and 
development ideas of its stakeholders. Representatives from 
several stakeholder groups attended the event, including tenants, 
investors, shareholders, personnel, consumers, authorities and 
co-operation partners. The discussion offered stakeholders a 
wealth of information on Citycon's operating principles, as well as 
on other stakeholder groups' expectations. Feedback provided 
to Citycon included development ideas and perspectives that 
were discussed by Citycon Finland’s Management Team, and 
will be taken into consideration in future operational devel-
opment work. 
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Environmental responsibility

Great achievements in annual targets 

Drivers of responsibility
The real estate and construction sector can significantly 
contribute to the prevention and reduction of emissions.
•	P roperties produce about 30 per cent of global 

greenhouse gas emissions. 
The built environment accounts for 
•	 40 per cent of energy 
•	 30 per cent of raw materials, 
•	 25 per cent of water, 
•	 25 per cent of the total volume of solid wastes and
•	 12 per cent of land use. 
•	 The built environment also has an impact on ecosystems. 

(Source: UNEP Common Carbon Metric)

The best ways of cutting greenhouse gas emissions in 
the sector are to improve the energy efficiency of build-
ings, to reduce energy consumption and to increase the 
use of renewable energy sources in the properties’ ener-
gy production and procurement.

Ecology and economy go hand in hand. At Citycon, the 
drivers of responsibility are:
•	 As a result of climate change and its consequences, 

legislation on energy and emissions has become 
stricter, as has the related taxation

•	 Rising energy prices and material costs 
•	 Cost-efficiency and achieving a competitive advantage
•	 Improving risk management

Achievement of strategic objectives set for 
environmental responsibility, and the new 
annual objectives

Targets for 
2012 Results of 2012 Targets for 2013

Climate Change
Reduction of greenhouse gas 
emission by 20 per cent by year 2020 
from the 2009 level

2-3% In l-f-l shopping 
centres: -3.3%

√ 2-3%

Energy
Reduction of energy consumption 
(electricity, heating and cooling) by 9 
per cent by 2016 from 2009 level

2-3% In l-f-l shopping 
centres: -1.7%

 2-3%

Identifying solution that utilise 
renewable energy

- in progress √ feasibility study in 
(re)development 

projects

Water
Lowering water consumption to an 
average level of less than 3.5 litres 
per visitor per year

4.0 l/
visitor

In l-f-l shopping cen-
tres: 3.9 l/visitor

√ 3.9 l/visitor

Waste
Shopping centre waste recycling rate 
to be raised to at least 80 per cent 
by 2015

78% 83% √ 80%

Reduction of landfill waste to a 
maximum of 20 per cent of total 
waste by 2015

22% 17% √ 20%

Land Use and Sustainable Construction
All development projects to be 
implemented in accordance with envi-
ronmental classification principles

All 
projects 
ongoing 
in 2012 

as-
sessed 

with 
LEED 

criterias

achieved √ All projects ongoing 
in 2013 assessed 

with LEED criterias

Development projects are located in 
built-up environments, within reach 
of good public transport connections

100% achieved √ 100%

√ = achieved,  = nearly achieved

To achieve its environmental targets, 
Citycon applies the following principles
•	 Taking the environment into account in all operative 

functions
•	 Complying with statutory rules and regulations, and 

preparing in advance for future legislative changes through 
active monitoring of transformations in society

•	 Continuously developing the management, steering and 
reporting of environmental practices

•	 Expecting partners to operate in a way that supports the fulfil-
ment of Citycon’s environmental goals

•	 Ensuring that the company’s environmental policies are available 
to all stakeholders

•	 Guiding personnel towards sustainability in environmental issues 
through goal setting, training and internal communications.
Through its environmental programme Citycon aims to curb climate change, improve 

energy efficiency, reduce water consumption, enhance waste management and pro-
mote sustainable construction and land use.
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The principles of environmental management
Citycon’s environmental management is guided and supported by 
the company’s strategy, long-term objectives and environmental 
policy. Citycon’s management and personnel are committed to 
meeting the company’s environmental objectives and targets.

Carbon footprint
Citycon’s carbon footprint in 2012 totalled 74,208 tonnes of car-
bon dioxide equivalents. The carbon footprint reported by Citycon 
covers the energy and water consumption in properties, waste 
logistics and the emissions generated by the Citycon organisa-
tion. Energy consumption in properties constitutes 99.2 per cent 
of the carbon footprint. 
•	 The carbon footprint grew by 5.5 per cent compared to the 

previous year. The growth was caused by changes in the prop-
erty portfolio

•	 The carbon footprint of like-for-like shopping centres 
decreased by 3.3 per cent and carbon intensity per visitor 
remained at the same level than previous year

•	 The annual target for reducing the carbon footprint was attained. 
In addition to carbon dioxide emissions, other major greenhouse 
gas emissions include sulphur and nitrogen oxides released in 
energy production, which, for example, cause the acidification 
of waters, slow down plant growth and corrode buildings. With 
respect to energy used by Citycon, it is estimated that acidifying 
emissions total 363,000 kg of sulphur dioxide equivalents.1)

Energy
Energy consumption in Citycon’s properties is mostly indirect 
consumption, in other words procured energy. Only one shopping 
centre is equipped with a heating plant, and the fuel it uses is re-
ported as direct energy consumption.

Citycon procured a total of 183.4 gigawatt hours of electricity 
in 2012. 
•	 Consumption rose by 0.9 per cent compared to the previous 

year due to the changes in the property portfolio and higher 
energy consumption by tenants

•	 Electricity consumption in common areas (excl. electricity 
used by tenants) amounted to 109.7 GWh, showing a de-
crease of 3.6 per cent from previous year

•	 In like-for-like shopping centres, electricity consumption in 
common areas decreased by 5.2 per cent

•	 Electricity consumption decreased due to active optimisation 
and adjustment and investments in energy saving measures.

Heating energy consumption came to 143.4 gigawatt hours. 
•	 Heating energy consumption increased by 3.8 per cent from 

previous year
•	 Weather-adjusted consumption, 144.4 gigawatt hours, 

decreased by 2.2 per cent

Actions Citycon is taking  
to fight climate change
•	 Shopping centres are in central locations with 

good public transport connections in order to 
reduce the harmful environmental impacts of 
customer traffic

•	 Implementing energy-saving measures for each 
property

•	 Increasing tenant co-operation aimed at energy 
savings

•	 Increasing the proportion of renewable energy in 
electricity procurement.

•	 Heating energy consumption in like-for-like shopping centre 
properties was up 1.5 per cent and weather-adjusted con-
sumption was down 4.2 per cent

•	 Temperatures in the winter were above average, except 
for February and December, which were exceptionally cold. 
Summer was not as warm as usual, which meant that cooling 
requirements were lower than normal. 

Citycon’s total energy consumption (incl. electricity consumption 
in common areas, heating and cooling) amounted to 257.3 giga-
watt hours.
•	 Consumption showed a slight increase of 1.1 per cent 

compared to previous year
•	 Total energy consumption in like-for-like shopping 

centre properties decreased by 1.7 per cent
•	 In shopping centres, energy consumption per visitor 

decreased by 1.3 per cent and energy consumption 
per sales fell by 7.2 per cent

•	 The annual target for reduction in energy con-
sumption was achieved.

The total consumption of primary energy in City-
con was 1,956 terajoules. The primary sources 
of total energy consumption are illustrated in 
the adjacent graph. 1) 	 Since electricity traders are under no statutory obligation to disclose nitrogen 

oxide or sulphur dioxide emissions arising in production, emissions have been 
estimated based on country-specific production profiles. 
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Measures taken to reduce water consumption:
•	 The objective in property-specific action plans is to install 

more water meters allowing monitoring of user-specific 
consumption.

Waste treatment 
Properties managed by Citycon generated 14,896 tonnes of 
waste, of which 14,118 tonnes were collected from shopping cen-
tres and 778 tonnes from other properties. The recycling rate of 
waste materials for Citycon’s shopping centres was 83.2 per cent. 
•	 In 2012, waste volumes saw a year-on-year decrease of 3.0 

per cent
•	 Waste volumes in like-for-like shopping centres decreased by 

8.2 per cent
•	 Similarly, the waste volume proportionate to sales showed a 

decrease of 12.2 per cent
•	 Citycon’s annual targets set for waste processing and recy-

cling were achieved. 
Measures taken in 2012 to increase waste sorting:
•	 Sorting instructions applicable in shopping centres were 

issued to all parties concerned, and were made electronically 
available at all times

•	 Training was arranged in shopping centres as necessary to 
improve sorting and recycling.

Citycon’s business countries show operational differences in 
terms of waste management. Property waste management and 

sorting in Citycon’s properties is organised in accordance with 
country-specific waste legislation and other local regulations. 

Land use and sustainable construction 
As a shopping centre developer, Citycon’s responsibility also 
extends to its projects. Careful planning and implementation 
can considerably reduce the environmental impacts of property 
(re)development projects. Compliance with the principles set out 
in environmental certification systems in project implementation 
contributes to sustainable development. 

Citycon carries out all (re)development projects in accordance 
with environmental classification principles. Energy efficiency, 
efficient water use, materials selected, building regulations on in-
door air quality and Citycon's own instructions and guidelines are 
taken into account in project planning. Decisions on certification 
are made on a project-by-project basis. Citycon has LEED certifi-
cates for the following properties:
•	 The renovation project of the Trio shopping centre (certified), 

the first LEED environmental certificate in the Nordic coun-
tries, 2009

•	 The renovation and expansion project at the Rocca al Mare 
shopping centre (silver), 2010 

•	 The Liljeholmstorget shopping centre development project 
(platinum), 2010

•	 The Martinlaakson Ostari development project (gold), 2012.
The company’s strategic policy for property acquisitions is that 

Measures taken to improve energy efficiency in 2012:
•	 Implementation of energy saving actions in properties 

through active optimisation and adjustment measures and 
investments

•	 The proportion of green electricity was raised by 189.7 per cent.

Water
Citycon’s total water consumption in 2012 was 626,953 cubic metres. 
•	 Water consumption decreased by 2.0 per cent compared to 

the previous year
•	 Water consumption in like-for-like shopping centre properties 

declined by 10.0 per cent
•	 Water consumption proportionate to sales decreased by 9.0 

per cent compared to the previous year
•	 The reasons behind the decrease are changes in the property 

portfolio in Sweden, where apartments were sold during the year
•	 In 2012, water consumption per visitor in shopping centres 

was 4.2 litres, and 3.9 litres in like-for-like shopping centres
•	 The target for reducing water consumption per visitor in 

2012 was met. 
Water consumption includes water consumed by the real-estate 
company and tenants. Tenant water consumption is highest in gro-
cery stores, restaurants and cafés, hair salons, laundries and car 
wash facilities. Water consumption in a property includes water 
used in common areas such as customer toilets, and water used 

for cleaning, property maintenance and watering plants. 

Water Intensity  
in like-for-like  
shopping centres
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26.9%
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Source: IEA  
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they must be located in a built environment and easily accessible 
by public transport. A good example of such property is the Kista 
Galleria shopping centre in Stockholm, acquisition announced at 
the end of 2012 .

Biodiversity taken into consideration in projects
Since all land use and construction operations pose a threat to bi-
odiversity, Citycon aims to avoid construction projects in unbuilt 
areas where changes could have a negative impact on biodiversity 
and ecosystems. All Citycon’s shopping centres are located in a 
built environment. 

In most cases, an environmental impact assessment, including 
a biodiversity assessment, is conducted in connection with zoning 
and major projects. Where an environmental impact assessment 
is not required by law, Citycon evaluates the need for an assess-
ment of its own on a case-by-case basis. The location of shopping 
centres in built environments with excellent public transport con-
nections reduces their ecological impact and the threat they rep-
resent to biodiversity. 

Citycon’s properties are not situated on protected land areas, 
although the Rocca al Mare shopping centre is located next to a 
protected area.

Sustainability yields cost-effectiveness
The opportunities that sustainability offers culminate in profit-
able and energy-efficient operations. Lower energy and waste 

costs improve profitability and make properties more attractive 
and competitive.

Implementation of the EU-wide and national climate, energy 
and waste policies will affect future energy solutions, energy pric-
es and taxation. Growing price pressure is an effective motivator 
for saving energy. Energy pricing is also a useful incentive for more 
efficient use of renewable energy sources. So far, use of renewa-
ble energy sources in properties has been scarce in Citycon’s line 
of business and operating regions. This could be attributed to ex-
pensive investments, long repayment periods, and relatively new 
technological solutions for which experience-based feedback is 
not yet available. In connection with project planning, Citycon em-
ploys an active approach to utilising renewable energy sources. 

Waste taxes associated with waste management and landfill 
fees have increased substantially in the short term and are ex-
pected to rise further. Price increases encourage the sorting and 
reduction of waste. 

The significance of sustainability to various stakeholder 
groups has been emphasised in the last few years. By applying 
sustainable business principles, Citycon wants to bolster its cor-
porate image by standing out as a pioneer in sustainability. 

Key sustainability risks are associated with the price of energy 
and with reputation
The risks associated with climate change will affect Citycon’s busi-
ness environment in the long term. Different sources and scenarios 

predict a rise of 2 to 6 degrees Celsius in average temperatures in 
Citycon’s operating regions, over several decades. Global warming 
will increase the frequency of extreme weather conditions, such as 
violent storms, floods and snowfalls. Extreme weather conditions 
will increase maintenance costs and erode profitability.

Land use and construction involve the threat of disrupting bi-
odiversity. In most cases, an environmental impact assessment, 
including a biodiversity assessment, is conducted in connection 
with zoning and major projects. Within the next few years, bio-
diversity may become a widely addressed topic in both political 
debates and legislation.

As a property investment firm and shopping centre operator, 
and as a public company, Citycon has several stakeholder groups. 
Many of these take an interest in Citycon's sustainability issues, 
the related management practices and results. Due to the diverse 
needs of stakeholder groups, communications related to sustain-
ability represent a challenge. Failure to reach the related objec-
tives, or unsuccessful communications, could pose a risk to the 
company's reputation.

An expert organisation like Citycon relies heavily on its person-
nel for success. To reduce personnel risk, Citycon invests strongly 
in employee well-being and career development opportunities.  
The annual personnel survey is an important tool for HR develop-
ment efforts.  Key figures on personnel are presented on pages 47 
and 75.

In the long term, as global warming continues, so-called climate 
refugees from densely populated areas will be forced to relocate 
to other countries and continents. In their host countries, some of 
these refugees will end up in relatively low-skilled and low-wage 
jobs. Citycon’s supply chain includes these kinds of positions, 
such as cleaning, assistant construction work and property 
maintenance. The hiring of people for these jobs may in-
volve risk factors related to working conditions and human 
rights.

Citycon seeks to eliminate these risk factors by 
preparing codes of ethics for its supply chains, and 
by requiring its subcontractors to act ethically and 
responsibly.

Recycling rate  
of shopping centres
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Baltic Countries and New Business

Finland

Sweden

Economic responsibility

Citycon runs operations both locally and internationally. Listed on 
the Helsinki stock exchange (NASDAQ OMX Helsinki), Citycon’s 
largest shareholder is Gazit-Globe Ltd, whose holdings on 31 
December 2012 totalled 49.0 per cent of all shares and votes.  
Citycon’s operating areas in the Nordic and Baltic Countries are or-
ganised into operational business units, which are managed locally 
by citizens of each specific country. Local impact from an econom-
ic perspective is defined individually for each business unit. 

The economic value Citycon generates and distributes is dis-
cussed in the Facts and Figures section on page 76.

Citycon’s operations have a financial impact on several stake-
holders such as tenants, personnel, suppliers and subcontractors.  
The financial impact on each stakeholder group is assessed below, 
based on cash flows between Citycon and its stakeholders.

Purchases related to property maintenance totalled EUR 65.6 
million (EUR 62.8 million). In Finland, Citycon continued to apply 
a centralised partnership agreement model that covers property 
maintenance, security guard services and cleaning. A competitive 
bidding round for property maintenance, security guard servic-
es, cleaning and environmental management was arranged in 

the autumn. In addition to domestic service providers, bids were 
also requested from other European operators. As a result of the 
competitive bidding, the service contracts were awarded to sep-
arate local providers. In Sweden and the Baltic countries, Citycon 
procures property maintenance, security and cleaning services 
separately. 

Energy was the largest cost item included in maintenance 
costs. In 2012, Citycon paid a total of EUR 25.1million (EUR 24.2 
million) to energy producers and suppliers. The principal heating 
method in properties is district heating, which is procured locally 
from each region’s district heating company. Only one shopping 
centre uses gas heating, and a few properties have additional 
electric heating. Finland and Sweden have centralised electricity 
supply contracts, for which a competitive bidding process was 
arranged in 2012. Properties in Estonia also have centralised 
electricity supply contracts. The electricity markets in the Baltic 
countries are in transition, allowing for more transparent compet-
itive bidding in the future. 

In each property (re)development project, Citycon's business 
units arrange competitive bidding processes in line with specified 
project goals. Citycon’s capital expenditure totalled EUR 161.7 
million (EUR 216.7 million), with property development account-
ing for EUR 101.5 million (EUR 75.0 million) and new property 
acquisitions and agreed purchase price adjustments related to 
property acquisitions concluded earlier accounting for EUR 58.8 
million (EUR 140.0 million). Another EUR 1.4 million (EUR 1.7 mil-
lion) was spent on other investments. Cash flow from operations 
and existing financing arrangements were used to finance these 
investments. 

Citycon has partnered with international investors in Iso Om-

Economic responsibility 
with a local perspective

Finland represented 74.2 per cent of the 
investments, Sweden 11.2 per cent and  
the Baltic Countries and New Business 14.2 
per cent. The share of headquarters was 0.4 
per cent.

Investments per business unit

ECONOM






IC

 RE
S

PON


SI
BI

LI
TY



Citycon Oyj • annual and sustainabILIty report 2012 • SUSTAINABILITY    AR 45

Finland's share of property maintenance-related 
purchases was approximately 62.0 per cent, 

Sweden’s 26.4 per cent and the Baltic Countries  
and New Business' 11.6 per cent.

CASH FLOWS BETWEEN STAKEHOLDERS

ena and also in Kista Galleria starting from 2013. Citycon's 
partner in the Iso Omena shopping centre project is GIC Real 
Estate, the property investment arm of the Singapore-based 
Government of Singapore Investment Corporation. Citycon 
owns 60 per cent of the shopping centre and GIC Real Es-
tate the remaining 40 per cent. In December 2012, Citycon 
announced its acquisition of the Kista Galleria shopping 
centre in Stockholm together with the Canada Pension 
Plan Investment Board (CPPIB).  CPPIB is an investment 
management organisation that invests the funds of the 
Canada Pension Plan (CPP).

Citycon

Tenants Employees

Authorities Investors and 
Lenders

Co-operation 
partners

Consumers

Retail sales in 
Citycon’s 

shopping centres 
EUR 2.4 billion

Turnover 
EUR 239.2 

million

Turnover based 
rents in 

proportion to 
Citycon’s turnover  

approximately 2%

Paid wages and salaries 
EUR 10.9 million

Funds used for employee 
training EUR 0.1 million

Purchases 
related to 

property 
operating 

expenses 
EUR 65.6 million

Investments 
EUR 161.7 million

Paid taxes 
EUR 7.9 million

Received subsidies
EUR 0.5 million Paid dividends and return from 

invested unrestricted equity fund 
EUR 41.7 million 

Loan proceeds EUR 17.4 million 
Paid financial expenses (net) 

EUR 84.7 million 
(incl. exchange rate losses)

Baltic Countries and New Business

Finland

Sweden

Share of property maintenance-related 
purchases per business unit
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social responsibility

Unique specialists in its field
�������
Citycon’s personnel combine their expertise in retail property 
management, property leasing, marketing, property develop-
ment, financing and property transactions to form a resource pool 
that is unique in Citycon’s line of business. In addition to its own 
129 employees, Citycon indirectly employs a large number of 
people through the procurement of various services. 

The majority of Citycon personnel are in a managerial or sen-
ior specialist role in the organisation. Many have an educational 
background in commercial studies or engineering.  To increase the 
skills base of its employees, Citycon encourages on-the-job learn-
ing and job rotation, and long-term self-development through fur-
ther or advanced studies. 

Business development and reorganisation continues
One of the key HR priorities is to build one Citycon by enhancing 
in-house co-operation and interaction both across operational 
and geographic boundaries. A high-profile project designed to 
promote cross-border co-operation was the ‘Pinkest Act’ compe-
tition in which Citycon’s shopping centre personnel competed for 
the most innovative initiatives taken in shopping centres. When 
selecting the winner, special attention was paid to ways in which 
the initiative promoted internal co-operation.  

In an effort to build one Citycon, organisational changes were 
made during the year that involved both changes in job roles and 
in personnel. Changes were also made in top management. In 

December, a Chief Operating Officer was appointed, whose key 
duties include customer-driven business model enhancement, op-
erational efficiency improvement and search for synergy benefits. 
The new Chief Operating Officer Harri Holmström is also expect-
ed to generate growth in all business units.  The Vice Presidents 
for Finnish and Swedish operations changed during the year, and 
mandatory co-operation negotiations were launched in Finland in 
December concerning business reorganisation.

Citycon strongly believes in setting challenging, yet reason-
able targets for employees and in managing employee perfor-
mance. The company therefore conducts employee perfor-
mance reviews on a regular basis to evaluate the achievement of 

Social responsibility 
management systems
•	 Business strategy is the key management 

guideline in Citycon. Strategy implementation 
tools include employee performance reviews. 

•	 Citycon’s HR strategy and shared HR process-
es provide support and guidance for HR man-
agement and supervisory work. In practice, 
supervisors are responsible for many aspects 
of HR work, through their organisational roles 
and responsibilities.

•	 Citycon’s Code of Conduct lays the foundation 
for employee relations and human rights-re-
lated matters.

•	 Whistleblowing Policy.

Chief Executive Officer

CFO, 
Executive Vice President

Chief Investment Officer

General CounselVice President, 
Sustainability

Finnish OperationsSwedish Operations Baltic Countries 
and New Business 

Chief Operating Officer Head of HR

Organisation 31 Dec. 2012
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targets in the past review period, and to set new strategy-based 
targets for the next period. The review discussion also involves 
preparing a development plan for each employee for the next 
period and beyond. The performance management process was 
revised at year-end to make it a better tool for target setting and 
rewarding purposes.  The objective is to conduct the review dis-
cussions with each employee twice a year. In 2012, this objective 
was not met due to changes in supervisory and other job roles. 

Many ways to promote employee well-being
In occupational health activities, the main focus is on preventive 
action, for example ergonomics and ways of maintaining work 

capacity. Citycon also offers an extensive range of health care 
services. Other ways of promoting employees’ physical well-being 
included exercise vouchers, which employees can use to pay for 
their fitness activities. Citycon also paid its employees' partici-
pation fees in various sporting events. The theme of this year’s 
Citycon Days, an annual event that brings the entire personnel 
together for a few days, was stress management and mental 
well-being. Due to the nature of work carried out by Citycon per-
sonnel, work-related accidents are infrequent. During the year, 
there were no accidents resulting in absence.

Duration of employment

•	 Less than 2 years 33.3%

•	 2-4 years 22.5%

•	 more than 4 years 44.2%

EMPLOYEE GROUP BY GENDER

Mgmt committee: 3.9%, of which

•	 female 20%

•	 male 80%
Other directors: 15.5%, of which

•	 female 40%

•	 male 60%
Managers: 45.7%, of which

•	 female 54.2%

•	 male 45.8%
Other employees: 34.9%, of which

•	 female 60%

•	 male 40%

Age distribution
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•	 All    

•	 Female    

•	 Male

The personnel survey is a key workplace well-being indicator 
at Citycon. In 2012, a personnel survey was not conducted due to 
the organisational changes. The next survey will be conducted in 
spring 2013.

Citycon feels strongly about promoting and maintaining equal 
opportunities in the work community. Each individual must be re-
spected and treated fairly and equally, regardless of gender, be-
lief, age or other similar factors. An equal opportunities scheme 
is annually updated in co-operation with employee represent-
atives. This involves assessing the current state of the ar-

More detailed personnel data 
can be found on page 75
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Citycon Days 2012 — Submarines IN TALLINN

The traditional Citycon Days is an annual event that brings togeth-
er all Citycon personnel. During the event, personnel learn about 
topical company issues that affect everyone, in an atmosphere 
that inspires team spirit. The two-day Citycon Days 2012 event 
was held in Tallinn on 22 and 23 May at the Tallink Spa and Con-
ference Hotel. The theme of the event was ”Own your own power”.

The programme and content of the event was planned by 
Citycon's HR and communications departments, in co-operation 
with business management consultants Emilia Vasko and Tom-
mi Kujala. The first day involved stress control techniques and 
self-reflection. After management interviews, everyone had the 
opportunity to try out relaxation exercises and to practice active 
listening in small groups. The day ended with an unforgettable 
dinner served amid submarines at the Sea Plane Harbour, Tallinn's 
new maritime museum. 

On the second day participants were presented with the re-
sults of Citycon's internal ”The Pinkest Act”  competition, with 
introductions by shopping centre managers.  Next, the CEO led 
the discussion on shopping centre footfall figures and ways of 
improving them. The day's programme was followed by a visit to 
all three Citycon shopping centres in Tallinn. 

The staff felt that the Citycon Days event was successful; in 
particular, the informal evening programme and parts held by 
company personnel were very popular. Overall, the event scored 
3.1 (on a scale of 1-4). In 2013, the Citycon Days event will cele-
brate Citycon's 25th anniversary.

eas identified for equal opportunities work and discussing any 
actions required to improve the situation, particularly from the 
perspective of gender equality. The equal opportunities scheme is 
available on the company intranet, and all new employees are in-
troduced to it as part of their induction training. No discrimination 
incidents were reported during the year. 

Open dialogue between company management and employees 
encouraged
Statutory negotiations between the employer and employees 
take place within a co-operation group, which convenes whenev-
er necessary. Employee representatives are elected for a term 
of two years at a time. The group discusses matters affecting the 
entire personnel, such as new policies and guidelines. 

Another co-operative body in Finland that meets regularly 
is the occupational safety committee. Matters discussed by the 
occupational safety committee include various issues related to 
occupational health and safety, and well-being in the workplace.
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Citycon Code of Conduct  
a cornerstone of operations 
A key document included in Citycon’s Corporate Governance 
Guidelines, the Code of Conduct lays down the ethical principles 
and business standards the company adheres to in its operations.   

Code of Conduct lays the foundation for business operations, 
environmental issues, human rights and relations with our em-
ployees and stakeholders. The Code of Conduct guides Citycon’s 
management and personnel towards ethical business practices 
and compliance with the laws and regulations in effect in each 
country.  As stated in the Code of Conduct, Citycon assumes re-
sponsibility for all issues it has the authority to control within the 
scope of its operations.

Citycon adheres to the Code of Conduct in all of its operating 
countries without exception. Internal communication and training 
is provided to help employees adopt and comply with the principles 
specified in the Code of Conduct. Citycon’s employees are contin-
uously encouraged to bring up issues related to the Code and to 
report on any possible compliance problems. A separate reporting 
procedure has been established for bribery, corruption or fraud; 
this procedure is described in Citycon’s Whistleblowing Policy. 

In addition, Citycon and its stakeholders engage in dialogue on 
the principles underlying ethical operations. Within its sphere of 
influence, Citycon aims to ensure that its partners and subcon-
tractors also adhere to Citycon’s ethical principles. This is the 
foundation of all our new and existing business relationships.

The ground rules based on Citycon’s Code of Conduct: 
•	 Openness and integrity in all operations
•	 Adherence to statutory rules and regulations
•	Z ero tolerance of corruption and bribery
•	 Adherence to the principles of sustainable development
•	 Taking environmental issues into account in daily operations
•	 Respecting human rights
•	 Recognising the right to assembly and the right to collective 

bargaining
•	 Banning the use of child and forced labour
•	 Removing discrimination from workplaces and professional life
•	 Offering a safe and healthy working environment for employees
Read more at: www.citycon.com/sustainability/code_of_conduct/

Zero tolerance of bribery and corruption
In line with its ethical business principles, Citycon is explicitly op-
posed to corruption and bribery. Citycon employees must avoid 
any activity that could lead to a conflict of interest. Apart from 
gifts of only token monetary value or reasonable hospitality of-
fered during the ordinary course of business, Citycon or persons 
acting on its behalf must not offer or accept any benefits, gifts or 
hospitality, or in any other way engage in actions that could influ-
ence their ability to make objective and honest decisions, or which 
are aimed at affecting objective and honest decision-making by a 

public authority, client, partner or any other party. The appropri-
ate travel and representation practices are specified in the com-
pany’s Travel and Representation Policy, which is available on the 
intranet. The Travel and Representation Policy is included in the 
induction training material intended for all personnel.

Anti-bribery and corruption activities are considered part of 
Citycon’s risk management policy, and they apply to all operating 
areas. In 2012, no incidents of corruption or bribery were report-
ed in Citycon.

 
Support to political parties and public entities 
Citycon does not support the activities of any political parties 
or political groups. However, Citycon wants to engage in open 
dialogue with regional officials and political decision-makers 
in its operating areas.  In 2012, in connection with the zoning or 
planning of its development projects, Citycon representatives 
participated in the meetings of municipal political bodies. The 
objective of participation was to increase interaction and to pro-
vide information regarding Citycon’s development plans to deci-
sion-makers, and to learn more about municipal decision-makers’ 
local community development ideas. 

Political parties can arrange electoral campaign events in 
Citycon’s shopping centres, in accordance with each centre’s 
standard leasing practices. 
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Risks and risk management

Core risks related to the economic  
development of operational areas 
For risk management purposes, Citycon has a holistic Enterprise 
Risk Management (ERM) programme. The aim of risk manage-
ment is to ensure that the company meets its business targets. 
Successful risk management identifies key risks, reliably analy-
ses their impacts prior to their realisation, and initiates preven-
tive measures in order to lower the probability of an identified 
risk being realised and to mitigate its impact.

At Citycon, risk management objectives and the company's 
risk appetite are taken into consideration in the ERM programme. 
The ERM is designed to generate up-to-date and consistent infor-
mation for the company's senior executives and Board of Direc-
tors on any risks affecting business objectives and their estimat-
ed impact.

Major risks that, if realised, could jeopardise the achievement 
of Citycon's business targets for 2013 are described below. Risk 
management is also discussed on pages 43-45 of Citycon's finan-
cial statements.

The uncertain economic environment affects demand for retail 
premises 
The effects of the financial crisis on rent levels for retail premis-

es and on occupancy rates have so far been muted in Citycon's 
operating areas, but market conditions have become more chal-

lenging compared to the pre-crisis situation in some locations. 
However, at the same time, rental levels in prime properties 

have actually risen. Economic developments, particularly 
trends impacting on consumer confidence and consumer 

behaviour, are affecting demand for retail premises. In 

local property markets, factors determining the performance of 
properties include the availability of alternative retail premises, 
competition for tenants, zoning decisions, significant new con-
struction activities, and market demand for premises. Citycon 
actively follows developments in the economy, markets and rental 
levels, in order to be able to take the necessary action. Typically, 
in conditions of weak economic growth, rental levels for retail 
premises will fall and vacancy rates will rise as the slowdown in 
retail sales reduces demand for retail premises. However, most 
of Citycon’s shopping centres are anchored by grocery stores and 
also have a lot of smaller shops focusing on other daily necessi-
ties and services. This has proved to be a recession-proof concept 
that ensures relatively stable sales, even when the economic 
environment is less favourable.  Besides other contributing fac-
tors, the long period of growth in the retail industry has kept the 
vacancy rate in Citycon's properties very reasonable over the last 
few years. The economic occupancy rate in Citycon's properties 
was 95.7 per cent at the end of 2012 (95.5 per cent at the end 
of 2011), with the occupancy rate in Finland being 95.3 per cent, 
94.7 per cent in Sweden and 99.6 per cent in the Baltic Countries 
and New Business. Occupancy rates for properties located out-
side population growth centres, and for supermarket and shop 
properties, are more susceptible to fluctuations, whereas occu-
pancy rates for shopping centres located in major cities tend to 
be fairly stable.

Key risks in an environment characterised by slow economic 
growth are associated with demand for retail premises, vacan-
cy rates and market rent levels. There is no way of guaranteeing 
that Citycon can meet its objective of higher occupancy rates or 
at least to maintain the present high occupancy rate and maintain 
the current rent level in its properties. A prolonged period of eco-
nomic uncertainty may reduce demand for retail premises, weak-

en tenants' ability to pay rent, limit the possibility to raise rents 
and raise the vacancy rate in the company’s properties.

Citycon acquired Kista Galleria in Stockholm together with 
Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (CPPIB) for approximate-
ly EUR 530 million (approximately SEK 4,600 million). The acqui-
sition is one of the largest in Citycon’s history and to mitigate the 
balance sheet risk of one very large asset, the transaction was 
executed together with a solid joint venture partner. Risks related 
to competition in the region have also been thoroughly analysed. 
The shopping centre has a natural footfall of 50,000 daily visitors 
due to its location, and future improvements will be made to keep 
the centre attractive going forward.

Rising loan margins increase financing costs
The refurbishment and redevelopment of retail properties, and 
generating higher rental income through acquisitions, represent 
the core of Citycon's growth strategy. Implementation of this 
strategy requires both equity and debt financing, which means 
that the risks associated with the availability and cost of financ-
ing are of fundamental importance to Citycon. Following the fi-
nancial crisis, the banks' loan margins took a sharp upward turn in 
2008 and 2009. Banks’ appetite to lend money to companies im-
proved in 2010 but in the second half of 2011, the availability of 
financing declined again and loan margins climbed. During 2012, 
most banks have been relatively willing to fund stable companies, 
but the loan margins have remained high in comparison with the 
pre-crisis period.

The average interest rate for Citycon's interest-bearing debt 
was declining from 2008 until 2011 due to the marked decrease 
in market interest rates, which has more than compensated for 
the increase in loan margins. In 2012 the average interest rate 
again increased somewhat, to 4.07 per cent from 4.03 per cent in 
2011, due to higher credit margins.  
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In the future, tightening regulation governing the banking and 
insurance sectors (Basel III and Solvency II regulations) is likely 
to push the costs of debt financing upwards and limit the avail-
ability of long-term bank loans. This might further raise the cost 
of Citycon's new bank loans. In 2013 the company does not have 
major refinancing needs as a large loan facility maturing in 2013 
was refinanced and repaid in the autumn of 2012. Refinancing of 
the loan agreements Citycon signed at low margins before the 
financial crisis leads to higher interest margins. This rise in loan 
margins in addition to rising market interest rates is likely to push 
Citycon's average interest rate up in the future. 

Citycon's current financial position is good and well-propor-
tioned to its business. On 31 December 2012, the company's un-
drawn committed credit facilities and cash and cash equivalents 
amounted to EUR 268.4 million. If necessary, Citycon’s existing 
financing sources can cover all loans maturing in 2013. However, 
Citycon's growth strategy will increase the need for additional 
financing, the availability of which has been hampered by the fi-
nancial crisis. Share prices are still at a lower level than before 
the financial crises, which has made equity financing less attrac-
tive. Meanwhile, weak availability of bank financing is prompting 
Citycon to seek an increasingly large proportion of its financing 
from the bond markets. For this reason, Citycon will consider 
seeking an external credit rating. In addition, Citycon will take 
steps to continue divesting its non-core properties, and will con-
sider other property financing sources in order to secure the fi-
nancing required to pursue its growth strategy.

Economic conditions creating major uncertainty about devel-
opment in the fair value of investment properties 
Several factors affect the fair value of the investment properties 
owned by Citycon, such as general and local economic develop-
ment, the interest rate level, foreseeable inflation, the market 
rent trend, vacancy rates, property investors' yield requirements 
and the competitive environment. This uncertainty is reflected 
most strongly on retail properties that are located outside major 
cities or which are otherwise less attractive, because investor de-
mand is not currently focused on these properties, and banks are 
not particularly keen to offer financing for such projects. Yet, at 
the same time, the fair value of the best shopping centres, which 
attract investor interest in uncertain conditions, remained stable 
or even increased during 2012.

After the start of the financial crisis, fair values of retail prop-
erties declined, and in 2008 and 2009 Citycon recognised fair val-
ue losses on investment properties. In 2010, Citycon recognised 
fair value gains on its investment properties but fair value losses 
again in 2011. In 2012 Citycon recognised fair value gains of EUR 
23.6 million mainly due to shopping centre properties. Yet, at the 
same time, the fair value of supermarket and shop properties de-
creased by a total of EUR 11.5 million.

While changes in investment properties’ fair value have an ef-
fect on the company’s profit for the financial year, they have no 
immediate impact on cash flow. Key variables in the ten-year cash 
flow analysis used to assess the fair value of investment prop-
erties are property investors' yield requirements, rental income, 

vacancy rate and operating expenses. Sensitivity to change in the 
investment properties’ fair value, or the risk associated with fair 
value, can be tested by altering these key variables one at a time. 
The sensitivity analysis on the left uses the investment proper-
ties’ fair value of EUR 2,704.1 million, as defined by the external 
appraiser on 31 December 2012, as the starting value.

While the company cannot influence yield requirement, it 
strives to impact on other fair value variables through active 
shopping centre management, which is one of the cornerstones 
of Citycon’s business. By using its own employees to execute the 
entire business process, Citycon aims to optimise the profitabili-
ty of shopping centres.

Energy costs account for a considerable portion of property 
maintenance costs. To mitigate the risk of energy price hikes, 
electricity prices are fixed according to a hedging policy and 
actions geared towards energy savings, and greater energy ef-
ficiency have been implemented. These actions involve a risk of 
miscalculating the savings potential and mistimed impacts. If 
these risks materialise, some savings will not be achieved, which 
will affect maintenance costs and profitability.

Yield requirement +5% → Market value EUR 2,575.4 million
Market rent +5% → Market value EUR 2,890.3 million
Vacancy rate +2%-percentage points → Market value EUR 2,619.5 million
Operating expenses +5% → Market value EUR 2,648.6 million
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KUVA

Citycon opened the new Liljeholmstorget Galleria shopping centre in conjunction 
with an existing and fully revamped office complex in Stockholm in 2009. Lilje-
holmstorget Galleria has been designed to cater to a variety of needs of both 
local residents and other shopping centre visitors.  The centre houses a wide 
range of stores and brands as well as municipal and privately-run services, such 
as a gym, a health centre and a child health clinic. “We like this centre, especially 
because of the services available, the central location, and the great atmosphere. 
We can find everything we need for our home and our family here,” says Jaime 

Lindh (pictured with his son).

Liljeholmstorget Galleria  
– built to serve
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Liljeholmstorget Galleria  
– built to serve
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Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance

Citycon's corporate governance structure

egy. Similarly, the company’s Insider Guidelines that complement 
the guidelines issued by the Helsinki Stock Exchange and cover in-
siders’ obligations, disclosure requirements and insider registers 
were updated in 2012 to ensure compliance with the provisions 
of the new Finnish Securities Markets Act, which came into force 
on 1 January 2013.  The key points of the Disclosure Policy and 
the Insider Guidelines are featured on the company’s website in 
the Corporate Governance section.

General meeting of shareholders
In 2012, Citycon Oyj held two general meetings. The 2012 Annual 
General Meeting was held on 21 March 2012 in Helsinki. Notice 
of the meeting was published on 21 February 2012.  A total of 

234 shareholders attended the AGM either personally or through 
a proxy representative, and they represented 73.67 per cent 
(204,656,747 shares) of the company’s total share capital and 
voting rights. An Extraordinary General Meeting was held in Hel-
sinki on 11 October 2012. A notice of the EGM was published on 7 
September 2012. A total of 228 shareholders attended the EGM 
either personally or through a proxy representative, and they rep-
resented 15.05 per cent (41,826,662 shares) of the company’s 
total share capital and voting rights.

Citycon published the decisions taken by the General Meetings 
in stock exchange releases and on its website. The minutes of 
the meetings were available on the corporate website within two 
weeks of the meetings. 

Citycon Oyj is a Finnish public limited liability company listed on 
the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy (the Helsinki Stock Exchange). 
Citycon's corporate governance principles are based on Finnish 
laws, the parent company’s Articles of Association, the rules and 
regulations issued by the Helsinki Stock Exchange and the Finn-
ish Financial Supervisory Authority, the Finnish Corporate Gov-
ernance Code 2010, and the company’s Corporate Governance 
Guidelines. Corporate governance in Citycon Oyj’s subsidiaries 
is also governed by the laws of country in which the subsidiary is 
domiciled and by the subsidiary’s Articles of Association. Citycon 
publishes a Corporate Governance Statement annually, at the 
same time as its Financial Statements.

As prescribed by the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act, 
Citycon’s business operations and administration are under the re-
sponsibility of the following bodies: the general meeting of share-
holders, the Board of Directors and the CEO. The general meeting 
of shareholders elects members to the Board of Directors, and the 
Board elects the CEO. In managing the company’s business opera-
tions, the CEO is assisted by the Corporate Management Commit-
tee whose members are appointed, upon the CEO’s proposal, by 
the Board of Directors. Four Board committees have been set up 

to improve the efficiency of Board work.  The work of the Board of 
Directors and its committees, the CEO and the Corporate Man-

agement Committee is governed by the Corporate Governance 
Guidelines approved by the Board of Directors, which con-

tains charters for the Board and its committees, guidelines 
for the division of duties between the decision-making 

bodies, as well as guidelines for the arrangement of in-
ternal control and risk management.

Citycon Oyj’s Board of Directors and the Nomina-
tion and Governance Committee keep track of gov-

ernance-related issues as part of their ordinary 
activities. In 2012, the Board of Directors up-

dated the company’s Disclosure Policy to bet-
ter reflect the current operations and strat-
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More information on the general meetings and on sharehold-
ers’ rights is available on the corporate website at www.citycon.
com/gm and in the Financial Statements section on page 14 of 
this Annual Report. This website section also contains summaries 
of the decisions taken at each general meeting since 2008 and 
minutes of the general meetings since 2009.

Board of Directors
Citycon’s AGM 2012 set the number of Board members at ten 
and re-elected the following Board members: Ronen Ashkenazi, 
Chaim Katzman, Roger Kempe, Kirsi Komi, Claes Ottosson, Dor J. 
Segal, Jorma Sonninen, Per-Håkan Westin and Ariella Zochovitzky. 
Bernd Knobloch was elected as new member to the Board, replac-

ing Thomas W. Wernink who stepped down. On 7 September 2012 
Dor J. Segal announced his resignation from the Board effective 
as of 11 October 2012. Following his announcement, the Board 
called an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders, who on 
11 October 2012 elected Yuval Yanai to replace Dor J. Segal.

Board members’ personal details and their shareholdings in 
the company are shown here, while their career histories and key 
positions of trust are listed on the corporate website at www.
citycon.com/board. 

Chaim Katzman was the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
in 2012, and Ronen Ashkenazi the Deputy Chairman. Thomas W. 
Wernink served as the second Deputy Chairman of the Board until 
21 March 2012. 

According to the Board of Directors’ assessment, all Board 
members are independent of the company, given that none of 
them has an employment contract, executive contract or other 
contractual relationship with the company. Furthermore, the 
Board assessed that Roger Kempe, Bernd Knobloch, Kirsi Komi, 
Jorma Sonninen, Per-Håkan Westin and Yuval Yanai are independ-
ent of the major shareholders. Similarly, according to the Board’s 
assessment, Thomas W. Wernink was independent of the major 
shareholders during his Board membership. Since Ronen Ashke-
nazi and Chaim Katzman are in the employ of Citycon’s main share-
holder, Gazit-Globe Ltd. or its affiliated companies, they are not 
independent of the major shareholders. Dor J. Segal, who resigned 
from the Board on 11 October 2012, works for Gazit-Globe Ltd’s 

Citycon Oyj's Board of Directors on 31 December 2012

Chairman of the Board of Directors 
Chaim Katzman 

Director since 2010
LL.B.
US and Israeli citizen, born 1949
Independent of the company
Main occupation: Norstar Holdings Inc. (for-
mer Gazit Inc.), founder, controlling sharehold-
er and Chairman of the Board of Directors 
since 1991; Gazit-Globe Ltd., Chairman of the 
Board of Directors since 1998
Citycon shares: 165,882 (including holdings 
of closely associated parties)

Deputy Chairman of the Board 
Ronen Ashkenazi

Director since 2009
B.Sc. (Civil Engineering)
Israeli citizen, born 1962
Independent of the company
Main occupation: Gazit Globe Israel (Devel-
opment) Ltd., CEO and minority shareholder 
since 2005; U. Dori Group Ltd., CEO since 
2011
Citycon shares: -

Roger Kempe

Director since 2011
M.Sc. (Econ.)
Finnish citizen, born 1959
Independent of the company and significant 
shareholders
Main occupation: Oy Fincorp Ab, Managing 
Director since 2007 and Chairman of the 
Board of Directors since 1985
Citycon shares: 110,000 (through a closely 
associated party)

Bernd Knobloch

Director since 2012
University degrees in Law and Business 
Administration
German citizen, born 1951
Independent of the company and significant 
shareholders
Main occupation: Professional non-executive 
director
Citycon shares: 34,000

Kirsi Komi

Director since 2011
LL.M.
Finnish citizen, born 1963
Independent of the company and significant 
shareholders
Main occupation: Professional non-executive 
director
Citycon shares: -

Claes Ottosson

Director since 2004
Electrical Engineer
Swedish citizen, born 1961
Independent of the company
Main occupation: ICA Kvantum 
Hovås, Managing Director since 
1990
Citycon shares: 27,546
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EUR Annual fee Meeting fees Total

Chaim Katzman 160,000 14,900 174,900
Ronen Ashkenazi 60,000 9,000 69,000
Thom Wernink 0 2,000 2,000
Roger Kempe 40,000 12,500 52,500
Bernd Knobloch 40,000 8,500 48,500
Kirsi Komi 40,000 14,900 54,900
Claes Ottosson 40,000 13,000 53,000
Dori Segal 21,205 5,000 26,205
Jorma Sonninen 40,000 12,000 52,000
Per-Håkan Westin 40,000 11,000 51,000
Yuval Yanai 18,795 2,500 21,295
Ariella Zochovitzky 40,000 16,700 56,700
Total 540,000 122,000 662,000

BOARD REMUNERATION 2012subsidiary First Capital Realty Inc. Furthermore, Ariella Zocho-
vitzky served as Gazit-Globe Ltd’s representative (Chairman of 
the Board) in a company called U.Dori Group Ltd., in which Gazit-
Globe Ltd exercises controlling interest, until March 2012. Due 
to previous family relations and on the basis of an overall as-
sessment, Claes Ottosson is also considered non-independent of 
Gazit-Globe Ltd or its affiliates.  

Board of Directors’ work
The Board of Directors convenes according to a pre-determined 
meeting schedule and when deemed necessary. The meeting 
schedule is based on the company’s reporting schedule and the 
Board of Directors’ strategy and budget meetings, as indicated in 
the Board’s year clock shown on the right. 

In 2012, Citycon’s Board of Directors held seven meetings in 
addition to its original meeting schedule and convened 14 times. 
Extraordinary Board meetings were related to the changes in 
corporate management, repurchases of the convertible bonds 
issued in 2006, the rights issue carried out in September-Octo-
ber, and the acquisition of the Kista Galleria shopping centre in 
Stockholm as announced in a stock exchange release on 19 De-

Jorma Sonninen

Director since 2011
Dipl. EMC (European Diploma in 
Marketing)
Finnish citizen, born 1962
Independent of the company and 
significant shareholders
Main occupation: Realone Oy, 
Owner and Managing Director 
since 1997
Citycon shares: 11,767 (through 
a closely associated party)

Per-Håkan Westin

Director since 2008
M.Sc. (Civil Engineering)
Swedish citizen, born 1946
Independent of the company and 
significant shareholders
Main occupation: Professional 
non-executive director
Citycon shares: 11,764

Yuval Yanai

Director since 2012
B.A. (Economic and Accounting)
Israeli citizen, born 1952
Independent of the company and 
significant shareholders
Main occupation: Given Imaging 
Ltd, Chief Financial Officer since 
2005Citycon shares: -

Ariella Zochovitzky

Director since 2009
B.A. (Economics and Accounting), 
CPA (Israel), MBA
Israeli citizen, born 1957
Independent of the company
Main occupation: C.I.G. Con-
sultants / Capital Investments 
Group Ltd., General Manager 
and Partner since 2001
Citycon shares: -

Time Matters to be decided

February Financial statements and report by the Board of Directors, 
proposal for profit distribution and other proposals for the 

AGM, performance-based bonuses payable for the previous 
year and bonus criteria and targets for the current year

March Election of the Chairman and Deputy Chairman or Chairmen 
of the Board, election of Committee Chairmen and members, 

assessment of the Board members’ independence
April Interim Report
July Interim Report
October Interim Report, Strategy Day
November Approval of the Registration Document
December Budget, risk management, Board’s self-evaluation

Board of Directors’ year clock

cember 2012. The average attendance rate in Board meetings 
stood at 92.9 per cent.

Board Committees
The Board of Directors has four Board committees set up to en-
hance its work: the Audit Committee, the Nomination and Govern-

ance Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Strategy 
and Investment Committee. The table on page 57 contains infor-
mation on the Board committees’ composition, number of meet-
ings and attendance in 2012.

Remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors
At the 2012 AGM it was decided that the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors be paid an annual fee of EUR 160,000, the Deputy 
Chairmen EUR 60,000 and ordinary members of the Board EUR 
40,000. In addition, the AGM decided that the Chairman of the 
Board and the Chairmen of the Board’s committees be paid a 
meeting fee of EUR 700 and other Board and committee mem-
bers EUR 500 per meeting. Furthermore, it was decided that 
Board members residing outside the Greater Helsinki area would 
be compensated for actual travel and accommodation expenses 
and any other expenses resulting from their work on the Board. 
These fees remained the same as in the four previous years.

Annual fees paid to Citycon’s Board members in 2012 are 
shown in the table above. Fees were paid in cash. Meeting fees in-
clude fees paid for both the Board and committee meetings. 

Citycon’s Board members are not included in the company’s 
share-based incentive schemes. The Board of Directors has is-
sued a recommendation according to which each Board member 
should, during his/her term of office, own the company’s shares 
to a value corresponding at least to his/her remuneration for one 
year. Information on the number of shares held by Board members 
at the end of 2012 is provided above. Up-to-date information on 
shareholdings and any changes therein can be found on the corpo-
rate website at www.citycon.com/insiders.
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Chief Executive Officer (CEO)  
Marcel Kokkeel (M.A., a Dutch citizen, born 1958) has served as 
Citycon’s CEO since 24 March 2011. Eero Sihvonen, CFO, acts as 
Citycon’s Executive Vice President. Mr Kokkeel and Mr Sihvonen’s 
personal details are shown here, and their career histories and any 
positions of trust are available on the corporate website at www.
citycon.com/management.

The CEO’s service agreement has been signed for a fixed term 
and it will expire at the end of February 2015. The company may 
terminate the agreement earlier at any time, with a period of no-
tice of six months. In such a case, in addition to the salary payable 
for the notice period, the CEO will be paid severance pay of 1.5 
times the annual base salary at the moment of termination, as well 
as 1.5 times the most recent annual bonus payment. 

ed of five members. In addition to the CEO, the Corporate Man-
agement Committee includes the company’s Executive Vice Presi-
dent and Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel, Chief Operating 
Officer and Chief Investment Officer.  

The CMC usually convenes once a month. In 2012, the CMC 
convened 13 times. 

CMC members’ personal details and information on their share 
and stock option holdings are shown on the following page. CMC 
members’ career histories and any positions of trust are shown on 
the corporate website at www.citycon.com/management.

Remuneration of the CEO and the Corporate Management 
Committee
Remuneration payable to the CEO and other members of the CMC 
members consists of a fixed yearly or monthly salary and fringe 
benefits, as well as an annual performance bonus. In addition, 
the CEO and other CMC members are included in the Citycon 
Group’s stock option plan 2011 for key personnel. Of the 
CMC members, the Executive Vice President and CFO as 
well as the Chief Operating Officer are also included in the 
long-term share-based incentive plan for key personnel, 
effective in 2007–2010. Incentives under this plan 
were paid in 2008-2012. No more incentives will be 
paid under this long-term incentive plan.

According to his service agreement, the CEO’s 
annual gross base salary in 2012 amounted to 
EUR 589,731.43. The base salary specified 
in the CEO’s service agreement is tied to the 
consumer price index. At the Board of Direc-
tors’ discretion, the CEO may be awarded an 

Annual salary Fringe benefits
Performance bonus 

for year 2011
Share-based 

income (1 Total

Marcel Kokkeel (2 681,575.84 29,292.20 246,908.32 - 957,776.36
Other CMC members (3 1,167,016.88 54,750.59 407,960.36 23,703.12 1,653,430.95
Total 1,848,592.72 84,042.79 654,868.68 23,703.12 2,611,207.31

1) 	 Share-based income refers to the cash component related to the company’s long-term share-based incentive plan, paid in order to 
cover the taxes payable on the incentive shares granted to the plan’s participants. A participant can also choose to receive shares 
instead of the cash component meant for paying the income tax.

2) 	 The Annual Salary includes a one-off gross payment of EUR 91,844.41 to adjust the net salary paid in accordance with his service 
agreement. In addition, Kokkeel was issued 79,151 shares of the company as a share bonus related to CEO’s performance bonus 
payment for the year 2011.

3) 	 The figures do not include severance pays paid due to termination of employment to those CMC members whose service contract 
with the company ended during 2012.

REMUNERATION OF THE CEO AND OTHER CORPORATE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
1 January—31 December 2012

Audit Committee

Nomination  
and Governance  

Committee
Remuneration  

Committee

Strategy  
and Investment  

Committee

Committee members 1 January-21 March 2012
Members Ariella Zochovitzky (Ch.) Kirsi Komi (Ch.) Chaim Katzman (Ch.) Ronen Ashkenazi (Ch.)

Kirsi Komi Chaim Katzman Roger Kempe Dori Segal
Jorma Sonninen Roger Kempe Claes Ottosson Jorma Sonninen

Thom Wernink Claes Ottosson Per-Håkan Westin Thom Wernink
Ariella Zochovitzky Ariella Zochovitzky Per-Håkan Westin

Committee members 21 March-11 October 2012
Members Ariella Zochovitzky (Ch.) Kirsi Komi (Ch.) Chaim Katzman (Ch.) Ronen Ashkenazi (Ch.)

Bernd Knobloch Chaim Katzman Roger Kempe Bernd Knobloch
Kirsi Komi Roger Kempe Claes Ottosson Dori Segal

Jorma Sonninen Claes Ottosson Per-Håkan Westin Jorma Sonninen
Ariella Zochovitzky Ariella Zochovitzky Per-Håkan Westin

Committee members 11 October-31 December 2012
Members Ariella Zochovitzky (Ch.) Kirsi Komi (Ch.) Chaim Katzman (Ch.) Ronen Ashkenazi (Ch.)

Bernd Knobloch Chaim Katzman Roger Kempe Roger Kempe
Kirsi Komi Roger Kempe Claes Ottosson Bernd Knobloch

Jorma Sonninen Claes Ottosson Per-Håkan Westin Jorma Sonninen
Yuval Yanai Ariella Zochovitzky Ariella Zochovitzky Per-Håkan Westin

Number of meetings 6 7 5 4
Attendance-% 100 97 96 85

Board of Directors' Committees 2012

Corporate Management Committee
During the year, several changes took place in the Corporate Man-
agement Committee’s composition. Two new members joined the 
CMC: Nils Styf, Chief Investment Officer, on 11 June 2012, and 
Marko Juhokas, Vice President, Finnish operations on 16 July 
2012. In December, Citycon announced its plans to reorganise 
its business operations and streamline the decision-making pro-
cess in the Corporate Management Committee. Following these 
arrangements, Johan Elfstadius, Vice President, Swedish opera-
tions, left the CMC and his position in Citycon as of 12 December 
2012. Marko Juhokas left the CMC effective as of 19 December 
2012 and was appointed as Senior Vice President, Group De-
velopment and Sustainability, effective as of 1 February 2013. 
Harri Holmström, Senior Vice President, Group Leasing and Baltic 
Countries and New Businesses, was appointed Chief Operating 
Officer (COO) of Citycon effective as of 19 December 2012. At 
the end of 2012, the Corporate Management Committee consist-
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additional cash bonus up to a sum representing 80 per cent of his 
annual base salary.   Of the bonus, 50 per cent will be paid in cash 
and 50 per cent in company shares. In addition to this, the CEO is 
entitled to a company car as well as housing, telephone and lunch 
benefits. The CEO’s pension benefits are determined in accord-
ance with standard Finnish employment pension legislation. 

The CEO’s bonus to Marcel Kokkeel for 2011 consisted of a 
EUR 246,908.32 cash bonus paid out in July 2012, and 79,151 
Citycon shares issued in October 2012.

The salaries, fringe benefits and performance bonuses paid to 
the CEO and other CMC members in 2012 are shown in the table 
above. Under the long-term share-based incentive plan, the CMC 
members were issued a total of 15,470 shares for the earning 
period 2009–2010. The stock options held by the CEO and CMC 
members are shown below. The stock options held by the CEO and 
other CMC members entitle them to subscribe 3,258,905  com-
pany shares (subscription ratio 1.1765) in 2012–2018.

Insider administration
The company’s statutory insiders include Board members, the 
CEO and the chief auditor.  Statutory insiders also comprise Cor-
porate Management Committee members, whom the Board of 
Directors has defined as other senior executives referred to in 
the Securities Markets Act. Holdings in the company by statuto-
ry insiders and those closely associated with them are regarded 
as public information. Up-to-date information on shareholdings 
and any changes therein can be found on the corporate website at 
www.citycon.com/insiders.

In addition to statutory insiders, Citycon also has so-called 
permanent insiders entered in the company’s company-specific 
insider register on the basis of their position or duties, or another 
contract they have concluded with the company. These compa-
ny-specific insiders include the secretaries and assistants of the 
Board members, CEO and CMC members, and those in charge of 
corporate finances and financial reporting, financing, legal affairs, 

investment and redevelopment activities, corporate communi-
cations, investor relations, IT functions and internal and external 
audit. The company-specific insider register is unavailable for 
public review. Project-specific insider registers are set up and 
maintained as necessary.

 Citycon verifies the data on its statutory insiders twice a year, 
by requesting that insiders check the accuracy of the information 
contained in extracts from the insider register.

According to Citycon’s Insider Guidelines, the company’s stat-
utory and permanent insiders may not trade in Citycon shares 
and derivates based on Citycon shares or instruments entitling to 
Citycon shares or other securities and financial instruments for 21 
days prior to the release of the company’s annual financial state-
ments or interim reports. Insiders are also required to request the 
opinion of the company’s Compliance Officer on the legality and 
compliance of any securities transaction in which they plan to en-
gage. The Compliance Officer keeps a record of each contact made. 

Marcel Kokkeel

Chief Executive Officer
M.A. (Notary Law)
Dutch citizen, born 1958
CMC member since 2011
Citycon shares: 79,151
Citycon stock options 2011: 1,000,000

Eero Sihvonen

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer
M.Sc. (Econ.)
Finnish citizen, born 1957
CMC member since 2005
Citycon shares: 48,516
Citycon stock options 2011: 750,000

Anu Tuomola

General Counsel, Head of Legal Affairs
LL.M., Trained at the Bench
Finnish citizen, born 1974
CMC member since 2011
Citycon shares: -
Citycon stock options 2011: 300,000

Harri Holmström 

Chief Operating Officer (as of 19 December 
2012), Senior Vice President, Group Leasing 
and Baltic Countries and New Business (until 
19 December 2012)
M.Sc. (Surveying), Authorised Property 
Appraiser 
Finnish citizen, born 1956
CMC member since 2005
Citycon shares: 20,029
Citycon stock options 2011: 420,000

Nils Styf

Chief Investment Officer (as of 11 June 2012)
M.Sc. (Business Administration and 
Economics)
Swedish citizen, born 1976
CMC member since 2012
Citycon shares: -
Citycon stock options 2011: 300,000

Citycon Oyj's Corporate Management Committee on 31 December 2012
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The arrangement of Citycon’s financial risk management is 
documented in the company’s Treasury Policy, and key finan-
cial risks are reported on a quarterly basis to the Board’s Audit 
Committee. Furthermore, the Board of Directors regularly mon-
itors the risks and uncertainties associated with the company’s 
business operations, and provides an assessment on them in the 
Board of Directors’ Report and in interim reports.

A more thorough presentation on the risk management pro-
cess and risks associated with the company’s business operations 
can be found on pages 43-45 of the appended Financial State-
ments, and on the corporate website at  www.citycon.com/risk-
management.

Internal audit
The purpose of internal audit is to independently and systemati-
cally evaluate and improve the company’s internal control and risk 
management. For internal audit purposes, the Audit Committee 
approves an annual audit plan, which forms the basis for the per-
formance of the audit. The internal audit is  governed by the Corpo-
rate Governance Guidelines, which contains charters for the Board 
and its committees, guidelines for the division of duties between 
the Board of Directors, the CEO and the Corporate Management 
Committee, decision-making powers including approval limits 
in euros, Citycon’s accounting policies, reporting guidelines and 
risk management principles; financing policy and individual, pro-
cess-level control catalogues. Those people responsible for the 
internal audit report the internal audit results to the CEO and the 
Audit Committee, who must initiate any actions required by the au-
dit findings without delay. The audit conducted by Citycon’s audi-
tor also involves auditing the company’s corporate governance, on 
which the auditor reports to the Board of Directors and the CEO.

In 2012, the internal audit was conducted by Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers Oy in addition to Citycon’s own personnel. The audit in 
2012 focused particularly on rental income processes. 

Auditor
The 2012 AGM re-elected Ernst & Young Oy (a firm of author-
ised public accountants) as the company’s auditor, with Tuija Kor-
pelainen (Authorised Public Accountant) acting as the responsible 

Internal control, risk management and internal audit
Internal control
Citycon’s internal control includes financial and other control. 
Internal control is carried out not only by the Board of Directors, 
the CEO and the CMC but also by all other personnel. Citycon uses 
the internationally recognised Committee of Sponsoring Organ-
izations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) framework as the 
framework for its internal control.

The objective of internal control is to ensure the achievement 
of any goals and objectives set, the economical and efficient use 
of available resources, sufficient management of risks associat-
ed with business, and safeguarding of the company’s operations, 
information and assets. Internal control of financial reporting 
is intended to guarantee the reliability and accuracy of financial 
and other management information. The purpose of internal con-
trol is also to ensure that the company complies with Finnish law, 
agreed internal procedures and guidelines and that the company 
has sufficient and appropriate data systems and work processes 
to support its operations. 

Citycon’s Board of Directors is responsible for arranging and 
maintaining adequate and functional internal control. It is the 
CEO’s duty to attend to the implementation of practical actions re-
garding internal control. The CEO must maintain an organisational 
structure in which responsibilities, authorisations and reporting 
relationships are clearly and comprehensively defined in writing. 

The CEO and other CMC members are responsible for ensur-
ing compliance with currently valid laws and regulations in the 
Group’s everyday operations, as well as compliance with the com-
pany’s business principles and decisions of the Board of Directors. 

The company has appropriate and reliable accounting and other 
data systems in place for monitoring business activities and super-
vising financial management. The attainment of set targets is mon-
itored using a planning and reporting system adopted throughout 
the Group. This system is used to monitor both actual performance 
and forecasts. The system also serves as a budgeting tool.

Risk management
Citycon’s risk management process is constantly under evaluation 
and development. The risk management process is carried out an-
nually, and in connection with this process the company’s risk map 
and annual action plan are updated to correspond with the targets 
of the annual plan, and they are presented to the Board of Direc-
tors at the budget meeting in December. 

auditor appointed by the firm. Ernst & Young Oy has served as the 
company’s auditor since 2006. Tuija Korpelainen has functioned 
as Citycon’s responsible auditor since the same year and, prior 
to that, as one of the company’s two auditors in the financial year 
2005. 

Citycon’s responsible auditor attends the Audit Committee’s 
meeting in which the annual financial statements are discussed, in 
order to report on audit findings. The auditor also attends all other 
Audit Committee meetings based on a decision taken by the Audit 
Committee.

In 2012, Citycon paid EUR 0.3 million in remuneration to its 
auditor related to its general audit. In addition, Citycon purchased 
advisory services from the auditor for a total of EUR 0.1 million. 

Communications
Citycon Oyj’s communications principles are defined in the disclo-
sure policy approved by the Board of Directors. The policy defines 
the objectives, practices and persons responsible for communica-
tions. 

Citycon’s Board of Directors approved an update to the com-
pany’s Disclosure Policy in December to better reflect the com-
pany’s operations and strategy. In addition to some updates of a 
technical nature, the most significant change to the Disclosure 
Policy is that, in the future, Citycon will on principle only disclose 
investments, divestments and (re)development projects exceed-
ing EUR 150 million in value by way of stock exchange releases, 
whereas smaller investments, divestments and (re)development 
projects will mainly be announced through investor news and 
press releases. Minor real estate transactions, (re)development 
projects or joint ventures may also only be disclosed in connec-
tion with an interim report or financial statement. 

The Disclosure Policy is available on the company’s web-
site in the Corporate Governance section.
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Greetings from exec. VP, CFO

Citycon’s financial position 
is now even stronger 
For Citycon, 2012 was a year of solid performance. We also 
carried out major financing arrangements. We successfully re-
financed practically all of the loans maturing in 2013, expanded 
our financing sources to the bond markets and strengthened our 
balance sheet by means of a rights issue. I am very proud of these 
transactions. In my opinion, they show that stable companies such 
as Citycon, which have good relationships with banks and other 
investors, can obtain both debt financing and equity financing in 
spite of the challenging market situation. 

The financing objectives we have set for 2013 build on these 
achievements: it is important for us to strengthen the balance 
sheet and ensure a stable financing structure through means such 
as longer loan maturities. In addition, we will continue to seek fi-
nancing directly from the capital markets. 

In our reporting, our aim is to listen to investors’ wishes and to 
improve the predictability of our results. According to our Disclo-
sure Policy, we provide guidance on four financial indicators: turno-
ver, EPRA operating profit, EPRA earnings and EPRA earnings per 
share. Over the year, we have narrowed the range of variation of our 
forecasts as the outlook has become clearer. 

Financing totals about EUR 600 million
2012 was a busy year on the financing front:

•    In spring, we issued a EUR 150 million unsecured domestic 
bond with a five-year maturity. 

•    In September, we agreed on the refinancing of loans 
maturing in 2013 with a Nordic bank group. The credit 

facility agreed with the bank group amounts to EUR 
360 million and has an average maturity of five years. 

•    In the rights issue arranged in September-Octo-
ber, we raised about EUR 90.7 million and issued 

49,032,002 new shares. 
With these transactions, we obtained a total 

of about EUR 600 million in financing during the 
year.  

The crown jewel from the Kingdom of Sweden 
Just before Christmas, we announced that we will acquire the 
Kista Galleria shopping centre in Stockholm together with the 
Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (CPPIB). Kista Galleria is 
a top-notch shopping centre with a high footfall. It is located in a 
thriving residential and office district boasting excellent traffic 
connections. The participation of the global and highly respected 
joint venture partner CPPIB gave the seal of quality to both this 
acquisition and our position as a professional manager of shop-
ping centres in the Nordic countries. 

In line with our strategy, this investment balances our property 
portfolio geographically and bolsters our position in the rapidly 
growing market of Stockholm. Following this acquisition, City-
con will assume its place among the top three shopping centre 
owners in Sweden. Part of the acquisition will be financed 
together with CPPIB by means of a loan of SEK 2290 
million with real estate as collateral. A share issue will 
be carried out to raise financing as well. In 2013, our 
operations in Sweden will focus particularly on the 
takeover of the Kista Galleria.  

Eero Sihvonen
Executive Vice President  
and CFO
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Profit performance and financial position

A year of refinancing and net rental income 
growth
Rental income from Citycon’s retail properties represents the 
majority of the company’s turnover. In 2012, gross rental income 
accounted for 94.4 per cent of turnover. The company’s turnover 
grew by 10.2 per cent to EUR 239.2 million (2011: EUR 217.1 
million). Finnish Operations is the company’s largest business unit, 
accounting for 60.6 per cent of rental income.  

Perhaps the most closely monitored key indicators are net 
rental income and its growth – that is, rental income less property 
maintenance expenses and other expenses from leasing opera-
tions. Net rental income totalled EUR 162.0 million (EUR 144.3 
million). Net rental income for like-for-like properties, in other 
words properties owned by Citycon throughout the comparison 
period (two years) and undergoing no development or extension 
projects, grew by EUR 5.5 million or 4.9 per cent. This growth can 
be attributed particularly to the improved net rental income from 
Liljeholmstorget Galleria, Rocca al Mare and Iso Omena, as well as 
lower vacancy rates. Credit losses were EUR 1.1 million. A total of 
EUR 1.5 million worth of temporary rent reductions were granted 
in the like-for-like properties during the year (EUR 1.9 million), al-
most exclusively in the Baltic countries. 

Administrative expenses totalled EUR 26.5 million (EUR 
27.7 million). The company has had a long-term focus on cutting 
expenses across the board. To this end, the company has taken 
measures such as reorganizing its organisation. This represented 
a decrease of EUR 1.2 million, or 4.3 per cent, mainly due to sav-
ings in marketing expenses and other administrative items (EUR 
0.8 million) as well as lower restructuring costs (EUR 0.4 million). 

Profit guidance for 2012
In accordance with the Disclosure Policy, the company provides 
guidance on turnover, EPRA operating profit, EPRA earnings and 
EPRA earnings per share in order to improve the predictability 
of its earnings. As in earlier years, the forecast on key indicator 
growth that the company released in early 2012 had a reasonably 
wide range of variation; over the year, the company adjusted the 
range of variation of its forecasts as the outlook became clear-
er and due to the increase in the number of shares following the 
share issue (which impacted on earnings per share). 

Completed development projects and acquisitions increased 
turnover by a total of EUR 19.5 million, while property disposals 
reduced it by EUR 4.6 million. EPRA operating profit and earnings 
grew thanks to the increase in net rental income. EPRA earnings 
were reduced by financial expenses. 

Sound financial position and strong liquidity  
At year-end, Citycon owned 78 properties: 37 shopping centres, 
40 other retail properties and one lot. The fair value of the proper-

ty portfolio was EUR 2,714.2 million and the net rental yield was 
6.4 per cent (6.0%). Fair value gains recognised during the year 
amounted to EUR 54.4 million and losses to EUR –30.8 million. 

Balance sheet total at the year-end stood at EUR 2,818.5 
million (EUR 2,677.7 million). Interest-bearing debt totalled EUR 
1,533.0 million (EUR 1,547.9 million). Citycon’s total available 
liquidity was EUR 268.4 million, of which EUR 217.4 million con-
sisted of undrawn, committed long-term credit facilities and EUR 
51.0 million of cash and cash equivalents. In spite of the uncertain 
economic climate, Citycon refinanced practically all its major bank 
loans maturing in 2013. 

The year-to-date weighted average interest rate was 4.07 per 
cent (4.03%). Citycon's equity ratio was 37.8 per cent (36.0%) 
and gearing 139.8 per cent (151.4%). Net financial expenses 
totalled EUR 68.1 million (EUR 62.4 million). This increase was 
mainly attributable to increased interest expenses as a result of 
lower capitalisation of interest expenses and a higher amount of 
interest-bearing debt as well as a non-recurring accounting loss 
due to the buyback of convertible bonds. 

Growth forecasts and actual growth 
Key indicator Growth forecast Actual growth 2012 2011

Turnover, EUR million 16–21 22.2 239.2 217.1
EPRA operating profit, EUR million 14–19 18.3 135.7 117.4

EPRA earnings, EUR million 6–11 10.6 63.9 53.3

EPRA earnings per share, EUR 0.195–0.215 N/A 0.214 0.197

PROF
IT PERFORM


ANCE

 AND


 FIN
ANC

IAL PO
SITION



FA
CT

S 
AN

D F
IG

URE
S



AR 62    Citycon Oyj • annual and sustainabILIty report 2012 • FACTS AND FIGURES

ment, or covenant, to maintain the Group’s equity ratio above 32.5 
per cent and the interest coverage ratio at a minimum of 1.8. The 
equity ratio defined in the covenants differs from the standard 
presentation of equity ratio. The calculation methods for both 
covenants are shown on page 45 of the financial statements.

In terms of its equity ratio and the interest coverage ratio, 
Citycon has always, including in 2012, significantly exceeded the 
levels required by the covenants. The company publishes loan cov-
enant calculations in quarterly investor presentations.

of EUR 190 million and a EUR 170 million revolving credit facility. 
The average loan period is five years. After agreeing on this cred-
it facility, Citycon has refinanced practically all of its major bank 
loans maturing in 2013 and has extended the average maturities.

Domestic bond
In May, the company issued a EUR 150 million unsecured domes-
tic bond. The bond matures in five years on 11 May 2017. Fixed 
interest at 4.25% per annum will be paid on the bond. The bond 
was subscribed for by a total of 40 investors. The bond was over-
subscribed and is listed on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki. The funds 
from the bond will be used for the repayment of existing loans and 
to meet the general financing needs of the company.

Loan covenants
At the turn of the year, almost all of Citycon's interest-bearing 
loans were unsecured. Consequently, the properties owned by the 
company are not, as a rule, given as security for the loans. Instead 
of a real security, Citycon’s syndicated loans involve a commit-

Securing growth with long-term financing 
Rights issue  
The company held a rights issue in September-October in order 
to strengthen its balance sheet and liquidity as well as to raise 
financing for development projects and potential acquisitions 
and the repayment of existing loans. The company raised about 
EUR 90.7 million in equity by issuing 49,032,002 new shares. 
All offered shares were subscribed for in the share offering. The 
offered shares equalled around 17.6 per cent of Citycon's total 
share capital and voting rights conferred by shares prior to the 
issue, while subsequent to it they corresponded to around 15.0 
per cent. The new shares were entered in the Trade Register on 8 
October 2012.

Credit facility
Citycon signed a EUR 360 million long-term unsecured cred-

it facility agreement with a group of Nordic banks on 4 Sep-
tember 2012. The facility consists of a bullet term loan 

Profit performance and financial position

Covenant development, interest cover ratio & equity ratio
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Key indicator tables

KEY INDICATOR TABLES 
Fair Value Distribution on 31 Dec. 2012
Fair value of investment  
properties, EUR million *)

Share of total 
portfolio, %

Number of  
properties

over 100 55% 8
80-100 6% 2
60-80 8% 3
40-60 8% 4
20-40 12% 12
10-20 7% 14
5-10 2% 9
0-5 2% 24
*) 	 Does not include properties held for sale	

Operational KEY INDICATORS

Fair Value of Investment Properties, 31 Dec. 2012

Number of  
properties

Fair value, EUR million Fair value change, year 2012, EUR million Average yield requirement, %

Average  
market rent, 
EUR, sq.m./

month 

Average oper-
ating expences 

EUR/sq.m./
month

Average initial 
yield, (%)

Average 
reversionary 

yield, (%)
Total portfolio 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011 Gains Losses Total 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012

Finland
Shopping centres 23 1,462.2 1,340.1 24.1 -13.9 10.2 6.0 6.0 27.4 6.6 6.0 6.4
Other retail properties*) 36 196.9 207.3 1.9 -13.0 -11.1 7.8 7.9 14.8 4.2 7.9 9.1
Finland, total 59 1,659.0 1,547.4 26.0 -26.9 -0.9 6.2 6.3 25.9 6.3 6.2 6.8

Sweden
Shopping centres 9 703.5 662.6 12.7 -3.3 9.4 5.9 5.9 26.1 7.6 5.6 6.5
Other retail properties 5 35.7 34.5 0.3 -0.6 -0.4 7.3 7.2 14.4 4.7 6.0 8.3
Sweden, total 14 739.2 697.1 13.0 -3.9 9.0 6.0 5.9 25.6 7.4 5.6 6.6

Baltic Countries and New Business
Shopping centres 5 316.0 277.6 15.4 - 15.4 7.7 8.0 20.0 3.4 7.9 8.2

Total portfolio*) 78 2,714.2 2,522.1 54.4 -30.8 23.6 6.3 6.4 25.1 6.3 6.2 6.9
*)	 Does not include properties held for sale

Fair Value of Like-for-like Properties, 31 Dec. 2012

Number of  
properties

Fair value, EUR million Fair value change, year 2012, EUR million Average yield requirement, %

Average  
market rent, 
EUR, sq.m./

month 

Average oper-
ating expences 

EUR/sq.m./
month

Average initial 
yield, (%)

Average 
reversionary 

yield, (%)
Like-for-like portfolio 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011 Gains Losses Total 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012

Finland
Shopping centres 17 992.1 946.4 20.7 -6.4 14.3 6.0 6.0 26.9 6.7 6.0 6.4
Other retail properties 34 190.6 195.8 1.9 -12.8 -10.9 7.8 7.9 14.7 4.1 7.9 9.1
Finland, total 51 1,182.6 1,142.2 22.6 -19.2 3.4 6.3 6.3 25.0 6.3 6.3 6.9

Sweden
Shopping centres 6 565.1 537.2 12.2 -1.5 10.6 5.8 5.7 27.2 7.9 5.5 6.3
Other retail properties 5 35.7 34.5 0.3 -0.6 -0.4 7.3 7.2 14.4 4.7 6.0 8.3
Sweden, total 11 600.8 571.6 12.4 -2.1 10.3 5.9 5.8 26.5 7.7 5.6 6.4

Baltic Countries and New Business
Shopping centres 2 162.0 156.9 4.8 - 4.8 7.7 8.0 19.5 2.5 8.0 8.0

Like-for-like properties, total 64 1,945.4 1,870.8 39.8 -21.3 18.5 6.3 6.3 25.0 6.4 6.2 6.8
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Summary of property portfolio, 31 Dec. 2012 Occupancy rate, %
Number of  

lease agreements
Fair value, EUR million Economic, EUR Technical, sq.m.

Total portfolio Location Citycon's GLA, sq.m. 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012

Finland
Shopping centres, Helsinki Metropolitan Area

Arabia Helsinki 14,000 81 19.7 - 92.7 89.3
Columbus Helsinki 20,900 73 82.5 80.8 97.5 97.3
Espoontori Espoo 17,100 48 48.3 48.6 86.7 84.6
Heikintori Espoo 6,300 34 6.3 7.3 82.4 70.0
Isomyyri Vantaa 10,800 18 13.0 13.2 86.3 84.6
Iso Omena Espoo 63,000 204 373.8 339.5 99.8 99.7
Lippulaiva Espoo 19,000 48 66.6 65.6 99.0 98.4
Martinlaakso Shopping Centre Vantaa 7,400 27 27.7 23.7 96.8 94.8
Myllypuro Shopping Centre Helsinki 7,400 24 20.3 19.4 85.3 83.8
Myyrmanni Vantaa 39,700 108 161.3 156.2 96.4 94.4
Tikkuri Vantaa 13,300 80 33.0 33.5 97.1 93.1

Shopping centres, other areas in Finland
Duo Tampere 13,500 50 34.8 33.8 99.1 98.6
Forum Jyväskylä 16,700 78 77.1 76.7 99.5 98.1
Galleria Oulu 6,400 46 21.4 8.6 98.3 96.4
IsoKarhu Pori 14,900 56 46.9 47.2 99.4 97.3
IsoKristiina Lappeenranta 19,400 55 36.7 36.9 92.2 89.0
Jyväskeskus Jyväskylä 5,800 63 13.8 13.7 94.3 90.2
Koskikara Valkeakoski 5,800 33 4.2 4.4 89.2 85.1
Koskikeskus Tampere 34,300 147 175.9 138.6 100.0 100.0
Linjuri Salo 9,200 14 14.6 14.7 100.0 100.0
Sampokeskus Rovaniemi 13,800 80 20.7 21.0 92.0 85.4
Torikeskus Seinäjoki 11,700 56 13.3 10.3 95.9 93.8
Trio Lahti 45,700 149 150.2 144.3 92.2 91.9

Shopping centres, Finland, total 416,100 1,572 1,462.2 1,340.1(* 96.4 94.1
Other retail properties 179,570 230 196.9 207.3 90.3 85.4
Finland, total 595,670 1,802 1,659.0 1,547.4 95.3 91.5

Sweden
Shopping centres, Stockholm area and Umeå

Fruängen Centrum Stockholm 14,900 96 22.5 21.6 92.8 91.4
Högdalen Centrum Stockholm 19,300 98 31.5 30.0 98.0 95.9
Jakobsbergs Centrum Järfälla 45,400 351 106.5 106.3 96.9 95.9
Liljeholmstorget Stockholm 40,900 159 260.2 241.5 97.9 98.6
Strömpilen Umeå 26,700 36 50.2 48.0 98.3 98.3
Tumba Centrum Stockholm 25,500 226 58.8 58.9 97.5 97.4
Åkermyntan Centrum Hässelby 9,500 31 19.8 14.0 96.0 94.0
Åkersberga Centrum Österåker 27,500 139 87.1 81.4 86.9 81.7

Shopping centres, Gothenburg area
 Stenungs Torg Stenungsund 36,400 300 66.8 60.9 95.7 94.8

Shopping centres, Sweden, total 246,100 1,436 703.5 662.6 95.8 94.7
Other retail properties, total 28,200 38 35.7 34.5 79.1 74.8
Sweden, total 274,300 1,474 739.2 697.1 94.7 92.6

Baltic Countries and New Business
Estonia 

Kristiine Tallinn 42,700 182 112.8 105.9 100.0 100.0
Magistral Tallinn 11,700 65 23.1 14.8 100.0 100.0
Rocca al Mare Tallinn 53,300 193 151.5 147.0 100.0 100.0

Lithuania
Mandarinas Vilnius 7,900 61 10.5 9.9 100.0 100.0

Denmark
Albertslund Centrum Copenhagen 14,700 69 18.1 - 95.5 95.2

Baltic Countries and New Business, total 130,300 570 316.0 277.6 99.6 99.5
Total portfolio 1,000,270 3,846 2,714.2 2,522.1 95.7 92.8

Key indicator tables

*)	 Figure includes 
Valtari shopping 
centre which was 
divested in 2012.
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Summary of Like-for-Like portfolio, 31 Dec. 2012
Occupancy rate, %

Number of  
lease agreements

Fair value, EUR million Economic, EUR Technical, sq.m.
Like-for-like portfolio Citycon's GLA, sq.m. 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012

Finland 
Shopping centres 290,500 1,090 992.1 946.4 96.9 94.4
Other retail properties 173,870 209 190.6 195.8 90.5 85.7

Finland, total 464,370 1,299 1,182.6 1,142.2 95.3 91.2

Sweden 
Shopping centres 189,800 1,168 565.1 537.2 97.0 96.5
Other retail properties 28,200 38 35.7 34.5 79.1 74.8

Sweden, total 218,000 1,206 600.8 571.6 95.5 93.7

Baltic Countries and New Business
Shopping centres 61,200 254 162.0 156.9 100.0 100.0

Like-for-like portfolio, total 743,570 2,759 1,945.4 1,870.8 95.8 92.6

Summary of property portfolio, 31 Dec. 2012
Average  

remaining length of lease 
agreements, years

Average rent, 
EUR/sq.m/year

Gross rental 
income, EUR 

million

Net rental 
income, EUR 

million
Total portfolio 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012 Year 2012 Year 2012

Finland
Shopping centres 3.7 297 113.5 82.8
Other retail properties 3.6 158 23.4 15.4

Finland, total 3.7 257 137.0 98.2

Sweden
Shopping centres 3.0 238 56.5 37.0
Other retail properties 3.5 166 3.9 2.3

Sweden, total 3.0 232 60.3 39.2

Baltic Countries and New Business, total
3.7 245 28.6 24.6

Total portfolio 3.5 249 225.9 162.0

Summary of Like-for-like portfolio, 31 Dec. 2012
Average  

remaining length of lease 
agreements, years

Average rent, 
EUR/sq.m/year

Gross rental 
income, EUR 

million

Net rental 
income, EUR 

million
Like-for-like portfolio 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012 Year 2012 Year 2012

Finland
Shopping centres 3.7 290 79.0 57.5
Other retail properties 3.6 156 22.6 14.9

Finland, total 3.7 242 101.6 72.4

Sweden
Shopping centres 2.8 240 44.3 29.9
Other retail properties 3.5 166 3.7 2.3

Sweden, total 2.8 232 48.0 32.1

Baltic Countries and New Business, total 3.3 244 14.4 12.7

Like-for-like portfolio, total 3.4 239 163.9 117.3

Citycon's five largest properties measured in fair value
Average remaining length of  

lease agreements, years
Average rent,  

EUR/sq.m/year
Gross rental income, 

EUR million
Net rental income,  

EUR million
Fair value,  

EUR million
Fair value change,  

EUR million
Net rental  

yield, %
Economic  

occupancy rate, % 
31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012 Year 2012 Year 2012 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012 Year 2012 31 Dec. 2012

Iso Omena 4.7 32.0 23.7 18.4 373.8 18.8 5.3 99.8
Liljeholmstorget 3.5 29.5 14.4 10.3 260.2 6.0 4.2 97.9
Koskikeskus 4.3 30.4 11.0 8.6 175.9 0.6 5.5 100.0
Myyrmanni 2.5 26.8 12.4 9.0 161.3 -1.7 5.8 96.4
Rocca al Mare 3.3 21.4 13.3 11.8 151.5 4.2 8.2 100.0
Five largest properties, total 3.8 28.0 74.7 58.1 1,122.7 27.9 5.5 98.9
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Leasing activity
Number of lease 

agreements
Citycon's GLA, 

sq.m.
Leased area,  

sq.m. 
Average rent,  

EUR/sq.m./month

Status 1 Jan. 2012 3,955 994,730 886,681 19.7
Leases started:

New or extended leases 670 3,200 117,924 20.0
Leases started due to development projects 122 5,090 23,243 23.3
New leases, total 792 8,290 141,167 20.5
Acquisitions 163 35,900 33,724 18.5

Leases ended:
Expired leases 705 109,574 20.3
Leases terminated due to development 
projects 35 7,722 33.2
Divestments 324 38,650 32,677 9.4
Leases ended, total 1,064 38,650 149,972 18.6

Status 31 Dec. 2012 3,846 1,000,270 911,599 20.7

Leasing activity, Sweden
Number of lease 

agreements
Citycon's GLA, 

sq.m.
Leased area,  

sq.m. 
Average rent,  

EUR/sq.m./month

Status 1 Jan. 2012 1,818 303,700 283,324 17.2
Leases started:

New or extended leases 230 200 30,605 19.5
Leases started due to development projects 1 1,000 2,859 18.9
New leases, total 231 1,200 33,464 19.4
Acquisitions

Leases ended:
Expired leases 268 35,808 16.5
Leases terminated due to development 
projects 1 1,982 22.6
Divestments 306 30,600 26,839 10.2
Leases ended, total 575 30,600 64,629 14.1

Status 31 Dec. 2012 1,474 274,300 252,159 19.3

Leasing activity, Finland
Number of lease 

agreements
Citycon's GLA, 

sq.m.
Leased area,  

sq.m. 
Average rent,  

EUR/sq.m./month

Status 1 Jan. 2012 1,699 577,630 499,504 21.0
Leases started:

New or extended leases 397 3,000 81,015 20.0
Leases started due to development projects 56 1,890 8,674 37.6
New leases, total 453 4,890 89,689 21.7
Acquisitions 94 21,200 19,843 20.7

Leases ended:
Expired leases 392 67,471 22.0
Leases terminated due to development 
projects 34 5,740 36.8
Divestments 18 8,050 5,838 5.7
Leases ended, total 444 8,050 79,049 21.9

Status 31 Dec. 2012 1,802 595,670 529,986 21.4

Leasing activity, Baltic Countries and New business
Number of lease 

agreements
Citycon's GLA, 

sq.m.
Leased area,  

sq.m. 
Average rent,  

EUR/sq.m./month

Status 1 Jan. 2012 438 113,400 103,853 20.2
Leases started:

New or extended leases 43 6,304 21.9
Leases started due to development projects 65 2,200 11,710 13.7
New leases, total 108 2,200 18,014 16.5
Acquisitions 69 14,700 13,881 15.2

Leases ended:
Expired leases 45 6,294 23.3
Leases terminated due to development 
projects
Divestments
Leases ended, total 45 6,294 23.3

Status 31 Dec. 2012 570 130,300 129,454 20.5

Lease portfolio by business units

Finland Sweden

Baltic  
Countries   

and New 
Business Total

Number of leases started during  
the financial year 453 231 108 792
Total area of leases started, sq.m. 89,689 33,464 18,014 141,167
Occupancy rate at end of the financial 
year (economic), % 95.3 94.7 99.6 95.7
Average remaining length of lease port
folio at the end of the financial year, years 3.7 3.0 3.7 3.5

Key indicators of property portfolio 2012

Finland Sweden

Baltic   
Countries  

and New 
Business Total

Citycon's Gross leasable area, sq.m. 595,670 274,300 130,300 1,000,270
Gross rental income, EUR million 137.0 60.3 28.6 225.9
Net rental income, EUR million 98.2 39.2 24.6 162.0
Net rental yield, % 6.3 5.6 8.6 6.4
Net rental yield,  
like-for-like properties, % 6.5 5.7 8.3 6.4
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Citycon's top five tenants
Proportion of gross rental income based 

on valid rent roll at 31 Dec 2012, %
Average remaining length of lease 

agreements, years

Kesko 16.9% 4.2
S Group 5.7% 7.7
ICA 3.4% 4.0
Stockmann 3.0% 2.2
H&M 1.7% 4.2
Top 5, total 30.6% 4.7

Top five tenants in Finland
Proportion of gross rental income based 

on valid rent roll at 31 Dec 2012, %
Average remaining length of lease 

agreements, years

Kesko 28.2% 4.2
S Group 7.1% 7.4
Stockmann 3.4% 2.2
Tokmanni 2.7% 4.4
H&M 2.0% 3.9
Top 5, total 43.4% 4.6

Top five tenants in Sweden
Proportion of gross rental income based 

on valid rent roll at 31 Dec 2012, %
Average remaining length of lease 

agreements, years

ICA 11.6% 3.8
Coop 4.1% 5.6
Axfood 4.1% 2.3
Stockholms Läns Landsting 3.3% 3.0
Systembolaget 2.8% 2.6
Top 5, total 25.9% 3.6

Top five tenants in Baltic Countries and New Business
Proportion of gross rental income based 

on valid rent roll at 31 Dec 2012, %
Average remaining length of lease 

agreements, years

S Group (Prisma) 10.3% 8.5
ICA Group (RIMI) 3.0% 5.0
Kaubamaja 3.0% 3.6
Stockmann 2.7% 1.9
Marks & Spencer 2.4% 10.3
Top 5, total 21.4% 6.7
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Shopping centres owned by Citycon, 31 Dec. 2012

                                              Sales, EUR million                                                                  Number of visitors, million               Catchment area 
population 4)

Gross  
leasable area 

total, sq.m. 

Retail  
premises  

total, sq.m.

Citycon's Gross 
leasable area, 

sq.m.Property Location 2012 2011 Change, % 2012 2011 Change, %

Finland
Helsinki Metropolitan Area

Arabia Helsinki 50.9 48.2 6% 3.1 2.6 17% 13,000 14,000 13,000 14,000
Columbus Helsinki 99.6 98.4 1% 6.8 7.0 -3% 95,800 20,900 19,300 20,900
Espoontori 1) Espoo 40.6 32.2 26% 3.6 3.5 4% 58,000 23,600 11,900 17,100
Heikintori Espoo 18.6 19.5 -5% 1.8 1.9 -5% 138,700 9,500 7,000 6,300
Isomyyri Vantaa 21.9 22.2 -1% 2.1 2.0 4% 54,100 15,000 12,700 10,800
Iso Omena Espoo 260.4 246.9 5% 8.8 8.6 3% 148,000 63,000 50,900 63,000
Lippulaiva Espoo 94.9 91.5 4% 3.8 4.0 -5% 45,300 19,000 16,900 19,000
Martinlaakso Shopping Centre Vantaa 35.1 2.9 - 1.8 n/a - 22,000 7,400 7,300 7,400
Myllypuro Shopping Centre Helsinki 19.8 9.3 - n/a n/a - 19,000 7,400 7,200 7,400
Myyrmanni Vantaa 158.3 160.3 -1% 7.0 7.3 -4% 97,600 39,700 31,200 39,700
Tikkuri 2) Vantaa 31.5 31.2 1% 2.9 3.0 -4% 133,700 15,100 8,000 10,500

Other areas in Finland
Duo Tampere 57.8 54.2 7% 4.2 4.1 1% 38,500 15,200 11,900 13,500
Forum Jyväskylä 62.4 60.3 3% 6.1 5.9 4% 142,200 23,200 20,700 16,700
Galleria 3) Oulu 7.9 7.7 3% 1.1 1.0 11% 188,300 6,400 2,600 6,400
IsoKarhu Pori 36.1 35.7 1% 3.2 3.4 -5% 111,000 14,900 12,600 14,900
IsoKristiina Lappeenranta 44.1 47.7 -7% 2.9 2.7 5% 58,000 19,800 14,100 19,400
Jyväskeskus Jyväskylä 20.5 19.5 5% 3.9 4.0 -2% 141,700 12,200 7,800 5,800
Koskikara Valkeakoski 34.5 33.7 3% 2.1 2.1 -2% 19,900 10,400 9,800 5,800
Koskikeskus Tampere 111.3 116.7 -5% 5.3 5.8 -8% 342,000 34,300 28,800 34,300
Linjuri Salo 36.5 36.4 0% 2.9 2.9 1% 40,200 10,500 9,400 9,200
Sampokeskus Rovaniemi 18.7 17.1 10% 2.0 2.1 -1% 53,900 13,800 8,000 13,800
Torikeskus Seinäjoki 17.8 19.3 -8% 1.3 1.3 -1% 117,600 11,700 7,300 11,700
Trio Lahti 75.9 78.8 -4% 6.5 6.7 -2% 123,900 48,900 34,900 45,700

Shopping centres, Finland, total 1355.0 1289.6 5% 83.2 81.7 2% - 455,900 353,300 413,300
Sweden
Stockholm area and Umeå

Fruängen Centrum Stockholm 31.2 30.6 2% n/a n/a - 60,700 14,900 6,600 14,900
Högdalen Centrum Stockholm 59.4 57.4 3% n/a n/a - 45,600 19,300 16,000 19,300
Jakobsbergs Centrum Järfälla 97.8 93.8 4% 5.7 5.3 8% 419,000 45,400 27,100 45,400
Liljeholmstorget Stockholm 166.3 146.7 13% 9.4 8.3 14% 975,000 40,900 27,700 40,900
Strömpilen Umeå 125.5 121.3 4% 4.4 4.2 4% 91,600 26,700 23,600 26,700
Tumba Centrum Stockholm 61.3 60.7 1% 3.6 3.7 -1% 198,200 25,500 14,000 25,500
Åkermyntan Centrum Hässelby 30.2 30.0 1% 1.8 1.7 1% 34,500 9,500 7,600 9,500
Åkersberga Centrum Österåker 92.8 87.2 6% 6.1 6.0 2% 86,800 27,500 23,800 27,500

Gothenburg area
 Stenungs Torg Stenungsund 71.2 71.4 0% 3.4 3.4 2% 257,900 36,400 17,900 36,400

Shopping centres, Sweden, total 735.6 699.0 5% 34.4 32.5 6% - 246,100 164,300 246,100
Baltic Countries and New Business
Estonia 

Kristiine Tallinn 119.1 102.9 16% 7.6 7.1 6% 270,000 42,700 42,600 42,700
Magistral Tallinn 15.6 10.4 50% 2.7 2.0 35% 64,000 11,700 11,700 11,700
Rocca al Mare Tallinn 136.6 122.4 12% 6.4 6.4 0% 340,000 53,300 51,800 53,300

Lithuania
Mandarinas Vilnius 18.9 18.8 1% 2.4 2.4 -2% 50,000 7,900 7,900 7,900

Denmark
Albertslund Centrum Copenhagen n/a n/a - n/a n/a - - 14,700 9,400 14,700

Baltic Countries and New Business, total 290.2 254.5 14% 19.1 18.0 6% - 130,300 123,400 130,300
Total portfolio 2380.9 2243.1 6% 136.6 132.2 3% - 832,300 641,000 789,700

1)	 Gross leasable area includes Espoon Asemakuja and Espoon Asematori 
2)	 Figures exclude Asematie 3 and Kassatalo
3)	 Sales and footfall figures do not include Citytalo
4)	 Estimate: in Finland based mainly on interview studies and in Sweden and Estonia on drive time estimates (5-15minutes)
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Shopping centres managed by Citycon, 31 Dec. 2012

                                              Sales, EUR million                                                                  Number of visitors, million               Catchment area 
population *)

Gross  
leasable area 

total, sq.m. 

Retail  
premises  

total, sq.m.

Citycon's Gross 
Leasable area, 

sq.m.Property Location 2012 2011 Change, % 2012 2011 Change, %

Finland
Galleria Esplanad Helsinki 51.0 41.9 22% 3.0 2.2 34% 130,000 11,700 11,000 -   
Tullintori Tampere 20.3 16.3 24% 2.3 2.4 -2% 133,000 23,400 9,000 -

*)	 Estimate 

(RE) DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
Completed development projects, 2011-2012 1)

Target City, country

Market value, 
of property 

MEUR,  
31 Dec 2012

Area prior to 
project, sq.m. 2)

Area after 
project 

completion, 
sq.m.

Estimated  
total  

investment, 
MEUR 3)

Cumulative real-
ised gross capital 

expenditure at 
year-end, MEUR

Economical occu-
pancy rate, %

Expected yield 
on completion 

when stabi-
lized4) Additional information

Koskikeskus 
Tampere, 
Finland 175.9 27,700 28,600 37.9 40.5 90.5 6.6

A sizable shopping centre modernisation project in the centre of Tampere, 
strengthening the centre's offering. The project covers all retail premises 

owned by Citycon. The interiors, entrances, facades and technical systems 
of the shopping centre have all undergone a complete redevelopment. 

Koskikeskus has an environmentally friendly cooling system based on the 
cooling power of the nearby Tammerkoski rapids. Koskikeskus remained open 

during the entire project, and its opening ceremony was held in November. 
Anchor tenants: Intersport Megastore, Stadium, Lindex, Gina Tricot, Seppälä, 

Moda Aukia

Iso Omena Espoo, Finland 373.8 60,600 63,300 7.6 7.5 100 ---

Shopping centre Iso Omena expansion project, where the centre's former 
rooftop car park in the second floor was converted to retail premises. Anchor 

tenants: H&M, Intersport,  Partioaitta

Magistral Tallinn, Estonia 23.1 9,500 11,700 7.0 7.0 100 8.3

Shopping centre modernisation and expansion project. The interiors of Mag-
istral were fully renovated, the shopping centre was expanded, and parking 

was revamped. The shopping centre was closed during the entire renovation 
and expansion project. Anchor tenants: Rimi,Rademar, Koduextra, Tiimari

Myllypuro
Helsinki, 
Finland 20.3 7,700 7,300 21.3 21.3 85.5 7.4

Construction of a new shopping centre to replace the old one next to the 
Myllypuro subway station. An underground car park is built for the shopping 

centre. Rental and right-of-residence housing units, sold by Citycon, were also 
constructed in connection with the shopping centre. The total value of the 

project exceeds  €60 million. Anchor tenants: S-market, Pharmacy, Hesburg-
er, Helsingin kaupungin Mediatila, HOK-restaurants

Åkersberga 
Centrum

Österåker, 
Sweden 87.1 20,000 27,500 53.2 53.2 86.9 7.3

Refurbishment and extension of an existing shopping centre in the Greater 
Stockholm area, northeast of Stockholm. The shopping centre was redevel-

oped and an extension part was build next to it. Anchor tenants: ICA, H&M, 
library, Systembolaget

Martinlaakso Vantaa, Finland 27.7 3,800 7,300 22.9 24.4 96.8 7.4

Construction of a new shopping centre to replace an old one in the space be-
tween Martinlaakso railway station and the bus terminal. Housing units, sold 

by Citycon, were also built in connection with the shopping centre. Anchor 
tenants: S-market, Lidl, Sampo Pankki, HOK-restaurants

Hansa (Trio) Lahti, Finland 150.2 5) 11,000 11,000 8 7.0 82.4 --

Modernisation project of Hansa-keskus, located adjacent to the Trio shopping 
centre, with the goal of integrating the property better and in a more com-

mercially viable way to the Trio shopping centre. Anchor tenants: Tokmanni 
(Robinhood), Manhattan Steakhouse

Myyrmanni Vantaa, Finland 161.3 8,400 8,400 6.5 6.5 100 6.5

World of fashion in the second floor. After Anttila moved to smaller premises, 
the vacated spaces were modernised. At the same time, leaseholder altera-

tions are performed in the first floor. Anchor tenants of the modernised prem-
ises: Stadium, Clas Ohlson, H&M, Suomalainen kirjakauppa, Anttila, Cubus

Kirkkonummi 
shopping centre 
(Aseman Ostari) 

Kirkkonummi, 
Finland 6.3 5,000 4,000 4 3.7 92.3 --

Retail premises in the centre of Kirkkonummi were modernised to become a 
local shopping centre, providing various services related to everyday errands. 

Anchor tenants: Posti, Nordea, Huoneistokeskus

1) 	 Calculated using 
currency rates 
from the end of 
the review period 
the project was 
completed

2) 	 Leased area 
owned by Citycon 
before project 
initiation

3) 	 New capital tied 
up in the project

4) 	 Expected yield 
on completion, % 
= expected sta-
bilized (3rd year 
after completion) 
net rents incl. 
possible vacancy 
/ total invest-
ment (=total 
capital invested 
in property by 
Citycon)

5)	 Refers to the  
entire Trio 
property
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Ongoing development projects, 31 Dec 2012

Target City, country

Market value of 
property MEUR, 

31 Dec 2012 Area, sq.m.1) 

Area after  
project  

completion,  
sq.m.

Estimated  
total  

 investment, 
MEUR 2)

Cumulative real-
ised gross capital 

expenditure at 
year-end, MEUR

Completion  
target 

Pre-leasing 
rate,% 3)

Expected yield  
on completion 

when stabilized4) Additional information

Åkermyntan 
Centrum 

Stockholm, 
Sweden 19.8 8,500 10,100 6.9 6.7 Q2/2013 93 6.9

Shopping centre modernisation project where the centre and its parking 
services are renovated, and energy efficiency improved. There have been 

delays in the project, as negotiations with existing tenants have taken longer 
than was planned. Anchor tenants: ICA, Lidl 

Rocca al Mare Tallinn, Estonia 151.5 4,000 57,500 5.3 0.2 Q3/2013 100 10.0

Shopping centre expansion project where the leasable area is increased pri-
marily with new construction, and to some extent with space reorganisation. 

New tenants will be Estonia's first H&M and Debenhams

Kristiine Keskus Tallinn, Estonia 112.8 2,500 45,200 3.3 0.1 Q3/2013 100 9.0

Shopping centre expansion project, where the leasable area is increased 
by building more floor area inside the shopping centre. The centre's main 

entrance and the main entrance facades will also be modernised. The new 
anchor tenant is H&M

1)	 Leasable floor area owned by Citycon.
2) 	 Citycon's share of new capital tied in the project.
3) 	 Signed lease agreements, rental occupancy rate forecast in euros.
4) 	 Expected yield on completion, % = expected stabilized (3rd year after completion) net rents incl. possible vacancy / total investment (=total capital invested in property by Citycon).

Planned (re)development projects, 31 Dec 2012
(Re)development projects that have not been approved by Citycon's Board of Directors but are being planned, city plan changes are pending, and/or Citycon (or its partner) has a site reservation.

Target City, country

Market value of 
property MEUR, 

31 Dec 2012 Project  area,  sq.m. (1

Citycon's 
expected net 

investment 
need, MEUR 2)

Target for  
project  

initiation

Target year  
for project 

completion Additional information

Iso Omena 3) Espoo, Finland 373.8 27,000 4)

80-90  
(tot. 170)  2013 5) 2016

Joint Citycon and NCC Property Development project on the above-ground spaces of the future Western Met-
ro Matinkylä subway station, a bus terminal, and an expansion of the Iso Omena shopping centre. Construction 

permit application submitted in late 2012. The objective of the entire project is to develop a subway station 
centre that combines comprehensive commercial services with smooth connections between the metro train 

and its feeder terminal. LOI with Debenhams to the extension signed. GIC owns 40% of Iso Omena. 
Lippulaiva Espoo, Finland 66.6 15,000-20,000 4) 40-50 2014 2016 Shopping centre expansion project. Planned anchor tenant is the Espoo city library.  

Myyrmanni Vantaa, Finland 161.3 16,000 4) 55 2014 5) 2016

Shopping centre expansion project implemented on two sides of the centre. Next to the shopping centre are 
lot reservations for former health care centre's and Paalutori lots. Plans include moving  parking facilities 

underground. Adjacent to Myyrmanni, a Prisma hypermarket and housing units are being planned. A covered 
connection from the railway station directly to the shopping centre has already been built.

IsoKristiina Lappeenranta, Finland 36.7 32,000 6) 55 2013 2015

Plans include the modernisation and expansion of the existing shopping centre. The city is planning to place 
the city theatre in the expansion of the shopping centre. Approximately 50% of the lease agreements for the 

shopping centre have already been signed or negotiated. 

Tumba Centrum Botkyrka, Sweden 58.8 6,000-8,000 4) 20 2014 2015/2016
Shopping centre expansion project. Cooperation agreement with the city of Botkyrka, and a cooperation 

agreement for residential construction with a construction company.
Stenungs Torg Stenungsund, Sweden 66.8 5,000 21 2013 2014/2015 Extension and re-development of the existing shopping centre.

1)	  Project floor area refers to leased floor area owned by Citycon, i.e. current floor area undergoing alterations and expansion combined. 
2)	  The need for investment will change and be defined in more detail as the project moves forward. The figure is the best estimate currently available.
3)	  Partly-owned property.
4)	  Area refers only to the expansion. 
5)	  Project schedule and/or project area quantity may be impacted by risks related to city plans.
6) 	 Total project floor area.
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Planned supermarket and shop projects, 31 Dec 2012

Target City, country

Market value of 
property MEUR, 

31 Dec 2012 Project  area,  sq.m. 1)

Citycon's 
expected net 

investment 
need, MEUR 2)

Target for  
project  

initiation

Target year  
for project 

completion Additional information

Sinikalliontie Espoo, Finland 25.6 7,000 10 2013 2013 Target renovation project.
Hämeentie 3 Forssa, Finland 1.2 4,000 6 2013 2013 Target renovation project for new leaseholders.

Asema-aukio Pori, Finland 8.6 25,000 50 2013 2016

Citycon is preparing a significant development project of the former Citymarket property next to the Pori 
railway station. The aim is to partially refurbish and partially demolish the property in the railway station 

square, and to build new premises in place of the demolished part. The Satakunta University of Applied 
Sciences and the new shared campus of the University Consortium of Pori would be the tenants of both the 

thoroughly modernised and all-new premises. The Pori travel centre, which is being planned, can be construct-
ed on the lot later or in connection with the project.

1)	  Project floor area refers to leased floor area owned by Citycon, i.e. current floor area undergoing alterations and expansion combined. 
2)	  The need for investment will change and be defined in more detail as the project moves forward. The figure is the best estimate currently available.

Potential development targets, 31 Dec 2012
Citycon is investigating the development and/or expansion opportunities of these targets (amongst others). No applications for city plan changes or other official decisions have been made.

Target City, country

Market value of 
property MEUR, 

31 Dec 2012 Area, sq.m. Additional information

Columbus Helsinki, Finland 82.5 20,400 Expansion of the existing shopping centre is under investigation.
Forum Jyväskylä, Finland 77.1 17,500 Investigation is ongoing on how to improve the commercial integration of the Forum shopping centre and the property next to it, owned by Osuuspankki.
Espoontori Espoo, Finland 48.3 17,100 Expansion of the existing shopping centre is under investigation.
Högdalen Centrum Stockholm, Sweden 31.5 5,000 Opportunities for expanding the shopping centre are under investigation. 
Jakobsbergs Centrum Järfälla, Sweden 106.5 12,000 An expansion and modernisation project is being investigated; plans include applying for housing unit building rights. 
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Key environmental indicators
Total energy consumption1) (EN4)

2012 2011 2010 2009 GRI

EPRA Sus-
tainability 

BPR

Electricity consumption in common areas (MWh) 109,659 113,710 104,853 108,409 EN4 BPR 3.1
Tenants' Electricity purchased by landlord (MWh) 2) 73,729 67,984 62,200 67,123 EN4 BPR 3.1
Total Electricity consumption  (MWh) 183,388 181,693 167,052 175,533 EN4 BPR 3.1
Electricity consumption in Citycon's offices and 
business premises (MWh) 73 86 41 58 BPR 3.1
Non-renewable electricity (MWh) 169,030 176,737 161,085 165,989 EN4 BPR 3.1
Renewable electricity (MWh) 14,358 4,956 5,967 9,544 EN4 BPR 3.1

District heating (MWh) 3) 143,395 138,163 171,342 139,495 EN4 BPR 3.2
District cooling (MWh) 3) 1,511 1,799 1,606 243 EN4 BPR 3.2

Direct energy consumption (EN3)
Total energy consumption from fuels (MWh) 2,718 936 0 0 EN3 BPR 3.3

Primary energy (TJ) 1,956 1,910 1,927 1,844
EN3-
EN4

BPR  
3.1-3.3

Intensity Indicators 4)

Building energy intensity (kWh/sq.m.) 268 263 321 275 CRE1 BPR 3.4
Building energy intensity (kWh/visitor) 1.53 1.55 1.86 1.74 CRE2 BPR 3.4

1) 	 Citycon’s reported energy consumption covers shopping centres owned by Citycon and other properties where Citycon’s share of 
ownership is at least 50 per cent.  

2) 	 Citycon also reports the tenants' electricity consumption in cases where Citycon is responsible for electricity procurement. When 
energy procurement  is on tenant’s responsibility, it has been excluded from reporting. 

3) 	 Energy used for heating and cooling is reported in its entirety.
4) 	 In terms of intensity figures, Citycon has limited the reported electricity consumption to common areas, where  it can directly 

influence. This includes the electricity used for general lighting, ventilation and cooling, as well as lifts and escalators and other 
building technical systems.

ENERGY CONSUMPTION

MWh
Electricity consumption in 

common areas Heat consumption Total energy consumption (*

2009 108,409 139,495 248,147 
2010 104,853 171,342 277,801 
2011 113,710 138,163 254,608 
2012 109,659 143,395 257,284 
Change-% 2012/2011 -3.6% 3.8% 1.1%
Change-% 2012/2009 1.2% 2.8% 3.7%

ENERGY CONSUMPTION IN LIKE-FOR-LIKE SHOPPING CENTRES

MWh
Electricity consumption in 

common areas Heat consumption Total energy consumption (*

2011 68,773 83,088 153,600 
2012 65,213 84,300 151,007 
Change-% 2012/2011 -5.2% 1.5% -1.7%

ENERGY CONSUMPTION BY BUSINESS units

MWh
Electricity consumption 

in common areas Heat consumption

Total  
Energy  

Consumption (*

Total Energy Consump-
tion in like-for-like 

shopping centres (*

Baltic Countries and New 
Business

2009 5,830 5,058 10,888 
2010 6,044 5,575 11,619 
2011 8,783 3,912 13,631 8,513
2012 11,487 4,082 18,287 8,532

Change-% 2012/2011 30.8% 4.3% 34.2% 0.2%
Change-% 2012/2009 97.0% -19.3% 68.0%
Finland

2009 76,854 104,797 181,652 
2010 73,156 127,478 200,634 
2011 79,227 99,320 178,548 100,238
2012 75,304 106,966 182,270 100,392

Change-% 2012/2011 -5.0% 7.7% 2.1% 0.2%
Change-% 2012/2009 -2.0% 2.1% 0.3%
Sweden

2009 25,725 29,640 55,608 
2010 25,653 38,289 65,548 
2011 25,699 34,931 62,429 44,849
2012 22,868 32,347 56,726 42,083

Change-% 2012/2011 0.2% -8.8% -4.8% -6.2%
Change-% 2012/2009 -0.1% 17.9% 12.3%

(* 	 Total energy consumption incl. electricity in common areas, heating and cooling
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ENERGY CONSUMPTION BY PROPERTY TYPE 

MWh
Electricity consumption in 

common areas
Heat  

consumption 
Total Energy  

Consumption (*

2009
Shopping Centres 92,217 108,966 201,378 
Other Retail Properties 16,193 30,529 46,769 

2010
Shopping Centres 91,596 136,142 229,217 
Other Retail Properties 13,256 35,200 48,584 

2011
Shopping Centres 92,520 109,665 204,862 
Other Retail Properties 21,189 28,498 49,746 

2012
Shopping Centres 90,657 115,285 210,155 
Other Retail Properties 19,002 28,110 47,129 

Change-% in SC 2012/2011 -2.0% 5.1% 2.6%
Change-% in other 2012/2011 -10.3% -1.4% -5.3%
Change-% in SC 2012/2009 -1.7% 5.8% 4.4%
Change-% in other 2012/2009 17.3% -7.9% 0.8%

(* 	 Total energy consumption incl. electricity in common areas, heating and cooling

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS BY SCOPES
tn CO2e 2012 2011 2010 2009

Scope 1, direct 539 185 0 0
Scope 2, indirect 73,043 69,490 67,567 62,615
Scope 3, indirect 627 672 871 652
Total 74,208 70,348 68,438 63,267 

TOTAL DIRECT AND INDIRECT GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
EN16, EN17, EPRA Sustainability BPR 3.4-3.5
tn CO2e 2012 2011 2010 2009

Electricity in common areas 20,744 21,079 17,180 18,106
Tenants' electricity supplied by the landlord *) 25,506 23,222 18,001 17,705
District heating and cooling in properties 27,269 25,314 32,335 26,754
Electricity and heat in office occupation 63 61 51 50
Wastewater in properties 234 239 210 202
Waste in properties 74 77 68 60
Business travel 239 275 473 282
Commuting 76 78 117 106
Paper consumption and mail 3 4 2 3
Total 74,208 70,348 68,438 63,267

*) 	 Citycon also reports emissions from tenants' electricity consumption in cases where Citycon is responsible for electricity 
procurement. When energy procurement is on tenant’s responsibility, it has been excluded from reporting.

GREENHOUSE GAS INTENSITY FROM BUILDING ENERGY CRE3 *)

2012 2011 2010 2009

Building greenhouse gas intensity (kgCO₂e/sq.m.) 50 47 53 47
Building greenhouse gas intensity (kgCO₂e/visitor) 0.35 0.35 0.40 0.39

*) 	 In the calculation of greenhouse gas intensity, the numerator corresponds emissions from electricity in common areas, district 
heating and cooling as well as emissions from waste water and waste.

Total water consumption 

m3
Total water 

consumption

Total water 
consumption in 

shopping centres 

Total water con-
sumption in like-
for-like shopping 

centres 

Water intensity in 
shopping centres  

liter/visitor

Water intensity 
in like-for-like 

shopping centres  
liter/visitor

2009 541,130 484,583 373,559 4.2 4.2
2010 562,604 487,275 392,711 4.0 4.1
2011 639,457 573,626 425,060 4.3 4.4
2012 626,953 576,637 382,533 4.2 3.9
Change-% 2012/2011 -2.0% 0.5% -10.0%
Change-% 2012/2009 15.9% 19.0% 2.4%

Total water consumption by business units

m3
Total water 

consumption 

Total water 
consumption in 

shopping centres 

Total water 
consumption in 

like-for-like shop-
ping centres

Water intensity 
by business units, 

l/visitor

Baltic Countries and 
New Business

2009 32,640 32,640 27,398 2.5
2010 39,582 39,582 34,451 2.9
2011 56,761 56,761 35,928 2.0
2012 66,744 66,744 36,273 1.8

Change-% 2012/2011 17.6% 17.6% 1.0%
Change-% 2012/2009 104.5% 104.5% 32.4%
Finland

2009 264,840 223,402 155,891 1.9
2010 277,188 226,221 159,488 2.0
2011 295,336 253,101 168,425 2.1
2012 301,130 261,484 155,453 1.9

Change-% 2012/2011 2.0% 3.3% -7.7%
Change-% 2012/2009 13.7% 17.0% -0.3%
Sweden *)

2009 243,650 228,541 190,270 7.6
2010 245,834 221,472 198,772 6.0
2011 287,360 263,764 220,707 5.5
2012 259,079 248,409 190,807 3.8

Change-% 2012/2011 -9.8% -5.8% -13.5%
Change-% 2012/2009 6.3% 8.7% 0.3%

*) 	 excl. Fruängen and Högdalen where amount of visitors is not collected
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Total waste amount by business units
tn

Finland
2009 8,830
2010 9,314
2011 10,143
2012 9,834

Sweden
2009 2,598
2010 3,734
2011 4,379
2012 4,067

Baltic Countries and New Business
2009 491
2010 596
2011 839
2012 994

Total waste amount 
tn

2009 11,920 
2010 13,644 
2011 15,361 
2012 14,896 
Change-% 2012/2011 -3.0%
Change-% 2012/2009 25.0%

Total waste amount in like-for-like shopping centres 
tn

2011 11,218 
2012 10,293 
Change-% 2012/2011 -8.2%

Recycling rate of shopping centres 

Total Finland Sweden
Baltic Countries

and New Business

2009 73.6% 69.4% 95.7% 34.5%
2010 77.1% 71.4% 98.6% 34.3%
2011 77.6% 69.8% 94.8% 82.1%
2012 83.2% 77.5% 95.5% 86.4%

Total waste amount in shopping centres 
tn

2009 11,382
2010 12,973
2011 14,596
2012 14,118
Change-% 2012/2011 -3.3%
Change-% 2012/2009 24.0%

Total weight of waste in shopping centres by types 
2012 2011 2010 2009

tn % tn % tn % tn %

Non-hazardous waste
Landfill 2,150 15.2% 3,033 20.8% 2,917 22.5% 2,948 25.9%
Energy 3,909 27.7% 3,874 26.5% 3,540 27.3% 2,588 22.7%
Paper 683 4.8% 671 4.6% 440 3.4% 446 3.9%
Plastic 56 0.4% 54 0.4% 44 0.3% 66 0.6%
Cardboard 3,588 25.4% 3,604 24.7% 3,679 28.4% 3,318 29.2%
Compost 2,711 19.2% 2,193 15.0% 1,557 12.0% 1,398 12.3%
Metal 145 1.0% 159 1.1% 128 1.0% 125 1.1%
Glass 287 2.0% 384 2.6% 378 2.9% 286 2.5%
Other recycled 338 2.4% 370 2.5% 236 1.8% 125 1.1%
Other unsorted waste 225 1.6% 230 1.6% 51 0.4% 54 0.5%

Hazardous 26 0.2% 24 0.2% 3 0.0% 29 0.3%
Total 14,118 100.0% 14,596 100.0% 12,973 100.0% 11,382 100.0%

Total weight of waste in like-for-like shopping centres by types
2012 2011

tn % tn %

Non-hazardous waste
Landfill 1,650 16.0% 2,263 20.2%
Energy 2,890 28.1% 3,150 28.1%
Paper 410 4.0% 422 3.8%
Plastic 46 0.5% 44 0.4%
Cardboard 2,566 24.9% 2,648 23.6%
Compost 2,106 20.5% 1,792 16.0%
Metal 100 1.0% 117 1.0%
Glass 222 2.2% 343 3.1%
Other recycled 231 2.2% 263 2.3%
Other unsorted waste 65 0.6% 168 1.5%

Hazardous 8 0.1% 8 0.1%
Total 10,293 100.0% 11,218 100.0%

Total weight of waste in shopping centres by disposal routes 
EN22, EPRA Sustainability BPR 3.10 

2012 2011 2010 2009
tn % tn % tn % tn %

Landfill waste 2,375 16.8% 3,263 22.4% 2,968 22.9% 3,002 26.4%
Incinerated waste 3,909 27.7% 3,874 26.5% 3,540 27.3% 2,588 22.7%
Composted waste 2,711 19.2% 2,193 15.0% 1,557 12.0% 1,398 12.3%
Recycled waste 4,759 33.7% 4,872 33.4% 4,669 36.0% 4,241 37.3%
Reused waste 364 2.6% 394 2.7% 240 1.8% 153 1.3%
Total 14,118 100.0% 14,596 100.0% 12,973 100.0% 11,382 100.0%
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Proportion of waste by disposal route by business units
EN22, EPRA Sustainability BPR 3.11

Finland Sweden 
Baltic Countries and 

New Business

Landfill waste 22.5% 4.5% 13.6%
Incinerated waste 16.0% 51.3% 41.3%
Composted waste 24.0% 11.9% 3.8%
Recycled waste 34.3% 30.5% 41.1%
Reused waste 3.1% 1.9% 0.2%
Total  100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Total weight of waste in like-for-like  
shopping centres by disposal routes 

2012 2011
tn % tn %

Landfill waste 1,714 16.7% 2,432 21.7%
Incinerated waste 2,890 28.1% 3,150 28.1%
Composted waste 2,106 20.5% 1,792 16.0%
Recycled waste 3,344 32.5% 3,574 31.9%
Reused waste 238 2.3% 271 2.4%
Total 10,293 100.0% 11,218 100.0%

Personnel Figures
2012 2011 2010 2009

Number of Employees 31 Dec. (LA1)
Number of employees, total 129 136 129 119
Number of employees, Finland 86 (66.7%) 90 (66.2%) 84 (65.1%) 78 (65.5%)
Number of employees, Sweden 32 (24.8%) 35 (25.7%) 37 (28.7%) 33 (27.7%)
Number of employees, Estonia 9 (7.0%) 9 (6.6%) 7 (5.4%) 7 (5.9%)
Number of employees, Lithuania 1 (0.8%) 1 (0.7%) 1 (0.8%) 1 (0.8%)
Number of employees, Netherlands 1 (0.8%) 1 (0.7%) - -

Personnel by business unit 31 Dec. (LA1)
Finnish operations 60 (46.5%) 58 (42.6%) 54 (41.9%) 48 (40.3%)
Swedish operations 31 (24.0%) 35 (25.7%) 37 (28.7 %) 33 (27.7%)
Baltic Countries and New Business 10 (7.8%) 10 (7.4%) 10 (7.8%) 11 (9.2%)
Group functions 28 (21.7) 33 (24.3%) 28 (21.7%) 27 (22.7%)

Employment type 31 Dec. (LA1)
Permanent employees/ 
Fixed-term employees

122/7  
(94.6/5.4%)

130/6  
(95.6/4.4%)

122/7  
(94.6/5.4%)

115/4  
(96.6/3.4%)

Full-time employees/ 
Part-time employees

125/4  
(96.9/3.1%)

134/2  
(98.5/1.5%)

129/0  
(100/0%)

119/0  
(100/0%)

Average age of employees and sex distribution (LA1)
Average age, years 31 Dec. 42 42 43 43
Employees under 18 age during the year 0 0 0 0
Female/male percentage 31 Dec. 52.7/47.3 50.0/50.0 48.1/51.9 46.2/53.8

Employee turnover during the year (LA1 ja LA15)
New contracts including short-term substi-
tutions 28 26 29 16
Permanent employees left Citycon 28 18 13 7
Return to work after parental leave, % 100 100 100 100

Employee performance reviews (LA12)
Twice a year (objective), % 26.7 42.1 48.4 *

Once a year, % 62.9 77.2 92.6 *

Full-day training sessions (LA10)
Training days during the year 469 563 437 810
Days per employee 3.6 4.3 3.6 6.9

Sick days and work-related accidents (LA7)
Number of sick days during the year 424 409 296 422
Sick days per employee 3.2 3.1 2.4 3.6
The absentee rate 1.3 1.2** 1.0** 1.4
Work accidents resulting in absence 0 2 1 0
Fatalities 0 0 0 0

*	 Not reported
** 	 Revised number
Citycon has signed a legal employment contract with all of its employees

PERSONNEL FIGURES

The following mathematical formula has been used 
in the Social Responsibility text:

Absentee rate =	
Total absent days due to illness (1 Jan.-31 Dec.)	 X100 % Theoretical working days (1 Jan.-31 Dec.)

Number of training days per employee =	
Total full-day training sessions (1 Jan.-31 Dec.)
Employees average (1 Jan.-31 Dec.)
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ECONOMIC RESPONSIBILITY

Economic value generated and distributed (EC1)
2012 2011

Direct economic value generated
a)      Revenues

Finland 143.2 132.5
Sweden 63.1 60.1
Baltic Countries and New Business 32.8 24.5

Turnover 239.2 217.1
Revenues from sale of investment properties *) 31.1 18.3
Economic value distributed
b)      Operating costs

Finland -40.7 -38.1
Sweden -17.3 -18.9
Baltic Countries and New Business -7.6 -5.8

Purchases related to property operating costs -65.6 -62.8
Finland -119.9 -62.5
Sweden -18.1 -45.5
Baltic Countries and New Business -23.0 -108.1
Headquarter -0.7 -0.6

Investments -161.7 -216.7
c)       Employee wages and salaries

Finland -4.3 -4.2
Sweden -2.5 -2.7
Baltic Countries and New Business -0.6 -0.6
Headquarter -3.5 -3.0

Paid wages and salaries -10.9 -10.5
Finland 0.0 -0.1
Sweden -0.1 0.0
Baltic Countries and New Business 0.0 0.0
Headquarter 0.0 0.0

Funds used for employee training -0.1 -0.1
d)      Payments to providers of capital *)

Paid dividends and return from invested unrestricted equity fund -41.7 -34.3
Loan repayments and proceeds -17.4 143.4
Paid and received financial expenses as well as realised exchange rate losses/gains -84.7 -61.4
e)      Payments to government
Income taxes paid/received (to government/directly from) *) -0.8 7.2

Finland -3.1 -3.1
Sweden -3.6 -3.3
Baltic Countries and New Business -0.3 -0.1

Property taxes (payments to government as agent, recharged to tenants) -7.1 -6.4

*) 	 Items from the cash flow.		
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REPORTING METHODOLOGIES AND BOUNDARIES

Methodology and boundaries
Reported measures related to environmental responsibility cov-
ers all shopping centres owned by Citycon and other properties 
where Citycon’s ownership is at least 50 per cent and where it has 
operational control. This represents 96.8 per cent of the leasable 
area owned by Citycon. 

Even though annual changes in property portfolio due to ac-
quisitions, sales and (re)development do not make reasonable 
comparisons over years, Citycon still reports total portfolio per-
formance according to the limitations mentioned earlier. Citycon 
follows in sustainability reporting EPRA’s financial Best Practices 
Recommendations. Properties, which have been consistently in 
operation, and not under development, during the two full preced-
ing periods, are included in like-for-like portfolio. Sold properties 
are excluded from like-for-like comparison.

Energy
Citycon also reports the tenants' electricity consumption in cases 
where Citycon is responsible for electricity procurement. In shop-
ping centres, tenants have in most of the cases own electricity 
meters and purchase agreement and Citycon has no availability 
to data related to tenants’ consumption. In twenty properties out 
of seventy one, electricity consumption is partially or totally re-
charged from tenants. When energy procurement agreement is on 
tenant’s responsibility, it has been excluded from reporting. Ener-
gy used for heating and cooling is reported in its entirety.

In terms of intensity figures, Citycon has limited the reported 
electricity consumption to common areas, where it can directly 
influence. This includes the electricity used for general lighting, 
ventilation and cooling, as well as lift s and escalators and other 
building technical systems. Based on the case studies, the share 
of electricity consumption in common areas is 25 - 70 per cent of 
total electricity consumption depending on heating, lighting and 
other technical solutions, as well as on level of controllability. Even 
though a mismatch exists between numerator and denominator of 
the intensity indicator (kWh/sq.m.), for the denominator is chosen 
gross leasable area, which still is most feasible of the alternatives. 
Intensity indicator is calculated also per visitors.

Primary energy use has been estimated based on country-spe-
cific energy statistics from the IEA for the year 2009.

Carbon emissions
In calculating its carbon footprint, Citycon applies the Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol developed by the World Resources Institute and the 
World Business Council for Sustainable Development. The emis-
sions factors for energy are based on country-specific statistics 
gathered by the IEA consisting of five year averages (2005-2009) 
for electricity and heat generation. 

In calculation of greenhouse gas intensity from building energy, 
same principles are applied than in energy intensity calculation.

Used nuclear fuel is calculated on the basis of nuclear fuel use 
in Finnish and Swedish nuclear power plants and the total electric-

ity generation in the Nordic area. Nuclear fuel amounts are from 
the Finnish Energy Industries and total electricity generation 
from Nord Pool Spot AS.

Acidifying emission factors (in SO2-eqv.) are based on historical 
estimates on country specific emissions from energy production.

Water
Reported water covers water consumed in common areas and by 
tenants. All water comes from municipal waterworks. 

Waste
The recycling rate indicates recycled, incinerated or reused waste 
fractions as a share of the total waste volume. Landfill waste is 
not included in recycled items.

Properties in which tenants are responsible for waste manage-
ment are excluded from reporting, as there is no record available 
of their waste quantities.
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Strategy and Analysis
1.1-1.2 CEO's statement, key impacts, risks and opportunities √ 2-3, 7-9, 36-37, 43, 50-51
Organizational Profile
2.1-2.9 Organizational profile √ 3, 9, 14-15, 20-33, 46-47, 54-59
2.10 Awards received in the reporting period √ 4-5 www.citycon.com/Sustainability

Report Parameters
3.1-
3.11

Report profile, scope and boundary √ 6, 77 

3.12 GRI Content Index √ 78-80
Governance, Commitments and Engagement
Governance
4.1-
4.10

Governance √  6, 48-49, 54-59

Commitments to External Initiatives
4.11 Explanation of whether and how the precautionary 

approach or principle is addressed 
√ 50-51, 

59
4.12 Externally developed charters, principles, or other 

initiatives 
√ Property and Building Sector 

Energy Efficiency Agreement in 
Finland

4.13 Memberships in associations and/or national/interna-
tional advocacy organizations 

√ 83 www.citycon.com/Sustainability

Stakeholder Engagement
4.14-
4.17

List of stakeholder groups, basis for identification, ap-
proaches to stakeholder engagement, key topics raised 
through stakeholder engagement

√ 38-39 www.citycon.com/Sustainability

Management Approach and Performance Indicators 
Economic responsibility √ 7-8, 

44-45
www.citycon.com/Sustainability

Environmental responsibility √ 40 www.citycon.com/Sustainability

Social Responsibility √ 46 www.citycon.com/Sustainability

Economic Performance Indicators
Economic Performance 
EC1 Economic value generated and distributed √ 44-45, 

76
Further information can be found 

in Financial Statements.

EC2 Financial implications and other risks and opportunities 
due to climate change and other sustainability issues. 

√ 43, 50-
51

EC3 Coverage of the organization's defined benefit plan 
obligations

√ The company acts in accordance with legisla-
tion, not reported separately.

EC4 Significant financial assistance received from government √ 45, 76
Market Presence 
EC5 Range of ratios of standard entry level wage compared 

to local minimum wage at significant locations of 
operation.

—

EC6 Policy, practices, and proportion of spending on local-
ly-based suppliers

√ 44-45

EC7 Procedures for local hiring and proportion of senior 
management and all direct employees, contractors and 
sub-contractors hired from the local community

— Not material to Citycon.

Indirect Economic Impacts 
EC8 Infrastructure investments and services provided 

primarily for public benefit 
—

EC9 Significant indirect economic impacts, including the 
extent of impacts

—

Environmental Performance Indicators
Materials 
EN1-
EN2

Materials used by weight, value or volume and recycled 
and reused input materials

— Not material to Citycon.

Energy 
EN3-
EN4

Direct and indirect energy consumption by primary 
energy source

√ 41-42, 72-73

CRE1 Building energy intensity √ 42, 72-73
EN5 Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency 

improvements
 72

EN6 Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable ener-
gy based products and services, and reductions in energy 
requirements as a result of these initiatives

 72-73

EN7 Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and 
reductions achieved

—

Water 
EN8 Total water withdrawal by source √ 42, 73
EN9 Water sources significantly affected by withdrawal of 

water
√ Not material to Citycon, water comes from 

municipal waterworks.

EN10 Percentage and total volume of water recycled and 
reused

√ Not material to Citycon, water 
comes from municipal water-

works.

CRE2 Building water intensity √ 42, 73

Code Content Page Comments Code Content Page Comments

Comparison of the Report with the GRI guidelines

√ =  Reported,  = Partly reported, — = Not reported,    Core indicator 		

GRI tables
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Biodiversity 
EN11 Location and size of land owned, leased, managed in, or 

adjacent to, protected areas
√ 43

EN12 Significant impacts of activities on biodiversity in 
protected areas

√ 43

EN13 Habitats protected or restored —
EN14 Strategies, current actions, and future plans for manag-

ing impacts on biodiversity
—

EN15 Number of IUCN Red List species and national conser-
vation list species with habitats in areas affected by 
operations, by level of extinction risk

—

Emissions, Effluents, and Waste 
EN16-
EN17

Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by 
weight

√ 41

CRE3 Greenhouse gas emissions intensity from buildings √ 41, 73
CRE4 Greenhouse gas emissions intensity from new construc-

tion and redevelopment activity
— Not material to Citycon. 

EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and 
reductions achieved

 40-41

EN19 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances by weight —
EN20 NOx, SOx, and other significant air emissions by type 

and weight
√ 41

EN21 Total water discharge by quality and destination √ Waste water and rain water is led 
to municipal sewer system.

EN22 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method √ 42, 74-
75

EN23 Total number and volume of significant spills √ No such cases in 2012.

Land Degradation, Contamination and Remediation
CRE5 Land and other assets remediated and in need of remedi-

ation for the existing or intended land use according to 
applicable legal designations

—

Products and Services 
EN26 Initiatives to enhance efficiency and mitigate environ-

mental impacts of products and services, and extent of 
impact mitigation

 40-43

EN27 Reclaimed products and packaging materials — Not material to Citycon.

Compliance 
EN28 Non-compliance with environmental laws and regula-

tions
√ No misconducts during 2012.

Transport 
EN29 Significant environmental impacts of transporting 

products, materials and workforce
√ 73 Citycon reports on CO₂e 

emissions of business travel and 
commuting.

Overall
EN30 Total environmental protection expenditures and 

investments by type
—

Social Performance Indicators
Employment 
LA1-
LA2

Total workforce by employment type, employment con-
tract, and region, number and rate of employee turnover 
by age group, gender, and region

√ 46-48, 
75

LA3 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not 
provided to temporary or part-time employees, by major 
operations

— Not material to Citycon.

LA15 Return to work and retention rates after parental leave, 
by gender

√ 75

Labor / Management Relations
LA4 Percentage of employees covered by collective bargain-

ing agreements
—

LA5 Minimum notice period(s) regarding significant 
operational changes, including whether it is specified in 
collective agreements

√ 48 Citycon complies with local 
legislation and regulations.

Occupational Health and Safety
LA6 Total workforce represented in formal joint manage-

ment-worker health and safety committees 
√ 48

LA7 Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and 
absenteeism, and total number of work-related fatalities 
by region and by gender

√ 47, 75

CRE6 Percentage of the organization operating in verified 
compliance with an internationally recognized health and 
safety management system

— Not material to Citycon.

LA8 Education, training, counselling, prevention, and risk-control 
programs in place to assist workforce members, their fami-
lies, or community members regarding serious diseases

— Not material to Citycon.

LA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements 
with trade unions

— Not material to Citycon.

Training and Education
LA10 Average hours of training per year per employee by 

gender, and by employee category
√ 75

LA11 Programs for skills management and lifelong learning 
that support the continued employability of employees 
and assist them in managing career endings

—

LA12 Employees receiving regular performance and career 
development reviews, by gender

√ 46-47, 
75

Company policy: Each employee 
has annual performance reviews.

Diversity and Equal Opportunity
LA13 Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of 

employees per category according to gender, age group, 
minority group membership

√ 47-48, 
75

Equal Remuneration for Women and Men
LA14 Ratio of basic salary of men to women by employee category —
Investment and Procurement Practices
HR1-
HR2

Investment and procurement practices relating to 
human rights

 49 Citycon Code of Conduct, www.
citycon.com/Sustainability.

HR3 Total hours of employee training of human rights —

Code Content Page Comments Code Content Page Comments
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Non-Discrimination
HR4 Total number of incidents of discrimination and correc-

tive actions taken
√ No such cases in 2012.

Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining
HR5 Operations identified in which the right to exercise free-

dom of association and collective bargaining may be at 
significant risk, and actions taken to support these rights

√ No such risks in operating areas  
in 2012. Citycon Code of Conduct,  

www.citycon.com/Sustainability.

Child Labor
HR6 Operations identified as having significant risk for inci-

dents of child labor, and measures taken to contribute to 
the elimination of child labor

√ 43, 48-
49

Citycon Code of Conduct, www.
citycon.com/Sustainability.

Forced and Compulsory Labor
HR7 Operations identified as having significant risk for 

incidents of forced or compulsory labor, and measures 
to contribute to the elimination of forced or compulsory 
labor

√ 43, 48-
49

Citycon Code of Conduct, www.
citycon.com/Sustainability.

Security Practices
HR8 Percentage of security personnel trained in the organiza-

tion's policies or procedures concerning relevant aspects 
of human rights

— Citycon does not employ directly 
security personnel.

Indigenous Rights
HR9 Violations involving rights of indigenous people and 

actions taken
— Citycon's operation area does 

not reach the areas of indigenous 
people.

Assessment
HR10 Percentage and total number of operations that have 

been subject to human rights reviews and/or impact 
assessments

—

Remediation
HR11 Number of grievances related to human rights filed, 

addressed and resolved through formal grievance 
mechanisms

√ No such cases in 2012.

Local Communities
SO1 Impacts of operations on communities, including enter-

ing, operating, and exiting
 1, 18, 

37-38
SO9 Operations with significant potential or actual negative 

and positive impacts on local communities
 1, 18, 

37-38
SO10 Prevention and mitigation measures implemented in 

operations with significant potential or actual negative 
impacts on local communities

 1, 18, 
37-38

CRE7 Number of persons voluntarily and involuntarily dis-
placed and/or resettled by development, broken down 
by project 

— Not material to Citycon. 

Corruption
SO2 Percentage and total number of business units analyzed 

for risks related to corruption
√ 49 Citycon Code of Conduct,  www.

citycon.com/Sustainability.

SO3 Percentage of employees trained organization's an-
ti-corruption policies and procedures

√ 49 Citycon Code of Conduct,  www.
citycon.com/Sustainability.

SO4 Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption √ 49 No such cases in 2012.

Public Policy
SO5 Public policy positions and participation in public policy 

development and lobbying 
√ 49

SO6 Total value of financial and in-kind contributions to 
political parties, politicians, and related institutions by 
country

√ 49

Anti-Competitive Behavior
SO7 Total number of legal actions for anti-competitive 

behavior, anti-trust, and monopoly practices and their 
outcomes

√ No such cases in 2012.

Compliance
SO8 Monetary value of significant fines and total number of 

non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws 
and regulations 

√ No such cases in 2012.

Customer Health and Safety 
PR1 Life cycle stages in which health and safety impacts of 

products and services are assessed for improvement
—

PR2 Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regu-
lations and voluntary codes concerning health and safety 
impacts of products and services

√ No such cases in 2012.

Product and Service Labeling
PR3 Type of product and service information required by 

procedures, and percentage of significant products and 
services subject to such information requirements

—

CRE8 Type and number of sustainability certification, rating 
and labeling schemes for new construction, manage-
ment, occupation and redevelopment

√ 42

PR4 Total number of incidents of non-compliance with 
regulations and voluntary codes concerning product and 
service information and labeling

√ No such cases in 2012.

PR5 Practices related to customer satisfaction √ 17, 26, 30, 32-33, 38-39
Marketing Communications
PR6 Programs for adherence to laws, standards, and volun-

tary codes related to marketing communications
√ In its marketing communications, 

Citycon complies with the law 
and good practice. Citycon's 

marketing targets both tenants 
and consumers. 

PR7 Total number of incidents of non-compliance with 
regulations and voluntary codes concerning marketing 
communications

√ No such cases in 2012.

Customer Privacy
PR8 Total number of substantiated complaints regarding 

breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer 
data

√ No such cases in 2012.

Compliance
PR9 Significant fines for non-compliance with laws and 

regulations concerning the provision and use of products 
and services

√ No such cases in 2012.

Code Content Page Comments Code Content Page Comments
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Company research

Company research Contact  
information

Analysts from the following banks, brokerage and other firms monitor Citycon Oyj and its performance, based on the information received 
by the company. The list may not include all providers of such investment analysis. Analysts monitor Citycon on their own initiative and can 
choose to cease doing so whenever they wish. Recommendations issued by analysts are available on Citycon’s website under “Consensus 
estimates”. Citycon is not responsible for analysts’ comments and statements.

ABG Sundal Collier
Tel. +46 8 566 294 78
Box 7269
SE-103 89 Stockholm
Sweden 
 
ABN Amro
Tel. +31 20 383 7728
Gustav Mahlerlaan 10 
NL-1082 PP Amsterdam
The Netherlands

Aurel 
Tel. +33 1 53 89 53 75
15-17 rue Vivienne 
F-75002 Paris
France 

Danske Bank A/S, Helsinki 
Tel. +358 10 236 4867
Hiililaiturinkuja 2 
FI-00180 Helsinki
Finland
 
DnB NOR
Tel. +47 22 94 88 45       
Stranden Aker Brygge
NO-0021 Oslo
Norway 

Evli Pankki Oyj 
Tel. +358 9 476 690 
Aleksanterinkatu 19 A, 3rd 
floor 
FI-00101 Helsinki
Finland
 
Goldman Sachs 
Tel. +44 207 552 5986
Peterborough Court 
133 Fleet Street 
London EC4A 2BB 
United Kingdom 

Handelsbanken 
Tel. +46 8 701 80 16
Blasieholmstorg 11 
SE-106 70 Stockholm
Sweden 
 
Inderes Oy 
Independent Equity Research
Tel. +358 50 3738027
Itälahdenkatu 21
FI-00210 Helsinki
Finland

Kempen & Co N.V.
Tel. +31 20 348 8000
Beethovenstraat 300
NL-1070 AR Amsterdam
The Netherlands 

Nordea Pankki Oyj 
Tel. +358 9 1651 
Aleksis Kiven katu 9, Helsinki 
FI-00020 Nordea
Finland

Pohjola Pankki Oyj
Tel. +358 10 252 7390
Teollisuuskatu 1b, PL 362
FI-00101 Helsinki
Finland
 
SEB Enskilda Equities
Tel. +358 9 616 28726
Unioninkatu 30 
FI-00101 Helsinki
Finland

Swedbank AB, Finnish Branch
Tel. +358 20 746 9158
Mannerheimintie 14 B
FI-00101 Helsinki
Finland

UBS Investment Research
Tel. +44 20 7568 4415
1 Finsbury Avenue
London EC2M 2PP
United Kingdom 

Executive Vice President 
and CFO 
Mr Eero Sihvonen
Tel. +358 20 766 4459 or 
+358 50 557 9137 
eero.sihvonen@citycon.fi 

Vice President, 
IR and Communications
Ms Hanna Jaakkola 
Tel. +358 20 766 4421 or 
+358 40 566 6070 
hanna.jaakkola@citycon.fi 

Vice President, 
Sustainability
Ms Kirsi Borg
Tel. +358 20 766 4408 or 
+358 40 557 6526
kirsi.borg@citycon.fi
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Glossary

Glossary

Key figures
Fair value change: Change of property portfolios market values 
deducted by investments and excluding exchange rate differences.

Gross rental income: Gross rents, capital rents, maintenance 
charges and other possible rental income. 

Net initial yield: The annualized net rental income from a proper-
ty, at the balance sheet date, divided by the market value of the 
property where the value of the unused building right has been 
deducted.

Net rental income: Gross rental income added by service charge 
income deducted by property operating expenses from leasing 
operations. 

Net (rental) yield: Net rental income in proportion to the proper-
ty’s market value. Net rental yield is calculated over the past 12 
months period by constructing an index from the monthly rental 
income and computational monthly market value figures. Annual 
return is calculated by compounding the indexes. 

NAV: Based on the Best Practices Policy Recommendations by 
EPRA, a company’s net assets on a per-share basis. Formula is 
available in the financial statements on page 19.

Net yield requirement: For market value calculation, the net 
yield requirement comprises risk-free rate of interest as well 

as property and market-specific risk. Net yield requirement is 
the lowest internal rate of the return of the total investment 

period, at which a company is willing to invest.

NNNAV: Based on the Best Practices Policy Recommendations by 
EPRA, a company’s adjusted per-share NAV. Formula is available in 
the financial statements on page 19.

Reversionary yield: The estimated rental value (market rent) 
of the property deducted by property operating expenses, ex-
pressed as a percentage of the market value of the property 
where the value of the unused building right has been deducted. 

Definitions related to leasing:
Anchor tenant: A major tenant with a strong financial standing, 
usually a chain, occupying a large area in a shopping or retail cen-
tre. Anchor tenants typically have a long-term lease. 

Catchment area: An estimate of a shopping centre’s geographic 
market area in Finland, based on a visitor and travel time survey by 
Taloustutkimus Oy and Citycon’s interviews. In Sweden and in Es-
tonia, the population within a catchment area is defined as those 
living within 5 to 15 minutes’ travel time to the shopping centre. In 
Lithuania, similar data are based on estimates.

Economic occupancy rate: Rental income based on existing leas-
es divided by vacant premises’ estimated market rents, to which 
rental income based on existing leases is added. 

Gross leasable area: An area which can be reasonably expected to 
be available for lease and for which the lessee is ready to pay a rent. 

Investments / (Gross) Capital expenditure: Refers to gross in-
vestments in the balance sheet. Capital expenditure includes the 
investments on investment properties and property, plant and 
equipment as well as on intangible assets. The acquisition cost 
of investment properties consists of a debt-free purchase price 
and transaction costs such as consultancy fees and transfer tax-
es. Gross investments on development projects, refurbishments 
and changes in leased premises are also considered as capital 
expenditure.

Like-for-like property: A property owned by the company for the 
whole current and previous financial year (24 months), excluding 
properties under development and expansion as well as lots. 

Occupancy cost ratio (OCR): Calculated as the share of annual 
gross rent paid by a tenant to Citycon, of the tenant´s annual 
sales, excluding VAT. The VAT percentage is an estimate. Express-
es tenant´s ability to pay rent.

Occupancy rate (sq.m)/Technical occupancy rate: The ratio of 
leased premises to leasable premises. 

Operating expenses, or the costs of operations: Costs resulting 
from the management and maintenance of a property, such as 
heating, electricity, security guard services and cleaning services 
for common areas. 

Turnover-based rent or turnover-linked rent: Rent divided into 
turnover-linked capital rent and maintenance fee. In majority of 
the turnover-based leases capital rent contains a minimum rent 
tied to the cost-of-living index. If the minimum rent is lower than 
the rent based on the actual turnover, the lessee will pay the re-
sulting excess. The portion tied to turnover is determined by the 
lessee’s field of industry and estimated sales. 
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Environmental Responsibility
Carbon dioxide, CO2: A greenhouse gas produced during the com-
bustion of organic matter (e.g. power plants using fossil fuels, car 
engines etc.). Carbon dioxide substantially contributes to climate 
warming, since its level in the atmosphere is over a hundred times 
that of other greenhouse gases in total.

Carbon footprint: Carbon footprint refers to the effect on climate 
warming of an individual person, organisation, event or product. 
Nearly all human activities have a carbon footprint that gives the 
amount of greenhouse gas emissions each activity produces. Pre-
sented by mass (g, kg, t).

Climate change: The increase in the average temperature of the 
Earth, its sea level rise and the decrease in its ice and snow cover. 
Effects also include changes in rainfall. Global warming is most 
probably primarily due to the acceleration in the planet’s green-
house effect. The greenhouse effect has gained momentum be-
cause human activities have increased the amount of carbon diox-
ide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere.

CO2e: Carbon dioxide equivalent. A common measure for green-
house gases, allowing the calculation of the effect of different 
greenhouse gas emissions on the acceleration of the greenhouse 
effect. This calculation converts the effects of all greenhouse gas-
es, in order to obtain an equivalent to the effect of carbon dioxide 
on the climate.

Ecosystem: The term ecosystem refers to the combined physical 
and biological components of an environment.

Environmental impact: Any change in the environment that entire-
ly or partly results from an organisation’s activities, products or 
services. Such a change may be hazardous or beneficial. 

G3.1 guidelines: A reporting guideline update related to GRI re-
porting, published in 2011.

GHG: Greenhouse gas (cf. Greenhouse gases)

GHG protocol: Greenhouse gas protocol; an accounting tool for cal-
culating the size of carbon footprints.

Greenhouse gases: Gases appearing in the atmosphere that warm 
the Earth in a manner similar to glass panes in a greenhouse. Green-
house gases allow short-wave solar light radiation to pass through 
the atmosphere while absorbing long-wave heat radiation emitted 
by the Earth’s surface. The most important gases in the atmos-
phere, which maintain and strengthen the greenhouse effect, are 
carbon dioxide, methane, ozone, nitrous oxide (“laughing gas”) and 
the Freons. 

Hazardous waste: Hazardous waste, as defined in the Finnish 
Waste Act, means any waste which may pose a particular hazard 
or harm to health or the environment due to its chemical or some 
other properties. Examples of waste classified as hazardous waste 
include solvents, paints and coatings, batteries containing heavy 
metals, fluorescent tubes, cooling appliances, TV sets and comput-
er displays as well as waste oil. 

Primary energy: Primary energy is energy found in nature that has 
not been converted. It is divided into renewable (e.g. wind power) 
and non-renewable (e.g. oil) energy.

Sustainable development: Sustainable development is continu-
ous, guided societal change, with the aim of safeguarding the pos-
sibilities for a good life of present and future generations. Sustain-
able development can be divided into four dimensions: economic, 
ecological, social and cultural.

Associations and programs
CRESS (Construction and Real Estate Sector Supplement): GRI’s 
Construction and Real Estate Sector Supplement which provides 
guidance for anyone who invests in, develops, constructs, or man-
ages buildings on the principles and indicators to follow to report 
business strategy and performance.

EPRA: The European Public Real Estate Association, a common 
interest group which publishes ‘best practice’ in accounting, finan-
cial reporting and corporate governance for European listed real 
estate companies. 

GRESB (The Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark): Glob-
al survey of property funds and real estate companies disclosing 
information on environmental management and performance. The 
survey’s initiative origins from a global consortium of institutional 
investors. The survey was conducted by CRESB Foundation.

GRI, Global Reporting Initiative: A non-profit organization that 
works towards a sustainable global economy by providing sustain-
ability reporting guidance.

ICSC: The International Council of Shopping Centers.

IEA: The International Energy Agency.

NCSC: The Nordic Council of Shopping Centers. 

NGO : Non-governmental organization.

RAKLI ry: The Finnish Association of Building Owners and Con-
struction Clients.

SIPA: Scandinavian International Property Association.

UNEP: United Nations Environment Programme. The programme 
monitors the global environment and co-ordinates activities to 
prevent environmental threats and alleviate or eliminate any haz-
ards.

UNEP SBCI: The UNEP Sustainable Buildings and Climate Initia-
tive.

WBCSD: World Business Council for Sustainable Development. 

WRI: World Resource Institute.

Abbreviations 
kWh = kilowatt hour

MWh = megawatt hour

MJ = megajoule

TJ = terajoule 

t = tonne

m³ = cubic metre
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Key Figures Q4/2012 Q4/2011 Q3/2012 2012 2011 Change-%1) 

IFRS based key figures
Turnover, EUR million 62.1 56.0 60.9 239.2 217.1 10.2 %
Net rental income, EUR million 42.1 37.3 42.6 162.0 144.3 12.3 %
Profit/loss attributable to parent company shareholders, EUR million 20.4 -5.4 30.2 77.2 13.0 495.7 %
Earnings per share (basic), EUR 2) 0.06 -0.02 0.10 0.26 0.05 438.9 %
Net cash from operating activities per share, EUR 2) 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.21 0.25 -16.2 %
Fair value of investment properties, EUR million 2,695.5 2,714.2 2,522.1 7.6 %
Equity ratio, % 34.8 37.8 36.0 4.7 %
EPRA based key figures
EPRA operating profit, EUR million 34.2 28.9 37.3 135.7 117.4 15.5 %

% of turnover 55.1 % 51.6 % 61.3 % 56.7 % 54.1 % 4.8 %
EPRA Earnings, EUR million 16.2 12.5 17.8 63.9 53.3 20.0 %
EPRA Earnings per share (basic), EUR 2) 0.049 0.043 0.062 0.214 0.197 8.5 %
EPRA NAV per share, EUR 3.71 3.49 3.62 -3.7 %
EPRA NNNAV per share, EUR 3.24 3.08 3.29 -6.4 %

1) 	 Change-% is calculated from exact figures and refers to the change between 2012 and 2011.
2) 	 Result per share key figures have been calculated with the issue-adjusted number of shares resulting from the rights issue executed in October 2012.

REPORT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In 2012, Citycon refinanced a large part of the bank loans it had 
maturing in 2013 and 2014. During the summer, the company ex-
panded into Denmark and agreed on the acquisition of the Kista 
Galleria shopping centre in Stockholm, Sweden, together with the 
Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (CPPIB). 

Rental development was positive, with like-for-like net rental 
income growing by 4.9 per cent. 

Summary of 2012 Compared with 2011
Citycon fulfilled the financial targets it had announced for 2012. 
On the publication of its Q3 interim report, the company revised 
some of its targets, announcing that it expected a growth in turn-
over by EUR 16–21 million, a growth in EPRA operating profit by 
EUR 14–19 million, and a growth in its EPRA earnings by EUR 
6–11 million in 2012 as compared to 2011, and forecast an EPRA 
EPS of EUR 0.195–0.215. The outcomes were that in 2012, turn-
over grew by EUR 22.2 million compared to 2011. The timing of 
tenant specific projects in Baltic Countries, in particular, resulted 
in a higher turnover than what the company expected in its third 
quarter report. The general circumstances and environment relat-
ed to turnover development did not change. The EPRA operating 
profit grew by EUR 18.3 million and the EPRA earnings by EUR 
10.6 million, and the EPRA EPS was EUR 0.214.  

-	T he Board of Directors proposes a per-share dividend of EUR 
0.04 (EUR 0.04) and a return of equity from invested unre-
stricted equity fund of EUR 0.11 (EUR 0.11) per share.

- 	T urnover grew to EUR 239.2 million (2011: 217.1 million).
- 	N et rental income increased by EUR 17.7 million or 12.3 per 

cent to EUR 162.0 million (EUR 144.3 million). The completion 
of development projects and the acquisitions of shopping cen-
tres Kristiine, Högdalen Centrum, Arabia and Albertslund had a 
positive impact of EUR 13.4 million on net rental income. 

- 	N et rental income from like-for-like properties increased by 
EUR 5.5 million or 4.9 per cent, excluding the impact of the 
strengthened Swedish krona. 

- 	E arnings per share came to EUR 0.26 (EUR 0.05). 
- 	T he direct operating result per share (EPRA EPS, basic) in-

creased to EUR 0.214 (EUR 0.197). 
- 	N et cash flow from operating activities per share reduced to EUR 

0.21 (EUR 0.25) due to timing differences and exceptional items.

CEO’s Comment
“For Citycon, the key focus in 2012 has been to improve earnings 
and quality of cash flows. 

This has meant sound operational improvements, identifying 
and working on redevelopment potential and carrying through se-
lective acquisitions. We have broadened our portfolio geograph-
ically to Denmark by acquiring Albertslund Centrum in Copenha-
gen in July and strengthened our market position considerably in 
Sweden by acquiring Kista Galleria in Stockholm (closed in Janu-
ary 2013). The acquisition of Kista Galleria balances the weight 
of Citycon’s different business areasin the company’s property 
portfolio in accordance with its growth strategy. Another key ra-
tionale for the acquisition is to further improve the retail space 
offering and to better serve retailers with a wider supply of quali-
ty shopping centres. 

Citycon’s strategy also includes investing in shopping centres 
with joint venture partners. The co-operation with the global and 
respected joint venture partner CPPIB is another example of ex-
ecuting this strategy. Half of the Kista Galleria acquisition is fi-
nanced together with CPPIB with a stand-alone asset backed loan 
agreement. A share issue is currently under planning.

In 2012, the company’s like-for-like net rental income grew by 
4.9 per cent. In accordance with our strategy, we managed to at-
tract new international tenants like Debenhams from the UK and 
the Italian Furla. 

Last year, we achieved to cut administrative expenses and the 
efficiency program continues with higher targets for 2013; the 
cost savings target relating to administrative expenses for 2013 
is to save up to EUR 5 million compared to 2012 level.  

We successfully refinanced practically all of the loans matur-
ing in 2013, expanded our financing sources to the bond markets 
and further strengthened our balance sheet in October by a rights 
issue. After the acquisition of Kista Galleria, the company started 
planning another rights issue mainly to finance the acquisition as 
well as to strengthen the balance sheet.

Citycon turns 25 years in 2013. The year will be characterized 
with strengthening the Citycon quality brand and profile towards 
shareholders, tenants, customers and all other stakeholders. 
We believe that the power of the local shopping centre brand 
should be combined with the strength and knowledge of 
Citycon as a Nordic industry leader. ” 
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REPORT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Key Events in 2012
Financial position
In May, the company issued a EUR 150 million unsecured domes-
tic bond. The bond has a five-year maturity, maturing on 11 May 
2017. It carries a fixed annual interest at the rate of 4.25 per cent. 

On 4 September, Citycon signed a EUR 360 million long-term 
unsecured credit facility agreement with a group of Nordic banks. 
The facility consists of a bullet term loan of EUR 190 million and 
a EUR 170 million revolving credit facility. The average loan peri-
od is five years. This was used to pay off a EUR 332 syndicated 
term loan which was maturing in August 2013, in advance, on 30 
November.

On 7 September, based on authorisation granted by the AGM 
of 21 March, the Citycon Board of Directors decided on a EUR 
90.7 million share issue based on the shareholders’ pre-emptive 
subscription rights. A total of 49,032,002 new shares were of-
fered for subscription at a price of EUR 1.85 per share. The share 
subscription period was 17 September–1 October. All the offered 
shares were subscribed in the share offering. The issued shares 
represented around 17.6 per cent of all the shares and votes in 
the company before the issue and around 15.0 per cent after it. 
The new shares were entered in the Trade Register on 8 October. 

During the year, Citycon continued the buyback and cancel-
lation of capital convertible bonds issued on 2 August 2006. At 
the year-end there were 796 bonds issued under the converti-
ble bonds outstanding, giving the right to subscribe a maximum 
of 9,827,160 Citycon shares. As a result of the cancellation, the 
maximum increase in Citycon’s share capital on the basis of the 
convertible bonds decreased to EUR 13,266,666.  

Leasing operations
The economic occupancy rate of the shopping centres was 96.8 
per cent (97.1%). The economic occupancy rate of the whole 
property portfolio was 95.7 per cent (95.5%).

In late September, Citycon made a lease agreement with Brit-
ish department store Debenhams. The chain will open its first Es-
tonian store in Citycon’s Rocca al Mare in autumn 2013. 

Citycon also agreed with Hennes & Mauritz concerning the 
opening of two stores in Tallinn, in order to launch the chain on the 

Estonian market. The stores will open at the latest in autumn 
2013.

Acquisitions and divestments
On 19 December, Citycon and the Canada Pension Plan Investment 
Board published an agreement concerning the acquisition of Kista 
Galleria in Stockholm for approximately SEK 4.6 billion (calculat-
ed with the closing date’s exchange rate approx. EUR 530 million) 
from DNB Livsforsikring ASA. Under the terms of the transaction, 
the shopping centre will be owned 50 per cent by Citycon and 50 
per cent by CPPIB. The acquisition was completed on 17 January 
2013. Citycon expects a first-year net rental yield of around 5.5 
per cent. The shopping centre’s gross leasable area is approxi-
mately 90,000 sq. m. Of this, approximately 60,000 sq.m consists 
of commercial property, while the other 30,000 sq.m comprises a 
hotel, student accommodation, health care facilities and munici-
pal services. The shopping centre has an annual footfall of around 
18.1 million and annual sales of around EUR 280 million. This is 
one of the biggest acquisitions in Citycon’s history.

On 1 November, Citycon acquired 30 per cent of shopping cen-
tre Stenungstorg located in the Stenungsund municipality north of 
Gothenburg, Sweden for approximately SEK 126 million (approx. 
EUR 14.7 million) from KF Fastigheter AB. Citycon acquired the 
70 percent share of the shopping centre in 2006 and then KF Fas-
tigheter AB remained as a minority shareholder.

On 2 August, the company sold all the shares in Drabanten 
bostäder AB in Sweden for approximately SEK 50.0 million (ap-
prox. EUR 5.6 million) to Bostadsrättsföreningen Stinsen 107-
111. The sold company owns 47 apartments at Tumba Centrum in 
the municipality of Botkyrka in Sweden, with a total leasable area 
of around 3,600 sq.m.

On 2 July, Citycon acquired the Citytalo property in Oulu, Fin-
land, for EUR 13.5 million from a local parish union and private 
owners. The property is situated in the heart of the city, adjacent 
to shopping centre Galleria, also owned by Citycon. Citytalo has 
a total leasable area of approximately 2,800 sq.m. The premises 
are fully leased, with Clas Ohlson, Gina Tricot and DinSko as an-
chor tenants. The planned extension and redevelopment project 
of shopping centre Galleria was the main reason for acquiring the 
Citytalo property. 

Also on 2 July, Citycon acquired a further 25 per cent share 
in shopping centre Strömpilen and of the Länken retail property 
both located in Umeå, Sweden, for approximately SEK 121 million 
(approx. EUR 13.8 million) from Balticgruppen AB. Citycon had 
previously acquired a 75 per cent holding in the property in June 

2007, at which time the seller, Balticgruppen AB, stayed on as a 
minority shareholder with a 25 per cent holding. According to the 
original agreement, the minority shareholder had the right to sell 
its share in the property to Citycon within a certain period. The 
July 2012 deal was based on this right. The sale price was set in 
the original agreement and was in line with the property’s current 
fair value. After the deal, Citycon owned 100 per cent of shopping 
centre Strömpilen and the Länken retail property.

On 16 May, Citycon agreed to sell all of its shares in Jakobsberg 
Bostäder 3 AB in Sweden for approximately SEK 90.0 million (ap-
prox. EUR 10.0 million) to Lärjungen Lägenheter 18 AB, which 
is in turn owned by Akelius Lägenheter AB. The deal was closed 
on 2 July 2012. The sold company owns 129 apartments at 
Jakobsberg Centrum in the municipality of Jarfälla in Sweden, 
with a total leasable area of around 9,800 sq.m. Citycon realised a 
capital gain of around EUR 2.9 million on this sale. 

On 7 June, Citycon signed an agreement to buy shopping centre 
Albertslund Centrum in Greater Copenhagen, Denmark, from the 
municipality of Albertslund for DKK 181 million (approx. EUR 24 
million). The deal was closed on 2 July. This was the company’s first 
investment in Denmark. At the year-end the shopping centre had a 
leasable area of approximately 14,700 sq.m. The agreement also 
entailed the purchase of a grocery store extension by Citycon in 
2014, when the project is completed. The extension will increase 
the leasable area to around 20,000 sq.m. At the time of the trans-
action, the shopping centre’s economic occupancy rate is 97.5 
per cent. More information on the acquisition can be found in the 
stock exchange release dated 7 June 2012.

In April, the company acquired shopping centre Arabia in Hel-
sinki from the Tapiola Group for EUR 19.5 million. Arabia is lo-
cated some 4 km north-east of the city centre, on a plot owned 
by the City of Helsinki. The centre’s gross leasable area is approxi-
mately 14,000 sq.m, of which 12,900 sq.m are retail premises. At 
the time of the transaction, the shopping centre contained more 
than 30 shops and had an occupancy rate of 93.0 per cent. More 
information on the acquisition can be found in the stock exchange 
release dated 4 April 2012.

Also in April, the company acquired the remaining minority 
shares in shopping centre Koskikeskus in Tampere, Finland, by 
buying out 41.7 per cent of the shares in MREC Kiinteistö Oy Tam-
pereen Koskenranta in Tampere, Finland, one of the MREC’s of Ko-
skikeskus, for EUR 7.8 million. The seller was one of the property 
companies involved in Koskikeskus. After the deal, the company 
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owned 100 per cent of the shopping centre, which will facilitated 
the smooth completion of an on-going redevelopment project.

During the year, the company sold off two non-core properties 
in Finland and two non-core properties and two residential port-
folios in Sweden. 

(Re)development Projects
The redevelopment of shopping centre Koskikeskus was the com-
pany’s biggest on-going project. The estimated gross value of the 
investment was roughly EUR 37.9 million. The project was com-
pleted in time for Christmas sales, with the opening taking place 
according to plan on 15 December. The shopping centre’s gross 
leasable area after the project is approximately 34,300 sq.m. Ko-
skikeskus remained open throughout the redevelopment. 

The renovation of Åkermyntan Centrum in Sweden was de-
layed due to a delay in negotiations with existing tenants. The pro-
ject is expected to be finalized in the first half of 2013. 

In May, fully let shopping centre Magistral in Tallinn reopened 
after an eight-month renovation and extension project. The cen-
tre’s leasable area increased by 2,200 sq.m to 11,700 sq.m. 

The final phase of the development of Myllypuron Ostari in 
Helsinki was completed in May.

Reorganisations and other events
The Baltic Operations unit was renamed the Baltic Countries and 
New Business unit. In addition to the previous shopping centres in 
the Baltic region, this unit now encompasses Albertslund Centrum 
in Denmark. 

On 11 July, Marko Juhokas was appointed VP of Finnish Oper-
ations and member of the Corporate Management Committee. 
Juhokas started in his new job on 16 July. Michael Schönach, VP 
of Finnish Operations and member of the Corporate Management 
Committee, left the company on 15 May. Nils Styf was appointed 
Citycon’s Chief Investment Officer and a member of the Corpo-
rate Management Committee in April, and started in June. 

On 12 December, collaborative negotiations were initiated 
in the Finnish Operations unit for the purpose of agreeing on re-
organisation, including possible personnel reductions. In a press 
release the company estimated a maximum reduction of 14 
man-years in Finland, as well as some significant changes in job 
descriptions or other working conditions. The employee negotia-
tions involved some 60 Finnish Operations employees. They were 
concluded on 30 January 2013. 

On 18 December, the company announced some changes in 
its management and its cost-saving targets. The new objective 
for 2013 was a reduction in administrative expenses by around 
EUR 5 million compared to 2012. Harri Holmström, former-
ly Senior Vice President, Group Leasing and Baltic Countries 
and New Businesses, who has been with the company for eight 
years, was appointed Chief Operating Officer. After Holmström’s 
transfer, the Baltic and Danish operations were led by Mati Pops, 
Commercial Director Baltic Operations. Marko Juhokas, VP of 
Finnish Operations, continued in his post but left the Corporate 
Management Committee with the committee’s reorganisation 
on 18 December.

As of 19 December, the members of the Citycon Corporate 
Management Committee were: Marcel Kokkeel, CEO, Eero Sih-
vonen, Executive Vice President and CFO, Anu Tuomola, General 
Counsel, Harri Holmström, COO, and Nils Styf, CIO. 

At its annual conference, the European Public Real Estate As-
sociation (EPRA), representing listed real estate companies, ac-
claimed Citycon’s Annual and Sustainability Report 2011 as one 
of the best in the industry. This was the third consecutive year in 
which Citycon received the EPRA Gold Award for its financial re-
porting. The company also won gold in the new Sustainability BPR 
category.

Citycon adjusted its corporate structure on 1 April. The restruc-
turing entailed Citycon’s Finnish real estate operations being trans-
ferred to two new holding companies: Citycon Finland Oy and Etelä-
Suomen Kauppakiinteistöt Oy. As a consequence, these two holding 
companies own, manage and maintain Citycon’s Finnish properties. 
The changes had no impact on the group’s other operations.

Events after the Financial Year
Citycon and CPPIB signed a property-secured loan worth SEK 
2.29 billion (approx. EUR 265 million) to finance a shopping cen-
tre investment on 14 January 2013. The loan collateral is the 
Kista Galleria property. The loan has a five-year maturity and was 
granted by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (acting as 
transaction coordinator), Swedbank AB and Aareal Bank AG. 

The deal made by Citycon Oyj and CPPIB on 19 December con-
cerning the acquisition of Kista Galleria in Stockholm from DNB 
Livsforsikring ASA for approximately EUR 530 million was closed 
on 17 January 2013. Under the terms of the transaction, the shop-
ping centre will be owned 50 per cent by Citycon and 50 per cent 
by CPPIB.

The shareholders of Citycon Oyj were invited to an Extraordi-
nary General Meeting to be held on Wednesday, 6 February 2013 
at 2.00 p.m. The Board of Directors proposes that the Extraordi-
nary General Meeting would resolve on authorising the Board of 
Directors to decide on issuance of new shares for consideration. 
Citycon decided to begin preparations for a rights issue of a max-
imum of 125,000,000 new shares pursuant to the shareholders’ 
pre-emptive subscription right. In addition to financing the acqui-
sition of Kista Galleria shopping centre in Stockholm, which was 
announced on 19 December 2012, the proceeds from the Offering 
are intended to strengthen the company’s balance sheet, finance 
the Company’s strategy and for general corporate purposes.

On 30 January 2013, Citycon announced that the statutory 
collaborative negotiations in the Finnish Business Unit concerning 
reorganization of business operations were concluded. As a result 
of the negotiations, Citycon will reduce a total of 10 employees 
from its Finnish Business unit. It was estimated when the process 
started that a maximum of 14 employees would possibly be re-
duced. A cluster organization model will be taken into use in all of 
Citycon’s operating countries. In the cluster organizational model 
shopping centres will be combined to form entities which are led 
by commercial directors.

Future Outlook
Citycon continues to focus on increasing both its net cash flow 
from operating activities and its direct operating profit. In order 
to implement this strategy, the company will pursue value-added 
activities, selective acquisitions and proactive asset manage-
ment.

The initiation of planned (re)development projects will be 
carefully evaluated against strict pre-leasing criteria. The compa-
ny will continue selling off non-core properties to improve its in-
vestment portfolio and strengthen its balance sheet, and further 
refining its properties’ sales strategies in order to maximise their 
value through proactive management and leasing. 

In 2013 Citycon expects to continue producing a stable cash 
flow and to increase its turnover by EUR 5–20 million compared 
to 2012. It also predicts a growth in EPRA operating profit by 
EUR 5–20 million based on the current property portfolio (includ-
ing recent acquisitions and disposals). Citycon expects its EPRA 
earnings to increase by EUR 15–30 million over the previous 
year. Based on the existing number of shares the EPRA EPS 
is expected to be EUR 0.22–0.26. These estimates are 
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based on (re)development projects already completed and to be 
completed, on the prevailing level of inflation and on the euro-kro-
na exchange rate. Properties taken offline for planned develop-
ment projects will reduce net rental income during the year. 

In the outlook, Citycon has assumed Kista Galleria to be consol-
idated with the equity method meaning that Citycon’s share (50%) 
out of the net profit of Kista Galleria shopping centre is recorded 
as share of result in jointly controlled entities in the statement 
of comprehensive income. In the statement of financial position, 
Citycon’s share of Kista Galleria is reported within the line called 
Investment in jointly controlled entities.

Business Environment
Generally speaking, 2012 was a year of financial uncertainty, 
although positive developments were observed in the form of a 
growth in the retail trade in Citycon’s operating markets. Uncer-
tainty increased during the year due to the worsening Eurozone 
debt crisis.

Retail sales growth and the inflation rate are key drivers for 
Citycon's business and have a direct impact on rents from busi-
ness premises. Almost all of the company’s leases are tied to the 
consumer price index. A significant number of leases also feature 
a turnover-linked component. Consumer prices continued to rise 
during the year in all of Citycon’s operating countries. In Decem-
ber, the annual inflation rate was 2.4 per cent in Finland, -0.1 per 
cent in Sweden, 3.9 per cent in Estonia and 2.8 per cent in Lithu-
ania.

(Sources: Statistics Finland, Statistics Sweden, Statistics Es-
tonia, Statistic Lithuania) 

Consumer confidence in their own financial situation was 
positive in the Nordic countries, but negative during the whole 
year in the Baltic region. The economic uncertainty and general 
weak news affected consumer confidence in each of the Nordic 
countries, where the positive trend turned in the summer and 
confidence declined in the final months of the year. In December, 
consumer confidence was restored in Finland and Denmark to the 
positive figures of the start of the year, but fell close to zero in 
Sweden. (Eurostat)

Retail sales growth and the inflation rate are key drivers for 
Citycon’s business, having an impact on rents from business 

premises. Retail sales grew in both Finland and Sweden. The 

total retail sales growth rate in 2012 was 4.4 per cent in Finland 
and 2.3 per cent in Sweden compared to 2011. In January – No-
vember 2012 compared to the previous year’s corresponding pe-
riod retail sales grew by 7.0 per cent in Estonia and 4.8 per cent in 
Lithuania. (Statistics Finland, Statistics Sweden, Statistics Esto-
nia, Statistics Lithuania)

Unemployment adjusted for seasonal variation was below the 
EU average (10.7%) in Finland, Sweden and Denmark: at the end 
of December, seasonally adjusted unemployment was 7.7 per 
cent in Finland, 8.1 per cent in Sweden and 7.9 per cent in Den-
mark. Unemployment remained high in Estonia and Lithuania but, 
in contrast to the Nordic region, was falling, being 9.5 per cent in 
Estonia and 12.5 per cent in Lithuania at the end of October. (Eu-
rostat)

The Europe-wide instability of the financial market continued 
to affect the availability and cost of funding.

Property market
Demand for investment has remained stable in the Finnish prop-
erty investment market but the scant supply of prime assets has 
lim¬ited transactional activities. During 2012 retail investment 
volume exceeded low levels of 2011 ending up to EUR 400 mil-
lion. The forecast for 2013 does not indicate any big changes in 
the market. Shopping centre prime yields have remained stable 
but the second¬ary yields are facing upward pressure. As a con-
sequence of relatively strong development in retail sales, retail 
rents have also kept rising, although such increases have been 
concentrated in the very best locations only.

In Sweden the retail property transaction volume (SEK 13.4 
billion) for the year 2012 was clearly lower than in the previous 
year (SEK 16.1 billion). Investors’ interest is strong for retail prop-
erties which have a good location, strong tenants and low vacancy 
rates. However, retail properties which do not meet some or all of 
these criteria will be more difficult to sell. Prime yields for shop-
ping centres have generally remained stable since mid-2011 but 
prime yields for retail warehouse parks increased in the last quar-
ter of 2012. 

In Estonia retail sales development has been strong which en-
courages demand for retail space, especially in Tallinn downtown 
areas and professionally managed modern shopping centres. Va-
cancy rates in shopping centres are close to zero and rents have 

increased along with inflation. Also the retail property investment 
market has picked up and retail yields have dropped below 8 per 
cent. Also in Lithuania retail investment market is recovering and 
investor demand is forecasted to decrease yield requirements. 
(Source: Jones Lang LaSalle Finland Oy) 

Tenants’ sales and footfall in Citycon’s shopping centres 
During the year, total sales in Citycon’s shopping centres grew by 
6 per cent and the footfall increased by 3 per cent year on year. 
There was sales growth in all of the company’s countries of oper-
ation: 5 per cent in Finland, 5 per cent in Sweden and 14 per cent 
in the Baltic Countries and New Business. Footfall increased by 2 
per cent in Finland, 6 per cent in Sweden and 6 per cent in the Bal-
tic Countries and New Business. Positive developments in sales 
and footfall are mainly attributable to (re)development projects 
completed during recent years. Like-for-like shopping centre 
sales grew by 4 per cent and footfall by 2 per cent. There are esti-
mates included in the sales and footfall figures. 

Short-Term Risks and Uncertainties
Citycon’s Board of Directors considers the company’s major short-
term risks and uncertainties to be associated with economic devel-
opment in the company’s operating regions, which affects demand, 
vacancy rates and market rents in retail premises. In addition, key 
near-term risks include rising financial expenses due to higher loan 
margins, reduced availability of debt financing and the fair value 
development of properties in uncertain economic conditions. 

Although the financial crisis’ effects on both rent levels for 
retail premises and occupancy rates have so far been minor in 
Citycon's operating areas, demand for retail premises, reduction 
of vacancy rates and lower market rent levels pose challenges in 
a sluggish economic environment. Economic trends, particularly 
those impacting consumer confidence and behaviour, inevitably 
affect demand for retail premises. The instability of the Euro-
zone has continued in 2012, which has made forecasting financial 
growth difficult. Risks to economic growth are still present and in 
conditions of weak economic growth, rental levels of retail prem-
ises typically fall, leasing of new premises is more difficult, and 
vacancy rates rise. 

Implementation of Citycon's growth strategy requires new fi-
nancing, which means that risks associated with the availability 
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and cost of financing are of fundamental importance to the com-
pany. The Nordic banks’ willingness to lend money to real estate 
companies continues to be moderate, so the availability of financ-
ing is limited and loan margins have remained at a high level. In the 
future, tightening regulation of the banking and insurance sectors 
(Basel III and Solvency II regulations) is likely to support the ele-
vated costs of debt financing, and to limit the availability of long-
term bank loans. This will probably raise the cost of Citycon's new 
loan financing. So far this change in margins has been mitigated 
by reduced underlying base rates and Citycon’s active financing 
policy. Over the next few years, Citycon will have to refinance loan 
agreements that were signed at low margins before the financial 
crisis, and consequently, the margins on these loans will rise which 
will push Citycon's average interest rate upwards in the future. 
The EUR 360 million credit facility agreement signed with Nordic 
banks in September decreased the refinancing risk for 2013 con-
siderably. The facility enables the refinancing of the material bank 
loans due in 2012 and 2013.

The company is actively seeking to diversify its funding sourc-
es, as demonstrated by the EUR 150 million domestic bond issue 
in May, in order to mitigate the risks related to bank financing, but 
there are no guarantees that such alternative funding sources 
would be available in the future at cost efficient prices.

The fair value development of investment properties contin-
ues to be characterised by high uncertainty caused by the harsh 
economic conditions. Several factors affect the fair value of the 
investment properties owned by Citycon, such as general and 
local economic development, interest rate levels, foreseeable in-
flation, the market rent trend, vacancy rates, property investors' 
yield requirements and the competitive environment. This un-
certainty is reflected most strongly on retail properties that are 
located outside major cities, or which are otherwise less attrac-
tive, because investor demand is currently not focused on these 
properties, and banks are not particularly keen to offer financing 
for such projects. Yet, at the same time, the fair value of the best 
shopping centres, which attract investor interest in uncertain con-
ditions, remained stable or even increased during 2012.

The company’s short-term risks and uncertainties, as well as its 
risk management and risk management principles, are discussed 
in more depth at www.citycon.com/riskmanagement, on pages 
43-46 of the Financial Statements for 2012, and on pages 50-51 
of the upcoming Annual Report for 2012.

Property Portfolio
Citycon’s strategy is to focus on high-quality shopping centres 
in the Nordic and Baltic regions. The company looks for growth 
through new shopping centre acquisitions and the redevelopment 
and expansion of existing shopping centres. 

At the year-end, the fair value of the company’s entire property 
portfolio was EUR 2,714.2 million (EUR 2,522.1 million), com-
prising 37 (36) shopping centres and 41 (44) other properties. Of 
the shopping centres, 23 (23) were in Finland, nine (9) in Sweden, 
three (3) in Estonia, one (1) in Lithuania and one (0) in Denmark. 

Citycon’s reported gross capital expenditure (including acqui-
sitions) during the year totalled EUR 161.7 million (EUR 216.7 
million). Of this figure, new property acquisitions accounted for 
EUR 58.8 million (EUR 138.9 million), agreed purchase price 
adjustments related to property acquisitions concluded earlier 
accounted for EUR 0.0 million (EUR 1.1 million), acquisitions of 
jointly controlled entities for EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.3 million), 
property development for EUR 101.6 million (EUR 75.0 million) 
and other investments EUR 1.4 million (EUR 1.4 million). 

Capital expenditure during the period totalled EUR 119.9 
million (EUR 62.5 million) in Finland, EUR 18.1 million (EUR 45.5 
million) in Sweden and EUR 23.0 million (EUR 108.1 million) in 
the Baltic countries and Denmark. The company’s headquarters 
accounted for EUR 0.7 million (EUR 0.6 million) of capital expend-
iture. The company made divestments totalling EUR 26.4 million 
(EUR 18.1 million), from which a total of EUR 4.2 million (EUR 0.3 
million) was recorded as capital gains (including taxes).  

Acquisitions
During the period under review, Citycon acquired
•	S hopping centre Arabia in Helsinki for EUR 19.5 million in April.
•	 41.7 per cent of shares in Kiinteistö Oy Tampereen Koskenran-

ta in Tampere, Finland, for EUR 7.8 million in April.
•	 Citytalo property in Oulu, Finland, for EUR 13.5 million from a 

local parish union and private owners in July. 
•	 25 per cent of shares in shopping centre Strömpilen in 

Umeå, Sweden, and of the Länken retail property owned by 
Strömpilen, for around SEK 121 million (approx. EUR 13.8 mil-
lion) from Balticgruppen AB in July. 

•	S hopping centre Albertslund Centrum in Greater Copenhagen, 
Denmark, from the municipality of Albertslund for DKK 181 
million (approx. EUR 24 million) in July, entailing entry into a 
new market. 

•	 30 per cent of shopping centre Stenungstorg located in the 
Stenungsund municipality north of Gothenburg, Sweden for 
approximately SEK 126 million (approx. EUR 14.7 million) 
from KF Fastigheter AB. 

•	A greement to acquire Kista Galleria in Stockholm together 
with CPPIB for around EUR 530 million (approx. SEK 4.6 bil-
lion). The deal was closed on 17 January 2013 and thus did not 
affect figures for 2012.

Through these acquisitions, the company increased its leasable 
area by a total of 35,900 sq.m.

Divestments
During the period under review 
•	S ale of retail property Landvetter in Härryda municipality near 

Gothenburg, Sweden, for approximately SEK 50.5 million (ap-
prox. EUR 5.5 million) in January. 

•	S ale of retail property Floda near Gothenburg, Sweden, for ap-
proximately SEK 84.2 million (approx. EUR 9.4 million) in March. 

•	S ale of shopping centre Valtari in Kouvola, Finland, for EUR 1.3 
million in March.

•	S ale of all the shares in Jakobsberg Bostäder 3 AB in Sweden 
for approximately SEK 90.0 million (approx. EUR 10.0 million) 
to Lärjungen Lägenheter 18 AB (owned by Akelius Lägenheter 
AB) in May. 

•	S ale of 31.3 per cent holding in Kiinteistö Oy Valtakatu 5-7 prop-
erty company in Valkeakoski, Finland, for EUR 0.1 million in June.

•	S ale of all the shares in Drabanten bostäder AB property com-
pany in Sweden for approximately SEK 50.0 million (approx. 
EUR 5.6 million) to Bostadsrättsföreningen Stinsen 107-111 
in August. 

Through these divestments, the company decreased its leasable 
area by a total of 38,650 sq. m. Since publishing its updated strat-
egy in July 2011, the company has divested itself of eight non-
core properties for a total value of around EUR 38 million.

(Re)development projects
Citycon is pursuing a long-term increase in the footfall, cash flow 
and efficiency of its retail properties, as well as in the return on 
its investment in the properties. The purpose of the company’s 
development activities is to keep its shopping centres com-
petitive for both customers and tenants. In the short term, 
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(Re)development Projects Completed in 2011 and 2012 and in Progress on 31 December 2012 1)

Location
Project area before, 

sq.m.
Project area after, 

sq.m.

Estimated total 
project investment 

(EUR million)

Actual gross capital 
investments by 31 

December 2012  
(EUR million) Completion

Åkermyntan Stockholm, Sweden 8,500 10,100 6.9 6.7 Q2/2013
Koskikeskus Tampere, Finland 27,700 28,600 37.9 40.5 completed 2012
Iso Omena Espoo, Finland 60,600 63,000 7.6 7.5 completed 2012
Myllypuro Helsinki, Finland 7,700 7,300 21.3 21.3 2) completed 2012
Magistral Tallinn, Estonia 9,500 11,900 7.0 7.0 completed 2012
Åkersberga Centrum Österåker, Sweden 20,000 27,500 53.2 53.2 completed 2011
Martinlaakso Vantaa, Finland 3,800 7,400 22.9 24.4 3) completed 2011
Hansa (Trio) Lahti, Finland 11,000 11,000 8.0 7.0 completed 2011
Myyrmanni Vantaa, Finland 8,400 8,400 6.5 6.5 completed 2011
Kirkkonummen Liikekeskus Kirkkonummi, Finland 5,000 4,000 4.0 3.7 completed 2011

1) 	 Calculated at the end of period exchange rates.					   
2) 	 The compensation of EUR 5.9 million and its tax impact received from the City of Helsinki has been deducted from the actual gross investments.	
3) 	 The estimated investment in the Martinlaakso development project was exceeded by EUR 1.5 million due to larger than planned commercial look and tenant fitout works. 

lease portfolio summary
Q4/2012 Q4/2011 Q3/2012 2012 2011 Change-%

Number of properties 78 78 80 -2.5%
Gross leasable area, sq.m. 998,170 1,000,270 994,730 0.6%
Annualised potential rental value, EUR million 1) 243.1 245.9 228.5 7.6%

Average rent (EUR/sq.m.) 20.8 20.7 19.7 5.1%
Number of leases started during the period 195 228 140 792 782 1.3%

Total area of leases started, sq.m. 2) 40,257 49,370 23,685 141,167 177,006 -20.2%
Average rent of leases started (EUR/sq.m.) 2) 22.0 19.8 22.5 20.5 19.7 4.1%
Number of leases ended during the period 153 284 328 1,064 877 21.3%
Total area of leases ended, sq.m. 2) 29,728 53,143 34,366 149,972 186,120 -19.4%
Average rent of leases ended (EUR/sq.m.) 2) 24.6 17.2 16.8 18.6 18.1 2.8%

Occupancy rate at end of the period (economic), % 95.4 95.7 95.5 -
Average remaining length of lease portfolio at the end of the period, year 3.4 3.5 3.4 2.9%

Net rental yield, % 3) 6.3 6.4 6.0 -
Net rental yield, like-for-like properties, % 6.3 6.4 6.1 -

1) 	 Annualised potential rental value for the portfolio includes annualised gross rent based on valid rent roll at the end of the period, market rent of vacant premises and rental 
income from turnover based contracts (estimate) and possible other rental income.

2) 	 Leases started and ended don't necessarily refer to the same premises.
3)	  Includes the lots for development projects.

redevelopment projects weaken returns from some properties, 
as some retail premises may have to be temporarily vacated for 
refurbishment, affecting rental income. Citycon aims to complete 
its construction projects in phases in order to secure continuous 
cash flow.

At the year-end, the company had one redevelopment project 
under way at Åkermyntan Centrum in Stockholm. The project was 
delayed due to some delays in negotiations with existing tenants 
and the project is expected to be finalized in the first half of 2013.

During the year, the redevelopment of Koskikeskus in Tampere, 
the roof top expansion of Iso Omena in Espoo, the renovation of 
Magistral in Tallinn and the development of Myllypuro in Helsinki 
were completed, all within the planned schedule. No new (re)de-
velopment projects were started during the period. 

The enclosed table lists the most significant (re)development 
projects in progress at the year end and completed in 2011 and 
2012. Further information on completed and planned develop-
ment projects can be found on the company’s website and in the 
upcoming Annual Report for 2012.

Changes in the Group structure during 2012 are presented on 
page 51 of the Financial Statements.

Financial Performance 
The figures presented below are for the period January–De-

cember 2012 and the figures in brackets are the reference 
figures for 2011, unless otherwise indicated.

 

Turnover
The company’s turnover consists mainly of rental income from 
retail properties, and utility and service charge income. Turnover 
came to EUR 239.2 million (EUR 217.1 million). Turnover grew 

by EUR 22.2 million, or 10.2 per cent. Completed or partly com-
pleted redevelopment projects, such as Martinlaakson Ostari, 
Koskikeskus, Myllypuron Ostari, Myyrmanni, Åkersberga Centrum 
and Magistral, accounted for EUR 8.3 million of turnover growth, 
and acquisitions accounted for EUR 11.1 million. Divestments 
decreased turnover by EUR 4.6 million (see divestments in 2012 
under paragraph Property Portfolio; sales of apartments in Swe-
den in 2011 are included in the reference period’s divestment 
portfolio). Like-for-like properties contributed to turnover growth 
by EUR 5.3 million. (Also see the table Net Rental Income and Turn-
over by Segment and Property Portfolio.)

Turnover from like-for-like properties increased thanks to in-
dexations and higher rental levels in shopping centres. Temporary 
rental rebates of like-for-like properties decreased to EUR 1.5 
million (EUR 1.9 million). 

At the year-end, Citycon had a total of 3,846 (3,955) leases. 
The leasable area increased by 0.6 per cent to 1.000,270 square 
metres. Increase in the leasable area is due to acquisitions and 
completion of re-development projects offset by divested non-
core properties. The average remaining length of the lease port-
folio was 3.5 (3.4) years. The average rent increased from EUR 
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Net Rental Income and Turnover by Segment and Property Portfolio	

Net rental income by segments and portfolios 
Turnover by 

portfolios

EUR million Finland Sweden
Baltic Countries 

and New Business Other Total Citycon total

2010 86.7 28.7 11.8 0.0 127.2 195.9
Acquisitions 0.1 0.8 6.0 - 7.0 10.3
(Re)development projects 4.2 1.4 -0.3 - 5.3 6.5
Divestments 0.1 -0.9 - - -0.8 -1.8
Like-for-like properties -0.7 3.8 0.9 - 4.0 3.2
Other (incl. exchange rate diff.) -0.1 1.6 0.1 0.0 1.6 3.0
2011 90.5 35.4 18.4 0.0 144.3 217.1
Acquisitions 1.5 1.4 4.6 - 7.5 11.1
(Re)developments projects 4.6 0.6 0.6 - 5.8 8.3
Divestments -0.5 -1.7 - - -2.3 -4.6
Like-for-like properties 2.2 2.3 1.1 - 5.5 5.3
Other (incl. exchange rate diff.) 0.0 1.2 -0.1 0.0 1.1 1.8
2012 98.2 39.2 24.6 0.0 162.0 239.2

19.7/sq.m. to EUR 20.7/sq.m. thanks to redevelopment projects 
and divestments as well as index increments. Economic occupan-
cy rate was 95.7 per cent (95.5%). During the preceding twelve 
months, the rolling twelve-month occupancy cost ratio for like-
for-like shopping centre properties was 8.9 per cent.

Property operating expenses
Property operating expenses consist of maintenance costs relat-
ing to real estate properties, such as electricity, heating, cleaning 
and repairs. Property operating expenses rose by EUR 4.2 mil-
lion, i.e. 5.9 per cent from EUR 71.6 million to EUR 75.8 million. 
Completed (re)development projects and acquisitions increased 
property operating expenses, while divestments decreased them. 
Like-for-like property operating expenses increased only by EUR 
0.1 million. Increase was hindered by lower repair and energy 
costs. Winter in 2012 was milder than in 2011, except for Febru-
ary and December and summer in 2012 was cooler than in 2011. 
The consumption of energy has decreased also due to Citycon’s 
internal cost efficiency programme.

Other expenses from leasing operations
Other expenses from leasing operations, consisting of tenant im-
provements and credit losses, totalled EUR 1.4 million (EUR 1.2 
million). This increase in expenses was mainly due to higher credit 
losses in Swedish operations.

Net rental income
Citycon’s net rental income was EUR 162.0 million (EUR 144.3 
million). Net rental income increased by EUR 17.7 million or 
12.3 per cent. Redevelopment projects such as Martinlaakson 
Ostari, Koskikeskus, Myllypuron Ostari, Myyrmanni, Åkersberga 
Centrum and Magistral increased net rental income by EUR 5.8 
million, while the acquisitions of the Kristiine, Högdalen Centrum, 
Arabia and Albertslund shopping centres increased net rental in-
come by EUR 7.5 million. Divestments reduced net rental income 
by EUR 2.3 million. Like-for-like net rental income grew by EUR 
5.5 million, or 4.9 per cent, mainly thanks to a clear increase in net 
rental income from shopping centres, up 6.0 per cent offset by a 
net rental decrease from supermarkets and shops by 0.6 per cent. 
The positive net rental income development in the shopping cen-
tres was mainly due to positive performance in Liljeholmstorget 
Galleria, Rocca al Mare, Iso Omena and Jakobsberg Centrum. The 
negative net rental income development in the like-for-like port-
folio of supermarkets and shops was mainly due to two supermar-
kets and shop properties in Finland and one in Sweden. 

The net rental yield of Citycon’s property portfolio was 6.4 per 
cent (6.0%) and improved in all countries of operation due to in-
creased net rental income.   

The following table presents like-for-like net rental income 
growth by segment. Like-for-like properties are properties held 
by Citycon throughout two full preceding periods, excluding prop-

erties under redevelopment or extension and undeveloped lots. 
61.8 per cent of like-for-like properties are located in Finland, 
measured in terms of net rental income. 

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses totalled EUR 26.5 million (EUR 27.7 
million). This represented a decrease of EUR 1.2 million, or 4.3 
per cent, mainly due to savings in marketing expenses and other 
administrative items (EUR 0.8 million) as well as lower restructur-
ing costs (EUR 0.4 million). Administrative expenses in the fourth 
quarter in 2012 were EUR 2.5 million higher than in the third quar-
ter in 2012, mainly due to higher restructuring costs.  

At the end of December, Citycon Group employed a total of 129 
(136) persons, of whom 86 (90) worked in Finland, 32 (35) in Swe-
den, 12 (10) in the Baltic countries and 1 (1) in the Netherlands.  

Citycon Group paid a total of EUR 11.6 million (EUR 11.2 mil-
lion) in salaries and other remuneration, of which the share of the 
Group’s managing directors’ salaries and other remuneration was 
EUR 1.0 million (EUR 0.5 million) and the share of the Board of 
Directors EUR 0.7 million (EUR 0.7 million). The parent company 
paid a total of EUR 5.8 million (EUR 10.0 million) in salaries and 
other remuneration, of which the share of the CEO’s salary and re-
muneration was EUR 1.0 million (EUR 0.5 million) and the share of 
the Board of Directors EUR 0.7 million (EUR 0.7 million).

Three-year key figures – Personnel
2012 2011 2010

Average number of personnel 132 131 123
Salaries and other remuneration, EUR million 11.6 11.2 8.7

Net fair value gains on investment properties
Net fair value gains on investment properties totalled EUR 23.6 
million (losses of EUR -35.3 million). The fair value gain of the 
shopping centres amounted to EUR 35.0 million offset by a fair 
value loss of EUR 11.5 million in the supermarket and shop prop-
erties. The fair value loss in supermarkets and shops was mainly 
due to somewhat lower market rent estimates. The company re-
corded a total value increase of EUR 54.4 million (EUR 39.8 mil-
lion) and a total value decrease of EUR 30.8 million (EUR 75.1 mil-
lion). On 31 December 2012, the average net yield requirement 
defined by Jones Lang LaSalle Finland Oy for Citycon’s entire 
property portfolio was 6.3 per cent (30 September 2012: 
6.3%). The net yield requirement for properties in Finland, 
Sweden and the Baltic countries and New Business was 
6.2 per cent, 6.0 per cent and 7.7 per cent, respectively. 
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The average market rent used for the valuation rose to EUR 
25.1/sq.m. up from EUR 23.8/sq.m. Jones Lang LaSalle Finland 
Oy’s Valuation Statement for the year-end can be found on the 
corporate website at www.citycon.com/valuation.

Net gains on sale of investment properties
Net gains on the sale of investment properties totalled EUR 4.2 
million (EUR 0.3 million) (cf. Property Portfolio). 

 
Operating profit 
Operating profit came to EUR 163.4 million (EUR 81.8 million), 
seeing growth thanks to increased net rental income, positive fair 
value changes and higher gains on sale of investment properties.

Net financial expenses
Net financial expenses increased by EUR 5.7 million to EUR 68.1 
million (EUR 62.4 million). This increase was mainly attributable to 
increased interest expenses as a result of higher interest-bearing 
debt on average during the year, higher loan interest margins and 
a stronger SEK. In addition there was one-off book losses arising 
from convertible bond buy-backs, and write downs of arrange-
ment fees related to debt refinancing. The year-to-date weighted 
average interest rate for interest-bearing debt increased com-
pared to the previous year, being 4.07 per cent (4.03 %), due to 
a rise in credit margins as a consequence of refinancing activites. 
At the year-end, the weighted average interest rate, including in-
terest rate swaps, increased to 4.25 per cent (4.07%) as a result 
of higher credit margins. 

Share of profit of jointly controlled entities
The share of profit of jointly controlled entities totalled EUR 0.2 
million (EUR 0.3 million) and represents Citycon’s share of the 
profit of Espagalleria Oy. 

Income taxes
Income tax expenses for the year amounted to EUR 7.8 million 
(benefit of EUR 1.6 million). The increase in income tax expens-
es was primarily due to deferred tax expenses of EUR 6.4 million 
resulting from fair value gains on investment properties in 2012 

compared to deferred tax income of EUR 2.5 million resulting 
from fair value losses on investment properties in the corre-

sponding period of 2011. Current tax for the period was EUR 
1.4 million (EUR 0.9 million). 

Profit for the period
Profit for the period came to EUR 87.7 million (EUR 21.3 million). 
This increase was mainly due to the higher operating profit result-
ing from higher net rental income and positive fair value changes 
offset by higher financial expenses.

Statement of Financial Position and Financing
Investment properties
At the year-end, the fair value of the company’s property portfolio 
totalled EUR 2,714.2 million (EUR 2,522.1 million), with Finnish 
properties accounting for 61.1 per cent (61.4%), Swedish proper-
ties for 27.2 per cent (27.6%) and Baltic and New Business prop-
erties for 11.6 per cent (11.0%). 

The fair value of investment properties increased by EUR 
192.1 million from the end of 2011 (31 December 2011: EUR 
2,522.1 million) because of gross capital expenditure of EUR 
160.3 million, offset by divestments totalling EUR 1.4 million (see 
Property Portfolio) and by EUR 17.2 million due to the transfer of 
certain residential units in the Swedish shopping centres, which 
were disposed during Q3/2012, and some supermarkets and 
shops in Finland into the Investment Property Held for Sale -cat-
egory. In addition, net fair value gains on investment properties 
increased the value of investment properties by EUR 23.6 mil-
lion (see detailed analysis under Financial Performance: Net fair 
value gains on investment properties). The strengthening of the 
Swedish krona increased the fair value of investment properties 
by EUR 26.8 million.

Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity attributable to the parent company’s share-
holders was EUR 1,015.7 million (EUR 902.6 million). This figure 
increased by EUR 113.1 million due mainly to the rights issue of 
EUR 89.9 million executed in October 2012 and due to the profit 
of EUR 77.2 million due to for the reporting period attributable to 
parent company shareholders. On the other hand, dividend pay-
ments and equity returns as well as negative fair value change in 
interest derivative contracts decreased shareholders’ equity. City-
con applies hedge accounting, which means that fair value changes 
of applicable interest derivatives are recorded under Other Items 
of Comprehensive Income, which affects shareholders’ equity. A 
loss on the fair value of interest derivatives of EUR 14.1 million 
was recorded for the period, taking into account their tax effect (a 
loss of EUR 26.8 million). 

Due to the aforementioned items and higher number of shares 

resulting from the rights issue, equity per share decreased to 
EUR 3.11 (Q4/2011: EUR 3.25). The equity ratio increased to 
37.8 per cent (Q4/2011: 36.0). The company’s equity ratio, as de-
fined in the loan agreement covenants, increased to 40.5 per cent 
(Q3/2012: 37.2%) following the rights issue.

Details of the company’s share capital, number of shares and 
related matters can be found in the Financial Statements in sec-
tion Shareholders and Shares. 

Loans
Liabilities totalled EUR 1,758.6 million (EUR 1,715.9 million), 
with short-term liabilities accounting for EUR 209.7 million 
(EUR 262.2 million). At the year-end, Citycon’s liquidity was EUR 
268.4 million, of which EUR 217.4 million consisted of undrawn, 
committed credit facilities and EUR 51.0 million of cash and cash 
equivalents. At the year-end, Citycon’s liquidity, excluding com-
mercial papers, stood at EUR 235.9 million (EUR 492.5 million on 
30 September 2012). The liquidity as well as the short term debt 
decreased notably during the last quarter as a consequence of the 
agreed repayments of refinanced debt.

Interest-bearing debt decreased year on year by EUR 14.9 million 
to EUR 1,533.0 million (EUR 1,547.9 million). The fair value of inter-
est-bearing debt was EUR 1,538.8 million (EUR 1,554.8 million) at 
the year- end. Cash and cash equivalents totalled EUR 51.0 million 
(EUR 91.3 million), making the fair value of interest-bearing net debt 
EUR 1,487.8 million (EUR 1,463.5 million). The average loan maturi-
ty, weighted according to the principal amount of the loans, was 3.2 
years (2.9 years). This increase is caused by the early refinancing in 
November 2012 of the loans maturing in August 2013. The duration 
of the new loans were on average 5 years. The average interest-rate 
fixing period decreased to 3.5 years (3.6 years).

The interest coverage ratio remained at 2.1 (Q3/2012: 2.1). 
Fixed-rate debt accounted for 89.2 per cent (81.3 %) of the 

year-end interest-bearing debt, interest-rate swaps included. The 
hedge ratio increased because Citycon issued a fixed-rate bond in 
May 2012. The debt portfolio’s hedging ratio was in line with the 
company’s financing policy.

The company issued a EUR 150 million senior unsecured do-
mestic bond on 4 May. The five-year bond matures on 11 May 
2017. The bond carries fixed annual interest at the rate of 4.25 
per cent, payable annually on 11 May, and is listed on the NASDAQ 
OMX Helsinki. The bonds were allocated to approximately 40 in-
vestors and the bond offering was oversubscribed. The proceeds 
from the bond issue were used to repay existing loans and to cov-
er the company’s general financing needs.
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Key Figures, Finland
Q4/2012 Q4/2011 Q3/2012 2012 2011 Change-%

Number of properties 59 59 60 -1.7 %
Gross leasable area, sq.m. 594,170 595,670 577,630 3.1 %
Annualised potential rental value, EUR million 1) 148.8 150.6 139.3 8.1 %

Average rent (EUR/sq.m.) 21.6 21.4 21.0 1.9 %
Number of leases started during the period 131 130 107 453 470 -3.6 %
Total area of leases started, sq.m. 2) 25,402 39,033 20,438 89,689 137,118 -34.6 %
Average rent of leases started (EUR/sq.m.) 2) 23.1 18.9 22.5 21.7 20.2 7.4 %
Number of leases ended during the period 80 139 98 444 477 -6.9 %
Total area of leases ended, sq.m. 2) 15,324 39,227 15,450 79,049 138,435 -42.9 %
Average rent of leases ended (EUR/sq.m.) 2) 28.4 17.1 22.5 21.9 19.4 12.9 %

Occupancy rate at end of the period (economic), % 94.8 95.3 94.1 -
Average remaining length of lease portfolio at the 
end of the period, year 3.6 3.7 3.5 5.7 %

Gross rental income, EUR million 35.5 32.2 34.5 137.0 127.3 7.6 %
Turnover, EUR million 37.3 33.5 36.1 143.2 132.5 8.1 %
Net rental income, EUR million 25.7 23.2 25.2 98.2 90.5 8.5 %
Net rental yield, % 3) 6.2 6.3 6.0 -
Net rental yield, like-for-like properties, % 6.4 6.5 6.2 -

Fair value of investment properties, EUR million 1,640.9 1,659.0 1,547.4 7.2 %
 
1) 	 Annualised potential rental value for the portfolio includes annualised gross rent based on valid rent roll at the end of the period, 

market rent of vacant premises and rental income from turnover based contracts (estimate) and possible other rental income.
2) 	 Leases started and ended don't necessarily refer to the same premises.
3) 	 Includes the lots for development projects.

Citycon Oyj signed a EUR 360 million long-term unsecured credit facility agreement with a Nordic 
bank group on 4 September. The facility consists of bullet term loan of EUR 190 million and a EUR 
170 million revolving credit facility. The loan period is on average five years. Following this transac-
tion practically all material bank loans due 2013 have been refinanced and Citycon’s average debt 
maturity is extended. 

During 2012, Citycon has repurchased convertible capital bonds issued on 2 August 2006 with 
face value of EUR 31.5 million corresponding to 29 per cent of the aggregate amount of the Convert-
ible Bonds maturing in 2013. The weighted average repurchase price was 100.3 per cent of the face 
value of the bonds.

These repurchased bonds have been cancelled. Following the cancellations, the number of shares 
available for subscription under the convertible bonds decreased to 9, 827,160 shares and the max-
imum increase allowed in Citycon’s share capital decreased to EUR 13,266,666. Due to the rights 
offering pursuant to the pre-emptive subscription right of shareholders, Citycon’s Board of Directors 
has on 7 September 2012 decided to adjust the conversion price of the convertible bonds from EUR 
4.20 to EUR 4.05. The new conversion price has been effective as from 5 October 2012.

Including the buybacks during 2008–2010, Citycon has repurchased a total principal amount of 
EUR 70.2 million of the convertible bonds, corresponding to approximately 64 per cent of the aggre-
gate amount of the convertible bonds. The face value of the convertible bonds, originally EUR 110 
million, totalled EUR 39.8 million at the end of the year.

On 7 September 2012, the Citycon’s Board of Directors decided issue a maximum of 49,032,002 
new shares on a share issue, worth approximately EUR 90.7 million, based on an authorisation grant-
ed by the AGM on 21 March 2012.  The offered shares represented around 17.6 per cent of the to-
tal shares and voting rights in the company prior to the offering, and around 15.0 per cent following 
the offering. The share subscription period was 17 September – 1 October 2012 and all the offered 
shares were subscribed in the share issue. The new shares were entered in the Finnish Trade Register 
on 8 October 2012. More detailed information on the rights issue can be found in Citycon's stock 
exchange releases, published in September and October 2012.

Cash Flow Statement
Net cash from operating activities 
Net cash from operating activities totalled EUR 61.5 million (EUR 66.3 million). This decrease was 
primarily due to higher realized exchange rate losses and higher taxes paid as the company received 
tax return amounting to EUR 7.2 million in 2011.

Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities totalled EUR 104.9 million (EUR 203.3 million). Acquisition of 
subsidiaries and investment properties amounted to EUR 42.1 million (EUR 139.2 million). Capital 
expenditure related to investment properties, shares in jointly controlled entities and tangible and 
intangible assets totalled EUR 93.9 million (EUR 82.4 million). Negative cash flow from investing ac-
tivities was reduced by sales of investment properties totalling EUR 31.1 million (EUR 18.3 million). 

Net cash from financing activities
Net cash from financing activities totalled EUR 2.3 million (EUR 208.5 million). This consisted of the 
rights issue, normal loan repayments and new loan withdrawals and dividend and equity return payments. 

Legal proceedings
In 2011, SRV Construction Ltd initiated arbitration proceedings against Citycon’s subsidiary, MREC 
Espoontori related to Espoontori shopping centre’s completed redevelopment project. The dispute’s 
monetary value is approximately EUR 4.7 million including VAT. Citycon does not expect SRV’s claim 
to have significant impact on the company’s financial position or results.

Additional claims have been submitted to the company relating to Citycon’s business operations 
which may possibly lead to legal proceedings. In the company’s view, it is improbable that the afore-
mentioned claims or associated liabilities will have a significant impact on the company’s financial 
position or financial results.

Financial Performance of the Business Units
Citycon’s business operations are divided into three business units: Finland, Sweden as well as Baltic 
Countries and New Business. 

Finland
Citycon is a market leader in the Finnish shopping centre business. At period-end, the company owned 
23 shopping centres and 36 other properties in Finland, with a total leasable area of 595,670 sq. 
m (577,630 sq. m.). The leasable area increased due to acquisitions and completed redevelopment 
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Key Figures, Sweden
Q4/2012 Q4/2011 Q3/2012 2012 2011 Change-%

Number of properties 14 14 16 -12.5%
Gross leasable area, sq.m. 273,700 274,300 303,700 -9.7%
Annualised potential rental value, EUR million 1) 63.1 63.4 62.7 1.1%

Average rent (EUR/sq.m.) 19.3 19.3 17.2 12.2%
Number of leases started during the period 54 91 26 231 276 -16.3%
Total area of leases started, sq.m. 2) 14,218 9,719 2,312 33,464 37,006 -9.6%
Average rent of leases started (EUR/sq.m.) 2) 19.9 23.6 22.4 19.4 18.2 6.6%
Number of leases ended during the period 64 139 219 575 311 84.9%
Total area of leases ended, sq.m. 2) 13,776 13,560 17,980 64,629 35,816 80.4%
Average rent of leases ended (EUR/sq.m.) 2) 20.5 17.1 11.4 14.1 14.8 -4.7%

Occupancy rate at end of the period (economic), % 94.8 94.7 97.0 -
Average remaining length of lease portfolio at the 
end of the period, year 2.9 3.0 2.9 3.4%

Gross rental income, EUR million 15.3 14.6 15.3 60.3 57.4 5.1%
Turnover, EUR million 16.0 15.4 15.9 63.1 60.1 5.0%
Net rental income, EUR million 10.0 8.6 10.6 39.2 35.4 10.8%
Net rental yield, % 3) 5.5 5.6 5.4 -
Net rental yield, like-for-like properties, % 5.6 5.7 5.5 -

Fair value of investment properties, EUR million 743.2 739.2 697.1 6.0%

1) Annualised potential rental value for the portfolio includes annualised gross rent based on valid rent roll at the end of the 
period, market rent of vacant premises and rental income from turnover based contracts (estimate) and possible other rental 

income.
2)  Leases started and ended don't necessarily refer to the same premises.

3)  Includes the lots for development projects.

Key Figures, Baltic Countries and New Business
Q4/2012 Q4/2011 Q3/2012 2012 2011 Change-%

Number of properties 5 5 4 25.0%
Gross leasable area, sq.m. 130,300 130,300 113,400 14.9%
Annualised potential rental value, EUR million 1) 31.2 31.9 26.5 20.4%

Average rent (EUR/sq.m.) 20.0 20.5 20.2 1.5%
Number of leases started during the period 10 7 7 108 36 200.0%
Total area of leases started, sq.m. 2) 637 618 935 18,014 2,882 525.1%
Average rent of leases started (EUR/sq.m.) 2) 24.8 16.5 23.2 16.5 18.8 -12.2%
Number of leases ended during the period 9 6 11 45 89 -49.4%
Total area of leases ended, sq.m. 2) 628 356 935 6,294 11,869 -47.0%
Average rent of leases ended (EUR/sq.m.) 2) 20.2 29.3 27.8 23.3 14.0 66.4%

Occupancy rate at end of the period (economic), % 99.5 99.6 100.0 -
Average remaining length of lease portfolio at the 
end of the period, year 3.8 3.7 4.2 -11.9%

Gross rental income, EUR million 7.7 6.2 7.8 28.6 21.2 34.8%
Turnover, EUR million 8.8 7.1 8.9 32.8 24.5 34.1%
Net rental income, EUR million 6.5 5.5 6.7 24.6 18.4 33.6%
Net rental yield, % 3) 8.5 8.6 7.9 -
Net rental yield, like-for-like properties, % 8.3 8.3 7.8 -

Fair value of investment properties, EUR million 311.4 316.0 277.6 13.8%

 1) 	 Annualised potential rental value for the portfolio includes annualised gross rent based on valid rent roll at the end of the  
period, market rent of vacant premises and rental income from turnover based contracts (estimate) and possible other rental 
income.

2) 	 Leases started and ended don't necessarily refer to the same premises.
3) 	 Includes the lots for development projects.

projects (cf. Property Portfolio). The annualised potential rental value increased to EUR 150.6 million, 
mainly due to acquisitions and completed redevelopment projects.

Lease agreements started during the year applied to a GLA of 89,689 square metres (137,118 
sq.m.) and ended lease agreements applied to 79,049 square metres (138 435 sq.m.). The average 
rent for the new lease agreements was slightly lower than the average rent for the ended lease agree-
ments due to a couple of large lease agreements which started in the fourth quarter in supermarket 
and shop properties. The average rent rose from EUR 21.0/sq. m. to EUR 21.4/sq. m., mainly thanks 
to divestments, completed redevelopment projects and index increments. The economic occupancy 
rate increased to 95.3 per cent (94.1%). In shopping centres, the economic occupancy rate was 96.4 
per cent and the average rent was EUR 24.8/sq. m. 

Citycon’s net rental income from Finnish operations during the year totalled EUR 98.2 million (EUR 
90.5 million). Net rental income grew by EUR 7.7 million, or 8.5 per cent, thanks to the EUR 6.1 million 
effect of completed redevelopment projects such as Martinlaakson Ostari, Koskikeskus, Myllypuron 

Ostari, Myyrmanni, and acquisition of Arabia. Net rental income for like-for-like properties in Finland 
increased by EUR 2.2 million, or 3.1 per cent, mainly due to good performance in the shopping centres. 
The business unit accounted for 60.6 per cent (62.7%) of Citycon’s total net rental income. Net rental 
yield was 6.3 per cent (6.0%).

Sweden
At the end of the year, the company had nine shopping centres and five other retail properties in 
Sweden, with a total leasable area of 274,300 square metres (303,700 sq. m.). These properties are 
located in the Greater Stockholm and Gothenburg Areas and in Umeå. The leasable area decreased 
due to the divestment of residential units and two supermarket properties. The annualised potential 
rental value increased to EUR 63.4 million, due to strengthened Swedish krona. 

Lease agreements started during the year applied to a GLA of 33,464 square metres (37,006 
sq.m.) and ended lease agreements applied to 64,629 square metres (35,816 sq.m.). The average 
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rent level for new lease agreements was significantly higher than 
the average rent level for the ended lease agreements due to di-
vested residential units and supermarket and shop properties as 
well as due to leases which were renewed at higher rent.  

The average rent rose from EUR 17.2/sq.m. to EUR 19.3/sq.m., 
mainly due to divestments, strengthened Swedish krona and leas-
es which have been renewed at higher rent. The economic occu-
pancy rate decreased to 94.7 per cent (97.0%), mostly due to a 
bankruptcy of a local department store during the third quarter.  

The company’s net rental income from Swedish operations in-
creased by EUR 3.8 million or 10.8 per cent to EUR 39.2 million 
(EUR 35.4 million). The increase in net rental income was due to 
the completion of the Åkersberga Centrum redevelopment pro-
ject, the acquisition of the Högdalen Centrum shopping centre as 
well as to net rental income increases from like-for-like proper-
ties. Net rental income from like-for-like properties grew by EUR 
2.3 million, or 7.6 per cent, thanks mainly to improved net rental 
income from Liljeholmstorget Galleria and Jakobsberg Centrum. 
The business unit accounted for 24.2 per cent (24.5%) of City-
con’s total net rental income. Net rental yield was 5.6 per cent, 
representing an increase of 0.2 percentage points from the ref-
erence period. This increase was especially due to Liljeholmstor-
get Galleria’s improved performance compared to the reference 
period.

Baltic Countries and New Business
Citycon has four shopping centres in the Baltic countries: Rocca 
al Mare, Kristiine and Magistral in Tallinn, Estonia, and Mandari-
nas in Vilnius, Lithuania. In July the company acquired Albertslund 
Centrum in Denmark, Albertslund, in the Greater Copenhagen 
area and integrated it to the Baltic unit. At the year-end, these 
properties’ gross leasable area totalled 130,300 square metres 
(113,400 sq.m.). The annualised potential rental value increased 
to EUR 31.9 million, mainly due to the aforementioned acquisition 
and completion of Magistral’s re-development. The average rent 
rose from EUR 20.2/sq.m. to EUR 20.5/sq.m. thanks to index in-
crements and fewer rental discounts. 

Lease agreements started during 2012 applied to a GLA of 
18,014 square metres (2,882 sq.m.) and ended lease agreements 
applied to 6,294 square metres (11,869 sq.m.). The average rent 
level for new lease agreements was lower than the average for the 
ended lease agreements mostly due to the opening of the Magis-
tral shopping centre. 

The economic occupancy rate decreased to 99.6 per cent 
(100.0 %) due to acquisition of Albertslund Centrum. 

Net rental income from the operations of the Baltic Countries 
and New Business unit increased markedly by EUR 6.2 million to 
EUR 24.6 million (EUR 18.4 million) mainly due to the acquisition 
of the Kristiine and Albertslund shopping centres and like-for-like 
growth of EUR 1.1 million, or 9.2 per cent. The business unit ac-
counted for 15.2 per cent (12.8%) of Citycon’s total net rental in-
come. Net rental yield was 8.6 per cent, representing an increase 
of 0.7 percentage points from 2011. This increase was especially 
due to Rocca al Mare’s improved performance compared to 2011. 

Environmental Responsibility 
Citycon seeks to lead the way in responsible shopping centre op-
erations and promoting sustainable development within the busi-
ness. The location of Citycon’s shopping centres in city centres, lo-
cal centres or generally adjacent to major traffic flows, combined 
with excellent public transport connections, means that they are 
well positioned to face the demands of sustainable development.

In its sustainability reporting, Citycon applies the construction 
and real estate sector specific (CRESS) guidelines of the Global 
Reporting Initiative, as well as the Best Practices Recommenda-
tions on Sustainability Reporting published by EPRA. The results 
and indicators for environmental responsibility for 2012 are pre-
sented on pages 40-43 of the Annual and Sustainability Report, 
to be published approximately in week nine. 

Environmental responsibility results 2012
The company defined its long-term environmental responsibility 
objectives in connection with its strategic planning in summer 
2009. Citycon has set targets for its carbon footprint, energy and 
water consumption, waste recycling rate as well as land use and 
sustainable construction. In 2012, Citycon’s aim was to reduce its 
carbon footprint by 2–3 per cent, its energy consumption by 2–3 
per cent and the water consumption in its comparable shopping 
centres to an average of 4.0 litres per visitor per year. In waste 
management the target for recycling rate was 78 per cent and 
respectively the annual target for the proportion of landfill waste 
out of total waste was 22 per cent.

Energy
In 2012, Citycon procured a total of 183.4 gigawatt hours (181.7 
GWh) of electricity. Total consumption increased by 0.9 per cent 

due to changes in the property portfolio and higher energy con-
sumption by tenants. Total electricity consumption (incl. tenants’ 
electricity) in like-for-like shopping centres decreased by 5.2 per 
cent from previous year. Electricity consumption in common are-
as (excl. electricity used by tenants) amounted to 109.7 gigawatt 
hours (113.7 GWh), showing a decrease of 3.6 per cent from pre-
vious year. In like-for-like shopping centres electricity consump-
tion in common areas decreased by 5.2 per cent.

Heating energy consumption came to 143.4 gigawatt hours 
(138.2 GWh). Total heat consumption increased by 3.8 per cent 
but weather-adjusted consumption, 144.4 gigawatt hours, de-
creased by 2.2 per cent. Temperatures in the winter were above 
average, except for February and December, which were excep-
tionally cold. Heating energy consumption in like-for-like shop-
ping centre properties rose by 1.5 per cent, whereas weather-ad-
justed consumption decreased by 4.2 per cent.

Citycon's total energy consumption (incl. electricity consump-
tion in common areas, heating and cooling) amounted to 257.3 
gigawatt hours (254.6 GWh). In shopping centres, energy con-
sumption per visitor decreased by 1.3 per cent and energy con-
sumption per sales fell by 7.2 per cent. Energy consumption per 
gross leasable area rose by 1.7 per cent. Total energy consump-
tion in like-for-like shopping centres decreased by 1.7 per cent. 
The annual target for reducing energy consumption was attained.

In 2012, Citycon invested in measures that generate savings 
in consumption and costs, such as renewing lighting and lighting 
control solutions, or greater use of frequency transformers and 
control in ventilation systems. Furthermore, Citycon ensured the 
continuous optimisation of adjustments and temperature set-
tings for technical systems, in order to meet consumption and 
cost saving targets. By the end of 2012, the Ministry of Employ-
ment and the Economy had granted energy support for the ener-
gy saving measures in five shopping centres covering 20–25 per 
cent, or approximately EUR 475,000, of the investment costs. 
In addition, four new applications of energy saving measures in 
shopping centres are in process. The value of these applications 
in process is approximately EUR 444,000.

During 2012, Citycon developed reporting methods covering 
energy consumption and costs. In comparable properties energy 
costs related to electricity remained at the same level and de-
clined in heating by 3.0 per cent compared to the previous year.

Citycon’s reported energy consumption covers shopping 
centres owned by Citycon and other properties where 
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Citycon’s share of ownership is at least 50 per cent. Citycon 
also reports the tenants' electricity consumption in cases where 
Citycon is responsible for electricity procurement. Cases where 
the energy purchase agreement is under a tenant’s responsibility 
have been excluded from reporting. In terms of key figures and 
results, Citycon has limited the reported electricity consumption 
to common areas, where Citycon can directly influence the con-
sumption. This includes the electricity used for general lighting, 
ventilation and cooling, as well as lifts and escalators and other 
building technical systems. Energy used for heating and cooling is 
reported in its entirety. 

Carbon footprint
In 2012, the carbon footprint totalled 74,208 tonnes of carbon 
dioxide equivalent (70,348 tnCO₂e). The carbon footprint re-
ported by Citycon covers the energy and water consumption in 
properties, waste logistics and the emissions generated by the 
Citycon organisation. Energy consumption in properties consti-
tutes 99.2 per cent of the carbon footprint. The carbon footprint 
grew by 5.5 per cent compared to the previous year. The growth in 
carbon footprint was caused by changes in the property portfolio. 
The carbon footprint of like-for-like shopping centres decreased 
by 3.3 per cent and remained at the same level per visitor. The an-
nual target for reducing the carbon footprint by 2-3 per cent was 
attained.

Water
The total water consumption in all shopping centres and re-
tail properties owned by Citycon was 626,953 cubic metres 
(639,457 m³) in 2012. This includes water consumed by the 
real estate company and tenants. Water consumption showed 
a decrease of 2.0 per cent compared to the previous year. This 
decrease can be attributed to changes in Swedish property port-
folio, where apartments were sold. Water consumption in like-for-
like shopping centre properties decreased by 10.0 per cent com-
pared to the previous year. Water consumption proportionate to 
sales, decreased by 9.0 per cent compared to the previous year. In 
2012, water consumption per visitor in shopping centres was 4.2 
litres and 3.9 litres in like-for-like shopping centres, which means 

the target for reducing water consumption per visitor was met 
in 2012. 

Waste
The total waste volume generated by Citycon's shopping centres 
amounted to 14,896 tonnes (15,361 tn), with landfill waste ac-
counting for 2,375 tonnes (3,263 tn), or 15.9 per cent (21.2%). 
Waste volumes decreased by 3.0 per cent compared to the previ-
ous year. Waste volume proportionate to sales showed a decrease 
of 12.2 per cent. Waste volumes in like-for-like shopping centres, 
decreased by 8.2 per cent from the previous year. The recycling 
rate in shopping centres improved in each business unit and was 
83.2 per cent. Citycon’s annual targets set for waste processing 
and recycling were achieved. 

Land use and sustainable construction
In property acquisition, Citycon complies with its strategic en-
vironmental responsibility policies, which state that properties 
must be located in a built environment and easily accessible by 
public transport. A good example of such property is the shopping 
centre Kista Galleria in Stockholm, which was acquired in January 
2013.

Environmental certification represents a key element in City-
con’s efforts towards sustainable development. In March 2012, 
Citycon was awarded a gold-level LEED certificate for its shop-
ping centre project in the Martinlaakso district in Vantaa.

Governance
Annual General Meeting 2012
Citycon Oyj’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) took place in Helsinki 
on 21 March 2012. The meeting was opened by the Deputy Chair-
man of the Board of that time, Thomas W. Wernink, and chaired by 
Ari Keinänen, Attorney-at-Law, Trained at Bench. A total of 234 
shareholders attended the AGM either personally or through a 
proxy representative, representing 73.67 per cent (204,656,747 
shares) of shares and votes in the company.

The AGM adopted the company’s Financial Statements for the 
financial year 2011 and discharged the members of the Board of 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer from liability. The AGM 
decided on a dividend of EUR 0.04 per share for the financial year 
2011 and an equity return of EUR 0.11 per share from the invested 
unrestricted equity reserve. The record date for the dividend pay-
out and equity return was 26 March 2012, and the dividend and 
equity returns totalling EUR 41.7 million were paid on 4 April 2012. 

The other outcomes of the AGM can be seen on the company 
website at www.citycon.com/agm2012. The minutes of the meet-
ing are also available there.

Extraordinary General Meeting 2012
Citycon’s Board member Dor J. Segal announced his resignation 
from the Board effective on 11 October 2012. Following the an-
nouncement, the Board convened an Extraordinary General Meet-
ing (EGM) for 11 October 2012, where Yuval Yanai was elected 
as a new member of the Board of Directors. The minutes of the 
meeting can be found at www.citycon.com/for_investors/gm/
egm_2012/.

Board of Directors
Under the Articles of Association, the Board consists of a mini-
mum of five and a maximum of ten members, elected by the Gen-
eral Meeting for a term of one year at a time. Amendments to the 
Articles of Association may be made only by the General Meeting 
and require a 2/3 majority vote.

In 2012 the Board of Directors had ten members: Ronen 
Ashkenazi, Chaim Katzman, Roger Kempe, Bernd Knobloch (from 
21 March 2012), Kirsi Komi, Claes Ottosson, Jorma Sonninen, 
Per-Håkan Westin, Yuval Yanai (from 11 October 2012) and Ariel-
la Zochovitzky. Thomas W. Wernink resigned from the Board as of 
21 March 2012 and Dor J. Segal as of 11 October 2012.

Chaim Katzman was the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
in 2012, and Ronen Ashkenazi the Deputy Chairman. Thomas W. 
Wernink served as the second Deputy Chairman of the Board until 
21 March 2012. 

Auditor
Since 2006, the company’s auditor has been Ernst & Young Oy, a 
firm of authorised public accountants, which has designated Au-
thorised Public Accountant Tuija Korpelainen to act as the respon-
sible auditor of Citycon, also from 2006. 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Marcel Kokkeel (MA, Dutch citizen, born in 1958) has served as 
Citycon’s CEO since 24 March 2011. Eero Sihvonen, CFO, is City-
con’s Executive Vice President. Their personal details, career his-
tories and any positions of trust can be found on the corporate 

RE
PO

RT
 B

Y
 T

H
E 

BO
AR

D
 O

F 
D

IR
EC

TO
RS



Citycon Oyj • Financial statements 2012    15

website at www.citycon.com/management. Information on the 
CEO’s executive contract and its terms and conditions are availa-
ble on page 50 of the Financial Statements.

Changes in the Company Management
During the year, several changes took place in the Corporate Man-
agement Committee’s (CMC) composition. Two new members 
joined the CMC: Nils Styf, Chief Investment Officer, on 11 June 
2012, and Marko Juhokas, Vice President of Finnish Operations, 
on 16 July 2012. In December, Citycon announced its plans to 
reorganise its business operations and streamline the deci-
sion-making process in the Corporate Management Committee. 
Following these arrangements, Johan Elfstadius, Vice President, 
Swedish Operations, left the CMC and his position in Citycon as 
of 12 December 2012. Marko Juhokas, who continues in the com-
pany, left the CMC effective on 19 December 2012. Harri Holm-
ström, Senior Vice President, Group Leasing and Baltic Countries 
and New Business, was appointed Chief Operating Officer (COO) 
of Citycon effective on 19 December 2012. At the end of 2012, 
the Corporate Management Committee had five members: the 
CEO, the company’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 
Officer, the General Counsel, the Chief Operating Officer and the 
Chief Investment Officer. 

Shareholders, Share Capital and Shares
Citycon Oyj has been listed on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd 
(Helsinki stock exchange) since November 1988. Citycon is a Mid 
Cap Company in the Financials sector, sub-industry Real Estate 
Operating Companies. Its trading code is CTY1S and its shares 
are traded in euros. The ISIN code used in international securities 
clearing is FI0009002471.

Shareholders
At the end of December 2012, Citycon had 7,177 (4,276) reg-
istered shareholders, of whom 13 were account managers of 
nominee-registered shares. Nominee-registered and other inter-
national shareholders held 250.8 million (230.4 million) shares, or 
76.7 per cent (82.9%) of shares and voting rights in the company. 
Details of the most significant shareholders of the company, of 
the distribution of ownership, and of the notifications of changes 
in shareholdings received in 2012 can be found on page 61 of the 
Financial Statemens.

Share Capital and Shares
There were no changes in the company’s share capital during the 
period, but the number of shares rose by around 49.0 million 
shares. It was increased by 36,713 shares which were issued to 
the Group’s key employees at a part of the company’s long-term 
incentive plan in May. No new shares are issued based on this 
plan. The number of shares was increased by 49,032,002 shares 
following the rights issue arranged in September-October. The 
company has a single series of shares, with each share entitling 
to one vote at general meetings of shareholders. The shares have 
no nominal value.

Shares and share capital
Share price development, completed trades (EUR) 2012 2011

Lowest price 2.12 2.02
Highest price 2.71 3.41
Average price 2.43 2.77
Closing price 2.57 2.31
Market value of shares at year-end (EUR million) 840.1 641.7

Share trading development
Number of traded shares (million) 82.0 97.5
Value of traded shares (EUR million) 199.2 270.7

Share capital and shares
Share capital at year-start (EUR million) 259.6 259.6
Share capital at year-end (EUR million) 259.6 259.6

Number of shares at year-start (million) 277.8 244.6
Number of shares at year-end (million) 326.9 277.8

Rights Issue
Based on authorisation granted by the AGM of 21 March, the 
Citycon Board of Directors decided on 7 September 2012 to 
issue a maximum of 49,032,002 new shares. The issued shares 
represented around 17.6 per cent of all the shares and votes in 
the company before the rights issue and around 15.0 per cent af-
ter the rights issue. The subscription period ended on 1 October 
2012 and the new shares were registered in the Trade Register 
on 8 October 2012.

Board Authorisations and Treasury Shares
The 2012 AGM authorised the Board of Directors to issue a max-
imum of 50 million new shares or convey a maximum of 50 million 
treasury shares. Based on this authorisation, the Board may also 
decide on the granting of stock options and other special rights. 
The Board made use of this authorisation in deciding on the be-
low mentioned incentive payment in May and on the rights issue 
in September. The authorisation will be valid until the next Annual 
General Meeting.

The 2012 AGM authorised the Board of Directors to decide 
on the acquisition of 20 million of the Company’s own shares. The 
authorisation will be valid until the next Annual General Meeting. 

At the year-end the Board had no other authorisations.
During the period the company held no treasury shares.

Incentive Schemes
Long-Term Share-Based Incentive Plan
Citycon Oyj’s Board of Directors decided to launch a long-term 
share-based incentive plan for key personnel of the Group on 26 
April 2007. The scheme comprised four one-year earning periods, 
which were the years 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010. On 29 May 
2012 the Citycon Oyj’s Board of Directors decided to pay out all 
the share-based remunerations that were still to fall due accord-
ing to the incentive plan, i.e. the final part of the remunerations for 
the 2009 earning period and the last two thirds of the remunera-
tions for 2010. No further remunerations will be made based on 
the plan.

Stock Option Plan 2011
Based on authorisation granted by the AGM of 13 March 2007, 
the Board of Directors of Citycon Oyj decided on 3 May 2011 
to issue stock options to key personnel of the company and 
its subsidiaries. As stock options are intended to form part of 
the Group’s key personnel incentive and commitment plan, the 
company had weighty financial reasons for issuing them. Stock 
options encourage key personnel to work on a long-term basis, 
in order to increase shareholder value. The purpose of the stock 
options is also to commit key personnel to the company.  
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Option rights of the Corporate Management Committee on 31 December 2012
2011A(I) 2011B(I) 2011C(I) 2011D(I)  Total

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 1,000,000
2011A(I–III) 2011B(I-III) 2011C(I-III) 2011D(I-III)

Other CMC members 412,500 452,500 452,500 452,500 1,770,000

At the end of the period under review, a maximum of 6,890,000 
stock options could be issued based on the authorisation of the 
Board of Directors, bearing rights to subscribe a total maximum 
of 8,106,085 new shares or treasury shares. The options are 
granted free of charge and classified as 2011A(I), 2011A(II) 
and 2011A(III); 2011B(I), 2011B(II) and 2011B(III); 2011C(I), 
2011C(II) and 2011C(III); or 2011D(I), 2011D(II) and 2011D(I-
II). Upon the distribution of stock options the Board of Directors 
decides on how the stock options are divided into sub-categories. 
Shares subscribed based on the Stock Option Plan 2011 may cor-
respond to a maximum of 2.5 per cent of all shares and votes in 
the company after the potential share subscription, if new shares 
are issued in the share subscription. 

In order to ensure the equal treatment of Stock Option 2011 
holders and shareholders, Citycon Oyj’s Board of Directors decid-
ed on 7 September and 5 October 2012, due to the rights issue, to 
adjust the subscription ratio and subscription price of the Stock 
Options 2011 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Stock Option Plan 2011. In conjunction with this, the Board of Di-
rectors adjusted the maximum number of shares to be subscribed 
with the Stock Options 2011 to 8,106,085 shares, as permitted 
by the share issue authorisation available to the Board of Direc-
tors after the completion of the rights issue. The foregoing adjust-

ments entered into force as of the registration of the adjusted 
maximum total number of shares to be subscribed for based on 
the Stock Options 2011 with the Trade Register on 8 October 
2012.

Adjusted subscription ratios and subscription prices of Stock 
Option Plan 2011, after the rights issue 2012 as well as the sub-
scription periods of the Stock Options 2011 are available on page 
47 of the Financial Statements.   

Granted stock options
At the end of 2012, 2011A–D(I), 2011A–D(II) and 2011A–D(III) 
stock options were held by 20 key personnel of the group. On 31 
December 2012 there were 6,505,000 outstanding options, en-
titling holders to subscribe 7,653,133 shares in 2012–2018. The 
table below indicates the Stock Options granted to the CEO and 
other Corporate Management Committee members.

A share ownership obligation, under which the members of 
the Corporate Management Committee are obliged to acquire 
the Citycon’s shares with 25 per cent of the income gained from 
the exercised stock options, is incorporated into the Stock Op-
tions 2011. The acquisition obligation will remain in force until a 
member of the Corporate Management Committee owns compa-
ny shares to the value of his or her gross annual salary, and share 

ownership must continue while his or her employment or service 
contract is in force.

The Stock Option Plan and its terms and conditions are pre-
sented in further detail on pages 46-47 of the Financial State-
ments.

The terms and conditions can be found at www.citycon.com/
options. 

Stock Options held by Members of the Board of Directors and 
by the Company Management
The members of the Board of Directors of Citycon, the CEO, the 
other Corporate Management Committee members and their 
related parties held a total of 508,655 company shares on 31 
December 2012. These shareholdings represent 0.15 per cent of 
the company’s total shares and total voting rights. 

The number of Stock Options 2011 held by the CEO and oth-
er Corporate Management Committee members at the year-end 
2012 are presented in the table above. The maximum number of 
shares that they can subscribe for by exercising these outstand-
ing Stock Options 2011 amounts to 3,258,905 shares. Members 
of the Board of Directors are not included in the company’s share-
based incentive plans. 

Updated details of the share and stock option holdings of the 
members of the Board of Directors, the CEO and the members of 
the Corporate Management Committee are available on the cor-
porate website at www.citycon.com/insiders. 

Helsinki, 5 February 2013

Citycon Oyj
Board of Directors
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EPRA PERFORMANCE MEASURES

EPRA (European Public Real Estate Association) is a common interest group for listed real estate 
companies in Europe. EPRA's mission is to promote, develop and represent the European publicly 
traded real estate sector. Citycon is an active member of EPRA. EPRA's objective is to encourage 
greater investment in European listed real estate and strive for "best practices" in accounting, finan-
cial reporting and corporate governance in order to provide high-quality information to investors and 
to increase the comparability of different companies. The best practices create also a framework for 
discussion and decision-making on the issues that determine the future of the sector. 

Since 2006, Citycon has been applying the best practices policy recommendations of EPRA for fi-
nancial reporting. And in 2011, Citycon started to follow EPRA best practice policy recommendations 
also for sustainability reporting (please see the section "Responsibility"). This section in Citycon's 
financial statements presents the EPRA performance measures and their calculations. For more in-
formation about EPRA and EPRA's best practice policies pls visit EPRA's web pages: www.epra.com.

In addition to promoting European real estate sector and publishing best practice policies, EPRA 
publishes FTSE EPRA/NAREIT index in association with FTSE, which tracks the performance of the 
largest European and North-American listed real estate companies. Citycon is included in the FTSE 
EPRA index, which increases international interest towards Citycon as an investment. 

The following Notes, the numbers 1 - 4, present how EPRA Performance Measures are calculated. 
The Notes 5 and 6 present the EPRA Key Performance Measures for the last 5 years.

1) 	 Per share result key figures have been calculated with the issue-adjusted 
number of shares resulting from the rights issue executed in October 2012.

EPRA PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Note 2012 2011

EPRA Earnings, EUR million 1 63.9 53.3
EPRA Earnings per share (basic), EUR 1) 1 0.214 0.197
EPRA NAV per share, EUR 2 3.49 3.62
EPRA NNNAV per share, EUR 2 3.08 3.29
EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) (%) 3 6.0 6.2
EPRA "topped-up" NIY (%) 3 6.1 6.3
EPRA vacancy rate (%) 4 4.3 4.5
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2012 2011
EUR 

million
Average number of  

shares (1,000) 1
per share, 

EUR
EUR 

million
Average number of  

shares  (1,000) 1
 per share, 

EUR

Net rental income 162.0 298,090.6 0.544 144.3 269,675.9 0.535
Direct administrative expenses -26.5 298,090.6 -0.089 -27.1 269,675.9 -0.100
Direct other operating income and expenses 0.2 298,090.6 0.001 0.2 269,675.9 0.001
EPRA operating profit 135.7 298,090.6 0.455 117.4 269,675.9 0.435
Direct net financial income and expenses -68.1 298,090.6 -0.229 -62.4 269,675.9 -0.232
Direct share of profit/loss of joint ventures 0.0 298,090.6 0.000 0.0 269,675.9 0.000
Direct current taxes -1.4 298,090.6 -0.005 -0.4 269,675.9 -0.001
Change in direct deferred taxes 0.0 298,090.6 0.000 0.3 269,675.9 0.001
Direct non-controlling interest -2.2 298,090.6 -0.008 -1.7 269,675.9 -0.006
EPRA Earnings (basic) 63.9 298,090.6 0.214 53.3 269,675.9 0.197

1)  	 Calculation of the number of shares is presented in Note 16. Earnings per share. Number of shares has been issue-adjusted resulting from the rights issue executed in 2012.

EPRA Earnings can also be calculated from the statement of comprehensive income from top to bottom. Below please find the EPRA 
Earnings calculation with this different method, which also presents the EPRA Operating profit.

1) EPRA EARNINGS AND EPRA EARNINGS PER SHARE (BASIC)
EPRA Earnings is presenting the underlying operating performance of a real estate company excluding all so called non-recurring items 
such as net fair value gains/losses on investment properties, profit/loss on disposals and limited other non-recurring items. It provides a 
measure for recurring income, but doesn't exclude exceptional items that are part of normal IFRS earnings. EPRA earnings is especially 
important for investors who want to assess the extent to which dividends are supported by recurring income. Citycon paid 0.15 EUR/
share as dividends and equity return for the financial statements 2011, and for the financial statements 2012, the Board of Directors 
propose for annual general meeting a dividend and equity return of 0.15 EUR/share.

2012 2011
EUR 

million
Average number

 of  shares (1,000) 1
per share, 

EUR
EUR 

million
Average number of  

shares  (1,000) 1
 per share, 

EUR

Earnings in IFRS Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 77.2 298,090.6 0.259 13.0 269,675.9 0.048
-/+ Net fair value gains/losses on investment property -23.6 298,090.6 -0.079 35.3 269,675.9 0.131
-/+ Net gains on disposal of investment property 2 -4.2 298,090.6 -0.014 -0.3 269,675.9 -0.001
+ Transaction costs related to investment property disposals 2 - 298,090.6 - 0.7 269,675.9 0.002
-/+ Fair value gains of jointly controlled entities -0.3 298,090.6 -0.001 -0.3 269,675.9 -0.001
+/- Current taxes arising from the items above - 298,090.6 - 0.5 269,675.9 0.002
+/- Change in deferred taxes arising from the items above 6.4 298,090.6 0.022 -2.2 269,675.9 -0.008
+/- Non-controlling interest arising from the items above 8.3 298,090.6 0.028 6.7 269,675.9 0.025

EPRA Earnings (basic) 63.9 298,090.6 0.214 53.3 269,675.9 0.197

¹) 	 Calculation of the number of shares is presented in Note 16. Earnings per share. Number of shares has been issue-adjusted resulting from the rights issue executed in 2012.
2) 	 Citycon has made an adjustment to its accounting policies related to the treatment of transaction costs arising from the investment property disposals in 2012. Previously 

Citycon reported transaction costs from the property disposals within the administrative expenses, but in the financial statements 2012, Citycon has netted the transaction 
costs from the successful property disposals against the net gains on sale of investment properties. The adjustment doesn’t impact the EPRA Earnings.

CFO's comment on the development of EPRA Earnings:
EPRA earnings (in EUR millions) increased by EUR 10.6 
million to EUR 63.9 million in 2012 from EUR 53.3 million 
in 2011. The increase was a result of NRI growth through 
acquisitions, (re)development projects and positive like-for-
like growth. To the contrary, EPRA Earnings was reduced by 
the growth in financial expenses due to higher level of debt 
to finance the growth. EPRA Earnings per share (basic) in-
creased to EUR 0.214 compared to EUR 0.197 in 2011 due 
to higher EPRA Earnings offset by higher number of shares, 
which resulted from rights issue executed in October 2012. 
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2) EPRA NAV PER SHARE AND EPRA NNNAV PER SHARE
EPRA NAV is presenting the fair value of net assets of a real estate company. It is based on the assumption of owning and operating investment properties for a long term and therefore it is a useful tool to 
compare against the share price of a real estate company. The share price of Citycon was 2.57 EUR/share on December 31, 2012.

As EPRA NAV intends to reflect the fair value of a business on a going-concern basis, all items arising from future disposals and the fair value of financial instruments are excluded from EPRA NAV. Items 
arising from future disposals are the deferred taxes that would materialise only on disposal of properties. Fair value of financial instruments i.e. mark-to-market value of hedging instruments will end up zero 
when they are held to maturity. Therefore, the fair value of financial instruments at the balance sheet date is excluded from EPRA NAV.

EPRA NNNAV is including the deferred tax liabilities and fair value of financial instruments and therefore it is a measure of the real estate company's "spot" fair value at the balance sheet date. Spot fair 
value means that EPRA NNNAV reflects the fair value of net assets of the company at a particular day opposed to EPRA NAV, which reflects the fair value of net assets on a going-concern basis. However, EPRA 
NNNAV is not either a liquidation NAV as the fair values of assets and liabilities are not based on a liquidation scenario

CFO's comment on the development of EPRA NAV per 
share and EPRA NNNAV per share:
EPRA NAV per share decreased by EUR 0.13 to EUR 3.49 
(EUR 3.62) due mainly to higher number of shares, which in-
creased as a result of the rights issue executed in October 
2012. EPRA NNNAV per share decreased by EUR 0.21 to 
EUR 3.08 (EUR 3.29). In addition to the reasons for a lower 
EPRA NAV per share, EPRA NNNAV per share was reduced 
by negative difference between the secondary market price 
and fair value of bonds and capital loans as all three compa-
ny's bonds and capital loans are now valued above par due 
to lower interest rate levels, which decreased EPRA NNNAV 
per share by EUR 0.07. 

2012 2011

EUR million

Average number
 of  shares 

(1,000) 1
per share, 

EUR EUR million

Average number 
of  shares 
 (1,000) 1

 per share, 
EUR

Equity attributable to parent company shareholders 1,015.7 326,880.0 3.11 902.6 277,811.3 3.25
Deferred taxes from the difference between the fair value and fiscal value 
of investment properties 64.0 326,880.0 0.20 57.5 277,811.3 0.21
Fair value of financial instruments 59.8 326,880.0 0.18 45.7 277,811.3 0.16
Net asset value (EPRA NAV) 1,139.5 326,880.0 3.49 1,005.9 277,811.3 3.62
Deferred taxes from the difference between the fair value and fiscal value 
of investment properties -64.0 326,880.0 -0.20 -57.5 277,811.3 -0.21
Difference between the secondary market price and fair value of bonds 
and capital loans 1) -9.4 326,880.0 -0.03 11.4 277,811.3 0.04
Fair value of financial instruments -59.8 326,880.0 -0.18 -45.7 277,811.3 -0.16
EPRA NNNAV 1,006.3 326,880.0 3.08 914.1 277,811.3 3.29

1) 	 Secondary market price
	 When calculating the EPRA NNNAV in accordance with EPRA's recommendations, the shareholders' equity is adjusted using EPRA's guidelines so that bonds and capital loans 

are valued based on secondary market prices. In accordance with Citycon's accounting policies, the carrying amount and fair value of bonds and capital loans are different from 
this secondary market price. Due to this, in the calculation of this key figure convertible capital loan 1/2006 and bond 1/2009 have been valued using the price derived from 
the secondary market on the balance sheet date. The secondary market price for convertible capital loan 1/2006 was 100.96 per cent (82.90%), for bond 1/2009 105.01 per 
cent (101.85%) and for bond 1/2012 104.68 per cent as of 31 December 2012. The difference between the secondary market price and the fair value of the bonds and capital 
loans was EUR -9.4 million (EUR 11.4 million) as of 31 December 2012.
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EUR million 2012 2011

Fair value of investment properties determined by the external appraiser 2,704.1 2,515.0
Less (re)development properties, lots, unused building rights and properties, the valuation of which is based on the 
value of the building right -389.1 -559.6
Completed property portfolio 2,315.0 1,955.4
Plus the estimated purchasers' transaction costs 47.2 36.8
Gross value of completed property portfolio (A) 2,362.2 1,992.2

Annualised gross rents for completed property portfolio 206.9 179.5

Property portfolio's operating expenses -64.1 -56.6
Annualised net rents (B) 142.8 122.9
Plus the notional rent expiration of rent free periods or other lease incentives 1.6 2.5
Topped-up annualised net rents ( C) 144.4 125.4
EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) (%) (B/A) 6.0 6.2
EPRA "topped-up" NIY (%) (C/A) 6.1 6.3

3) EPRA NET INITIAL YIELD (NIY)  (%) AND EPRA "TOPPED-UP" NIY (%)
There are a variety of yield performance indicators in the real estate market to present the companies' ability to generate rent. In order 
to have a consistent yield definition and comparable yield indicators between the real estate companies, EPRA has published a best 
practice recommendation for yield calculation i.e. EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY). 

EPRA NIY is calculated as the annualised rental income, based on the valid rent roll on the balance sheet date, divided by the gross mar-
ket value of the completed property portfolio (including estimated transaction costs and excluding properties under development, lots, 
unused building right and properties the valuation of which is based on the value of the building right). Citycon also discloses net rental 
yield, which is calculated over the past 12 month period, by constructing an index from the monthly net rental income and computational 
monthly market value figures. Net rental yield includes the total property portfolio and excludes estimated transaction costs. 

EPRA "topped-up" NIY presents the yield of a company with the full rent that is already agreed at the balance sheet date. In EPRA 
"topped-up" yield, the cash rent is "topped-up" to reflect rent after the expiry of lease incentives such as rent free periods and discounted 
rents.

4) EPRA VACANCY RATE (%)
EPRA vacancy rate (%) presents how much out of the full potential rental income is not received because of vacancy. Technical occupancy 
rate, which Citycon also discloses, presents how many square meters out of total GLA is leased. 

EPRA vacancy rate is calculated by dividing the estimated rental value of vacant premises by the estimated rental value of the whole 
portfolio if all premises were fully let. EPRA vacancy rate is calculated using the same principles as economic occupancy rate, which City-
con also discloses.

CFO's comment on the development of EPRA NIY and 
EPRA "TOPPED-UP" NIY:
EPRA initial yields decreased mostly due to decreased mar-
ket yield requirements in Baltic Countries and New Business.  
However, EPRA NIY and EPRA "topped up" NIY at the end of 
the year 2012 and 2011 are not fully comparable due to 
changes in the completed property portfolio (such as prop-
erty acquisitions, disposals and started and completed (re)
development projects). 

EUR million 2012 2011

Annualised potential rental value of vacant premises 10.3 9.8
./. Annualised potential rental value for the whole portfolio 239.0 219.4

EPRA vacancy rate (%) 4.3 4.5

CFO's comment on the development  
of EPRA vacancy rate: 
 EPRA vacancy rate improved due to decreased vacancy in 
the Finnish property portfolio. 
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5) EPRA PERFORMANCE MEASURES FOR FIVE YEARS
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

EPRA Earnings, EUR million 63.9 53.3 47.3 50.9 43.8

EPRA Earnings per share (basic), EUR 1) 0.214 0.197 0.200 0.222 0.191
EPRA NAV per share, EUR 3.49 3.62 3.79 3.64 3.96
EPRA NNNAV per share, EUR 3.08 3.29 3.49 3.35 3.80
EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) (%) 6.0 6.2 6.3 6.9 N/A
EPRA "topped-up" NIY (%) 6.1 6.3 6.4 7.1 N/A
EPRA vacancy rate (%) 4.3 4.5 4.9 5.0 4.0

1) Per share result key figures have been calculated with the issue-adjusted number of shares resulting from the rights issue executed in 2012.

6) EPRA EARNINGS FOR FIVE YEARS
EUR million 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Earnings in IFRS Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 77.2 13.0 78.3 -34.3 -124.1
-/+ Net fair value gains/losses on investment property -23.6 35.3 -50.8 97.4 216.1
-/+ Net gains/losses on disposal of investment property 1) -4.2 -0.3 -1.9 -0.1 0.3
+ Transaction costs related to investment property disposals 1) 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.1 0.0
-/+ Non-recurring other operating income and expenses - - - - -6.0
-/+ Fair value gains/losses of financial instruments - - -0.2 0.1 3.1
-/+ Fair value gains of jointly controlled entities -0.3 -0.3 - - -
+/- Current taxes arising from the items above - 0.5 - 0.3 1.8
+/- Change in deferred taxes arising from the items above 6.4 -2.2 11.6 -7.3 -29.7
+/- Non-controlling interest arising from the items above 8.3 6.7 10.3 -5.3 -17.6

EPRA Earnings (basic) 63.9 53.3 47.3 50.9 43.8
Issue-adjusted average number of shares, million 2) 298,090.6 269,675.9 236,840.6 229,456.5 229,411.3

EPRA Earnings per share (basic), EUR 2) 0.214 0.197 0.200 0.222 0.191

1) 	 Citycon has made an adjustment to its accounting policies related to the treatment of transaction costs arising from the investment property disposals in 2012. Previously Citycon 
reported transaction costs from the property disposals within the administrative expenses, but in the financial statements 2012, Citycon has netted the transaction costs from the 
successful property disposals against the net gains on sale of investment properties. The adjustment doesn’t impact the EPRA Earnings. 

2) 	 Number of shares has been issue-adjusted resulting from the rights issue executed in 2012. Per share result key figures have been calculated with the issue-adjusted number of shares. 

EPRA Earnings can also be calculated from the statement of comprehensive income from top to bottom. Below please find the EPRA Earnings 
calculation with this different method, which also presents the EPRA Operating profit.

EUR million 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Net rental income 162.0 144.3 127.2 125.4 121.8
Direct administrative expenses -26.5 -27.1 -22.5 -17.7 -16.5
Direct other operating income and expenses 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.1
EPRA operating profit 135.7 117.4 105.0 107.7 105.3

Direct net financial income and expenses -68.1 -62.4 -55.1 -47.7 -54.2
Direct share of profit/loss of joint ventures 0.0 0.0 - - -
Direct current taxes -1.4 -0.4 -0.6 -6.2 -4.8
Change in direct deferred taxes 0.0 0.3 -0.3 -0.2 0.2
Direct non-controlling interest -2.2 -1.7 -1.8 -2.8 -2.8
EPRA Earnings 63.9 53.3 47.3 50.9 43.8

Average number of  shares (1,000) 1) 298,090.6 269,675.9 236,840.6 229,456.5 229,411.3
EPRA Earnings per share (basic), EUR 1) 0.214 0.197 0.200 0.222 0.191

1)  	 Number of shares has been issue-adjusted resulting from the rights issue executed in 2012. Per share result key figures have been calculated with the issue-adjusted number of shres. 
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EUR million Note 1.1.–31.12.2012 1.1.–31.12.2011

  Gross rental income 6 225.9 206.0
  Service charge income 13.3 11.1

Turnover 7 239.2 217.1
  Property operating expenses 8, 11 75.8 71.6
  Other expenses from leasing operations 9 1.4 1.2

Net rental income 162.0 144.3
  Administrative expenses 10, 11, 12 26,5 27,7
  Other operating income and expenses 13 0.2 0.2
  Net fair value gains/losses on investment property 17 23.6 -35.3
  Net gains on sale of investment property 17, 24 4.2 0.3

Operating profit 163.4 81.8

  Financial income 32.1 54.4
  Financial expenses -100.3 -116.8

Net financial income and expenses 14 -68.1 -62.4

Share of profit of jointly controlled entities 18 0.2 0.3

Profit before taxes 95.5 19.7

  Current taxes -1.4 -0.9
  Change in deferred taxes -6.4 2.5

Income taxes 15, 21 -7.8 1.6

Profit for the period 87.7 21.3

Profit attributable to
  Parent company shareholders 77.2 13.0
  Non-controlling interest 10.5 8.3

Earnings per share attributable to parent company shareholders:
Earnings per share (basic), EUR 16 0.26 0.05
Earnings per share (diluted), EUR 16 0.26 0.05

Other comprehensive expenses/income
Net losses on cash flow hedges 14 -19.3 -35.9
Income taxes relating to cash flow hedges 15, 21 5.2 9.0
Exchange gains on translating foreign operations 3.3 0.6

Other comprehensive expenses/income for the period, net of tax -10.7 -26.2
Total comprehensive profit/loss for the period 77.0 -4.9

Total comprehensive profit/loss attributable to
Parent company shareholders 65.4 -13.4
Non-controlling interest 11.6 8.5

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, IFRSCITYCON OYJ'S  
CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL  
STATEMENTS FOR 
1 JANUARY  
-31 DECEMBER 
2012
Business ID: 0699505-3
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EUR million Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Investment properties 17 2,714.2 2,522.1
Investments in jointly controlled entities 18 0.9 0.6
Intangible assets 19 1.7 1.9
Property, plant and equipment 20 1.4 1.0
Deferred tax assets 21 19.5 14.5

Total non-current assets 2,737.6 2,540.1

Investment properties held for sale 24 5.4 12.7

Current assets
Derivative financial instruments 22, 23 - 0.5
Current tax receivables 15 0.0 0.0
Trade and other receivables 22, 25 24.5 33.2
Cash and cash equivalents 22, 26 51.0 91.3

Total current assets 75.5 125.0

Total assets 2,818.5 2,677.7

EUR million Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Equity attributable to parent company shareholders 27
Share capital 259.6 259.6
Share premium fund 131.1 131.1
Fair value reserve -59.8 -45.7
Invested unrestricted equity fund 333.0 273.7
Translation reserve -5.5 -7.8
Retained earnings 357.3 291.7

Total equity attributable to parent company shareholders 1,015.7 902.6
Non-controlling interest 44.2 59.2

Total shareholders’ equity 1,059.9 961.8

LIABILITIES

Long-term liabilities
Loans 22, 28 1,406.3 1,339.5
Derivative financial instruments 22, 23 75.6 53.9
Deferred tax liabilities 21 66.0 59.8
Other liabilities 22 1.0 0.4

Total long-term liabilities 1,548.9 1,453.7

Short-term liabilities
Loans 22, 28 126.8 208.4
Derivative financial instruments 22, 23 0.7 0.6
Current tax liabilities 15 0.8 0.2
Trade and other payables 22, 29 81.4 53.0

Total short-term liabilities 209.7 262.2

Total liabilities 1,758.6 1,715.9

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 2,818.5 2,677.7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION, IFRS
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EUR million Note 1 Jan.-31 Dec. 2012 1 Jan.-31 Dec. 2011

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before taxes 95.5 19.7
Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortisation 12, 31 1.2 1.0
Net fair value gains/losses on investment property 17, 31 -23.6 35.3
Profit on disposal of investment property 1) 17, 24, 31 -4.2 -0.3
Financial income 14, 31 -32.1 -54.4
Financial expenses 14, 31 100.3 116.8
Other adjustments 31 1.3 0.8

Cash flow before change in working capital 138.4 118.9
Change in working capital 31 8.6 1.6

Cash generated from operations 147.0 120.5

Interest expenses and other financial expenses paid -62.4 -60.1
Interest income and other financial income received 0.6 0.6
Realised exchange rate losses -22.9 -1.8
Taxes paid/received -0.8 7.2

Net cash from operating activities 61.5 66.3

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, less cash acquired 17 -41.0 -33.7
Acquisition of investment properties 17 -1.1 -105.5
Capital expenditure on investment properties 17 -92.6 -81.1
Capital expenditure on investments in jointly controlled entities, 
intangible assets and PP&E 18, 19, 20 -1.3 -1.4
Sale of investment properties 1) 17, 24 31.1 18.3

Net cash used in investing activities -104.9 -203.3

Cash flow from financing activities
Sale of treasury shares 27 - 0.4
Proceeds from rights and share issue 27 89.9 98.9
Proceeds from short-term loans 28 117.1 160.9
Repayments of short-term loans 28 -157.5 -100.2
Proceeds from long-term loans 28 623.5 594.6
Repayments of long-term loans 28 -600.6 -511.8
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 27 -28.5 -
Dividends and return from the invested unrestricted equity fund -41.7 -34.3

Net cash from financing activities 2.3 208.5

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -41.1 71.6
Cash and cash equivalents at period-start 26 91.3 19.5
Effects of exchange rate changes 0.8 0.2
Cash and cash equivalents at period-end 26 51.0 91.3
 
1) 	 Citycon has made an adjustment to its accounting policies related to the treatment of transaction costs arising from the investment property disposals 

in 2012. Previously Citycon reported transaction costs from the property disposals within the administrative expenses, but in the financial statements 
2012, Citycon has netted the transaction costs from the successful property disposals against the net gains on sale of investment properties.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT, IFRS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY, IFRS

Equity attributable to parent company shareholders

Total

Non-con-
trolling 

interest

Total 
shareholders’ 

equityEUR million Share capital
Share premi-

um fund
Fair value 

reserve

Invested 
unrestricted 
equity fund

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Balance at 31 Dec. 2010 259.6 131.1 -18.8 198.8 -8.2 287.0 849.5 50.7 900.2
Profit for the period 13.0 13.0 8.3 21.3

Net losses/gains on cash flow hedges, net of tax (Notes 14, 15 and 21) -26.8 -26.8 -26.8
Exchange gains/losses on translating foreign operations 0.4 0.4 0.2 0.6

Total other comprehensive expenses/income for the period, net of tax -26.8 0.4 -26.4 0.2 -26.2
Total comprehensive loss/profit for the period -26.8 0.4 13.0 -13.4 8.5 -4.9
Share issue (Note 27) 98.9 98.9 98.9
Sale of treasury shares (Note 27) 0.4 0.4 0.4
Dividends and return from the invested unrestricted equity fund (Note 27) -24.5 -9.8 -34.2 -34.2
Share-based payments (Notes 27 and 30) 1.5 1.5 1.5

Balance at 31 Dec. 2011 259.6 131.1 -45.7 273.7 -7.8 291.7 902.6 59.2 961.8

Profit for the period 77.2 77.2 10.5 87.7
Net losses/gains on cash flow hedges, net of tax (Notes 14, 15 and 21) -14.1 -14.1 -14.1
Exchange gains/losses on translating foreign operations 2.3 2.3 1.1 3.3

Total other comprehensive expenses/income for the period, net of tax -14.1 2.3 -11.8 1.1 -10.7
Total comprehensive loss/profit for the period -14.1 2.3 77.2 65.4 11.6 77.0
Rights issue (Note 27) 89.9 89.9 89.9
Recognised gain in the equity arising from convertible bond buybacks (Note 28) -0.2 -0.2 -0.2
Dividends and return from the invested unrestricted equity fund (Note 27) -30.6 -11.1 -41.7 -41.7
Share-based payments (Notes 27 and 30) 1.8 1.8 1.8
Acquisition of non-controlling-interests -2.3 -2.3 -26.6 -28.9

Balance at 31 Dec. 2012 259.6 131.1 -59.8 333.0 -5.5 357.3 1,015.7 44.2 1,059.9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basic company data
As a real estate investment company specialising in retail properties, Citycon operates largely in the Hel-
sinki Metropolitan Area and Finland’s major regional centres as well as in Sweden and the Baltic Coun-
tries. Citycon is a Finnish, public limited liability company established under Finnish law and domiciled in 
Helsinki, the address of its registered office being Korkeavuorenkatu 35, FI-00130 Helsinki. The Board 
of Directors has approved the financial statements on 5 February 2013. In accordance with Finnish Com-
pany Law, annual general meeting has the right to not approve the financial statements approved by the 
Board of Directors and return the financial statements back to the Board of Directors for a correction. 

A copy of Citycon’s Consolidated Financial Statements is available on the corporate website at 
www.citycon.fi and from the Group’s headquarters at the address Korkeavuorenkatu 35, FI-00130 
Helsinki, Finland.

2.  Basis of preparation
Citycon has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and applied the IFRS/IAS standards, effective as of 31 December 
2012, which refer to the approved applicable standards and their interpretations under European Un-
ion Regulation No. 1606/2002. Notes to the consolidated financial statements are also in compliance 
with Finnish accounting legislation and Community legislation. 

Citycon has used IFRS as the primary basis of its financial statements preparation from the begin-
ning of 2005. Available-for-sale financial assets, derivative contracts and investment properties, are 
measured at fair value following their initial recognition. In other respects, the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared at historical cost. The financial statements are shown in millions of euros and 
rounded in hundred thousands of euros. 

Preparing the financial statements under IFRS requires that the company’s management make cer-
tain accounting estimates and assumptions, which have an effect on the application of the accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, as well as notes to the 
accounts. These estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and vari-
ous other factors deemed reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of 
management judgements about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily appar-
ent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to account-
ing estimates are recognised for the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 
that period, or in the current and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
The chapter 5 Key estimates and assumptions, and accounting policies requiring judgment provides a 
more detailed description of the factors underlying judgements and assumptions.

3. Changes in IFRS and accounting policies
3.1 Adjustment in the accounting policies in 2012  

Citycon has made an adjustment to its accounting policies related to the treatment of transac-
tion costs arising from the investment property disposals in 2012. Previously Citycon reported 

transaction costs from the property disposals within the administrative expenses, but in the 

financial statements 2012, Citycon has netted the transaction costs from the successful property 
disposals against the net gains on sale of investment properties. The adjustment doesn’t impact the 
operating profit or profit for the period in the statement of comprehensive income. The following table 
presents the impact of the adjustment in the accounting policies on the administrative expenses, net 
gains on sale of investment property and operating profit.

2012  
before ad-

justment Adjustment

2012  
after  

adjustment

2011  
before ad-

justment Adjustment

2011  
after  

adjustment

Administrative expenses -27.0 0.5 -26.5 -28.0 0.3 -27.7
Net gains/losses on sale of investment property 4.7 -0.5 4.2 0.6 -0.3 0.3
Operating profit 163.4 0.0 163.4 81.8 0.0 81.8

3.2 New standards as well as interpretations and changes applied in 2012 
The following new standards as well as amendments and interpretations to the existing standards 
have been adopted in the financial statements 2012. 
•	 IAS 12 Income taxes (amendment) and
•	 IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures (amendment).
The amendment in IAS 12 Income Taxes clarified a rebuttable presumption in the recognition of deferred 
taxes. Based on the amendment the deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value should 
be determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale. The amendment 
didn’t have effect on Citycon’s accounting policies as Citycon has been determining the deferred tax on 
investment property based on the assumption that the carrying amount of investment properties will be 
recovered through sale. In addition, amendment in IFRS 7 didn’t change Citycon’s accounting policies or 
disclosure as Citycon didn’t have any assets with the characteristics impacted by the amendment.

3.3 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective 
and have not been early adopted by the Group
The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are manda-
tory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 or 1 January 2013 or later 
periods, but the group has not early adopted them. These are those that Citycon reasonably expects to 
have an impact on disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at future date. Citycon 
will adopt these standards when they become effective and EU has approved them.
•	 IAS 1 Financial statement presentation,
•	 IAS 27 Separate financial statements (as revised in 2011),
•	 IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures (as revised in 2011),
•	 IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
•	 IFRS 9 Financial instruments,
•	 IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements,
•	 IFRS 11 Joint arrangements, 
•	 IFRS 12 Disclosure of involvement with other entities, and
•	 IFRS 13 Fair value measurement.
•	I mprovements to IFRSs (2009-2011 and May 2012).
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The following standards and amendments and interpretations 
to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for 
the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013 or later periods, but the group has not early adopted them. 
These are not relevant to Citycon, because according to the com-
pany’s current view, they will not significantly change its account-
ing policies nor presentation of the accounts.
•	 IAS 19 Employee benefits (amendment),
•	 IFRS 7 Financial instruments disclosures: Enhanced derecog-

nition disclosure requirement,
•	 IFRIC 20 Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface 

mine

4. Summary of significant accounting policies
4.1 Group accounting
The consolidated financial statements include Citycon Oyj and its 
subsidiaries, as well as holdings in its associated and joint-venture 
companies. 

4.1.1 Subsidiaires
Subsidiaries refer to companies in which the Group holds a con-
trolling interest. This controlling interest implies that the Group 
has the power to govern the entity’s financial and operating poli-
cies for the purpose of profiting from its operations. Subsidiaries 
are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group, until the date on which said control ceases. 

Intra-Group transactions and profit allocation are eliminated in 
the consolidated financial statements. 

When an acquisition is made, the judgment is needed whether 
the acquisition is treated as an asset acquisition or either as a 
business acquisition (see Chapter 5.2.2 Business acquisitions and 
asset acquisitions for judgment principles). An asset acquisition 
does not generate goodwill, but the entire acquisition cost is allo-
cated to land, buildings and other assets and liabilities. 

If business acquisition is made, IFRS 3 Business Combina-
tions will apply, whereby the acquisition cost is allocated to the 
acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at their fair 
value. Goodwill arises when the given consideration exceeds the 
fair value of the acquired net assets. 

4.1.2 Jointly controlled assets
Mutual real estate companies in Finland, in which the ownership 
of Citycon is less than 100%, are treated as jointly controlled as-
sets in accordance with IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. Jointly 

controlled assets are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments using proportionate consolidation, whereby the Group’s 
share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses are included in the 
consolidated financial statements line-by-line. The proportionate 
consolidation method applies to all joint ventures of this kind, re-
gardless of the Group’s holding in the joint venture. 

Citycon has no associated companies as referred to in IFRS, 
since all mutual real estate companies, also those in which the 
ownership is less than 50%, are treated as jointly controlled as-
sets, as described above. 

4.1.3 Jointly controlled entities
Citycon has interest in joint venture, which is treated as a jointly 
controlled entity based on IAS 31 Interest in Joint Ventures. In 
jointly controlled entity, venturers have a contractual arrange-
ment that establishes joint control over the economic activities of 
the entity. Citycon recognises its interest in jointly controlled en-
tity with equity method. The Group presents the aggregate share 
of profit or loss from the jointly controlled entity on the face of its 
income statement in line “Share of profit of jointly controlled enti-
ties”. In the Note 18 “Investments in jointly controlled entities” the 
assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities are presented.

4.2 Foreign currency transactions
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are measured at 
the exchange rate quoted on the transaction date. Any exchange 
rate differences resulting from currency translation are entered 
under financial expenses and income in the income statement. 

Monetary receivables and payables denominated in foreign 
currencies on the balance sheet date are measured at the ex-
change rate quoted on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies and measured at fair val-
ue are translated into euros using the exchange rates quoted on 
the valuation date, while other non-monetary items are measured 
at the exchange rate quoted on the transaction date. 

Foreign subsidiaries’ income statements have been translated 
into euros using average exchange rates quoted for the financial 
period and balance sheets using the exchange rate quoted on 
the balance sheet date. Any resulting exchange rate difference 
is recognised as a translation difference under shareholders’ eq-
uity. Translation differences resulting from the elimination of the 
historical cost of foreign subsidiaries and from items included in 
shareholders’ equity following their acquisition, are recognised 
under shareholders’ equity. 

4.3 Investment property
Investment property refers to land or a building, or part of a build-
ing, held to earn rental income or capital appreciation, or both. 
Under IAS 40, investment property is measured at fair value, with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair values being included 
in the income statement. 

The investment properties are measured initially at cost, in-
cluding transaction costs such as consultant fees and transfer 
taxes. After their initial measurement investment properties are 
subject to a fair value model valuation, which is conducted by an 
external appraiser for the first time at the end of the quarter fol-
lowing the acquisition. 

Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could 
be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arms’ length transaction. An investment property’s fair value re-
flects the actual market position and circumstances on the bal-
ance-sheet date, best manifested in prices paid for properties on 
the active market on the review date, and the location and condi-
tion of these properties corresponding to those of the property 
under review while applying similar lease or other contracts. 

Using International Valuation Standards (IVS), an external pro-
fessional appraiser conducts the valuation of the company’s prop-
erty at least once a year, or at more regular intervals due to any 
major changes in the market. During 2012 and 2011, Citycon had 
its properties valued by an external appraiser on a quarterly basis.

A ten-year cash flow analysis based on the net rental income 
is used to determine the fair value of investment properties. The 
basic cash flow is determined by the company’s lease agreements 
valid at the valuation date. Upon the lease’s expiry, the market rent 
assessed by an external appraiser is used to replace the contract 
rent. Gross rental income less operating expenses and invest-
ments equals cash flow, which is then discounted at the proper-
ty-specific yield requirements. Yield requirements are determined 
for each property in view of property-specific and market risks. 
The total value of the property portfolio is calculated as the sum 
of the individual properties based on the cash- flow method. 

Citycon redevelops its investment properties. When Citycon 
begins to redevelop its existing investment property, the proper-
ty remains as an investment property, which is measured based 
on a fair value model in accordance with IAS 40. 

The fair value of (re)development projects i.e. investment 
properties under construction (IPUC) is determined under 
IAS 40 and Citycon uses a normal cash flow analysis or a 
special project model to measure the fair value of its (re)
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development projects, depending on the nature of the project. 
Both models take account of capital expenditure on the (re)devel-
opment project and the property’s future cash flows according to 
the (re)development project’s schedule. Citycon takes into account 
the (re)development projects in its fair value evaluation, as soon as 
the Board of Directors has made a positive investment decision 
on the project and the external appraiser considers that sufficient 
information is available for a reliable valuation. In the fair value 
evaluation on 31 December 2012, Citycon valued 3 properties (5 
properties on 31 December 2011) as (re)development projects. 

All potential development projects have been left out of the 
valuation conducted by the external appraiser. The valuation of 
properties with potential development projects is based on the 
situation and the estimated rental value on the valuation date. 
All undeveloped lots, or those under development, are evaluated 
based on their zoning on the valuation date. The value in each case 
was set based on market observations. 

The fair value of Citycon’s investment properties in the bal-
ance sheet equals the property portfolio’s total value determined 
by the external appraiser, capital expenditure on development 
projects that have not been taken into account by the external 
appraiser, as well as the value of new properties acquired during 
the reporting quarter. 

Gains and losses resulting from fair-value changes for invest-
ment properties are stated as separate items in the income state-
ment. 

4.4 Investment properties held for sale
An investment property is derecognised from the statement of 
financial position on disposal or when the investment property 
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic ben-
efits are expected from its disposal. As a main rule, investment 
properties not under construction or development for the pur-
pose of a sale are measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 
40 and presented under ‘Investment properties’ in the statement 
of financial position. However, if the sale of an operative invest-
ment property is deemed probable, such a property is transferred 
to ‘Investment properties held for sale’ in the statement of finan-
cial position. A sale is deemed highly probable when

•	 the Board is committed to a plan to sell the property and an ac-
tive programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan must 
have been initiated,

•	 the property is actively marketed for sale at a price that is rea-
sonable in relation to its current fair value,

•	 the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a com-
pleted sale within one year.

However, investment properties held for sale are still recognised 
at fair value in accordance with IAS 40. Investment properties 
held for sale totalled EUR 5.4 million on 31 December 2012 (EUR 
12.7 million on 31 December 2011).

4.5 Inventory properties
Under IAS 40, a property must be reclassified under inventories in 
the event of a change in the use of the property, evidenced by de-
velopment starting with a view to a sale. If an investment property 
is being built/developed with a view to a sale, it will be treated in 
accordance with IAS 2 Inventories: it is recognised either at cost 
or below at net realisable value. If the property was acquired with a 
view to a sale, it will also be treated in accordance with IAS 2 Inven-
tories. When a property is treated in accordance with IAS 2 Invento-
ries, the property’s value is presented under ‘Inventory properties’ 
in the statement of financial position. Citycon had no inventory 
properties on 31 December 2012 or 31 December 2011.

4.6 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (PPE) are measured at historical 
cost less straight-line depreciation and any impairment losses. 
These assets consist mainly of office machinery and equipment 
and other tangible assets such as artworks. Machines and equip-
ment leased under finance leases are also recognised within prop-
erty, plant and equipment. 

PPEs are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s 
expected useful economic life. The asset’s useful economic life 
and estimated residual values are reviewed on an annual basis. If 
any major differences occur between the values, the depreciation 
plan is revised to correspond to these new values. The following 
depreciation periods apply: 
•	M achinery and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line 

basis over ten years. 
•	O ther PPEs are depreciated on a straight-line basis over three 

to ten years. 
•	T his also applies to tangible assets leased under finance lease. 

Such an asset is depreciated over its useful economic life or 
within the shorter lease term. 

Capital gains or losses on the sale of PPEs are recognised in the 
income statement.

4.7 Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised in the balance sheet, provided 
its historical cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that 
its expected economic benefits will flow to the company. 

Intangible assets are measured at cost less amortisation and 
any impairment losses. 

These assets include mainly computer software. They are am-
ortised over their useful life on a straight-line basis over five years. 

4.8 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
On each balance-sheet date, property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets are assessed to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any indication of an impaired asset 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount must be calculated. Should 
the asset’s carrying amount exceed its recoverable amount, it is 
impaired, and the resulting impairment loss is recognised in the 
income statement.

4.9 Financial assets and liabilities
4.9.1 Recognition and measurement
As required by IAS 39, financial assets are classified into the fol-
lowing categories for measurement purposes: 
1.	 loans and other receivables not held for trading, 
2.	 available-for-sale financial assets and 
3.	 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

The classification of a financial asset is determined by the pur-
pose for which the asset is purchased at the time of its purchase. 

Loans and other receivables not held for trading include finan-
cial assets which the company has created by providing money, 
goods or services directly to the debtor. Initially recognised at 
cost, these assets under current and non-current assets are 
carried at amortised cost. Their balance sheet value is impaired 
by the amount of any credit loss. In the company’s consolidated 
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012 and 31 
December 2011, loans and other receivables include the items 
“Other non-current assets”, ‘Trade and other receivables’ and ‘Cash 
and cash equivalents’.

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative assets 
carried at fair value. Changes in their fair value are recognised in 
the fair value reserve under shareholders’ equity and in the income 
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statement when the asset is disposed of or it has lost its value to 
the extent that an impairment loss must be recognised for the as-
set. Available-for-sale financial assets are intended to be held for 
an undefined period and can be sold at a time deemed appropri-
ate. On 31 December 2012 or 31 December 2011, Citycon had 
no available-for-sale financial assets.

Citycon concludes derivative contracts for hedging purposes 
only. Derivative contracts not fulfilling the criteria set for hedge 
accounting, or for which Citycon has decided not to apply hedge 
accounting, are classified as financial assets or liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as 
1.	 financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or 
2.	 financial liabilities at amortised cost. 

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. After-
wards, financial liabilities excluding derivative debt are recog-
nised at amortised cost using the effective interest method. In 
the company’s consolidated statement of financial position, on 
31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, financial liabilities 
at amortised cost include the items ‘Loans’, ‘Other liabilities’ and 
‘Trade payables and other payables’. On 31 December 2012 City-
con had a foreign exchange derivative contract classified as a fi-
nancial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance 
sheet on the basis of the settlement date. 

4.9.2 Derivative contracts and hedge accounting
Derivatives are initially measured at cost (if available) and 
re-measured at fair value on each balance sheet date. 

Citycon uses interest rate swaps to hedge the interest rate 
cash flow risk. These interest rate swaps hedge against volatility 
in future interest payment cash flows (cash flow hedging) result-
ing from interest rate fluctuations, and the resulting profit fluctu-
ations. Citycon applies hedge accounting to the majority of its in-
terest rate swaps, under IAS 39, according to which the amount of 
financial instruments’ fair value change stemming from effective 
hedging is recognised under other comprehensive income, where-
as the amount stemming from ineffective hedging is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income under financial income 
and expenses. The amount in the fair value reserve is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income during the period when 
the cash flow from the hedged item is realised and affects earn-

ings. If the criteria for hedge accounting are not met, changes in 
fair value are recognised in full through profit or loss. 

Interest payments based on interest rate swaps are includ-
ed in interest expenses. Changes in “fair value through profit or 
loss” are recognised as financial expenses or income, if hedge 
accounting is not applied. The fair value of interest rate swaps 
is shown in current or non-current receivables or short-term or 
long-term liabilities in the statement of financial position. The 
fair value of interest rate swaps is based on the present value of 
estimated future cash flows. As of 31 December 2012 all City-
con’s interest rate swaps were under hedge accounting.

The company uses foreign exchange derivatives to hedge 
against exchange rate risk relating to financial assets and liabili-
ties denominated in foreign currency. Fair value changes related 
to foreign exchange derivatives are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income, since fair value changes related to fi-
nancial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are also recognised therein.

4.9.3 Embedded derivatives
Under IAS 39, an embedded derivative – a derivative instrument 
included in another contract, or a host contract, whose financial 
characteristics are not closely related to those of its host con-
tract – must be separated from the host contract under certain 
circumstances, accounted for at fair value and changes in its fair 
value must be recognised in the statement of comprehensive in-
come. The Group has no embedded derivatives.

4.9.4 Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset is impaired if its carrying amount exceeds its es-
timated recoverable amount. If there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset measured at amortised cost is impaired, the 
resulting impairment loss must be recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income. If the amount of impairment loss de-
creases during a subsequent financial period and this fall can be 
regarded as relating to an event after the date of impairment 
recognition, the asset’s impairment will be reversed.

4.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank deposits with-
drawable on call, and other short-term, highly liquid investments. 
A maximum maturity of three months from the date of acquisi-
tion applies to cash and cash equivalents.

4.11 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The company has a single 
series of shares, with each share entitling to one vote at general 
meetings of shareholders. The shares have no nominal value, and 
there is no maximum amount to share capital.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new or-
dinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net 
of tax, from the proceeds. Where any group company purchases 
the company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the con-
sideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental 
costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable 
to the company’s equity holders until the shares are reissued. 
Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any con-
sideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included 
in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders.

4.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when Citycon has a present legal or con-
structive obligation as a result of past events, when it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate of the amount of this obligation can be made. 

Long-term provisions shown in the financial statements are 
based on net present values.

4.13 Income recognition
4.13.1 Rental income
Leases based on Citycon as a lessor renting out investment prop-
erties are classified under operating leases, since Citycon retains 
a significant share of risks and rewards of ownership. Rental in-
come from operating leases is spread evenly over the lease term.

Citycon also has leases including rent-free periods or rental dis-
counts and which have been agreed in the original lease. Such lease 
incentives are treated according to SIC Interpretation 15 Operat-
ing Leases – Incentives and are recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term, although rent payments are not received on the 
same basis. Citycon has also allowed rental discounts which have 
not been agreed in the original lease. In such cases, the leasehold-
er has requested a rental discount due to the market situation or 
the property’s (re)development project. Such temporary rental 
discounts are recognised in the income statement during the 
period for which rent reductions have been granted.

On behalf of the lessee, Citycon may perform alteration 
work on premises rented by the lessee and charge the 
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lessee for the resulting costs, in the form of a rent increase. The 
Group recognises the alteration-related rent increase as rental in-
come over the lease term. Rent increase and the expense arising 
from the alteration work are taken into account when measuring 
the fair value of investment property.

4.13.2 Service charges
Service charges are recognized in the period in which the expense 
it relates to is expensed. Service charges are included gross of the 
related costs in turnover as Citycon considers to act as principal 
in this respect. 

Deeming itself the principal is based on the fact that Citycon 
selects the maintenance service providers for its properties, 
concludes agreements with property maintenance suppliers and 
bears the credit risk associated with maintenance. In addition, 
the tenant doesn’t have a possibility to select the property main-
tenance service provider, nor can the tenant impact the service 
providers’ pricing.

Service income, such as marketing income, is recognised for 
the period during which the services are provided. 

4.13.3 Sale of an existing property
A property is deemed as sold when the significant risks and re-
wards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer.

4.13.4 Sale of a property under construction
When property is under (re)development and agreement has been 
made to sell such property when construction is complete, Citycon 
considers whether it was agreed to construct a property or to sell a 
completed property. If agreed to sell the completed property, the 
property is regarded as sold when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. If agreed to con-
struct a property, the revenue from disposal is recognised using the 
percentage of completion method as construction progresses, if 
the risks and rewards of the work in progress are transferred to the 
buyer as construction progresses.

4.13.5 Interest income
Interest income is recognised according to the time that has 

elapsed, using the effective interest method.

4.13.6 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive a 

dividend is established.

4.14 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are usually expensed as incurred. However, bor-
rowing costs, such as interest expenses and arrangement fees, 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that 
asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a sub-
stantial period of time to be ready for its intended use or sale. Cap-
italisation commences when the refurbishment of a property, or 
the construction of a new building or extension, begins and ceases 
once the building is ready for lease. Capitalisable borrowing costs 
include costs of funds borrowed for a construction project or costs 
attributable to a construction project multiplied by the capitalisa-
tion rate. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average cost of 
Citycon’s borrowings for the financial year. Borrowing costs arising 
from the purchase cost of land are also capitalised on the develop-
ment project, but only when activities necessary to preparing the 
asset for development are in progress on the purchased land.

Loan-related transaction expenses clearly associated with 
a specific loan are included in the loan’s cost on an accrual basis 
and recognised as financial expenses, using the effective interest 
method.

4.15 Taxes
Income taxes include taxes based on the taxable income of Group 
companies for the financial period, adjustments for previous pe-
riods’ taxes and changes in deferred taxes. Tax based on taxable 
income for the period is calculated in accordance with the tax leg-
islation enacted in each country.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities, 
and their carrying amounts. A major temporary difference arises 
between the fair value and taxable value of investment properties. 
In such a case, taxes are calculated on the difference between the 
property’s fair value and the debt-free acquisition cost of shares in 
the mutual real estate company in question, or the non-depreciated 
residual value of the directly owned property. 

It is the company’s policy to realise its shareholding in proper-
ty companies by selling the shares it holds. For properties owned 
abroad, such deferred taxes are not recognised because, due to 
the ownership structure, property disposal does not lead to tax 
implications. 

No deferred tax on subsidiaries’ retained earnings is recog-
nised, to the extent that the difference is unlikely to be discharged 
in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it ap-
pears probable that future taxable profit will be available, against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

If the recognition of deferred taxes is attributable to an item 
recognised in shareholders’ equity, such as a change in the fair val-
ue of a derivative instrument used for hedging purposes, deferred 
taxes will also be recognised in shareholders’ equity. 

The tax rate enacted by the balance sheet date is used to de-
termine deferred tax.

4.16 Leases –Citycon as lessor
Leases, for which Citycon acts as a lessee, are classified as fi-
nance leases and recognised as assets and liabilities if the risks 
and rewards related to the property have been passed on to the 
company. Leases are classified at their inception and recognised 
at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
and the fair value of the asset under PPE and financial liabilities. 
PPE is depreciated over its useful economic life or during the 
lease term. Lease payments in the income statement are recog-
nised as interest or the repayment of financial liabilities.

Leases are classified as operating leases if substantially all of 
the risks and rewards inherent in holding such leased assets have 
not been transferred to the lessee. 

4.17 Pensions
The Group’s employee pension cover is based on statutory pension 
insurance. Pension schemes are classified into two categories: de-
fined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. Where contribu-
tions under defined contribution plans are recognised in the income 
statement for the period during which such contributions are made, 
defined benefit pension plans are based on actuarial calculations. 

Defined benefit schemes’ assets are measured at fair value, 
their obligations at discounted present value and any net surplus or 
deficit is recognised in the balance sheet. Actuarial gains and loss-
es are charged or credited to equity through other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they arise. Service cost is spread sys-
tematically over the working life. Professional actuaries perform 
these calculations using the projected credit method.

4.18 Share-based payments
Citycon has applied IFRS 2 Share-based Payment to its stock op-
tions and to the long-term share-based incentive plan. Such stock 
options and share-based incentive plans are measured at fair val-
ue on the grant date and expensed over their vesting period. Stock 
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options granted before the above date have not been expensed. 
Citycon uses the Black & Scholes option-pricing model to 

measure the fair value of stock options.

4.19 Dividend distribution
Dividends to the company’s shareholders are recognised as a lia-
bility in the consolidated statement of financial position, for the 
period during which the Annual General Meeting of shareholders 
approves the dividends.

5. Key estimates and assumptions, 
and accounting policies requiring judgment
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS 
requires the use of estimates and assumptions. Judgment is also 
required in the application of certain accounting policies. These 
may affect the reported assets and liabilities, recognition of in-
come and expenses for the period, and other information such 
as the presentation of contingent liabilities. Although these esti-
mates are based on the best knowledge and current information 
available, the actual results may differ from the estimates. 

5.1 Key estimates and assumptions
Estimates and assumptions bearing a significant risk concerning a 
material change in the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities are 
presented in the following.

5.1.1 Fair value of investment properties
Measuring the fair value of investment property is a key account-
ing policy that involves the management’s judgement and assump-
tions about future uncertainties. Market rents, occupancy rate, 
operating expenses and yield requirement form the key variables 
used in the investment property’s fair-value measurement. The 
evaluation of these variables involves the management’s judge-
ment and assumptions. On 31 December 2012, the fair value of 
investment properties totalled EUR 2,714.2 million (EUR 2,522.1 
million). An analysis of investment properties’ sensitivity to key 
variables is presented under Note 17. Investment Properties.

Citycon uses a net rental income based cash flow analysis to 
measure the fair value of its investment properties. Net rental in-
come and the yield requirement of each property must be defined 
for the cash flow analysis. Net rental income equals gross rental 
income less operating expenses. The yield requirement is used 
for discounting the yearly net rental income less investments, to 
which the discounted residual value and other assets, such as un-

used building rights and lots, are added to obtain the fair value of 
investment property. The key parameters of the cash flow analy-
sis are the following items: 
•	M arket rents, which affect rental income in the cash flow analy-

sis, are determined by market supply and demand. The external 
appraiser defines the market rents for each property. 

•	T he occupancy rate stands for that part of the leasable space 
(Gross Leasable Area, GLA) that is leased. The occupancy rate 
is determined by the lease agreements valid on the valuation 
date. Upon a lease expiry, measuring the occupancy rate in-
volves the management’s assumptions. The occupancy rate 
affects the yearly rental income. 

•	O perating expenses comprise costs resulting from the prop-
erty’s management, maintenance, heating, electricity, water 
supply etc. Operating expenses are determined based on the 
previous year’s operating expenses and the benchmark data 
collected by the external appraiser. 

•	T he yield requirement comprises risk-free interest as well as 
property-specific and market risk. The property-specific risk 
is defined by Citycon and this definition involves the manage-
ment’s judgement and assumptions. Market risks are defined 
by an external appraiser. Yield requirement is used as the dis-
count rate in the cash flow analysis. When the yield requirement 
decreases, the fair value of investment properties increases.

Other variables involving estimates and assumptions are the cur-
rent leases’ extension probability, the duration of vacant areas, 
investments, the inflation rate and rental growth assumptions. 

Citycon uses a normal cash-flow analysis or a special project 
model to measure the fair value of its (re)development projects 
depending on the nature of the project. Although the project mod-
el applies principles similar to those used in the cash flow analysis 
measuring the investment property’s fair value, it is better suited 
to modelling changes, in many cases significant ones, in premises 
and contracts during the development project. Based on the pro-
ject model, the property can be divided into different parts and 
the current leases, future leases, project schedules and capital ex-
penditure can be defined for each of these parts, which may com-
prise the various floors, areas or a larger space within the building. 
In addition, risks associated with the development project and the 
property’s future use can be defined for the yield requirement for 
development projects. Following this, each part is subject to the 
cash flow analysis and the parts’ combined cash flow constitutes 
the development project’s fair value. 

When evaluating the fair value of (re)development projects, 

either with a normal cash flow analysis or with the use of a special 
project model, the judgement or assumptions about future invest-
ments, rental agreements and the project’s timetable must be made.

5.1.2 Taxes Citycon is subject to income taxation in several coun-
tries. The complexity of tax legislation, as well as constant chang-
es in it and in the operating environment, require Citycon to use 
estimates and assumptions when preparing its tax calculations. 
Future taxable income is uncertain, and the final amount of tax-
es may deviate from the originally recorded amount. If final tax 
deviates from originally recorded amounts, such differences may 
affect the period’s taxable profit, tax receivables or liabilities as 
well as deferred tax assets or liabilities. Citycon’s current taxes 
in 2012 amounted to EUR 1.4 million (EUR 0.9 million in 2011).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts.

The major temporary difference arises between the fair val-
ue and taxable value of investment properties. Under the policy 
adopted by Citycon, deferred tax describes the tax payable on 
potential gains on sale in the case of a property being sold. This 
means that Citycon needs to estimate the future realisation of its 
property sales. In the main, Citycon realises its properties’ sales 
by selling shares representing ownership in the property and by 
reporting deferred tax according to this rule. Deferred tax liability 
recognised from the difference between the fair value and taxa-
ble value of investment properties was EUR 64.0 million on 31 
December 2012 (EUR 57.5 million on 31 December 2011).

Other main temporary differences relate to unused tax losses 
and financial instruments. When tax receivables are recognised 
for tax losses that have been confirmed in taxation, the company 
must evaluate whether it is probable that such tax losses can be 
used against a taxable profit arising in the future. Deferred tax 
asset from tax losses amounted to EUR 1.0 million million on 31 
December 2012 (EUR 1.1 million on 31 December 2011).

No deferred tax is recognised on subsidiaries’ retained earn-
ings, to the extent that it is considered unlikely that such a dif-
ference will be discharged in the future. On 31 December 2012, 
Citycon had confirmed losses for which tax assets of EUR 22.0 
million (EUR 19.4 million in 2011) were not recognised.

Deferred taxes are calculated on the balance sheet day us-
ing valid tax rates.
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5.2 Accounting policies requiring judgment
Citycon must use judgement when appling the following account-
ing policies.

5.2.1 Classification of properties
Citycon uses judgment when classifying its properties into invest-
ment properties, inventory properties or investment properties 
held for sale, according to the following policies:
•	 Properties which are neither held for sale nor used in Citycon’s 

administration or other operations but, rather, held to earn 
rentals or for capital appreciation or both, are classified as in-
vestment properties. Citycon had investment properties EUR 
2,714.2 million on 31 December 2012 (EUR 2,522.2 million 
on 31 December 2011.

•	 Properties in which a redevelopment is initiated for the purpose 
of a sale, or which are being built/developed with a view to a sale, 
are classified as inventory properties. Citycon had no inventory 
properties on 31 December 2012 or 31 December 2011.

•	 Properties which are held to earn rentals and/or for capital ap-
preciation, but whose sale is deemed probable, are classified 
as investment properties held for sale. Citycon had investment 
properties held for sale EUR 5.4 million on 31 December 2012 
(EUR 12.7 million on 31 December 2011).

5.2.2 Business acquisitions and asset acquisitions
Citycon purchases investment properties through asset acqui-
sitions and business acquisitions. It applies IAS 40 Investment 
Property to the accounting treatment of asset acquisitions and 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations to the accounting treatment of 
business acquisitions. Citycon exercises judgement in assessing 
whether the purchase of an investment property or an investment 
property portfolio is classified as an asset acquisition or business 
acquisition. Acquisitions are treated as business acquisitions 
when significant set of activities is acquired in addition to the 
property. The significance of activities is assessed in accordance 
with the definition of ancillary services (e.g. maintenance, clean-
ing, security, book-keeping, etc.) of IAS 40. Citycon didn’t have any 
business acquisitions in 2012 and 2011.

5.2.3 Sale of investment properties
When investment properties are sold, Citycon exercises 

judgement in estimating whether the sale is classified as a 
real estate sale or sale of a business. For Citycon, charac-

teristics of a sale of a business include, for example, the 

6. GROSS RENTAL INCOME		
A) Breakdown of gross rental income
		
EUR million 2012 2011

Straight-lining of lease incentives 0.3 0.3
Temporary rental discounts -2.4 -2.4
Additional rent from turnover based rental 
agreements 3.9 3.8
Gross rental income (excl. items above) 224.2 204.3
Total 225.9 206.0

B) General description of Citycon's lease agreements
In accordance with the table presented below, Citycon had 3,846 
lease agreements on 31 December 2012 (3,955 agreements 
on 31 December 2011). The decrease in number of lease agree-
ments were due to divestments of non-core properties in Finland 
and in Sweden. In the majority, i.e. in 89 per cent (89% on 31 Dec. 
2011) of Citycon’s leases the rent is divided into base rent and the 
maintenance charge. Base rent is typically tied to the cost-of-liv-
ing index. The maintenance charge, charged separately from the 

lessee, covers operating expenses incurred by the property owner 
due to property maintenance.

Part of Citycon's lease agreements also contain a turno-
ver-linked component in addition to a cost-of-living -indexation. 
Turnover based rent agreements accounted for roughly 53 per 
cent (49 per cent at 31.12.2011) of Citycon’s lease portfolio at 
31.12.2012. In Note 6. A) Breakdown of gross rental income, the 
additional rent received from turnover based rental agreements 
is presented.

Thus, Citycon’s leases are chiefly leases with contingent rent 
payments in accordance with IAS 17.4, because majority of the 
lease portfolio is tied to the cost-of-living index, a predetermined 
minimum rent increase and/or the lessee’s turnover.

Number of lease agreements 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Finland 1,802 1,699
Sweden 1,474 1,818
Baltic Countries and New Business 570 438
Total 3,846 3,955

In accordance with the table presented below, the average re-
maining length of Citycon's lease portfolio was 3.5 years on 31 
December 2012 (3.4 years on 31 December 2011). Citycon 
mainly seeks to prepare fixed-term contracts. As a main rule, 
new leases are signed for a fixed period in all countries. Alongside 
storage facilities and individual parking spaces, apartments form 
the main exception to this. Fixed-term agreements represented 
about 78 per cent of Citycon’s property portfolio on 31 December 
2012 (78 percent on 31 December 2011) and initially fixed-term 
contracts 12 per cent on 31 December 2012 (10 per cent on 31 
December 2011). The rest of the agreements are leases in effect 
until further notice (9 percent out of all leases on 31 December 
2012 and 12 percent on 31 December 2011).

A new lease’s duration depends on the type of premises to be 
leased and the tenant. With an anchor tenant, the company typi-
cally concludes long-term leases of 10 or even 20 years. Leases 
for smaller retail premises, however, are chiefly negotiated for a 
term of 3–5 years

Average remaining length of lease portfolio 
at the end of financial year, year 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Finland 3.7 3.5
Sweden 3.0 2.9
Baltic Countries and New Business 3.7 4.2
Average 3.5 3.4

sale of a major line of business or geographical area of operations 
that also involves the transfer of staff and/or management essen-
tial to the business. 

In the case of real estate sale, IAS 40 Investment Property or 
IAS 2 Inventory based accounting treatment is applied. Policies 
concerning the sale of individual investment properties or proper-
ties are described in 4.4 Investment properties held for sale and 
4.5 Inventory properties.

In the case of sale of a business, IFRS 5, Non-current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations based accounting 
treatment is applied. Businesses i.e. disposal groups such as 
segments or property portfolios are classified as non-current as-
sets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered, 
principally through a sale transaction, and a sale is considered 
highly probable. A sale is considered highly probable based on 
the policies presented under 4.4 Investment properties held for 
sale. Profit for the period from the business held for sale must 
be stated as a separate item in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, while the business held for sale must 
be presented in the statement of financial position, separately 
from other assets. In addition, liabilities under the business held 
for sale must be presented in the statement of financial position, 
separately from other liabilities. Citycon had no businesses held 
for sale on 31 December 2012 or 31 December 2011.
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Baltic Countries and New Business
Citycon owns four shopping centres in the Baltic region, three in Estonia and one in Lithuania. In addi-
tion Citycon owns one shopping Centre in Denmark. 

EUR million 1 Jan.-31 Dec. 2012 Finland Sweden

Baltic 
Countries 

and New 
Business Other Total

 Gross rental income 137.0 60.3 28.6 - 225.9
 Service charge income 6.3 2.8 4.2 - 13.3

Turnover 143.2 63.1 32.8 - 239.2
 Property operating expenses 44.7 22.9 8.2 0.0 75.8
 Other expenses from leasing operations 0.3 1.0 0.0 0.0 1.4

Net rental income 98.2 39.2 24.6 0.0 162.0
 Direct administrative expenses 9.1 5.1 1.0 11.3 26.5
 Other operating income and expenses 0.2 0.0 0.0 - 0.2

EPRA operating profit 89.3 34.0 23.7 -11.4 135.7
Indirect administrative expenses - - - - -
Net fair value losses/gains on investment property -0.9 9.0 15.4 - 23.6
Losses/gains on disposal of investment property -1.0 5.1 0.0 - 4.2

Operating profit/loss 87.5 48.2 39.1 -11.4 163.4
Net financial income and expenses -68.1 -68.1
Share of profit/loss of jointly controlled entitities 0.2 0.2
Income tax expense -7.8 -7.8

Profit for the period 87.7

Allocated assets
Investment properties 1,659.0 739.2 316.0 - 2,714.2
Investment properties held for sale 5.4 - - - 5.4
Other allocated assets 8.5 10.2 1.1 59.5 79.4

Unallocated assets
Deferred tax assets 19.5 19.5
Derivative financial instruments - -

Assets 1,672.9 749.4 317.1 79.0 2,818.5

Allocated liabilities
Trade and other payables 14.0 21.0 3.7 42.7 81.4

Unallocated liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 1,533.2 1,533.2
Deferred tax liabilities 66.0 66.0
Derivative financial instruments 76.3 76.3
Other unallocated liabilities 1.6 1.6

Liabilities 14.0 21.0 3.7 1,719.9 1,758.6

Capital expenditure 119.9 18.1 23.0 0.7 161.7

C) Future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases
Non-cancellable leases include fixed-term and initially fixed-term leases until the end of their terms. 
Leases in effect until further notice are assumed as non-cancellable leases for the equivalent of their 
notice period.

EUR million 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Not later than 1 year 45.0 50.7
1-5 years 133.7 112.6
Over 5 years 49.0 46.2
Total 227.8 209.5

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The presentation of segment information is based on the Group's geographical business units. In 
turn, these units are based on the Group’s organisational structure and internal financial reporting. 
Furthermore, the Group's profit is reported to the Board of Directors, which is the chief operating 
decision maker, by the geographical business units. Citycon's management and Board of Directors 
assess the business units' performance on the basis of net rental income and EPRA operating profit. 
Fair value changes are also reported to Citycon's management and Board of Directors, by business 
unit. In addition to geographical business units, Citycon's management and Board of Directors moni-
tor property-specific net rental income.

Segment assets and liabilities consist of operating items which the segment uses in its operations 
or which can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items include tax and 
financial items, as well as corporate items. No internal sales take place between segments.

Capital expenditure includes additions to the investment properties, property, plant and equip-
ment and intangible assets in the statement of financial position.

Citycon’s turnover mainly consists of rental income. Rental income arises mainly from retail prem-
ises from two different property types: shopping centres, and supermarkets and shops. Citycon pre-
sents its gross rental income broken down by property type.

Principal customers include the five biggest tenants, one of whose share of gross rental income ex-
ceeds 10 per cent. The proportion of gross rental income and the segment is specified for each of these 
tenants. The proportion of gross rental income is based on the rent roll at 31 Dec. 2012 and at 31 Dec. 
2011. 

A) Segment information
The geographical segments are Finland, Sweden and the Baltic Countries and New Business. The seg-
ment Other mainly includes the administrative expenses arising from the Group's headquarter.

Finland
Citycon is Finland’s largest company in the shopping-centre business. It owns 23 shopping centres, in 
addition to 36 other properties. 30 of the Finnish properties are located in the Helsinki Metropolitan 
Area and 29 elsewhere in Finland. 

Sweden 
Citycon has nine shopping centres and five other retail properties in Sweden. Eight of the properties in 
Sweden are located in the Greater Stockholm Area, four in the Greater Gothenburg Area and two in Umeå.
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8. PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES
EUR million 2012 2011

Heating and electricity 25.1 24.2
Maintenance expenses 25.4 23.3
Land lease fees and other rents 1.8 1.3
Property personnel expenses 0.8 0.6
Administrative and management fees 2.3 2.3
Marketing expenses 5.6 5.6
Property insurances 0.6 0.5
Property taxes 7.1 6.4
Repair expenses 7.0 7.5
Other property operating expenses 0.2 -0.1
Total 75.8 71.6

Two properties generated no income during the year 2012 (in 2011 one property ), while these gener-
ated expenses of EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.0 million)

EUR million 1 Jan.-31 Dec. 2011 Finland Sweden

Baltic 
Countries 

and New 
Business Other Total

Gross rental income 127.3 57.4 21.2 - 206.0
Service charge income 5.1 2.7 3.3 - 11.1

Turnover 132.5 60.1 24.5 - 217.1
Property operating expenses 41.7 23.9 6.0 0.0 71.6
Other expenses from leasing operations 0.3 0.9 0.0 - 1.2

Net rental income 90.5 35.4 18.4 0.0 144.3
Direct administrative expenses 7.6 4.9 1.3 13.2 27.1
Other operating income and expenses 0.3 - 0.0 -0.1 0.2

EPRA operating profit 83.2 30.4 17.1 -13.4 117.4
Indirect administrative expenses 0.7 - - - 0.7
Net fair value gains/losses on investment property -40.4 1.7 3.4 - -35.3
Profit on disposal of investment property 0.0 0.3 0.0 - 0.3

Operating profit/loss 42.3 32.4 20.5 -13.4 81.8
Net financial income and expenses -62.4 -62.4

Share of profit/loss of jointly controlled entitities 0.3 0.3

Income tax expense 1.6 1.6

Profit for the period 21.3

Allocated assets
Investment properties 1,547.4 697.1 277.6 - 2522.1
Investment properties held for sale - 12.7 - - 12.7
Other allocated assets 10.6 21.5 1.0 94.9 128.0

Unallocated assets
Deferred tax assets 14.5 14.5
Derivative financial instruments 0.5 0.5

Assets 1,558.0 731.3 278.6 109.8 2,677.7

Allocated liabilities
Trade and other payables 5.1 19.4 1.6 26.8 53.0

Unallocated liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 1,547.9 1,547.9
Deferred tax liabilities 59.8 59.8
Derivative financial instruments 54.5    54.5

Other unallocated liabilities 0.6 0.6

Liabilities 5.1 19.4 1.6 1,689.8 1,715.9

Capital expenditure 62.5 45.5 108.1 0.6 216.7

B) Turnover by property types
2012 2011

Shopping centres 210.0 187.9
Supermarkets and shops 29.2 29.2
Total 239.2 217.1

C) Major tenants

2012

Proportion of 
gross rental 

income, % Segment

Kesko 16.9 Finland
S Group 5.7 Finland and Baltic Countries and New Business
ICA AB 3.4 Sweden and Baltic Countries and New Business
Stockmann 3.0 Finland, Sweden and Baltic Countries and New Business
H & M Hennes & Mauritz AB 1.7 Finland and Sweden
Total 30.6

Proportion of gross rental income is based on the rent roll at 31 Dec. 2012.

2011

Proportion of 
gross rental 

income, % Segment

Kesko 17.2 Finland
S Group 5.6 Finland and Baltic Countries and New Business
ICA AB 3.4 Sweden and Baltic Countries and New Business
Stockmann 3.1 Finland, Sweden and Baltic Countries and New Business
Tokmanni 1.7 Finland
Total 31.1

Proportion of gross rental income is based on the rent roll at 31 Dec. 2011.
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9. OTHER EXPENSES FROM LEASING OPERATIONS
EUR million 2012 2011

Tenant improvement expenses and commissions 0.1 0.4
Credit losses 1.2 0.8
Total 1.4 1.2

Significant tenant improvements are recognised as investments.
Credit losses include increase of EUR 0.4 million in credit 

loss provisions (decrease of EUR 0.1 million) in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. Credit loss provisions in the 
statement of financial position are presented in Note 25. Trade 
and other receivables.

10. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
EUR million 2012 2011

Personnel expenses 15.5 15.1
Non-recurring personnel expenses arising from 
employment terminations 1.5 1.7
Consultancy and advisory fees as well as exter-
nal services 1) 3.5 4.5
Office and other administrative expenses 4.8 5.4
Depreciation and amortisation 1.2 1.0
Total 1) 26.5 27.7

1) 	 Citycon has made an adjustment to its accounting policies related to the treat-
ment of transaction costs arising from the investment property disposals in 2012. 
Previously Citycon reported transaction costs from the property disposals within 
the administrative expenses, but in the financial statements 2012, Citycon has 
netted the transaction costs from the successful property disposals against the 
net gains on sale of investment properties. 

Non-recurring personnel expenses arising from employment ter-
minations include one-off compensations (incl. pension and social 
charges) payable to 7 persons in 2012 (to 11 persons in 2011) as 
well as estimated one-off compensations related to collaborative 
negotiations in the Finnish Business unit, which were initiated in 
December 2012.

The following audit fees and services from the audit firm Ernst 
& Young Oy are included within the consulting and advisory fees 
included in the administrative expenses and within the adminis-
trative and management fees included in the property operating 
expenses.

EUR million 2012 2011

Audit fees 0.3 0.3
Other advisory services 0.1 0.7
Total 0.3 0.9

11. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
EUR million 2012 2011

Wages and salaries of management
   CEO 1.0 0.5
   Management committee 1.6 1.2
   Board 0.7 0.7

Other wages and salaries 8.4 8.8
Pension charges: defined contribution plans 1.7 1.6
Pension charges: defined benefit plans - -0.1
Social charges 1.2 1.3
Expense of share based payments 1.7 1.7
Total 16.2 15.7

Personnel expenses of EUR 0.8 million (EUR 0.6 million) are in-
cluded in property operating expenses and EUR 15.5 million (EUR 
15.1 million) in administrative expenses.

Citycon used to have a defined benefit pension plan related 
to the pension plan of the previous CEO Petri Olkinuora. As Petri 
Olkinuora left the company, Citycon settled its obligations related 
to Olkinuora's pension plan during 2010. Therefore, there were no 
defined benefit pension liability recognized in the statement of 
financial position on 31 December 2012 and 2011. The defined 
benefit pension income of EUR 0.1 million in 2011 arose from the 
difference between the accrued settlement in 2010 and the final 
actuarial calculations.

The share-based payment plans are described in Note 30. Em-
ployee benefits.

Information on management benefits is presented in Note 33. 
Related party transactions.

Average Group staff by Business Units  
during the period 2012 2011

Finland 61 55
Sweden 33 35
Baltic Countries and New Business 10 11
Headquarter 28 30
Total 132 131

12. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
Depreciation and amortisation of EUR 1.2 million (EUR 1.0 million) 
on machinery and equipment, as well as on intangible assets, is in-
cluded in administrative expenses.

13. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
EUR million 2012 2011

Other operating income 0.4 0.3
Other operating expenses -0.2 -0.1
Total 0.2 0.2

14. NET FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
A) Recognised in the income statement
EUR million 2012 2011

Interest income 0.6 0.6
Foreign exchange gains 31.6 53.8
Other financial income 0.0 0.0
Financial income, total 32.1 54.4

Interest expenses 65.0 61.0
Foreign exchange losses 31.6 53.7
Development interest capitalised -1.8 -2.5
Other financial expenses 5.5 4.6
Financial expenses, total 100.3 116.8

Net financial income and expenses 68.1 62.4

Of which attributable to financial instrument 
categories:
Interest-bearing loans and receivables 48.4 48.0
Finance lease liabilities 0.0 0.0
Derivative financial instruments 19.6 14.1

Other liabilities and receivables 0.1 0.2
Net financial income and expenses 68.1 62.4

In 2012, foreign exchange losses of EUR 3.3 million (gains of EUR 
0.1 million) were recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income from foreign exchange derivative agreements.

Interest on development expenditure is capitalised at a rate 
of 4.34% as at 31 December 2012 (4.31% as at 31 December 
2011).

Citycon's interest expenses in the statement of comprehen-
sive income contain interest expenses from interest-bearing 
debt as well as all interest expenses arising from derivative 
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financial instruments used for hedging purposes. Additional in-
formation on Citycon's derivative financial instruments, their fair 
values and hedge accounting treatment can be found in Note 23. 
Derivative Financial Instruments.

B) Recognised in the other comprehensive income
EUR million 2012 2011

Losses arising during the period from cash flow 
hedges -35.5 -50.1

Less: interest expenses recognised in the income 
statement on cash flow hedges 16.3 14.2
Net losses/ gains on cash flow hedges -19.3 -35.9

15. INCOME TAXES
EUR million 2012 2011

Current tax 1.4 0.9
Tax for prior periods 0.0 0.0
Deferred tax expense/benefit 6.4 -2.5
Income tax expense/benefit 7.8 -1.6

Citycon didn't recognise any current taxes directly in the equity 
during 2012 and 2011.

Reconciliation between tax charge and Group tax at the Finn-
ish tax rate (24.5%):

EUR million 2012 2011

Profit/loss before taxes 95.5 19.7
Taxes at Finnish tax rate 23.4 5.1
Fair value gains and losses from subsidiaries 
owned abroad -10.7 -4.9
Difference in foreign subsidiaries’ tax rate -3.6 -3.3
Unrecognised tax receivables from losses 2.8 2.1
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses -0.6 -0.2
Depreciation and amortisation deducted in 
taxation 2.0 -1.2
Tax free income deducted by the tax exempt 
expenses -5.6 0.0
Other 0.2 0.6
Income taxes 7.8 -1.6

Effective tax rate 8.2 % -8.3 %

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share (basic) is calculated by dividing the net profit/
loss attributable to parent company shareholders by the share is-
sue adjusted weighted average number of shares.

2012 2011

Earnings per share, basic
Profit/loss attributable to parent company 
shareholders (EUR million) 77.2 13.0
IIssue-adjusted average number of shares 
(1,000) 1) 298,090.6 269,675.9
Earnings per share (basic) (EUR) 0.26 0.05

2012 2011

Earnings per share, diluted
Profit/loss attributable to parent company 
shareholders (EUR million) 77.2 13.0
Expenses from convertible capital loan, the 
tax effect deducted (EUR million) 2) 3.1 -
Profit/loss used in the calculation of 
diluted earnings per share (EUR million) 80.3 13.0
Issue-adjusted average number of shares 
(1,000) 1) 298,090.6 269,675.9
Convertible capital loan impact, (1,000) 2) 15,077.2 -
Adjustment for stock options (1,000) - -
Adjustments for long-term share-based 
incentive plan (1,000) 34.2 128.8
Average number of shares used in the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share 
(1,000) 313,202.1 269,804.7
Earnings per share ( diuted ) (EUR) 0.26 0.05

1) 	 Earnings per share key figures have been calculated with the issue-adjusted 
number of shares resulting from the rights issue executed in October 2012.

2) 	 The potential new shares from the conversion of convertible capital loan and the 
expenses from convertible loan (less the tax effect) are not included in calculating 
2011 diluted per-share figures, because the earnings per share basic would be 
less than diluted earnings per share. Adjustments for long-term share-based-in-
centive plan and stock options are taken into account when calculating the diluted 
earnings per share.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted 
average number of shares to assume the conversion of all dilutive 
potential shares. The Group currently has two categories of di-
lutive shares in place: convertible capital loan and stock options. 
Long-term share-based incentive plan was finalised during 2012 
and all incentives granted and paid.	

-	T he holder of the convertible loan has the right, during 12 
September 2006 - 27 July 2013, to convert the loan nominal 
amount into company shares. Based on the conversion price 
applicable on the balance sheet date, the dilution from full con-
version of the loan nominal is approximately 9.8 million shares. 
When calculating the dilution effect, the loss/profit for the pe-
riod is adjusted by the expenses arising from the convertible 
loan (including the tax effect).

- 	S tock options have dilutive potential when the subscription 
price of shares based on the stock options is lower than the 
share’s fair value. The dilutive potential of stock options is cal-
culated by taking account of the total number of shares that 
can be subscribed based on stock options, less the number of 
shares the group could acquire using assets derived from exer-
cising stock options.

- 	T he share-based incentive scheme had a dilutive effect when 
the earning period had ended, the performance conditions for 
the bonus had been fulfilled, and the shares had not yet been 
granted. Long-term share-based incentive plan was finalised 
during 2012 and all incentives granted and paid.

Average number of shares used in the calculation 
of earnings per share days number of shares

1.1.2012 151 288,407,020
31.5.2012 123 288,445,132
1.10.2012 92 326,880,012
Weighted average (daily)  
number of  shares 366 298,090,635

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Citycon divides its investment properties into two categories: In-
vestment Properties Under Construction (IPUC) and Operative In-
vestment Properties. On 31 December 2012, the first mentioned 
category included Koskikeskus in Finland, as well as Åkermyntan 
Centrum in Sweden. On 31 December 2011, the first mentioned 
category included Iso Omena, Koskikeskus ja  Myllypuroin Finland.
as well as Åkermyntan in Sweden and Magistral in Estonia.

IPUC-category includes the fair value of the whole property 
even though only part of the property may be under construction.
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 Contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties are presented 
in Note 32. B) Pledges and other contingent liabilities.

EUR million 31.12.2012
Investment property 

under construction 
Operative investment 

properties
Investment properties 

total

At period-start 526.4 1,995.7 2,522.1
Acquisitions during the period 7.9 50.9 58.8
Investments during the period 34.1 65.6 99.7
Disposals during the period - -1.4 -1.4
Capitalised interest 1.1 0.7 1.8
Fair value gains on investment property 0.6 53.7 54.4
Fair value losses on investment property -1.2 -29.6 -30.8
Exchange differences 0.5 26.3 26.8
Transfer between IPUC and operative invest-
ment properties and transfer into investment 
properties held for sale -373.7 356.5 -17.2
At period-end 195.7 2,518.5 2,714.2

EUR million 31.12.2011      
Investment property 

under construction 
Operative investment 

properties
Investment properties 

total

At period-start 326.1 2,041.6 2,367.7
Acquisitions during the period - 139.9 139.9
Investments during the period 23.5 48.9 72.4
Disposals during the period - -16.6 -16.6
Capitalised interest 0.5 2.0 2.6
Fair value gains on investment property 20.3 19.5 39.8
Fair value losses on investment property -0.2 -74.9 -75.1
Exchange differences 0.1 3.9 4.0
Transfer between IPUC and operative invest-
ment properties 156.0 -168.7 -12.7
At period-end 526.4 1,995.7 2,522.1

Under the IAS 40 Investment Property -standard, Citycon measures its investment properties at 
fair value. An external professional appraiser has conducted the valuation of the company’s prop-
erties using a net rental income based cash flow analysis. Market rents, occupancy rate, operating 
expenses and yield requirement form the key variables used in the cash flow analysis. 

A global property valuation expert Jones Lang LaSalle conducted the valuation of Citycon’s 
properties for the financial statements for 2012 and 2011. Realia Management conducted the 
property valuation for the first three quarters of 2011. The resulting fixed fees based on the 2012 
valuations total EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.2 million in 2011).

The fair value of Citycon’s investment properties in the balance sheet equals the property port-
folio’s total value determined by the external appraiser, capital expenditure on development pro-
jects not taken into account by the external appraiser, transfer into investment properties held for 
sale as well as the value of new properties acquired during the reporting quarter. The reconciliation 
between the fair value determined by the external appraiser and the fair value of investment prop-
erties in Citycon's balance sheet, is as follows.

Me 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Fair value of investment properties determined by the external appraiser as at Dec. 31 1) 2,704.1 2,515.0
Capital expenditure on development projects 10.1 7.1
Fair value of investment properties as at Dec. 31 2,714.2 2,522.1

 1) 	 The properties held for sale (EUR 5.4 million) were not included within the fair value determined by the external appraiser on 31 
December 2012.

The segments' assumptions used by the external appraisers in the cash flow analysis on 31 Decem-
ber 2012 and on 31 December 2011 are presented the table below. In Finland the average yield re-
quirement decreased due to the value increase of the core properties followed e.g. by the progress/
completion the of re-development projects. In Sweden the average yield requirement increased due 
to the overall increase of non-prime property yields in the property markets. Also the divestment 
of residential units contributed to the yield increase. In Baltic Countries and New Business average 
yield requirement decreased due to re-development projects and due to increased demand for re-
tail properties in Estonia. The average market rent for the whole property portfolio increased from 
23.8EUR/sq.m. on 31 December 2011 to 25.1 EUR/sq.m. on 31 December 2012 e.g. due to re-de-
velopment projects, divestment of non-core properties, strengthened Swedish krona and overall 
positive market rent development of the prime properties. The vacancy assumption for the cash 
flow period increased by 10bps to 4.8% (4.7% 31. Dec. 2011) due to increased vacancy in Sweden.

EUR million 31 Dec. 2012 Finland Sweden

Baltic Coun-
tries and New 

Business Average

Yield requirement (%) 6.2 6.0 7.7 6.3
Initial yield (%) 6.2 5.6 7.9 6.2
Reversionary yield (%) 6.8 6.6 8.2 6.9
Market rents (€/m²) 25.9 25.6 20.0 25.1
Vacancy during the cash flow period (%) 4.8 5.8 2.1 4.8
Market rent growth assumption (%) 2.0 1.9 1.6 -
Operating expense growth assumption (%) 2.0 1.9 3.1 -

EUR million 31 Dec. 2011 Finland Sweden

Baltic Coun-
tries and New 

Business Average

Yield requirement (%) 6.3 5.9 8.0 6.4
Initial yield (%) 6.0 5.5 8.2 6.1
Reversionary yield (%) 6.8 6.6 8.4 6.9
Market rents (€/m²) 24.4 23.6 20.8 23.8
Vacancy during the cash flow period (%) 4.9 5.5 2.0 4.7
Market rent growth assumption (%) 2.0 2.1 1.4 -
Operating expense growth assumption (%) 2.0 2.1 3.0 -

Sensitivity analysis
A number of factors contribute to the value of retail properties, such as national and local economic 
development, investment demand created by property investors, and interest rates. While changes 
in investment properties’ fair value have an effect on the company’s profit for the financial year, 
they do not have an immediate impact on cash flow. The yield requirement, rents, the occupancy 
rate and operating expenses form the key variables used in an investment property’s fair-val-
ue measurement, based on a ten-year cash-flow analysis. Sensitivity to change in the prop-
erties’ fair value, or the risk associated with fair value, can be tested by altering the above 
key parameters. The sensitivity analysis below uses the investment properties’ fair value 
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of EUR  2,704.1 million defined by the external appraiser at 31 December 2012 as the starting 
value. Sensitivity analysis indicates that the market value is most sensitive to the market rents and 
yield requirement. A ten percent decrease in the yield requirement results in an approximately 11 
percent increase in market value. Correspondingly, a ten percent increase in gross income increases 
the value by approximately 14 percent. The market value reacts to change in vacancy and operating 
expenses, but their relative effect is not as great as changes to rental income and yield requirement. 

Value of properties (EUR million)
Change % -10% -5% ±0% +5% +10%

Yield  requirement 3,004.6 2,846.5 2,704.1 2,575.4 2,458.3
Market rents 2,331.8 2,518.0 2,704.1 2,890.3 3,076.5
Operating expenses 2,815.3 2,759.7 2,704.1 2,648.6 2,593.0

Change, percentage points -2 -1 ±0 1 2

Vacancy 2,788.8 2,746.5 2,704.1 2,661.8 2,619.5

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
During 2011, Citycon Oyj acquired a 50 % interest in Espagalleria Oy, jointly controlled entity, which 
is the management company of Galleria Esplanad shopping centre in Finland. Included in the con-
solidated financial statements are the following items that represent the Group's interest in the 
assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses of the jointly controlled entities.

EUR million 2012 2011

Total assets 1.0 0.8
Total liabilities 0.2 0.2
Net assets 0.9 0.6

Turnover 3.9 3.1
Net rental income 0.2 0.1
Asset management fee of the property -0.2 -0.2
Profit on valuation of investment property 0.3 0.3
Operating profit 0.2 0.3
Profit for the period 0.2 0.3

Citycon didn't have any contingent liabilities and capital commitments in relation to its interest in 
jointly controlled entities. Jointly controlled entities themselves didn't have either any contingent 
liabilities and capital commitments.

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

EUR million 2012 2011

Acquisition cost Jan. 1 3.9 2.9
Additions during the period 0.5 1.0
Accumulated acquisition cost Dec. 31. 4.3 3.9

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, Jan. 1 2.0 1.4
Depreciation during the period 0.7 0.5
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, Dec 31. 2.6 2.0

Net carrying amount Jan 1. 1.9 1.5
Net carrying amount Dec 31. 1.7 1.9

Intangible assets consisted mainly of computer software and licenses.

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
EUR million 2012 2011

Acquisition cost Jan. 1 3.4 3.0
Additions during the period 1.1 0.4
Accumulated acquisition cost Dec. 31. 4.5 3.4

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, Jan. 1 2.5 2.0
Depreciation during the period 0.5 0.5
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, Dec 31. 3.0 2.5

Net carrying amount Jan 1. 1.0 1.0
Net carrying amount Dec 31. 1.4 1.0

Property, plant and equipment consisted mainly of machinery and equipment.
Machinery and equipment acquired through financial leases amounted to EUR 0.4 million 

(EUR 0.7 million).

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2012:

EUR million 1 Jan. 2012

Recognized 
in income 

statement

Recognized 
in other 

comprehensive 
income 31 Dec. 2012

Deferred tax assets
Tax losses 1.1 -0.2 - 1.0
Measurement of interest-rate swaps at fair value 13.3 - 5.2 18.5
Deferred tax assets, total 14.5 -0.2 5.2 19.5

Deferred tax liabilities
Measurement of investment property at fair value 57.5 6.4 - 64.0
Temporary difference in financial expenses 2.3 -0.2 - 2.1
Deferred tax liabilities, total 59.8 6.2 - 66.0
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Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2011:

EUR million 1 Jan. 2011

Recognized 
in income 

statement

Recognized 
in other 

comprehensive 
income 31 Dec. 2011

Deferred tax assets
Tax losses 1.3 -0.2 - 1.1
Measurement of interest-rate swaps at fair value 4.4 - 9.0 13.3
Deferred tax assets, total 5.6 -0.2 9.0 14.5

Deferred tax liabilities
Measurement of investment property at fair value 59.7 -2.2 - 57.5
Temporary difference in financial expenses 2.8 -0.5 - 2.3
Deferred tax liabilities, total 62.6 -2.7 - 59.8

Citycon’s deferred taxes mainly arise from changes in the fair value of investment properties. In 
2012, deferred tax expense resulting from the changes in the investment properties’ fair value rec-
ognised in the income statement totalled EUR 6.4 million (benefit of EUR 2.2 million). The fair value 
of an investment property reflects the market price that would be paid for the property on the date 
of measurement, while deferred taxes refer to taxes imposed on any gain on sale if the property 
were to be sold.

Citycon’s policy is to realise its properties’ sales by selling its shares representing ownership in 
the property. The ownership structure is mainly organised so that one real estate company owns 
one building. The sale of shares representing ownership in properties owned by subsidiaries abroad 
does not have tax implications. Consequently, Citycon does not recognise deferred taxes related to 
the fair value of investment properties owned abroad. If Citycon did recognise such deferred tax-
es, the tax impact would have been EUR -10.7 million in 2012 (EUR -4.9 million) (See the Note 15. 
Income taxes).

On the contrary, divesting a property in Finland through an asset or share sale does have tax im-
plications, due to which, Citycon recognises deferred taxes arising from the fair value changes of its 
investment properties located in Finland. Deferred taxes are calculated on the difference between 
an investment property’s fair value and its taxable value. The taxable value consists of the acquisi-
tion cost of shares in the mutual real estate company and loans receivable from the company or a 
directly owned property’s undepreciated, residual value.

The change in deferred taxes between the opening and closing balance sheets is recognised in 
the income statement as expense/income.

The fair value of investment properties is measured in accordance with IFRS (International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards). The provisions of Finnish accounting and tax legislation affect the 
value of shares in, and loans receivable from, the mutual real estate company. For instance, invest-
ments conducted by the mutual real estate company or depreciation recorded by subsidiaries with 
outstanding debt entail a change in the value of shares and loans receivable.

On 31 December 2012, Group companies had confirmed losses for which tax assets of EUR 
22.0 million (EUR 19.4 million in 2011) were not recognised, since these Group companies are un-
likely to record a taxable profit, before the expiration of carry forwards of these losses, against 
which loss carry forwards can be utilised. 

22. CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A) Classification of financial instruments and their carrying amounts and fair values

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

EUR million Note 2012 2012 2011 2011

Financial assets
I Loans and other receivables

Trade and other receivables 25 24.5 24.5 33.2 33.2
Cash and cash equivalents 26 51.0 51.0 91.3 91.3

II Derivative contracts under hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments 23 - - 0.5 0.5

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities amortised at cost

I.I Loans
Loans from financial institutions 28 1,304.3 1,308.6 1,439.5 1,442.9
Convertible capital loan 1/2006 28 39.1 39.8 68.1 71.3
Bond 1/2009 28 39.7 40.0 39.6 40.0
Bond 1/2012 28 149.5 150.0 - -
Finance lease liabilities 28 0.4 0.4 0.7 0.7

I.II Other liabilities
Other liabilities 1.0 1.0 0.4 0.4
Trade and other payables 29 82.3 82.3 53.2 53.2

II Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Derivative financial instruments 23 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.6

III Derivative contracts under hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments 23 75.6 75.6 53.9 53.9

B) The principles for determining the fair values of financial instruments
Citycon applies IFRS valuation principles when determining the fair value of financial instruments. 
The following presents the principles for determining the fair values of all financial assets and lia-
bilities.

Cash and cash equivalents, investments, trade and other receivables, trade payables and other 
payables
Due to their short maturity, the fair value of trade payables and receivables and other short-term 
receivables and payables is regarded as corresponding to their original carrying amount. 

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at cost in the statement of financial position 
and subsequently re-measured at their fair value on each balance-sheet date. The fair value of inter-
est-rate swaps is calculated using the present value of estimated future cash flows. The fair value 
of a forward agreement is based on the difference between the exchange rate of the agreement 
and the prevailing exchange rate fixing on each balance-sheet date. The fair value of derivative 
financial instruments is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to settle the 
related agreements. 
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Fair value of interest rate derivative financial instruments is determined by the counterparty banks 
based on customary valuation techniques used by market participants in the OTC derivative market. 
The fair value of foreign exchange derivative contracts is based on quoted market prices. The fair 
value of both interest rate and foreign exchange derivative financial instruments corresponds to 
level 2 according to IFRS7p27a

Loans from financial institutions
Citycon’s loans from financial institutions are floating rate loans which have a fair value equal to 
the nominal amount of the loan. The difference between the fair value and carrying amount is the 
unamortised capitalised arrangement fees of the loans.

Convertible capital loan 1/2006
Convertible capital loan 1/2006 is a fixed rate loan which has a fair value equal to the nominal 
amount of the loan. The difference between the fair value and carrying amount is the unamortised 
capitalised arrangement fees of the loan, together with the market value of the option component 
on the issue date. 

Bond 1/2009 and bond 1/2012 
The bonds 1/2009 and 1/2012 are fixed rate loan which has fair values equal to the nominal 
amount of the loans. The difference between the fair value and carrying amount is the unamortised 
capitalised arrangement fees for the loans.

Finance lease liabilities
The fair value of finance leases is based on discounted future cash flows. The discount rate used 
corresponds to that applied to similar leases.  

23. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A) Nominal amounts and fair values of derivative financial instruments

Nominal 
amount Fair value

Nominal 
amount Fair value

EUR million 2012 2012 2011 2011

Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate swaps 
Maturity:

less than 1 year - - 30.0 -0.5
1-2 years 155.6 -6.0 28.2 -1.3
2-3 years 176.2 -9.0 152.5 -5.7
3-4 years 263.1 -19.9 173.9 -6.6
4-5 years 217.2 -20.2 257.1 -15.0
over 5 years 209.5 -20.6 363.8 -25.4

Subtotal 1,021.7 -75.6 1,005.4 -54.4

Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward agreements

Maturity:
less than 1 year 67.6 -0.7 20.8 0.3

Total 1,089.3 -76.3 1,026.3 -54.1

Interest on floating-rate loans is mainly fixed every three or six months. Interest-rate swaps have 
been concluded for the same periods, to ensure the optimum interest cash flow hedging.

Citycon uses interest rate swaps to hedge the interest rate cash flow risk. The Group applies 
hedge accounting to all of its interest rate swaps valid as at 31 December 2012, under IAS 39, ac-
cording to which the amount of financial instruments’ fair value change stemming from effective 
hedging is recognised under other comprehensive income. 

The fair value of a derivative financial instrument represents the market value of the instrument 
at the prices prevailing on the balance sheet date. Derivative financial instruments are used in hedg-
ing the interest rate risk of the interest bearing liabilities and foreign currency risk.

The fair values include a foreign exchange loss of EUR 0.6 million (gain of EUR 0.3 million) from 
foreign echange rate derivatives, which is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.  

Hedge accounting is applied to interest rate swaps, which have a nominal amount of EUR 1,021.7 
million (EUR 1,005.4 million).

The average fixed interest rate of the interest rate swaps as at 31 December 2012 was 3.07 
per cent (3.16 %).
 
B) Cash flow hedging with derivatives
Cash flow hedging
Interest rate derivatives Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EUR million 2012 2012 2011 2011

Fair value - -75.6 - -54.4

Citycon's cash flow hedges consist of interest rate swaps which are used to protect against expo-
sure to changes in Citycon's interest expense cash outflow for variable rate interest bearing debt. 
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Hedged instruments consist of long term floating rate debt and short term floating rate debt, which 
is expected to be refinanced upon maturity on similar terms.

The critical terms of the interest rate derivatives have been negotiated to match the respective 
terms of the variable rate loans.

The cash flow from all hedged liabilities over time is the basis for determining the gain and loss 
on the effective portions of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges. Gains and losses are ini-
tially recognised under other comprehensive income and are transferred to the statement of com-
prehensive income when the forecast cash flows affect the statement of comprehensive income.

At 31 December 2012 and at 31 December 2011, interest rate derivatives assigned as cash 
flow hedges were assessed as highly effective. The fair values (net of taxes) of these derivatives 
were EUR -57.1 million (EUR -41.1 million) and the change of these fair values (net of taxes) EUR 
-14.1 million (EUR -26.8 million) is recognised under other comprehensive income, taking the tax 
effect into account.

24. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
On 31 December 2012, the Investment Properties Held for Sale comprised one property and one 
plot located in Finland. These transactions are expected to be finalised during Q1 2013. On 31 De-
cember 2011, the Investment Properties Held for Sale included two properties, Floda and Landvet-
ter in Sweden, which were sold in January and March 2012.
Me 2012 2011

Acquisition cost Jan. 1 12.7 1.5
Disposals -25.0 -1.5
Exchange differences 0.5 -
Transfers from investment properties 17.2 12.7
Accumulated acquisition cost Dec. 31. 5.4 12.7

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
EUR million 2012 2011

Trade receivables 7.1 6.2
Credit loss provision -1.8 -1.2

Trade receivables (net) 5.4 5.1
Accrued income and prepaid expenses 4.1 5.2
Tax receivables (incl. VAT-receivables) 10.8 18.6
Other receivables 4.1 4.3
Total 24.5 33.2

Ageing structure of trade receivables:
EUR million 2012 2011

NOT past due nor impaired 0.9 1.6
Past due, less than 1 month 2.2 1.5
Past due, 1-3 months 0.7 0.9
Past due, 3-6 months 0.9 0.6
Past due, 6-12 months 1.6 1.3
Past due, 1-5 years 0.9 0.4
Total 7.1 6.2

Movement in credit loss provisions
Me 2012 2011

At the beginning of the year -1.2 -1.3
Exchange difference -0.1 0.0
Charge for the year -1.1 -0.1
Utilised 0.5 0.2
Unused amounts reversed 0.0 0.0
Credit loss provision at the end of the year -1.8 -1.2

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and their payment terms vary between 2-20 days. Rent 
collaterals equal 2-6 month of rent and other payments.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
EUR million 2012 2011

Cash in hand and at bank 50.6 91.3
Short-term deposits - 0.1
Other bank deposits 0.3 -
Total 51.0 91.3

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement comprise the items presented above. Other bank 
deposits consists of pledged cash accounts related to rental guarantees and redevelopment projects. 

27. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
A) The effect of the changed number of shares on funds included in the shareholders’ equity

Outstanding num-
ber of shares 1)

Treasury 
shares

Share cap-
ital (EUR 

million)

Share 
premium 

fund (EUR 
million)

Invested 
unrestrict-

ed equity 
fund (EUR 

million)
Total (EUR 

million)

1 Jan. 2011 244,564,972 - 259.6 131.1 198.8 589.4
Directed share issue without 
payment to Citycon Group key 
employees 101,325 - - - - -
Directed share issue without pay-
ment to Citycon itself - 145,000 - - - -
Sale of treasury shares 145,000 -145,000 - - 0.4 0.4
Share issue 33,000,000 - - - 98.9 98.9
Return from the invested unrestrict-
ed equity fund - - - - -24.5 -24.5
31 Dec. 2011 277,811,297 0 259.6 131.1 273.7 664.3

Directed share issue without 
payment to Citycon Group key 
employees 36,713 - - - - -
Rights issue 49,032,002 - - - 89.9 89.9
Return from the invested unrestrict-
ed equity fund - - - - -30.6 -30.6
31 Dec. 2012 326,880,012 0 259.6 131.1 333.0 723.7

1) All outstanding shares were fully-paid on 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.
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B) Description of funds and reserves included in the shareholders’ equity
Share capital
The company has a single series of shares, each share entitling to one vote at general meetings of 
shareholders. The shares have no nominal value and the share capital has no maximum value.

Share premium fund
Since the entry into force of the new Finnish Companies Act, no new items are recognised in the 
share premium fund. The share premium fund accumulated before 2007 due to option schemes and 
share issues.

Invested unrestricted equity fund
The invested unrestricted equity fund is credited, for instance, with that part of the subscription 
price of the shares that, according to the Memorandum of Association or the share issue decision, is 
not to be credited to the share capital. The invested unrestricted equity fund accumulated in 2012 
and 2011, due to rights issue and share issues as well as sale of treasury shares. 

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve contains fair value changes of derivative instruments used to hedge cash 
flows.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve contains translation differences arising from the currency translation of 
foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements.  

C) Board proposal for dividends and return from the invested unrestricted equity fund
To the Annual General Meeting to be held on 21 March 2013, the Board of Directors of Citycon pro-
poses a dividend of EUR 0.04 per share for the financial year 2012 (EUR 0.04 for the financial year 
2011) and an equity return of EUR 0.11 per share from the invested unrestricted equity fund (EUR 
0.11 for the financial year 2011). The proposal for dividends and equity return from the invested 
unrestricted equity fund has not been recognised in the consolidated financial statements on 31 
December 2012.

�28. LOANS
All Citycon loans were interest-bearing liabilities on 31 December 2012 and 2011. These inter-
est-bearing loans are outlined here in detail.

A) Breakdown of interest-bearing liabilities

Effective interest
Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

EUR million (%) 2012 2011

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 

Bonds
Convertible capital loan 1/2006 7.580 - 68.1
Bond 1/2009 5.461 39.7 39.6
Bond 1/2012 4.336 149.5 -

Syndicated term loans
EUR 220 million term loan facility Reference rate + 1.400 217.1 221.3
EUR 200 million term loan facility Reference rate + 0.675 202.1 199.7
EUR 190 million term loan facility EURIBOR + 2.200 / STIBOR + 2.550 187.3 -
Refinanced syndicated term loan 2012 Reference rate + 0.675 - 332.6

Revolving credit facilities
EUR 170 million revolving credit facility EURIBOR  + 1.800 13.0 -
EUR 110 million revolving credit facility EURIBOR  + 0.950 103.1 -
EUR 50 million revolving credit facility EURIBOR + 1.500 43.9 -

Bilateral bank loans
EUR 75 million bank loan EURIBOR + 1.550 67.5 71.0
SEK 500 million bank loan STIBOR + 0.600 58.3 56.1
EUR 50 million bank loan Reference rate + 1.950 50.1 50.9
EUR 50 million bank loan EURIBOR + 1.525 49.9 49.9
EUR 50 million bank loan EURIBOR + 1.500 49.9 49.9
EUR 30 million bank loan EURIBOR + 0.750 22.5 27.5
EUR 25 million bank loan EURIBOR + 2.550 23.1 -

Finance lease liabilities - 0.2 0.4
Other interest-bearing liabilities - 129.0 172.5
Total long-term interest-bearing liabilities 1,406.3 1,339.5

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities
Convertible capital loan 1/2006 7.580 39.1 -
Short-term syndicated and bank loans and revolving 
credit facilities - 43.8 133.5
Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities - 11.2 25.9
Commercial papers - 32.5 48.7
Finance lease liabilities - 0.2 0.3
Total short-term interest-bearing liabilities 126.8 208.4

The carrying amounts of term loan facilities, convertible capital loan 1/2006, bond 1/2009 and 
bond 1/2012 are stated at amortised cost, using the effective yield method. The fair values of lia-
bilities are shown in Note 22. Classification of Financial Instruments.
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The market value of the option component on the issue date 
of the convertible capital loan 1/2006 of EUR 15.1 million is rec-
ognised in equity attributable to parent company shareholders, 
under the share premium fund.

Maturity of long-term interest-bearing liabilities
EUR million 2012 2011

1-2 years 321.6 453.8
2-3 years 162.5 315.1
3-4 years 382.2 161.8
4-5 years 283.4 238.1
over 5 years 256.6 170.7
Total 1,406.3 1,339.5

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities by 
currency, EUR million 2012 2011
EUR 844.1 800.3
SEK 553.3 530.2
LTL 8.8 9.0
Total 1,406.3 1,339.5

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities by 
currency, EUR million 2012 2011
EUR 100.5 91.5
SEK 26.0 116.7
LTL 0.2 0.2
Total 126.8 208.4

B) Terms and conditions of subordinated capital loans
Convertible capital loan 1/2006
On 2 August 2006, Citycon Oyj issued a seven-year convertible 
capital loan, 1/2006, of EUR 110 million at a fixed annual nomi-
nal interest rate of 4.50 per cent. After the buyback transactions 
performed during 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2012 the outstanding 
amount was EUR 39.8 million. The loan's conversion price is EUR 
4.05 per share and a full conversion of the loan would result in the 
issue of 9,827,160 shares. The loan’s issue price accounted for 
100.00 per cent of the nominal loan amount, and its maturity date 
is 2 August 2013. 

The main terms and conditions of convertible capital loan 1/2006:
1) 	In the event of company dissolution or bankruptcy, obligations 

on the issuer arising from the convertible capital loan shall be 
subordinated in right of payment to the claims of all unsubordi-

nated creditors of Citycon Oyj, but shall rank pari passu with all 
other obligations which qualify as a capital loan.

2) 	The loan’s principal, including interest accumulated until the 
repayment date, will be repaid in one instalment on 2 August 
2013 if full margin is available for the restricted sharehold-
ers’ equity and other non-distributable earnings, based on the 
company’s and its Group’s latest adopted balance sheet, after 
the repayment. The accrued interest for the loan was EUR 0.7 
million as of 31 December 2012.

3) 	Fixed annual interest of 4.50% will be paid annually in arrears 
on the loan’s principal until 2 August 2013. In the event, that 
the loan is not repaid in full on its maturity date of 2 August 
2013, interest on the unpaid loan principal after that date is 
3-month Euribor plus 5 percentage points. Interest can be paid 
only if this amount can be allocated to profit distribution based 
on the company’s and its Group’s latest adopted balance sheet. 
In the event, that the interest is not fully paid on any interest 
payment date, the interest on the unpaid interest amount after 
the interest payment date is 3-month Euribor plus 5 percent-
age points.

4) The holder of the loan has the right during 12 September 2006 
- 27 July 2013 to convert the loan nominal amount into shares 
of the company. The conversion price of the loan is EUR 4.05 
per share. The conversion price is subject to amendments in 
certain circumstances as specified in the terms of the loan. 
Based on the conversion price, the conversion of the whole loan 
nominal would result in the issue of a maximum of 9,827,160 
shares.

5) 	The company has the right to repay the loan in full on or after 
23 August 2010 at its principal amount, if the closing price of 
the share on each of at least 20 dealing days in any period of 
30 consecutive dealing days is 140 per cent of the conversion 
price in effect on said dealing day.

During 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2012 from the open markets, 
Citycon has repurchased the convertible capital loan for a nominal 
amount of EUR 70.2 million, with a weighted average purchase 
price of 77.0 per cent. The amount repurchased by Citycon equals 
approximately 64 per cent of the initial nominal amount of the 
loans issued. Net financial expenses in the statement of compre-
hensive income include a one-off loss of EUR 0.8 million for the 
buybacks of the convertible capital loan in 2012 (EUR 0.0 million).

C) Breakdown of finance lease liabilities
EUR million 2012 2011

Maturity of finance lease liabilities:
Finance lease liabilities  -  
minimum lease payments

Not later than 1 year 0.2 0.3
1-5 years 0.2 0.4

Total 0.4 0.7

Finance lease liabilities - present value of 
minimum lease payments

Not later than 1 year 0.2 0.3
1-5 years 0.2 0.4

Total 0.4 0.7
Future finance charges on finance leases 0.0 0.0

Total finance lease liabilities 0.4 0.7

Citycon’s finance leases mainly apply to computer hardware and 
office machinery and equipment.

D) Risk Management
Objectives
Citycon uses a holistic Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) pro-
gramme. The objective of risk management is to ensure that City-
con will reach its business targets and to identify key risks which 
may threaten its ability to meet these targets before they realise.

Citycon’s risk management process involves identifying, ana-
lysing, measuring, mitigating and controlling business-related 
risks. The Board of Directors has approved the company’s risk 
management guidelines specifying risk management principles, 
which are subject to updating in order to take account of changes 
in business operations. 

Part of the ERM process includes identification of existing, and 
the planning of new, risk mitigation plans in the event that current 
actions are not deemed sufficient for each risk identified. Suc-
cessful risk management decreases the likelihood of risk realisa-
tion and mitigates the negative effects of realised risk.
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Process
Risk management under ERM in Citycon comprises three main 
elements, namely 1) risk management implemented in the main 
business processes 2) risk reporting and 3) continuous improve-
ment of risk management. 

The risk reporting process gathers analytical data on risks and 
the respective mitigation plans, for reporting to the Board of Di-
rectors. During the risk reporting period, each business unit and 
legal and finance unit independently defines its near term targets, 
risks threatening these targets and mitigation plans related to 
the risks. In order to evaluate the importance of each risk, an es-
timate of the loss associated with the risk is determined together 
with the probability of risk realisation and the effectiveness of 
each mitigation plan on the loss and/or probability. An additional 
feature of risk reporting involves each business unit reporting the 
potentially realised risks during the previous year, and mitigation 
plans put into effect during the period. Risk data is inputted into 
one group-wide risk register, from which business unit risk re-
ports are prepared for the Board of Directors and Audit Commit-
tee. Risk reports to the Board of Directors and Audit Committee 
are prepared in conjunction with budgeting during the autumn.

Organisation
Each business unit and the legal and finance units have a dedicat-
ed person responsible for the ERM process, who is in charge of 
reporting the risks and mitigation plans and following up on their 
implementation. The Group Treasurer prepares the risk report for 
the Board of Directors and Audit Committee. 

Financial risk management
Financial risks have been defined as business critical risks for City-
con. Financial risk arises for Citycon in the form of financial instru-
ments, which are mainly used to raise financing for operations. The 
Group also uses interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives to 
manage interest rate and currency risks arising from operations 
and financing sources. The Board of Directors has approved a 
Treasury Policy which defines the objectives, responsibilities and 
risk management indicators applicable to interest rate, foreign ex-

change, counterparty, liquidity and electricity risk management. 
The execution of financial risk management is performed by the 
Group Treasurer and Treasury Manager, under the supervision of 
the CFO. The Group Treasurer reports compliance with the ob-
jectives, in conjunction with the interim and annual report, to the 
Board of Directors and CFO. 

Citycon’s identified, key financial risks include interest rate 
risk related to cash flow, liquidity risk, credit risk and foreign cur-
rency risk. These risks are summarised below.

Interest rate risk
Citycon’s key financial risk is the interest rate risk of its inter-
est bearing liabilities, whereby changes in money market inter-
est rates lead to fluctuations in future interest cash flows on 
floating rate borrowings. Interest rate risk management aims to 
reduce or eliminate the adverse effect of interest rate fluctua-
tions on the company’s profit and cash flow. The company aims 
at a loan portfolio with the right balance of fixed and variable 
rate debts. Under the company’s interest rate risk management 
policy, the target debt portfolio is one in which a minimum of 70 
and a maximum of 90 per cent of interest bearing liabilities are 
based on fixed interest rates. 

The company uses interest rate swaps to manage its interest 
rate risks and to convert floating rate loans into fixed rate loans. 
A portion of the hedges can also be performed using inflation 
derivatives. The interest sensitivity of Citycon’s loan portfolio 
at the end of 2012 is depicted by the fact that a one-percent-
age point rise in money market interest rates would increase its 
interest expenses for 2013 by EUR 1.4 million, while a fall of 
one-percentage point in such rates would decrease them by EUR 
1.4 million in the same year.

Interest rate sensitivity
The following table shows interest expenses' sensitivity to a 
100 basis point change in short term interest rates, assuming 
that all other variables remain constant. The impact is shown 
as a change in interest expenses resulting from changes in the 
interest rate related to a floating rate debt.

Effect on interest expenses of an increase of 100 basis points
EUR million 2012 2011

Euro 0.9 1.1
Swedish krona 0.5 1.3
Other currencies 0.1 0.1
Total 1.4 2.5

The following table shows the consolidated shareholders' equi-
ty's sensitivity to a 100 basis point change in short term interest 
rates, assuming that all other variables remain constant. The im-
pact is shown as a change in shareholders' equity resulting from 
changes in interest rates, which relate to interest rate derivatives 
under hedge accounting treatment.

Effect on shareholders' equity of an increase of 100 basis points

EUR million 2012 2011

Euro 13.7 14.9
Swedish krona 13.6 15.7
Total 27.2 30.6

Liquidity risk
Given that Citycon’s strategy is to expand in the Nordic and 
Baltic countries, the company will need both equity capital and 
borrowings. Minimum shareholders’ equity is determined by the 
company’s loan covenants. The Group uses cash-flow forecasts to 
continuously assess and monitor financing required for its busi-
ness. Here, the goal is to arrange financing on a long term basis 
and avoid any large concentration of due dates for the loan agree-
ments. Citycon aims to guarantee the availability and flexibility of 
financing, through unused credit limits and by using several banks 
and financing methods as sources of finance.

Citycon's financing policy states that the company's commited 
credit limits or liquid assets should cover all approved and on-go-
ing investments. In addition, available liquidity should provide a 
sufficient buffer for unexpected payments, based on the manage-
ment's assesment of the amount required, and the company will 
arrange committed back-up limits for all funds drawn under com-
mercial paper programmes. On 31 December 2012, unused credit 
limits amounted to EUR 217.4 million.

N
OT

ES
 T

O
 T

H
E 

CO
N

SO
LI

DA
TE

D
 F

IN
AN

CI
AL

 S
TA

TE
M

EN
TS



Citycon Oyj • Financial statements 2012    45

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities, based on contractual payments. The table includes 
both principal and interest flows of loans and payments arising from derivative financial instruments. Future interest payments of float-
ing rate loans have been determined based on the interest rate applicable on the balance sheet date, and are not discounted. Future 
interest payments for derivative financial instruments are based on discounted net present values and future interest rates are obtained 
through interpolation based on the yield curve prevailing on the balance sheet date.

EUR million
31 December 2012 Less than 1 month 1 to 12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Loans from financial institutions 3.4 118.7 1,051.7 260.3 1,434.1
Convertible capital loan 1/2006 - 41.6 - - 41.6
Bond 1/2009 - 2.0 42.0 - 44.1
Bond 1/2012 - 6.4 175.5 - 181.9
Finance lease liabilities - 0.2 0.2 - 0.4
Derivative financial instruments 0.9 18.6 55.8 1.3 76.6
Trade and other payables (excl. interest liabilities) 61.3 9.7 2.5 - 73.5

EUR million
31 December 2011 Less than 1 month 1 to 12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Loans from financial institutions 18.4 236.7 1,162.8 181.7 1,599.6
Convertible capital loan 1/2006 - 3.2 74.5 - 77.7
Bond 1/2009 - 2.0 44.1 - 46.1
Bond 1/2012 - - - - -
Finance lease liabilities - 0.3 0.4 - 0.7
Derivative financial instruments 0.1 10.4 40.5 1.5 52.4
Trade and other payables (excl. interest liabilities) 36.6 2.9 6.3 - 45.8

Citycon's rent revision procedures, long tenor leases and high occupancy ratio generate a stable long-term cash flow profile. Citycon ex-
pects to meet its liabilities shown in the table above from this stable cash flow and undrawn committed credit facilities. In the long term, 
debt refinancings and disposals of investment properties can be considered. The table below shows the maturity profile of the undrawn 
committed credit facilities.

EUR million
31 December 2012 Less than 1 month 1 to 12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Undrawn committed credit facilities - 50.0 167.4 - 217.4

EUR million
31 December 2011 Less than 1 month 1 to 12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Undrawn committed credit facilities - 43.7 210.0 - 253.7

The above mentioned credit facilities are freely available to Citycon based on the group's financing needs.

Credit risk
The Group’s most significant credit-risk concentration relates to receivables from Kesko Group. Citycon controls its receivables within 
the framework of the given credit limits and has not so far identified any major credit risk associated with them. Credit-risk management 
caters for tenant-risk management, which is aimed at minimising the adverse effect of unexpected changes in the customers’ financial 
standing on Citycon’s business and financial results. Customer-risk management is primarily based on the knowledge of the customers’ 
business and active monitoring of customer data. Citycon’s lease agreements include lease deposit provisions used to contribute to 

managing customers' risks. The maximum exposure from trade 
receivables is the carrying amount as disclosed in Note 25. Trade 
and other receivables.

Credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and certain 
derivative agreements relate to a default of a counterparty with a 
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instru-
ments. Citycon invests its liquidity in a manner which does not put 
the nominal amount at risk. Citycon does not, for example, invest 
in equity markets. Citycon's cash and cash equivalents are pri-
marily placed in short term money market deposits, in which the 
counterparties are commercial banks participating in Citycon's 
credit agreements. Citycon's financing policy also sets forth the 
approved financial instruments in which the company can invest, 
and includes counterparty limits for those investments.

Exchange rate risk
Citycon’s entry into countries outside the euro-zone exposes the 
company to exchange rate risk. Exchange rate risk stems from 
transaction risks resulting from the conversion of foreign curren-
cy denominated transactions into local currency, on the one hand, 
and from translation risks in the balance sheet associated with 
investments in foreign subsidiaries.  The company hedges against 
exchange rate risk in the balance sheet by aiming to finance its 
foreign investments mainly in the local currency. The company 
uses foreign exchange derivatives to manage the transaction risk 
on committed transactions. Foreign exchange derivatives may 
also be used to hedge a mismatch between assets and liabilities 
denominated in the same currency in the balance sheet. Currently, 
the company's exchange rate risk mainly relates to fluctuations in 
the euro/ Swedish krona exchange rate.

Foreign exchange sensitivity
The following table shows the sensitivity in the statement of 
comprehensive income to a five percent change in foreign ex-
change rates, assuming that all other variables remain constant. 
Such an impact is attributable to a change in the fair value of 
financial instruments, given the assumed change in foreign ex-
change rates
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Effect of a five percent change in foreign exchange rates on net 
financial expenses
EUR million 2012 2011

Swedish krona 0.1 0.1
Lithuanian litas 0.0 0.0
Total 0.1 0.1

E) Capital management
The objective of the company's capital management is to support 
the growth strategy, maximise shareholder value, comply with loan 
agreement provisions and ensure the company's ability to pay div-
idends. Citycon's capital structure is managed in an active manner 
and capital structure requirements are taken into account when 
considering various financing alternatives. The company can adjust 
the capital structure by deciding on the issuance of new shares, 
raising debt financing or making adjustments to the dividend.

The company's long term equity ratio target is 40 per cent and 
its current syndicated loan agreements require a minimum equi-
ty ratio of 32.5 per cent. The equity ratio of the loan agreements 
is calculated by making certain adjustments to the equity ratio 
defined in the Financial Supervisory Authority standard 5.1. Dis-
closure of periodic information, among other things, adding the 
convertible capital loan issued by the company to the sharehold-
ers' equity. As of 31 December 2012, the company's equity ratio 
stood at 37.8 per cent and the equity ratio as defined in the loan 
agreement was around 40.5 per cent.

Citycon monitors its capital structure based on equity ratio and 
gearing. The formulas for calculating the equity ratio and gearing 
can be found on page 62 in the consolidated financial statements.

Company monitors its capital structure mainly with equity ratio.                           
Equity ratio:
EUR million 2012 2011

Total shareholders' equity (A) 1,059.9 961.8
Total assets 2,818.5 2,677.7
Less advances received 12.2 9.6
./. (Total assets - advances received) (B) 2,806.3 2,668.2
Equity ratio (A/B) 37.8 % 36.0 %

mitment program for the key personnel. The purpose of the stock 
options is to encourage the key personnel to work on a long-term 
basis to increase shareholder value. The purpose of the stock op-
tions is also to commit the key personnel to the company. 

At the end of the period under review the maximum number of 
stock options which could be distributed by virtue of an authori-
sation of the Board of Directors was 6,890,000, and they entitle 
their owners to subscribe for a maximum total of 8,106,085 new 
shares or treasury shares. The stock options will be issued gratui-
tously. Stock options entitle their holders to subscribe for compa-
ny shares within the period specified in the terms and conditions 
of the stock options. If an employee leaves the Group, (s)he will 
forfeit his/her right to exercise stock options for which the share 
subscription period has not begun on the date of the termination 
of his/her employment/executive contract. However, the Board 
of Directors can specifically decide that the stock-option holder 
retains his/her stock options or some of them. The Board of Direc-
tors shall also decide upon the re-distribution of the stock options 
returned to the company. 

At the end of 2012, stock options 2011A–D(I), 2011A–D(II) 
and 2011A–D(III) were held by 20 key employees within the 
Group. The amount of outstanding stock options was 6,505,000 
on 31 December 2012. These option rights entitle their holders 
to subscribe for 7,653,133 shares in 2012–2018.

Citycon uses the Black & Scholes option-pricing model to 
measure the fair value of stock options at the grant date and re-
ports them under personnel expenses in the statement of com-
prehensive income allocated over the instrument’s vesting period. 
In 2012, the expense recognised in the statement of comprehen-
sive income totalled EUR 1.7 million (EUR 1.5 million in 2011). 
The expected volatility is determined by calculating the company 
share price’s historical volatility. 

In order to ensure the equal treatment of the holders of stock 
options 2011 and shareholders, the Board of Directors of City-
con  Oyj decided on 7 September 2012 and 5 October 2012, 
due to rights issue, to adjust the subscription ratio and the sub-
scription price of the stock options 2011 in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of the stock options 2011. Due to the above 
adjustments, the Board of Directors also adjusted the maximum 
total number of shares to be subscribed for based on the stock 
options 2011 to 8,106,085 shares, as permitted by the share 
issue authorisation available to the Board of Directors after the 
completion of the rights issue. The adjustments entered into 
force as of the registration of the adjusted maximum total num-
ber of shares to be subscribed for based on the options with the 
Finnish Trade Register on 8 October 2012.

Gearing-%:
EUR million 2012 2011

Interest-bearing debt total (Note 28)           1,533.0 1,547.9
Less cash and cash equivalents (Note 26)             51.0 91.3
Interest-bearing net debt (A)                                  1,482.1 1,456.6
Total shareholders' equity (B)                                 1,059.9 961.8
Gearing-% (A/B) 139.8 % 151.4 %

Equity ratio increased in 2012 due to the equity raise and the 
profit of the period partly offset by lower fair value of interest 
rate derivatives under hedge accounting, which led to higher eq-
uity as a proportion of total assets. Gearing decreased in 2012 
mainly as a result of a share issue executed in 2012, which led to a 
improved ratio of equity to net interest-bearing debt.

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
EUR million 2012 2011

Trade payables 18.3 18.5
Short-term advances received 11.3 9.6

Interest liabilities 10.6 7.3
Other liabilities 15.6 13.5

Accrued expenses total 26.2 20.8
VAT-liabilities 11.4 4.4
Other short-term payables 15.1 -0.1

Other short-term payables total 26.5 4.3
Total 82.3 53.2

Due dates of future payments of trade and other 
payables:
Due in less than 1 month 61.6 37.8
Due in 1-3 months 6.6 2.8
Due in 3-6 months 2.1 5.4
Due in 6-12 months 1.0 0.8
Due in 1-2 years 2.5 6.3
Due in 2-5 years 8.5 -
Due in over 5 years 0.0 0.0
Total 82.3 53.2

30. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
A) Stock option schemes
Stock option plan 2011
The Board of Directors of Citycon Oyj decided on 3 May 2011, by 
virtue of an authorisation granted by the Annual General Meeting 
held on 13 March 2007, to issue stock options to the key per-
sonnel of the company and its subsidiaries. The company had a 
weighty financial reason for the issue of stock options, since the 
stock options are intended to form part of the incentive and com-
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Option category  Subscription price, EUR Subscription ratio

2011A–D(I) 2.9720 1,1765 (1,0)
2011A–D(II) 3.0910 1,1765 (1,0)
2011A–D(III) 2.5130 1,1765 (1,0)
 The share subscription price will be recognised in the company’s invested unrestricted equity fund. 
Each year, the per-share dividends and equity returns, differing from the company´s normal practice, 
may be deducted from the share subscription price.

Share subscription period 2011A(I-III) 2011B(I-III) 2011C(I-III) 2011D(I-III)

Share subscription period begins 1 April 2012 1 April 2013 1 April 2014 1 April 2015
Share subscription period ends 31 March 2018 31 March 2018 31 March 2018 31 March 2018

Summary of the stock option plan 2011 on 31 December 2012:

Stock option plan 2011
Stock options 

2011A–D(I)
Stock options 

2011A–D(II)
Stock options 
2011A–D(III)

Type of scheme Share-based 
options, granted 

to the Group's key 
personnel

Share-based 
options, granted 

to the Group's key 
personnel

Share-based 
options, granted 

to the Group's key 
personnel

Grant date 3 May 2011 3 May 2011  11 October 2011
No. of instruments granted 2,250,000 2,230,000 2,025,000
Exercise price, EUR 3.17 3.31 2.63 
Adjusted share subscription price, EUR (as 
from 8 October 2012) 2,9720 (3,17) 3,0910 (3,31) 2,5130 (2,63)
Adjusted subscription ratio (as from 8 
October 2012) 1.1765 1.1765 1.1765
Vesting period as per option terms (No. of 
days) (1 332-1427 332-1427 172-1267
Vesting conditions Employment 

during vesting 
period. In case of 

prior employment 
termination, stock 
options forfeited.

Employment 
during vesting 

period. In case of 
prior employment 
termination, stock 
options forfeited.

 Employment 
during vesting 

period. In case of 
prior employment 
termination, stock 
options forfeited.

Exercise  In terms of shares  In terms of shares In terms of shares
Expected volatility, % 35.00 33.00 35.00
Expected exercise period at grant date (No. 
of days) (1 1 095-2190 1095-2190 1095-2190
Risk-free interest rate, % 3.18 2.87 1.73
Expected dividend/share, EUR 0.14 0.14 0.14
Instrument fair value determined at grant 
date, EUR 0.78 0.73 0.46 
Option-pricing model Black&Scholes Black&Scholes Black&Scholes

1) The number of days varies among the sub-categories of the options

Changes in the stock options and their weighted average exercise prices during the period were as 
follows:

2012 2011
Exercise price, 

weighted 
average, EUR/

share
No. of stock 

options

Exercise price, 
weighted 

average, EUR/
share

No. of stock 
options

At period-start 3,12 5,400,000 4.22 1,050,000
New stock options granted 2,70 1,330,000 3.08 6,320,000
Forfeited stock options 2,82 1,150,000 3.31 160,000
Redistributed stock options 2,70 925,000 3.31 160,000
Exercised stock options - - - -
Lapsed stock options - - 4.15 1,050,000
At period-end 2,87 6,505,000 3.08 6,320,000

Exercisable stock options at period-end
The company had 1,667,500 exercisable 2011A(I-III) stock options at period-end. No stock op-
tions were exercised during 2012. 

The adjusted exercise prices of outstanding stock options were 2.9720 (2011A-D(I)), 3.0910 
(2011A-D(II)) and 2.5130 (2011A-D(III)) and the adjusted subscription ratio 1.1765 at the peri-
od-end. 

The above adjustments were made on 8 October 2012 following the rights issue in order to en-
sure the equal treatment of the holders of stock options 2011 and shareholders in accordance with 
the terms and conditions of the stock options 2011. 

The lapse year is the year 2018 of the outstanding stock options. 

B) Long-term share-based incentive plan
On 26 April 2007, Citycon Oyj's Board of Directors decided on a long-term share-based incentive 
plan for the key personnel of the Citycon Group. 

The aim of the share-based incentive plan is to encourage key personnel to make sustained ef-
forts to increase shareholder value and to strengthen their commitment to the development of the 
Group's operations.

The incentive plan has been divided into four incentive periods: 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010. 
The incentives earned through the incentive scheme have been granted to key personnel during the 
years 2008-2012. These incentives have been determined on the basis of Citycon’s consolidated 
adjusted net cash flow from operations per share and net rental income. The Board of Directors has 
annually decided on setting the incentive goals and on the maximum number of incentive shares to 
be granted as well as following each incentive period, confirmed the outcome of the performance 
and results criteria and the number of incentive shares to be granted on the basis of this outcome. 
The incentives have been granted as shares, cash or both. 

Citycon Oyj’s Board of Directors decided on 29 May 2012 to grant all share incentives yet to be 
paid under the share-based incentive plan established on 26 April 2007 meaning the last install-
ment of the incentives for the incentive period 2009 and the second and third, i.e. the last two 
thirds of the share incentives for the earning period 2010.There are no more incentives to be 
granted on the basis of this incentive plan.
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In 2012, expenses from long-term share-based incentive plan recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income amounted to EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.2 million in 2011).
The following table presents additional information on the share-based incentive plan:

Incentive  
period 2010

 Incentive 
period 2009

Incentive  
period 2008

Incentive period 
2007 Total

Grant date
9 February 

2010
22 April 

2009
15 May 

2008
  26 April 

2007 -
Maximum number of shares to be 
granted on grant date 86,800 221,600 82,200 38,700 429,300 
Shares granted in 2008 - - - 4,293 4,293 
Shares granted in 2009 - - 20,109 4,288 24,397 
Shares granted in 2010 - 60,041 18,965 3,960 82,966 
Shares granted in 2011 13,410 68,183 16,700 - 98,293 
Shares granted in 2012 8,890 22,663 - 31,553 

According to the terms and conditions of the incentive plan, a participant can also choose to re-
ceive shares instead of the cash component intended for paying the related income tax. In addition 
to shares granted as presented above, 5,160 shares were granted in 2012 (3,032 shares in 2011) 
instead of paying the cash component in cash.

31. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Me 2012 2011

Profit before taxes 95.5 19.7
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation (Note 12) 1.2 1.0
Net fair value gains(-)/losses(+) on investment property (Note 17) -23.6 35.3
Profit(-)/losses(+) on disposal of investment property (Notes 17 and 24) -4.2 -0.3
Share-based payments (Note 30) 1.8 1.5
Other non-cash income -0.5 -0.7
Foreign exchange losses(+)/gains(-) in financing expenses (Note 14) 0.0 -0.1
Interest and other financing income (Note 14) -0.6 -0.6
Interest and other financing expenses (Note 14) 68.7 63.1

Changes in working capital 
Trade and other receivables (Note 25) 8.1 -4.2
Trade and other payables (Note 29) 0.5 5.8

Cash generated from operations 147.0 120.5

32. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
A) Other leases - Group as lessee
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable other leases are as follows:
EUR million 2012 2011

Not later than 1 year 0.9 0.9
1-5 years 1.8 0.7
Over 5 years 0.2 -
Total 2.9 1.6

Leases mainly concern premises and cars. Leases of premises are in effect until further notice and 
have a notice period of six months. For most leases, rent increases are tied to the cost-of-living in-
dex. Car lease agreements are in effect for three years. While the lease agreements have no renewal 
clause, in practice the contract period can be extended for one to two years.

Lease payments recognised as expenses during the period were EUR 1.1 million (EUR 1.1 mil-
lion) and they don't include contingent rents or sublease payments. Lease expenses recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income are included in Administrative expenses on row office and 
other administrative expenses (Note 10. Administrative expenses)

B) Pledges and other contingent liabilities
EUR million 2012 2011

Loans, for which mortgages are given in security and shares pledged
Loans from financial institutions 28.6 27.7

Contingent liabilities for loans
  Mortgages on land and buildings 37.1 35.9

Bank guarantees 63.8 39.2
Capital commitments 296.1 20.4
VAT refund liabilities 73.4 60.7

Mortgages on land and buildings
Mortgages relate to certain bank loans of the subsidiaries where the subsidiary has given security 
on the loan via mortgages.

Bank guarantees
Bank guarantees relate to bank loans of subsidiaries which Citycon Oyj has guaranteed via parent 
guarantee or alternatively third party bank guarantees.

Capital commitments
Capital commitments mainly relate to an agreement signed on 19 December, 2012 concerning the 
acquisition of Kista Galleria and on-going (re)development projects.

VAT refund liability
There are value-added tax refund liabilities arising from capitalised renovations and new investments 
in Citycon's investment properties. The VAT refund liabilities will realise if the investment property is 
sold or transferred for non-VAT-liability use within 10 years. Exception to 10-year review rule apply 
to investments in Finland that have been completed prior to 2008, and the review period is 5 years.
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43 Lippulaiva Koy Finland 100.0 -
44 Magistral Kaubanduskeskuse Oü Estonia 100.0 -
45 Martinlaakson Kivivuorentie 4 Koy Finland 100.0 -
46 Minkkikuja 4 Koy Finland 100.0 -

47 Montalbas B.V.
The  
Netherlands 100.0 100.0

48 Myyrmanni Koy Finland 100.0 -
49 Oulu Big Street Top Oy Finland 100.0 -
50 Oulun Galleria Koy Finland 100.0 -
51 Oulun Isokatu 20 Koy Finland 100.0 -
52 Oulun Isokatu 22 Koy Finland 100.0 -
53 Porin Asema-aukio Koy Finland 100.0 -
54 Porin Isolinnankatu 18 Koy Finland 100.0 -
55 Riddarplatsen Fastigheter HB Sweden 100.0 -

56
Rocca al Mare  
Kaubanduskeskuse AS Estonia 100.0 -

57 Runeberginkatu 33 Koy Finland 100.0 -
58 Sinikalliontie 1 Koy Finland 100.0 -
81 Stenungs Torg Fastighets AB Sweden 100.0 -
78 Strömpilen AB Sweden 100.0 -
59 Säkylän Liiketalo Koy Finland 100.0 -
60 Talvikkitie 7-9 Koy Finland 100.0 -
61 Tampereen Hermanni Koy Finland 100.0 -
62 Tampereen Koskikeskus Koy Finland 100.0 -
63 UAB Citycon Lithuania 100.0 -
64 UAB Prekybos Centras Mandarinas Lithuania 100.0 -
65 Ultima Oy Finland 100.0 -
66 Valkeakosken Torikatu 2 Koy Finland 100.0 -
67 Vantaan Laajavuorenkuja 2 Koy Finland 100.0 -
68 Varkauden Relanderinkatu 30 Koy Finland 100.0 -
69 Wavulinintie 1 Koy Finland 100.0 -
70 Vaakalintu Koy Finland 95.8 -
71 Lappeen Liikekeskus Koy Finland 90.6 -
72 Lahden Trio Koy Finland 89.5 -
73 Linjurin Kauppakeskus Koy Finland 88.5 -
74 Lappeenrannan Brahenkatu 7 Koy Finland 84.5 -
75 Tikkurilan Kauppakeskus Koy Finland 83.8 -
76 Hervannan Liikekeskus Oy Finland 79.4 -
77 Orimattilan Markkinatalo Oy Finland 77.3 -
79 Åkersberga Centrum AB Sweden 75.0 -
80 Myyrmäen Kauppakeskus Koy Finland 74.0 -
82 Heikintori Oy Finland 68.7 -
83 Kirkkonummen Liikekeskus Oy Finland 66.7 -
84 Espoontori Koy Finland 66.6 -
85 Myyrmäen Autopaikoitus Oy Finland 62.7 -

Parent company: Citycon Oyj Finland
1 Albertslund Centrum ApS Denmark 100.0 -
2 Asematie 3 Koy Finland 100.0 -
3 Asolantien Liikekiinteistö Oy Finland 100.0 -
4 Citycon AB Sweden 100.0 100.0
5 Citycon Denmark  ApS Denmark 100.0 100.0
6 Citycon Development AB Sweden 100.0 -
7 Citycon Estonia Oü Estonia 100.0 -

8 Citycon Estonian Investments B.V.
The  
Netherlands 100.0 -

9 Citycon Finland Oy Finland 100.0 100.0

10 Citycon Hedging C.V.
The  
Netherlands 100.0 -

11 Citycon Holding S.à r.l. Luxembourg 100.0 100.0
12 Citycon Högdalen Centrum AB Sweden 100.0 -
13 Citycon Jakobsbergs Centrum AB Sweden 100.0 -

14
Citycon Liljeholmstorget Galleria 
AB Sweden 100.0 -

15 Citycon Services AB Sweden 100.0 -
16 Citycon Shopping Centers AB Sweden 100.0 -

17 Citycon Treasury B.V.
The  
Netherlands 100.0 -

18
Citycon Tumba  
Centrumfastigheter AB Sweden 100.0 -

19 Espoon Asemakuja 2 Koy Finland 100.0 -
20 Etelä-Suomen Kauppakiinteistöt Oy Finland 100.0 -
21 Forssan Hämeentie 3 Koy Finland 100.0 -
22 Helsingin Hämeentie 109-111 Koy Finland 100.0 -
23 Jyväskylän Forum Koy Finland 100.0 -
24 Jyväskylän Kauppakatu 31 Koy Finland 100.0 -
25 Kaarinan Liiketalo Koy Finland 100.0 -
26 Karjaan Ratakatu 59 Koy Finland 100.0 -
27 Karjalan Kauppakeskus Koy Finland 100.0 -
28 Kauppakeskus Columbus Koy Finland 100.0 -
29 Kauppakeskus Isokarhu Oy Finland 100.0 -
30 Kivensilmänkuja 1 Koy Finland 100.0 -
31 Kotkan Keskuskatu 11 Koy Finland 100.0 -
32 Kristiine Keskus Oü Estonia 100.0 -
33 Kuopion Kauppakatu 41 Koy Finland 100.0 -
34 Kuusankosken Kauppakatu 7 Koy Finland 100.0 -
35 Kuvernöörintie 8 Koy Finland 100.0 -
36 Lahden Hansa Koy Finland 100.0 -
37 Lahden Kauppakatu 13 Koy Finland 100.0 -

38
Lappeenrannan  
Villimiehen Vitonen Oy Finland 100.0 -

39 Lentolan Perusyhtiö Oy Finland 100.0 -

40
Liljeholmstorget Development 
Services AB Sweden 100.0 -

41 Lillinkulma Koy Finland 100.0 -
42 Lintulankulma Koy Finland 100.0 -

C) Legal claims and lawsuits
In 2011, SRV Construction Ltd initiated arbitration proceed-
ings against Citycon’s subsidiary, MREC Espoontori related 
to Espoontori shopping centre’s completed redevelopment 
project. The dispute’s monetary value is approximately EUR 
4.7 million including VAT. Citycon does not expect SRV’s 
claim to have significant impact on the company’s financial 
position or results.

Additional claims have been submitted to the company 
relating to Citycon’s business operations which may possibly 
lead to legal proceedings. In the company’s view, it is improb-
able that the aforementioned claims or associated liabilities 
will have a significant impact on the company’s financial po-
sition or financial results.

D) Equity ratio commitment and interest coverage ratio
Under a commitment given in the terms of the syndicated 
loan facilities, Citycon Group undertakes to maintain its eq-
uity ratio at above 32.5% and its interest coverage ratio at 
a minimum of 1.8. For the calculation of equity ratio, share-
holders’ equity includes capital loans and excludes non-cash 
valuation gain/loss from derivative contracts recognised in 
equity and the minority interest. The interest coverage ratio 
is calculated by dividing the EBITDA - adjusted by extraor-
dinary gains/losses, provisions and non-cash items - by net 
financial expenses.

Accordingly, equity ratio on 31 December 2012 stood at 
around 40.5 per cent and interest coverage ratio at around 2.1 
(2011: equity ratio was around 39.0 per cent and interest cov-
erage ratio around 2.0).

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A) Related parties
Citycon Group’s related parties comprise the parent com-
pany, subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, associated 
companies, minority companies, Board members, CEO, 
Corporate Management Committee members and Gazit-
Globe Ltd., whose shareholding in Citycon Oyj accounted for 
49.0 per cent on 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: 
48.0%).

Group companies on 31 December 2012 Country
Group  

holding, %

Parent 
company 

holding, %Group companies on 31 December 2012 Country
Group  

holding, %

Parent 
company 

holding, %
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86 Vantaan Säästötalo Koy Finland 61.2 -
87 Espoontorin Pysäköintitalo Oy Finland 60.1 -
88 Big Apple Top Oy Finland 60.0 -
89 Manhattan Acquisition Oy Finland 60.0 -
90 Tikkurilan Kassatalo As Oy Finland 59.7 -
91 Espoon Asematori Koy Finland 54.1 -
92 Laajasalon Liikekeskus Oy Finland 50.4 -
93 Espagalleria Oy Finland 50.0 -
94 Retail Park Oy Finland 50.0 -
95 Espoon Louhenkulma Koy Finland 49.9 -
96 Pihlajamäen Liiketalo Oy                     Finland 42.7 -
97 Länsi-Keskus Koy Finland 41.4 -
98 Hakunilan Keskus Oy                       Finland 41.1 -
99 Hansaparkki Koy Finland 36.0 -
100 Kontulan Asemakeskus Koy Finland 34.8 -
101 Puijonlaakson Palvelukeskus Koy Finland 31.3 -
102 Salpausseläntie 11 Koy Finland 31.3 -
103 Jyväskylän Ydin Oy Finland 29.0 -
104 Soukan Itäinentorni As Oy Finland 27.3 -
105 Valkeakosken Liikekeskus Koy Finland 25.4 -
106 Lauttasaaren Liikekeskus Oy                  Finland 23.7 -
107 Hakucenter Koy Finland 18.7 -
108 Liesikujan Autopaikat Oy Finland 8.0 -
109 Martinlaakson Huolto Oy Finland 3.8 -

Partnerships for taxation purposes:
Parkeringshuset Väpnaren Sweden 64.0 -

B) Related party transactions
Group companies
Group companies have paid each other fees such as maintenance 
and financial charges, interest expenses, loan repayments and other 
administrative service charges.

Such income and expenses have been eliminated from the consol-
idated financial statements. There have been no other related party 
transactions between Group companies.

Management benefits
Citycon Group’s key personnel in the management comprise 
Board members, CEO and Corporate Management Committee 
members. The benefits of the key personnel in the management 
are presented in the following chapters.

CEO wages and salaries, EUR 2012 2011

Marcel Kokkeel (CEO as of 24 March 2011) 957,776 448,966
Petri Olkinuora (CEO until 23 March 2011) - 70,464

Citycon’s Board of Directors appoints the CEO and decides on 
the terms and conditions of his/her executive contract in writing. 
In 2011, the Board of Directors appointed Mr. Marcel Kokkeel 
(MA, born in 1958), a Dutch citizen, Citycon’s CEO. According 
to his service agreement, the CEO’s  gross base salary in 2012 
amounted to EUR 589,731.34. The amount of the CEO's base 
salary shall be adjusted based on changes in the Consumer Price 
Index. At the discretion of the Board of Directors, the CEO may 
be awarded an additional bonus up to a maximal amount corre-
sponding to 80 per cent of his annual gross base salary. 50 per 
cent of the amount of the CEO's additional bonus shall be paid 
as cash while the other 50 per cent shall be paid as company's 
shares. In addition to his salary the CEO has in July 2012 received 
a one-off gross payment of EUR 91,844.41 to adjust the net sal-
ary paid in 2011 in accordance with his service agreement.
In July 2012, the CEO was paid as a cash bonus EUR 246,908.32 
and in October 2012 he was issued 79,151 shares of the com-
pany as a share bonus related to CEO’s performance bonus pay-
ment for the year 2011.

In addition, the CEO is entitled to the following fringe bene-
fits: company car, housing, telephone and luncheon benefits. The 
CEO’s pension benefit is in line with mandatory provisions of 
the Finnish Pension Act. The CEO’s service agreement has been 
signed for a fixed term and will expire at the end of February 
2015. The company may terminate the agreement even earli-
er without cause at any time upon six months’ notice period, in 
which case the CEO will be paid, in addition to the salary payable 
for the notice period, a severance pay consisting of 1.5 times the 
annual base salary at the moment of termination as well as 1.5 
times the most recent annual bonus payment.

Related to the company’s Stock Option Plan 2011, the 
CEO has been granted 1,000,000 stock options 2011A–D(I), 
250,000 stock options in each sub-category. 

Personnel expenses for the entire corporate manage-
ment committee, EUR million 2012 2011

Wages and salaries 2.5 1.7
Pensions: defined contribution plans 0.5 0.3
Social charges 0.3 0.2
Total 3.2 2.2

In addition to wages and salaries, the Corporate Management 
Committee members received income of EUR 0.2 million (EUR 
0.2 million) from stock options and share-based incentive plan. 
Also, non-recurring personnel expenses of EUR 0.6 million (EUR 
0.5 million) arising from employment terminations of Corporate 
Management Committee members were recognised in 2012.

The Corporate Management Committee members including 
the CEO held a total of 2 770 000 stock options 2011A–D(I), 
2011A–D(II) and 2011A–D(III) at the end of 2012.

Remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors, EUR 2012 2011

Ashkenazi Ronen 69,000 68,600
Bolotowsky Gideon  
(Board member until 23 March 2011) - 2,000
Katzman Chaim 174,900 170,400
Kempe Roger  
(Board member as of 23 March 2011) 52,500 47,500
Knobloch Bernd  
(Board member as of 21 March 2012) 48,500 -
Komi Kirsi  
(Board member as of 23 March 2011) 54,900 49,800
Korpinen Raimo  
(Board member until 23 March 2011) - 2,200
Lähdesmäki Tuomo  
(Board member until 23 March 2011) - 1,900
Ottosson Claes 53,000 49,000
Segal Dor J.  
(Board member until 11 October 2012) 26,205 46,000
Sonninen Jorma  
(Board member as of 23 March 2011) 52,000 48,000
Wernink Thomas W.  
(Board member until 21 March 2012) 2,000 71,200
Westin Per-Håkan 51,000 49,000
Zochovitzky Ariella 56,700 51,800
Yanai Yuval 21,295 -
Total 662,000 657,400

Board members do not participate in the company's share-based 
incentive schemes. During 2012, the travel expenses of the 
Board members amounted to EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.2 million). 

Group companies on 31 December 2012 Country
Group  

holding, %

Parent 
company 

holding, %
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Transactions with Gazit-Globe Ltd.
Convertible capital loan 1/2006
In August 2012 Citycon Oyj repurchased convertible capital 
bonds issued on 2 August 2006 from its main shareholder, 
Gazit-Globe Ltd. with face value of EUR 20 million. Based on the 
information Citycon has received, after the Citycon repurchases 
Gazit-Globe Ltd. did not hold any outstanding amount of convert-
ible capital loan on 31 December 2012. At the end of the corre-
sponding period on 31 December 2011, based on the information 
Citycon has received, Gazit-Globe Ltd. held 58.9 per cent out of 
the outstanding amount of convertible capital loan, i.e. EUR 40.1 
million out of the carrying amount of convertible capital loan 
amounting to EUR 68.1 million. 

Purchases of services and expenses charged forward
Citycon has paid expenses of EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.3 million) 
to Gazit-Globe Ltd. and its subsidiaries and invoiced expenses of 
EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.2 million) forward to Gazit-Globe Ltd. and 
its subsidiaries. 

Share issue 2011
In July 2011, the company issued 33 million new shares in a share 
issue directed to Finnish and international institutional investors, 
raising approximately EUR 99 million in new equity. Gazit-Globe 
Ltd. subscribed 14.9 million shares in this share issue.

Rights issue 2012
In October 2012, the company issued 49 million new shares in a 
rights issue, raising approximately EUR 91 million in new equity. 
Gazit-Globe Ltd. subscribed 23.6 million shares in this rights is-
sue.

Reporting to Gazit-Globe Ltd
The company’s main shareholder, Gazit-Globe Ltd, holding ap-
proximately 49 per cent of the shares in the company, has an-
nounced that it has been applying International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) in its financial reporting starting from 2007. 
According to IFRS, one company may exercise a controlling inter-
est in another company even if its shareholding in that company 
does not exceed 50 per cent. Gazit-Globe Ltd. holds the view that 
it exercises a controlling interest, as defined in IFRS, in Citycon 
Oyj based on the fact that it has been able to exercise controlling 
interest in Citycon Oyj’s shareholders’ meetings pursuant to its 
shareholding. In accordance with an agreement concluded be-

tween the companies, Citycon Oyj will provide Gazit-Globe Ltd. 
with a more detailed breakdown of the accounting information it 
discloses in its interim and full-year reports, so that Gazit-Globe 
Ltd. can consolidate Citycon Group figures into its own IFRS finan-
cial statements.

34. CHANGES IN GROUP STRUCTURE IN 2012

Companies acquired
Helsingin Hämeentie 109-111 Koy
Oulun Isokatu 20 Koy
Oulun Isokatu 22 Koy
Tampereen Koskenranta Koy (increase of ownership by 41,7% to 100%) 
(current Tampereen Koskikeskus Koy)
Stenungs Torg Fastighets AB (increase of ownership by 30% to 100%)
Strömpilen AB (increase of ownership by 25% to 100%)

Companies established
Etelä-Suomen Kauppakiinteistöt Oy
Citycon Denmark ApS
Albertslund Centrum ApS

Companies sold
Tapiolan Alueen Kehitys Oy
Drabantvägen bostäder AB
Citycon Jakobsberg Bostäder 3 AB
Kouvolan Valtakadun Kauppakeskus Koy
Valtakatu 5-7 Koy

Properties sold
Landvetter 
Floda 

Companies merged
Tampereen Koskenranta Koy 
(current Tampereen Koskikeskus Koy)
Tampereen Suvantokatu Koy 
(current Tampereen Koskikeskus Koy)
Koskikeskuksen Huolto Oy (current Tampereen Koskikeskus Koy)
Citycon Imröret AB (current Högdalen Centrum AB)

Companies with changed business names
Citycon Finland Oy (former Excellency HoldCo Oy)
Oulu Big Street Top Oy (former Veniamo-Invest Oy)
Tampereen Koskikeskus Oy (former Tampereen Hatanpää Koy)

35. POST BALANCE SHEET DATE EVENTS 
Citycon and CPPIB signed a property-secured loan worth SEK 
2.29 billion (approx. EUR 265 million) to finance a shopping cen-
tre investment on 14 January 2013. The loan collateral is the 
Kista Galleria property. The loan has a five-year maturity and was 
granted by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) (acting as 
transaction coordinator), Swedbank AB and Aareal Bank AG. 

The deal made by Citycon Oyj and CPPIB on 19 December 
concerning the acquisition of Kista Galleria in Stockholm from 
DNB Livsforsikring ASA for approximately EUR 530 million was 
closed on 17 January 2013. Under the terms of the transaction, 
the shopping centre will be owned 50 per cent by Citycon and 50 
per cent by CPPIB.

The shareholders of Citycon Oyj were invited to an Extraordi-
nary General Meeting to be held on Wednesday, 6 February 2013 
at 2.00 p.m. The Board of Directors proposes that the Extraordi-
nary General Meeting would resolve on authorising the Board of 
Directors to decide on issuance of new shares for consideration. 
Citycon decided to begin preparations for a rights issue of a max-
imum of 125,000,000 new shares pursuant to the shareholders’ 
pre-emptive subscription right. In addition to financing the ac-
quisition of Kista Galleria shopping centre in Stockholm, which 
was announced on 19 December 2012, the proceeds from the 
Offering are intended to strengthen the company’s balance sheet, 
finance the Company’s strategy and for general corporate purpos-
es.

On 30 January 2013, Citycon announced that the statutory 
collaborative negotiations in the Finnish Business Unit concern-
ing reorganization of business operations were concluded. As a 
result of the negotiations, Citycon will reduce a total of 10 em-
ployees from its Finnish Business unit. It was estimated when the 
process started that a maximum of 14 employees would possibly 
be reduced. A cluster organization model will be taken into use in 
all of Citycon’s operating countries. In the cluster organizational 
model shopping centres will be combined to form entities which 
are led by commercial directors.

N
OTES TO

 TH
E CO

N
SO

LIDATED
 FIN

AN
CIAL STATEM

EN
TS



52    Citycon Oyj • financial statements 2012

KEY FIGURES AND RATIOS

1) CONSOLIDATED KEY FIGURES AND RATIOS FOR FIVE YEARS
					   

EUR MILLION Formula 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Statement of comprehensive income data
Turnover 239.2 217.1 195.9 186.3 178.3
Other operating income and expense 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.0 6.1
Operating profit/loss 163.4 81.8 157.7 10.3 -105.0
Profit/loss before taxes 95.5 19.7 102.8 -37.5 -162.3
Profit/loss attributable to parent company shareholders 77.2 13.0 78.3 -34.3 -124.1

Statement of financial position data
Investment properties 2,714.2 2,522.1 2,367.7 2,147.4 2,111.6
Current assets 75.5 125.0 56.9 65.9 52.4
Equity attributable to parent company shareholders 1,015.7 902.6 849.5 731.1 799.1
Non-controlling interest 44.2 59.2 50.7 36.8 38.2
Interest-bearing liabilities 1,533.0 1,547.9 1,397.7 1,321.7 1,199.5
Total liabilities 1,758.6 1,715.9 1,536.3 1,485.3 1,341.2
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 2,818.5 2,677.7 2,436.5 2,253.2 2,178.5

Key performance ratios
Equity ratio, % 1 37.8 36.0 37.1 34.2 38.5
Equity ratio for the banks, % 40.5 39.0 39.4 40.6 45.1
Gearing, % 2 139.8 151.4 153.1 169.5 141.3
Return on equity, % (ROE) 3 9.0 2.3 11.1 -4.7 -15.0
Return on investment, % (ROI) 4 7.7 3.8 10.6 -0.5 -1.5
Quick ratio 5 0.4 0.5 0.3 0.4 0.5
Gross capital expenditure, EUR million 161.7 216.7 133.7 134.6 157.9
% of turnover 67.6 99.8 68.3 72.2 88.6

Per-share figures and ratios
Earnings per share, EUR 1) 6 0.26 0.05 0.33 -0.15 -0.54
Earnings per share,diluted, EUR 1) 7 0.26 0.05 0.33 -0.15 -0.54
Net cash from operating activities per share, EUR 1) 8 0.21 0.25 0.09 0.29 0.21
Equity per share, EUR 9 3.11 3.25 3.47 3.31 3.62
P/E (price/earnings) ratio 1) 10 10 48 9 -20 -3

Return from invested unrestricted equity fund per share, EUR 1) 0.11 2) 0.11 0.10 0.10 0.10
Dividend per share, EUR 1) 0.04 2) 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04
Dividend and return from invested unrestricted equity fund per share total, EUR 1) 0.15 2) 0.14 0.13 0.13 0.13
Dividend and return of equity per earnings, % 11 57.9 300.7 40.8 -90.2 -24.9
Effective dividend and return of equity yield, % 12 5.8 6.3 4.4 4.6 8.0

Operative key ratios
Net rental yield, % 13 6.4 6.0 5.8 6.1 5.8
Occupancy rate (economic), % 15 95.7 95.5 95.1 95.0 96.0
Citycon's GLA, sq.m. 1,000,270 994,730 942,280 961,150 937,650
Personnel (at the end of the period) 129 136 129 119 113

1) 	 Per share result key figures 
have been calculated with 
the issue-adjusted number 
of shares resulting from 
the rights issue executed in 
2012.

2) 	 Board proposal

Formulas are available  
on page 62.
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2) Five year segment information
	 					   

EUR million 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Turnover
Finland 143.2 132.5 126.5 131.3 126.8
Sweden 63.1 60.1 52.8 41.0 41.9
Baltic Countries and New Business 32.8 24.5 16.7 14.0 9.6

Total 239.2 217.1 195.9 186.3 178.3
Net rental income

Finland 98.2 90.5 86.7 92.4 90.9
Sweden 39.2 35.4 28.7 23.2 24.1
Baltic Countries and New Business 24.6 18.4 11.8 9.8 6.8

Total 162.0 144.3 127.2 125.4 121.8
EPRA operating profit

Finland 89.3 83.2 80.9 86.3 85.4
Sweden 34.0 30.4 24.1 20.0 21.0
Baltic Countries and New Business 23.7 17.1 10.6 8.8 6.2
Other -11.4 -13.4 -10.5 -7.4 -7.3

Total 135.7 117.4 105.0 107.7 105.3
Operating profit/loss

Finland 87.5 42.3 107.5 21.2 -62.9
Sweden 48.2 32.4 46.7 0.3 -49.1
Baltic Countries and New Business 39.1 20.5 14.1 -3.8 14.4
Other -11.4 -13.4 -10.5 -7.4 -7.4

Total 163.4 81.8 157.7 10.3 -105.0
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Parent Company Income Statement, FAS

EUR million Note 1 Jan.-31 Dec. 2012 1 Jan.-31 Dec. 2011

Gross rental income 26.9 102.8
Service charge income 1.3 4.4

Turnover 2 28.2 107.3
Property operating expenses 18.4 55.1
Other expenses from leasing operations 3 0.0 0.3

Net rental income 9.8 51.9
Administrative expenses 4, 5 11.5 32.7
Other operating income and expenses 6 -0.2 2.2

Operating profit -1.9 21.3

Financial income 91.9 101.1
Financial expenses -100.0 -116.4

Net financial income and expenses 7 -8.1 -15.3

Loss/profit before appropriations and taxes -10.1 6.0

Group contributions 27.1 -
Income tax expense/benefit 8 0.0 -1.6

Profit/loss for the period 17.0 7.6
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Parent Company Balance Sheet, FAS

EUR million Note 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 9 0.5 24.5
Tangible assets 10 8.3 31.0
Investments

Shares in subsidiaries 11 1,226.8 1,252.6
Shares in associated companies 12 - 33.0
Other investments 13 858.6 699.4

Total investments 2,085.4 1,985.0
Total non-current assets 2,094.2 2,040.4

Current assets
Long-term receivables 15 - 1.6
Short-term receivables 15 72.0 28.8
Cash and cash equivalents 16.6 63.6

Total current assets 88.6 94.1

Total assets 2,182.7 2,134.6

EUR million Note 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Shareholders’ equity 16
Share capital 259.6 259.6
Share premium fund 133.1 133.1
Invested unrestricted equity fund 337.3 277.2
Retained earnings 0.4 3.9
Profit/loss for the period 17.0 7.6

Total shareholders’ equity 747.3 681.3

Liabilities 17

Long-term liabilities
Convertible capital loan 1/2006 - 68.1
Bond 1/2009 39.7 39.6
Bond 1/2012 149.5 -
Other long-term liabilities 1,074.0 1,088.1

Total long-term liabilities 1,263.3 1,195.8

Short-term liabilities
Convertible capital loan 1/2006 39.1 -
Other short-term liabilities 133.0 257.5

Total short-term liabilities 172.1 257.5

Total liabilities 1,435.4 1,453.3

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 2,182.7 2,134.6
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Parent company CASH FLOW STATEMENT, FAS

EUR million 1 Jan.-31 Dec. 2012 1 Jan.-31 Dec. 2011

Cash flow from operating activities
Loss/profit before taxes -10.1 6.0
Adjustments:

Depreciation and impairment loss 0.3 12.0
Non-cash property operating expenses 8.7 21.8
Net financial income and expenses 8.1 15.3
Loss/gain on sale and on liquidation of shares in subsidiaries 
and other investments 0.2 0.7

Cash flow before change in working capital 7.1 55.9
Change in working capital 10.5 4.6

Cash generated from operations 17.6 60.4

Interest expense and other financial expenses paid -55.0 -93.6
Interest income and other financial income received 73.7 52.7
Realized exchange rate losses and gains -0.4 10.8
Income taxes received - 7.4

Net cash flow from operating activities 35.8 37.6

Cash flow used in investing activities
Investment in tangible and intangible assets -3.8 -18.0
Proceeds from sale of tangible assets - 0.7
Loans granted -220.8 -122.1
Repayments of loans receivable 57.6 335.6
Increase in subsidiary shares - -792.0
Decrease in subsidiary shares 25.6 390.3
Purchase of minority and associated companies' shares - -0.3
Decrease in and sale of associated companies' shares 33.9 1.8

Net cash used in investing activities -107.5 -204.0

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from rights and share issue 90.7 99.7
Sale of treasury shares - 0.4
Proceeds from short-term loans 115.3 135.6
Repayments of short-term loans -131.5 -98.8
Proceeds from long-term loans 599.6 582.2
Repayments of long-term loans -600.6 -470.4
Dividends paid and return from the invested unrestricted equity fund -41.7 -34.3

Net cash from financing activities 31.7 214.4

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -40.0 48.0
Cash and cash equivalents at period-start 40.4 -7.6
Cash and cash equivalents at period-end 1) 0.4 40.4

1) 	 Cash and cash equivalents of Citycon Oyj included the Group cash pool as at 31 December 2012 and at 31 December 2011, 
in which the parent company's bank account can have a negative balance. Cash pool balance of EUR -16.2 million as at 31 
December 2012 and EUR -23.3 million as at 31 December 2011 has been recognised in the parent company's balance sheet 
under short-term liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY'S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, FAS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The parent company’s financial statements are prepared in ac-
cordance with the Finnish law.

Comparability Of Financial Periods
Citycon Oyj has changed its Group structure as of 1 April 2012. 
Citycon’s Finnish real estate operations were transferred from 
Citycon Oyj through business transfer to two new holding compa-
nies Citycon Finland Oy and Etelä-Suomen Kauppakiinteistöt Oy. 
After the business transfer, Citycon Oyj was left with the group 
functions and headquarter personnel. Therefore, the financial pe-
riods 2012 and 2011 are not comparable.

Income Statement Format
The income statement is presented in accordance with the func-
tion-based format and it includes both gross and net rental income.

Non-Current Assets
Non-current assets are recognized in the balance sheet at acquisi-
tion cost less impairment losses and depreciation/amortisation.

Property Portfolio
The buildings’ acquisition cost is depreciated annually on a 
straight line basis at 2–4 per cent. Repair costs are expensed as 
incurred. 

Other Non-Current Assets
Other non-current assets include capitalised costs related to the 
acquisition of properties, which are amortised over three years, and 
tenant improvements, which are amortised during the lease term. 
  Machinery and equipment is depreciated at 25 percent annually, 
using the reducing balance method of depreciation. The machin-
ery and equipment category includes also technical equipment in 
buildings and the depreciation is made accordingly.

Pension Schemes
The company’s employee pension cover is based on statutory pen-
sion insurance.

Foreign Currency Receivables And Payables
Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies as 
well as forward rate agreements are measured at the exchange 

rate quoted on the balance sheet date. Any exchange rate differ-
ences resulting from currency translations are recognised as ex-
change rate differences in the income statement.

Convertible Capital Loan
Convertible capital loan is shown as separate item in liabilities. 

Income Taxes
Current taxes are recognised on an accrual basis. 
Deferred taxes arising from temporary differences between the 
book and fiscal values have been recognised separately in the in-
come statement and the balance sheet.

Important Note
Individual figures and sum totals presented in the financial state-
ments have been rounded to the nearest hundreds thousands of 
euros; this may cause minor discrepancies between the sum to-
tals and the sums of individual figures as given. 

2. TURNOVER
EUR million 2012 2011

Turnover by business segments:
Shopping centres

Helsinki Metropolitan Area 8.3 32.4
Other areas in Finland 12.0 47.9

Other retail properties 7.9 27.0
Total 28.2 107.3

Geographically the parent company's turnover is generated in Fin-
land. Parent company turnover includes the following administra-
tive fees received from Group companies:

EUR million 2012 2011

Administrative fees from Group companies 0.3 0.9

3. OTHER EXPENSES FROM LEASING OPERATIONS
EUR million 2012 2011

Tenant improvements and commissions 0.0 0.2
Credit losses 0.0 0.2
Total 0.0 0.3

4. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
EUR million 2012 2011

Average number of employees during period 42 86
Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries 5.8 10.0
Pension charges 0.9 1.2
Other social charges 0.3 0.4

Total 6.9 11.6

The items presented above include non-recurring personnel ex-
penses of EUR 0.1 million (EUR 1.2 million in 2011) arising from 
employment terminations.

Personnel expenses include the following manage-
ment salaries and emoluments

CEO’s salary and emoluments 1.0 0.5
Board remuneration 0.7 0.7

Total 1.7 1.2

5. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENTS
EUR million 2012 2011

The following depreciation and amortisation as 
well as impairments are included in the administra-
tive expenses:

Amortisation on intangible assets 0.2 4.7
Depreciation on buildings and constructions 0.0 0.5
Depreciation on machinery and equipment 0.0 0.3
Impairment of shares in subsidiaries and in 
associated companies - 6.6

Total 0.3 12.0

6. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
EUR million 2012 2011

Loss/gain on sale of shares in subsidiaries and 
other investments -0.6 -4.1
Liquidation of the MREC Myllypuro shopping 
Centre - 3.4
Leasing and asset management fees from Group 
companies 0.1 2.8
Other operating income 0.3 0.1
Total -0.2 2.2
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7. NET FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
EUR million 2012 2011

Dividend income
From Group companies 19.5 11.7
From others 0.0 0.0

Total 19.5 11.7

Interest and other financial income
From Group companies 38.3 32.5
Foreign exchange gains 33.8 53.7
Other interest and financial income 0.3 3.3

Total 72.4 89.4

Total financial income 91.9 101.1

Interest and other financial expenses
To Group companies 5.2 8.0
Foreign exchange losses 33.9 53.6

Loss from convertible bond buybacks 0.9 -
Interest and other financial expenses 60.0 54.8

Total financial expenses 100.0 116.4

Net financial income and expenses -8.1 -15.3

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Me 2012 2011

Current taxes - -
Deferred tax benefit 0.0 -1.6
Income taxes 0.0 -1.6

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
EUR million 2012 2011

Intangible rights
Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2.5 2.0
Additions during the period 0.3 0.5
Transfer of business -1.1 -
Accumulated acquisition costs 31 Dec. 1.7 2.5

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan. -1.5 -1.2
Transfer of business 0.4 -
Depreciation for the period -0.2 -0.3
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec. -1.3 -1.5

Net carrying amount 31 Dec. 0.4 1.0

Connection fees
Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 0.2 0.2
Transfer of business -0.2 -

Net carrying amount 31 Dec. - 0.2

Tenant improvements and other non-current 
assets
Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 39.5 23.7
Additions during the period 0.1 15.8
Transfer of business -38.2 -
Accumulated acquisition costs 31 Dec. 1.5 39.5

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan. -16.3 -11.9
Transfer of business 15.0 -
Depreciation for the period 0.0 -4.3
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec. -1.3 -16.3

Net carrying amount 31 Dec. 0.1 23.2

Total intangible assets 31 Dec. 0.5 24.5

10. TANGIBLE ASSETS
EUR million 2012 2011

Land
Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 3.2 3.3
Reductions during the period - -0.1
Transfer of business -3.2 -
Net carrying amount 31 Dec. - 3.2

Buildings and constructions
Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 69.1 68.7
Additions during the period - 0.4
Transfer of business -69.0 -
Accumulated acquisition costs 31 Dec. 0.1 69.1

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan. -45.1 -44.6
Transfer of business 44.9 -
Depreciation for the period - -0.5
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec. -0.1 -45.1

Net carrying amount 31 Dec. - 24.0

Machinery and equipment
Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 5.9 5.7
Additions during the period 0.4 0.2
Transfer of business -5.2 -
Accumulated acquisition costs 31 Dec. 1.1 5.9

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan. -5.0 -4.7
Transfer of business 4.4 -
Depreciation for the period 0.0 -0.3
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec. -0.6 -5.0

Net carrying amount 31 Dec. 0.4 1.0

Machinery and equipment also include technical 
equipment in buildings.

Other tangible assets
Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 0.2 0.2
Additions during the period 0.0 -
Transfer of business -0.2 -
Accumulated acquisition costs 31 Dec. 0.0 0.2
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Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan. -0.2 -0.2
Transfer of business 0.2 -
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec. 0.0 -0.2

Net carrying amount 31 Dec. 0.0 0.1

Construction in progress
Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 2.7 2.2
Additions during the period 7.1 0.5
Transfer of business -2.0 -
Net carrying amount 31 Dec. 7.8 2.7

Total tangible assets 31 Dec. 8.3 31.0

11.  SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES
EUR million 2012 2011

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 1,252.6 857.5
Additions during the period 314.5 654.6
Impairment of shares - -5.2
Reductions during the period - -254.7
Transfer of business -340.2 0.3
Net carrying amount 31 Dec. 1,226.8 1,252.6

12. SHARES IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
EUR million 2012 2011

Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 33.0 34.8
Impairment of shares - -1.4
Reductions during the period - -0.4
Transfer of business -33.0 -
Net carrying amount 31 Dec. - 33.0

13. OTHER INVESTMENTS
EUR million 2012 2011

Minority holdings
Acquisition cost 1 Jan. 0.9 0.9
Additions during the period - 0.3
Transfer of business -0.9 -0.3
Net carrying amount 31 Dec. - 0.9

  
Loan receivables from Group companies 858.6 698.5
Other receivables from outside the Group 0.0 -

Total other investments 31 Dec. 858.6 699.4

Total investments 31 Dec. 2,085.4 1,985.0

EUR million 2012 2011 14. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Parent company's subsidiaries and associated companies are pre-
sented in the Note 33 Related Party Transactions in the Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

15. LONG-TERM AND SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES
EUR million 2012 2011

Long-term receivables from outside the Group
Deferred tax assets - 1.6

Total long-term receivables - 1.6

Receivables from outside the Group
Trade receivables 0.2 2.0
Other receivables 1.3 1.8
Accrued income and prepaid expenses 0.1 1.2

Total 1.7 5.0

Receivables from Group companies
Trade receivables 4.8 1.2

Loan receivables 0.1 -0.1
Maintenance charge receivables - 4.5
Other receivables 36.7 13.5

Total other receivables 36.8 17.9
Interest receivables 1.6 1.7
Other accrued income and prepaid expenses 0.0 2.9

Total accrued income and prepaid expenses 1.6 4.7
Group contributions receivables 27.1 -

Total 70.3 23.8

Total short-term receivables 72.0 28.8

16. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
EUR million 2012 2011

Share capital at 1 Jan. 259.6 259.6
Share capital at 31 Dec. 259.6 259.6

Share premium fund at 1 Jan. 133.1 133.1
Share premium fund at 31 Dec. 133.1 133.1

Invested unrestricted equity fund at 1 Jan. 277.2 201.5
Proceeds from share issue 90.7 99.7
Sale of treasury shares - 0.4
Equity return from the invested unrestricted 
equity fund -30.6 -24.5

Invested unrestricted equity fund at 31 Dec. 337.3 277.2

Retained earnings at 1 Jan. 11.5 13.6
Dividends -11.1 -9.8

Profit/ Loss for the period 17.0 7.6
Retained earnings at 31 Dec. 17.3 11.5

Total shareholders’ equity at 31 Dec. 747.3 681.3

17. LIABILITIES
A) Long-term liabilities
EUR million 2012 2011

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities
 Convertible capital loan 1/2006 1) - 68.1
Bond 1/2009 39.7 39.6
Bond 1/2012 149.5 -
Loans from financial institutions, which are

converted into fixed rates through inter-
est-rate swaps 1,021.7 1,005.4
tied to market interest rates 70.9 97.7

Total 1,092.7 1,103.1
Current portion of interest-bearing 
liabilities -27.5 -25.0

Total 1,065.2 1,078.1
Loans from Group companies 8.8 9.9

Total long-term liabilities 1,263.3 1,195.8

Loans maturing later than 5 years 150.1 64.6
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B) Short-term liabilities
EUR million 2012 2011

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities
Convertible capital loan 1/2006 1) 39.1 -
Commercial papers 32.5 48.7
Loans from financial institutions - 108.8
Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities 27.5 25.0
Loans from Group companies 52.1 40.7

Total 151.2 223.2

Short-term non-interest-bearing liabilities
Payables to outside the Group
Advances received - 0.2
Accounts payable 0.5 1.6

Derivative financial instruments 0.7 0.1
Other payables 3.8 0.2

Total other payables 4.5 0.3
Interest liability 9.0 5.4
Other accruals 2.4 4.3

Total accruals 11.5 9.7
Total 16.5 11.7

1) 	 The terms and conditions of convertible capital loan are presented in Note 28 
Loans in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EUR million 2012 2011

Payables to Group companies
Accounts payable 0.0 0.0

Charge-for-financial cost payables - 1.9
Other payables 1.6 20.7

Total other payables 1.6 22.6
Accruals 2.9 0.0

 Total 4.5 22.6

Total short-term liabilities 172.1 257.5

Total liabilities 1,435.4 1,453.3

All Group external derivative financial instruments in Citycon are 
executed by the parent company Citycon Oyj. Derivative financial 
instruments held with external counterparties are presented 
in Note 23. Derivative Financial Instruments in the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition Citycon Oyj had 

an internal foreign exchange derivative on 31 December 2012 
with a fair value of EUR -1.5 million and a nominal amount of 

EUR 626.3 million. 

18. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The parent company doesn't have any mortgages nor given secu-
rities.
A) Lease liabilities
EUR million 2012 2011

Payables on lease commitments
Maturing next financial year 0.6 0.8
Maturing later 0.3 0.4
Total 0.9 1.2

Citycon’s finance leases mainly apply to computer hardware, ma-
chinery and equipment, cars and office premises.

B) Guarantees given
EUR million 2012 2011

Bank guarantees 63.7 39.2
Of which on behalf of Group companies 53.0 34.5

C) VAT refund liabilities
5 year review period10 year rewiev period

EUR million 2012 2011 2012 2011

Property investment (net) - 0.9 - 0.8
VAT of property investment 
(100%) - 0.2 - 0.2
out of which VAT has been deduct-
ed on the date of completion - 0.2 - 0.1
Annual amount under review - 0.0 - 0.0
VAT refund liability at 31 Dec. - 0.0 - 0.1
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Biggest shareholders on 31 December 2012

Name Number of shares
Percentage of 

shares and votes

Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 29,344,735 8.98
The State Pension Fund of Finland 2,300,000 0.70
OP Bank Group Pension Fund 1,942,699 0.59
Sijoitusrahasto Aktia Capital 1,735,245 0.53
Folketrygdfondet 1,495,292 0.46
Odin Finland 1,494,401 0.46
Mutual Insurance Company Pension-Fennia 1,048,297 0.32
Sijoitusrahasto Taaleritehdas Arvo Markka Osake 970,001 0.30
Sijoitusrahasto Evli Suomi Pienyhtiöt 945,638 0.29
OP Bank Group Pension Foundation 872,465 0.27
10 biggest, total 42,148,773 12.89

Nominee-registered shares
Danske Bank Plc 115,865,849 35.45
Evli Bank Plc 44,194,144 13.52
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 41,441,696 12.68
Nordea Bank Finland Plc 30,819,872 9.43
Svenska Handelsbanken AB (publ), filial verksamheten i Finland 17,101,902 5.23
Other nominee-registered shares 1,357,619 0.42
Nominee-registered shares, total 250,781,082 76.72

Others 33,950,157 10.39
Shares, total 326,880,012 100.00

Gazit-Globe Ltd. has informed the company that the number of shares held by it on 31 December 
2012 amounts to 160,199,639 shares accounting for 49.0 per cent of the shares and voting rights 
in the company at the year-end of 2012. Gazit-Globe Ltd.'s shareholding is nominee-registered.

Notifications of changes in shareholding during 2012
The company did not receive any notifications of changes in shareholding during the year 2012.

Breakdown of shareholders on 31 December 2012 by number of shares

Number of shares Number of owners
Percentage of 

owners Number of shares
Percentage of 

shares and votes

1 - 100 580 8.08 30,676 0.01
101 - 1,000 2,874 40.04 1,355,949 0.41
1,001 - 5,000 2,781 38.75 6,571,878 2.01
5,001 - 10,000 460 6.41 3,240,100 0.99
10,001 - 50,000 376 5.24 7,640,085 2.34
50,001 - 100,000 45 0.63 3,214,926 0.98
100,001 - 500,000 40 0.56 9,527,616 2.91
500,001 - 1,000,000 9 0.13 6,514,650 1.99
1,000,001 - 12 0.17 288,784,132 88.35
Total 7,177 100.00 326,880,012 100.00
of which nominee-registered 13 250,781,082 76.72
Issued stock, total 326,880,012

Share price and trading volume
Formula 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Share price, transactions, EUR
Low 2.12 2.02 2.29 1.3 1.26
High 2.71 3.41 3.31 3.16 4.28
Average 16 2.43 2.77 2.84 1.99 2.94
Market capitalisation, EUR million 17 840.1 641.7 753.3 649.9 371.3

Share trading volume

No. of shares traded as of year-start, 1,000 81,975 97,483 114,974 149,340 150,852
Percentage of total 25.1 35.1 47.0 67.0 68.3
Average number of shares, 1,000 1) 298 ,091 269,676 236,841 229,457 229,411
Average number of shares, diluted, 1,000 1) 313,202 287,420 255,171 248,627 256,642
Number of shares on 31. Dec., 1,000 326,880 277,811 244,565 221,060 220,999

1)	 Calculation of the number of shares is presented in Note 16. Earnings per share. Number of shares has been issue-adjusted 
resulting from the rights issue executed in 2012.

Shareholders and Shares

Shareholders by ownergroup on 31 December 2012

Number of owners
Percentage of 

owners Number of shares
Percentage of 

shares and votes

Financial and insurance corporations 51 0.71 257,445,417 78.76
Corporations 558 7.77 9,345,021 2.86
Households 6,425 89.52 17,535,192 5.36
General government 12 0.17 34,320,703 10.50
Foreign 59 0.82 6,383,633 1.95
Non-profit institutions 72 1.00 1,850,046 0.57
Total 7,177 100.00 326,880,012 100.00
of which nominee-registered 13 250,781,082 76.72
Issued stock, total 326,880,012
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FORMULAS FOR KEY FIGURES AND RATIOS

1) Equity ratio, % Shareholders’ equity
X 100

Balance sheet total - advances received

2) Gearing, % Interest-bearing liabilities - cash and cash equivalents
X 100

Shareholders’ equity

3) Return on equity (ROE), % Profit/loss for the period
X 100

Shareholders’ equity (weighted average)

4) Return on investment (ROI), % 
Profit/loss before taxes  + interest and other financial expenses

X 100Balance sheet total (weighted average) - (non-interest-bearing liabilities on the balance sheet date + opening balance of 
non-interest-bearing liabilities)/2

5)  Quick ratio Current assets
Short-term liabilities

6) Earnings per share (EPS), EUR
Profit/loss for the period attributable to parent company shareholders

X 100
Average number of shares for the period

7) Earnings per share, diluted, EUR Profit/loss for the period attributable to parent company shareholders
X 100

Diluted average number of shares for the period

8) Net cash from operating activities per share, EUR Net cash from operating activities
X 100

Average number of shares for the period

9) Equity per share, EUR Equity attributable to parent company shareholders
Number of shares on the balance sheet date

10) P/E ratio (price/earnings) Closing price at year-end
EPS

11) Dividend and return of equity per earnings, % Dividend per share
X 100

EPS

12) Effective dividend and return of equity yield, % Dividend per share
X 100

Closing price at year-end

13) Net rental yield, % Net rental income (last 12 months)
X 100

Average fair value of investment property

14) Occupancy rate, %, sq.m. Leased space
X 100

Leasable space

15) Occupancy rate (economic), % Rental income as per leases
X 100

Estimated market rent of vacant premises + rental income as per leases

16) Average share price, EUR Value of shares traded (EUR)
Average number of shares traded

17) Market capitalisation Number of shares x closing price for the period excl. treasury shares

18) Net interest-bearing debt (fair value), EUR million Fair value of interest-bearing debts - cash and cash equivalents
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SIGNATURES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Signatures to the Financial Statements 1 January - 31 December 2012

In Helsinki, on 5 February 2013

	 Chaim Katzman		  Ronen Ashkenazi

	 Roger Kempe		  Kirsi Komi

	 Bernd Knobloch		  Claes Ottosson

	J orma Sonninen		  Per-Håkan Westin

	Y uval Yanai		A  riella Zochovitzky

		M  arcel Kokkeel	
		  CEO	

We have today submitted the report on the conducted audit.

In Helsinki, on 5 February 2013

Ernst & Young Oy 
Authorized Public Accountants

Tuija Korpelainen
Authorized Public Accountant
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AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Annual General Meeting of Citycon Oyj
We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, 
the report of the Board of Directors, and the administration of 
Citycon Oyj for the year ended 31 December, 2012. The finan-
cial statements comprise the consolidated statement of finan-
cial position, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, as well as the parent compa-
ny’s balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and 
notes to the financial statements.

The responsibility of the Board of Directors  
and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsi-
ble for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as 
for the preparation of financial statements and the report of the 
Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the 
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in 
Finland. The Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate 
arrangement of the control of the company’s accounts and financ-
es, and the Managing Director shall see to it that the accounts of 
the company are in compliance with the law and that its financial 
affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial state-
ments, on the consolidated financial statements and on the report 
of the Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act 
requires that we comply with the requirements of professional 
ethics. We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing 

practice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements and the report of the Board of 
Directors are free from material misstatement, and whether the 
members of the Board of Directors of the parent company and the 
Managing Director are guilty of an act or negligence which may re-
sult in liability in damages towards the company or have violated 
the Limited Liability Companies Act or the articles of association 
of the company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit ev-
idence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial 
statements and report of the Board of Directors that give a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appro-
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of account-
ing policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presenta-
tion of the financial statements and the report of the Board of 
Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion on the consolidated financial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and 
cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

Opinion on the company’s financial statements and the report 
of the Board of Directors
In our opinion, the financial statements, together with the con-
solidated financial statements included therein, and the report 
of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view of the financial 
performance and financial position of the company in accordance 
with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the 
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in 
Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is 
consistent with the information in the financial statements.

Helsinki, 5 February 2013

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountants

Tuija Korpelainen
Authorized Public Accountant
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Property Address
Built in / 

 renovated in Holding, %
Citycon's  

GLA, sq.m.
Occupancy rate,  

%, sq.m. 1)

Economic  
Occupancy rate,  

%, EUR 1)

FINLAND
SHOPPING CENTRES, HELSINKI METROPOLITAN AREA

1 Arabia 14,000 89.3 92.7
Helsingin Hämeentie 109-111 Koy Hämeentie 109-111 00550 HELSINKI 1960/2002 100%

2 Columbus 20,900 97.3 97.5
Kauppakeskus Columbus Koy Vuotie 45 00980 HELSINKI 1997/2007 100%

3 Espoontori 17,100 84.6 86.7
Espoon Asemakuja 2 Koy Asemakuja 2 02770 ESPOO 1991 100% 6,300
Espoon Asematori Koy Kamreerintie 5 02770 ESPOO 1989/2010 54% 1,800
Espoontori Koy Kamreerintie 3 02770 ESPOO 1987/2010 67% 9,000
Espoontorin Pysäköintitalo Oy Kamreerintie 1 02770 ESPOO 1987/2010 60%

4 Heikintori 6,300 70.0 82.4
Heikintori Oy Kauppamiehentie 1 02100 ESPOO 1968 69%

5 Iso Omena 63,000 99.7 99.8
Big Apple Top Oy Piispansilta 9 02230 ESPOO 2001/2012 60%

6 Isomyyri 10,800 84.6 86.3
Myyrmäen Kauppakeskus Koy Liesitori 1 01600 VANTAA 1987 74%
Liesikujan Autopaikat Oy Liesikuja 2 01600 VANTAA 1987 8%

7 Lippulaiva 19,000 98.4 99.0
Lippulaiva Koy Espoonlahdenkatu 4 02320 ESPOO 1993/2007 100%

8 Martinlaakson Ostari 7,400 94.8 96.8
Martinlaakson Kivivuorentie 4 Koy Kivivuorentie 4 01620 VANTAA 2011 100%

9 Myllypuron Ostari 7,400 83.8 85.3
Kivensilmänkuja 1 Koy Kivensilmänkuja 1 00920 HELSINKI 2011/2012 100%

10 Myyrmanni 39,700 94.4 96.4
Myyrmanni Koy Iskoskuja 3 01600 VANTAA 1994/2007/2011 100%
Myyrmäen Autopaikoitus Oy Iskoskuja 3 01600 VANTAA 1994 63%

11 Tikkuri 13,300 93.1 97.1
Tikkurilan Kauppakeskus Koy Asematie 4-10 01300 VANTAA 1984/1991 84% 10,500
Asematie 3 Koy Asematie 3 01300 VANTAA 1972 100% 1,400
Tikkurilan Kassatalo As Oy Asematie 1 01300 VANTAA 1956 60% 1,400

SHOPPING CENTRES, OTHER AREAS IN FINLAND
12 Duo 13,500 98.6 99.1

Hervannan Liikekeskus Oy Insinöörinkatu 23 33720 TAMPERE 1979 79% 5,200
Tampereen Hermanni Koy Pietilänkatu 2 33720 TAMPERE 2007 100% 8,300

13 Forum 16,700 98.1 99.5
Jyväskylän Forum Koy Asemakatu  5 40100 JYVÄSKYLÄ 1953/1972/1980/1991/2010 100%

Property list
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14 Galleria 6,400 96.4 98.3
Oulun Galleria Koy Isokatu 23 90100 OULU 1987 100% 3,400
Oulun Isokatu 20 Koy Isokatu 20 90100 OULU 1967/1993/1998 100% 1,500
Oulun Isokatu 22 Koy Isokatu 22 90100 OULU 1967/1993/1998 100% 1,500

15 IsoKarhu 14,900 97.3 99.4
Kauppakeskus IsoKarhu Oy Yrjönkatu 14 28100 PORI 1972/2001/2004 100%

16 IsoKristiina 19,400 89.0 92.2
Karjalan Kauppakeskus Koy Brahenkatu 3 53100 LAPPEENRANTA 1987 100% 8,400
Lappeen Liikekeskus Koy Brahenkatu 5 53100 LAPPEENRANTA 1987 91% 7,400
Lappeenrannan Brahenkatu 7 Koy Brahenkatu 7 53100 LAPPEENRANTA 1993 84% 3,600
Lappeenrannan Villimiehen Vitonen Oy Kaivokatu 5 53100 LAPPEENRANTA plot 100%

17 Jyväskeskus 5,800 90.2 94.3
Jyväskylän Kauppakatu 31 Koy Kauppakatu 31 40100 JYVÄSKYLÄ 1955/1993 100%

18 Koskikara 5,800 85.1 89.2
Valkeakosken Liikekeskus Koy Valtakatu 9-11 37600 VALKEAKOSKI 1993 25% 1,500
Valkeakosken Torikatu 2 Koy Valtakatu 9-11 37600 VALKEAKOSKI 1993 100% 4,300

19 Koskikeskus 34,300 100.0 100.0
Tampereen Koskikeskus Koy Hatanpään valtatie 1 33100 TAMPERE 1988/1995/2012- 100%

20 Linjuri 9,200 100.0 100.0
Linjurin Kauppakeskus Koy Vilhonkatu 14 24100 SALO 1993/2007 89%

21 Sampokeskus 13,800 85.4 92.0
Rovaniemen Sampotalo Maakuntakatu 29-31 96200 ROVANIEMI 1990 100% 11,700
Lintulankulma Koy Rovakatu 28 96200 ROVANIEMI 1989/1990 100% 2,100

22 Torikeskus Kauppatori 1 60100 SEINÄJOKI 1992/2007 100% 11,700 93.8 95.9
23 Trio 45,700 91.9 92.2

Lahden Hansa Koy Kauppakatu 10 15140 LAHTI 1992/2010- 100% 10,700
Lahden Trio Koy Aleksanterinkatu 20 15140 LAHTI 1977/1985-1987/1992/2007 90% 35,000
Hansaparkki Koy Kauppakatu 10 15140 LAHTI 1992 36%

OTHER RETAIL PROPERTIES, HELSINKI METROPOLITAN AREA
1 Aseman Ostari 4,000 83.5 92.3

Kirkkonummen Liikekeskus Oy Asematie 3 02400 KIRKKONUMMI 1991/2011 67%
2 Asolantien Liikekiinteistö Oy Asolanväylä 50 01360 VANTAA 1986 100% 1,800 100.0 100.0
3 Espoon Louhenkulma Koy Louhentie 2 02130 ESPOO 1963 50% 880 100.0 100.0
4 Hakunilan Keskus 3,780 96.7 96.2

Hakucenter Koy Laukkarinne 6 01200 VANTAA 1986 19% 780
Hakunilan Keskus Oy Laukkarinne 4 01200 VANTAA 1982 41% 3,000

5 Kontulan Asemakeskus Koy Keinulaudankuja 4 00940 HELSINKI 1988/2007 35% 4,500 100.0 100.0
6 Laajasalon Liikekeskus 2,660 100.0 100.0

Laajasalon Liikekeskus Oy Yliskyläntie 3 00840 HELSINKI 1972/1995 50% 2,300
Kuvernöörintie 8 Koy Kuvernöörintie 8 00840 HELSINKI 1982 100% 360

7 Lauttasaaren Liikekeskus Oy Lauttasaarentie 28-30 00200 HELSINKI 1970 24% 1,500 100.0 100.0
8 Länsi-Keskus Koy Pihatörmä 1 02210 ESPOO 1989 41% 7,800 90.2 88.8
9 Minkkikuja 4 Koy Minkkikuja 4 01450 VANTAA 1989 100% 2,300 100.0 100.0
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10 Pihlajamäen liiketalo Oy Meripihkatie 1 00710 HELSINKI 1970 43% 1,700 84.3 66.6
11 Salpausseläntie 11 Koy Salpausseläntie 11 00710 HELSINKI 1973 31% 600 0.0 0.0
12 Sampotori Heikintori, Kauppamiehentie 1 02100 ESPOO plot 100% 50 100.0 100.0
13 Sinikalliontie 1 Koy Sinikalliontie 1 02630 ESPOO 1964/1992 100% 15,700 96.8 98.7
14 Soukan Itäinentorni As Oy Soukantie 16 02360 ESPOO 1972 27% 1,600 100.0 100.0
15 Talvikkitie 7-9 Koy Talvikkitie 7-9 01300 VANTAA 1989 100% 9,700 97.8 96.9
16 Ultima Oy Äyritie 1 01510 VANTAA plot 100%
17 Vantaan Laajavuorenkuja 2 Koy Laajavuorenkuja 2 01620 VANTAA 1976 100% 2,000 100.0 100.0
18 Vantaan Säästötalo Koy Kielotie 20 01300 VANTAA 1983 61% 3,800 96.9 98.0
19 Wavulinintie 1 Koy Wavulinintie 1 00210 HELSINKI 1950/1992 100% 1,700 51.3 21.8

OTHER RETAIL PROPERTIES, OTHER AREAS IN FINLAND
20 Forssan Hämeentie 3 Koy Hämeentie 3 31100 FORSSA 1978 100% 4,500 0.0 0.0
21 Kaarinan Liiketalo Koy Oskarinaukio 5 20780 KAARINA 1979/1982 100% 9,200 95.0 96.3
22 Karjaan Ratakatu 59 Koy Ratakatu 59 10320 KARJAA 1993 100% 3,100 100.0 100.0
23 Kotkan Keskuskatu 11 Koy Keskuskatu 11 48100 KOTKA 1976 100% 4,300 54.5 59.0
24 Kuopion Kauppakatu 41 Koy Kauppakatu 41 70100 KUOPIO 1977 100% 11,200 96.0 97.4
25 Kuusankosken Kauppakatu 7 Koy Kauppakatu 7 45700 KUUSANKOSKI 1980 100% 2,100 100.0 100.0
26 Lahden Kauppakatu 13 Koy Kauppakatu 13 15140 LAHTI 1971 100% 8,600 100.0 100.0
27 Lentolan Perusyhtiö Oy Mäkirinteentie 4 36220 KANGASALA 2007 100% 11,900 93.5 94.1
28 Lillinkulma Koy Jännekatu 2-4 20760 PIISPANRISTI 2007 100% 7,400 75.0 76.7
29 Orimattilan Markkinatalo Oy Erkontie 3 16300 ORIMATTILA 1983 77% 3,100 89.7 90.5
30 Porin Asema-aukio Koy Satakunnankatu 23 28130 PORI 1957/1993 100% 18,900 48.2 38.8
31 Porin Isolinnankatu 18 Koy Isolinnankatu 18 28100 PORI 1986/2012 100% 5,300 61.7 68.1
32 Puijonlaakson Palvelukeskus Koy Sammakkolammentie 6 70200 KUOPIO 1971 31% 1,500 100.0 100.0
33 Runeberginkatu 33 Koy Runeberginkatu 33 06100 PORVOO 1988 100% 6,300 100.0 100.0
34 Säkylän Liiketalo Koy Pyhäjärventie 3 27800 SÄKYLÄ 1969 100% 1,200 100.0 100.0
35 Vaakalintu Koy Keskuskatu 15 11100 RIIHIMÄKI 1980 96% 6,700 100.0 100.0
36 Varkauden Relanderinkatu 30 Koy Relanderinkatu 28-34 78200 VARKAUS 1990 100% 8,200 100.0 100.0
59 FINLAND TOTAL 595,670 91.5 95.3

SWEDEN
SHOPPING CENTRES, STOCKHOLM AREA AND UMEÅ

1 Fruängen Centrum Fruängsgången 12952 HÄGERSTERN 1965 100% 14,900 91.4 92.8
2 Högdalen Centrum 19,300 95.9 98.0

Citycon Högdalen Centrum AB Högdalsgången 1-38 12454 BANDHAGEN 1959/1995 100%
3 Jakobsbergs Centrum 45,400 95.9 96.9

Citycon Jakobsbergs Centrum AB Tornérplatsen 30 17730 JÄRFALLA 1959/1993 100%
4 Liljeholmstorget Galleria 40,900 98.6 97.9

Citycon Liljeholmstorget Galleria AB Liljeholmstorget 7 11763 STOCKHOLM 1973/1986/2007/2008/2009 100%
5 Strömpilen 26,700 98.3 98.3

Strömpilen AB Strömpilsplatsen 90743 UMEÅ 1927/1997 100%
6 Tumba Centrum 25,500 97.4 97.5

Citycon Tumba Centrumfastigheter AB Tumba Torg 115 14730 BOTKYRKA 1954/2000 100%
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7 Åkermyntan Centrum Drivbänksvägen 1 16574 HÄSSELBY 1977/2012 100% 9,500 94.0 96.0
8 Åkersberga Centrum 27,500 81.7 86.9

Åkersberga Centrum AB Storängstorget 18430 ÅKERSBERGA 1985/1995/1996/2010/2011 75%

SHOPPING CENTRES, GOTHENBURG AREA
9 Stenungs Torg 36,400 94.8 95.7

Stenungs Torg Fastighets AB Östra Köpmansgatan 2-16, 18A-C 44430 STENUNGSUND 1967/1993 100%

OTHER RETAIL PROPERTIES, STOCKHOLM AREA AND UMEÅ
1 Kallhäll Skarprättarvägen 36-38 17677 JÄRFALLA 1991 100% 3,700 63.4 73.6
2 Länken Gräddvägen 1-2 90620 UMEÅ 1978/2004/2006 100% 7,300 100.0 100.0

OTHER RETAIL PROPERTIES, GOTHENBURG AREA
3 Backa Backavägen 3-5 41705 GOTHENBURG 1990 100% 7,800 29.1 25.9
4 Hindås Hindås Stationväg 41-47 43063 HINDÅS 1978/1999 100% 1,600 100.0 100.0
5 Lindome Almåsgången 43730 LINDOME 1974 100% 7,800 96.8 97.2
14 SWEDEN TOTAL 274,300 92.6 94.7

BALTIC COUNTRIES AND NEW BUSINESS
ESTONIA, SHOPPING CENTRES

1 Kristiine Keskus 42,700 100.0 100.0
Kristiine Keskus Oü Endla 45 10615 TALLINN 1999-2002/2010 100%

2 Magistral 11,700 100.0 100.0
Magistral Kaubanduskeskuse Oü Sõpruse pst 201/203 13419 TALLINN 2000/2012 100%

3 Rocca al Mare 53,300 100.0 100.0
Rocca al Mare Kaubanduskeskuse AS Paldiski mnt 102 13522 TALLINN 1998/2000/2007-2009 100%

LITHUANIA, SHOPPING CENTRES
4 Mandarinas 7,900 100.0 100.0

UAB Prekybos Centras Mandarinas Ateities g. 91 06324 VILNIUS 2005 100%

DENMARK, SHOPPING CENTRES
5 Albertslund Centrum 14,700 95.2 95.5

Albertslund Centrum ApS Stationstorvet 23 2620 ALBERTSLUND 1965 100%
5 BALTIC COUNTRIES AND NEW BUSINESS, TOTAL 130,300 99.5 99.6

78 TOTAL ALL 1 000 270 92.8 95.7

1) Formulas are available on page 62.

Property Address
Built in / 

 renovated in Holding, %
Citycon's  

GLA, sq.m.
Occupancy rate,  

%, sq.m. 1)

Economic  
Occupancy rate,  

%, EUR 1)

PR
O

PE
RT

Y
 L

IS
T



Citycon Oyj • Financial statements 2012    69

Valuation Statement 31 December 2012

1. Scope of Instructions
In accordance with our instructions as the External Valuer of City-
con Oyj (“Company”), we have carried out a fair valuation of the 
Properties held within the Company’s investment property port-
folio as at 31 December 2012, to arrive at our opinion of fair value 
(no allowance was made for the typical purchaser’s costs).

Fair value is defined by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) as:

“The price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to 
transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market par-
ticipants on the measurement date.”

The International Valuation Standards Board (IVSB) considers 
that definitions of fair value are generally consistent with market 
value, and we confirm that the fair value reported is effectively the 
same as our opinion of the market value.

We understand that this valuation is required for financial re-
porting and performance measurement purposes.

We confirm that our valuations are fully compliant with IFRS 
accounting standards and IVSC valuation standards and guidance. 
We also confirm that we have no involvement with the subscriber 
or the properties valued, which is likely to cause a conflict of inter-
est in our provision of this advice.

We carried out inspections of each of the properties during 
September-December 2011. We also re-inspected 35 properties 
during 2012 and we also inspected all the properties acquired in 
2012. We have not measured the properties but have relied on 
the leasable areas supplied to us by the Company. We have not 
read copies of the leases or of other related documents, but have 
relied on the tenancy information provided by the Company, which 
reflects the latest available tenancy position.

The valuations were carried out by local Jones Lang LaSalle 
offices in Finland and Sweden. In Estonia, Lithuania and Denmark, 
we were supported in the delivery of our advice by local affiliates.

This report is addressed to and may be relied upon by the Com-
pany. It has no other purpose and should not be relied on by any 
other person or entity. No responsibility whatsoever is accepted 
on the part of any third party, other than those specified above 
and neither the whole of the Report, nor any part, nor references 
thereto, may be published in any document, statement or circular, 
nor in any communication with such third parties, without our prior 
written approval of the form and context in which it will appear.

2. Economic Background
The economic picture across Europe remains mixed and economic 
growth projections for 2012 indicate recession in Southern Eu-
rope, mild contraction in the Benelux countries and the UK, whilst 
Germany and the Nordics are expected to see some growth and 
some of the CEE countries relatively strong growth. Projections 
for 2013 point to improved growth rates in a number of countries, 
although it is still expected to remain weak. The strongest growth 
in 2013 is expected in Central and Eastern Europe, the Nordic 
countries and Turkey.

Finland
In 2011, GDP increased by 2.7% according to Statistics Finland, 
which means that Finland clearly outperformed the eurozone av-
erage. In the third quarter of 2012, GDP growth was -0.1% com-
pared the previous quarter and -1.2% compared to Q3 2011. For 
2013, all the current forecasts promise expansion but the vari-
ance is wide, from 0.5% up to 2.5%. Exports in Finland continued 
to increase by 2.4% in Q3 2012 compared to the previous quar-
ter, but dropped 1.8% from Q3 2011.

Consumer confidence in the economy was 3.5 in December, 
which is low compared to the long-term average (12.6). However, 
it was higher than previous months (November 1.0 and October 
-1.6). Confidence in retail decreased during autumn 2012. The 
confidence indicator was -9 in December while the long-term av-
erage is 0. Despite this weak confidence level, retail sales rose by 
4.9% and volume by 1.7% in November (year-on-year).

Sweden
GDP growth was 3.9% in 2011, easily surpassing the EU average 
(1.5%). GDP growth has been driven by increasing exports, house-
hold consumption and business investment, all of which have been 
assisted by relatively low interest rates and the government’s 
expansive economic policies. Looking ahead, GDP growth for 
Sweden in 2012 was forecast to be around 0.8% and then 1.5% 
in 2013, compared with eurozone forecasts of -0.4% in 2012 and 
-0.2% in 2013.

Over the last decade, from a European perspective, private 
consumption growth for Sweden has been well above the average 
for the European Union. In the period 2001 to 2011, real private 
consumption growth was 14.1% in the EU and 23.1% in Sweden, 

and over the next five years real private consumption growth is 
forecast to be slightly in excess of the EU average, according to 
Global Insight.

Retail sales in Sweden have performed well in recent years 
and are forecast to outperform most other Western European 
countries in the period 2011-2015. In 2011, nominal retail sales 
increased by 0.8%, of which non-daily goods decreased by 0.5% 
and daily goods increased by 2.5%. An increase of 2.0% in total 
nominal retail sales for Sweden is currently forecast for 2012 
by HUI, up from the 1.3% forecast in Q1 2012. Reasons for this 
upward adjustment include the fact that the rate of redundancies 
and unemployment are not as severe as expected at the beginning 
of the year.

 
Estonia
Economic growth in Estonia slowed as expected in 2012, but it 
has remained above the eurozone average. Estonia's economic 
growth in Q3 2012, according to revised results, was 3.5%, main-
ly supported by domestic demand. The Bank of Estonia forecasts 
the annual GDP real growth rate to reach 2.9% and to grow by 
3.0% in 2013 and by 4.0% in 2014. Demand in Estonia's exports 
markets is expected to grow by 3.2% in 2013 and by 5.6% in 
2014.

Inflation in 2012 was 4.3%, predominantly due to an increase 
in energy and food prices. The inflation forecasts for 2013 and 
2014 are 3.6% and 2.4% respectively.

In November 2012, revenues from the sales of retail trade en-
terprises amounted to EUR 446 million, of which the retail sales 
of goods accounted for 80%. Compared to November 2011, the 
revenues from sales increased by 9% at current prices, while the 
average growth during the first  eleven months of 2012 was 15%.

Lithuania
Lithuanian economic growth has significantly exceeded that of 
the eurozone countries. Economic activity increased due to sig-
nificantly higher value added in agriculture and industry. However, 
with expectations of economic growth weakening worldwide, 
weaker economic prospects are expected in Lithuania as well. 
The Bank of Lithuania forecasts an annual GDP real growth 
rate of 3.0% in 2012 and 3.1% in 2013. With consumer 
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confidence below its average level for more than a decade, it is 
anticipated that private consumption will grow relatively slowly 
in 2013. Annual inflation should stand at 3.2% in 2012 and 2.8% 
in 2013.

In November 2012, the revenues of retail trade enterprises 
grew by 5.1% year-on-year at constant prices. During the eleven 
months of 2012 (January–November), the revenues of enterpris-
es trading in food products increased by 1.4% over the year at 
constant prices, and of those trading in non-food products reve-
nues increased by 11.3%.

Denmark
While the crisis in Europe drags on, its effects are placing the Dan-
ish economy under increasing pressure. According to forecasts, 
Danish year-on-year GDP growth slipped into negative territory in 
2012 but it is predicted to recover in 2013, driven mainly by an 
increase in consumer spending and exports as well as continued 
growth in commercial investment volumes.

Hopes that 2012 would mark the beginning of the end of the 
Danish economic downturn and the start of stable growth were 
quashed in the early months of the year when it became evident 
that the European sovereign debt crisis continued to take its toll 
on Danish economy. In recent years, Danish exports have come un-
der severe pressure because multiple key trading partners were 
hit very hard by the sovereign debt crisis. Irrespective of these 
difficult circumstances, Danish businesses have been able to post 
stable growth figures throughout the crisis, serving as an impor-
tant driver of Danish GDP growth. In addition, the Danish govern-
ment initiative to introduce the tax-free withdrawal of early re-
tirement savings in 2012 helped to spur consumer spending, even 
at a time when the economy had come to a near-standstill. How-
ever, this positive trend was countered by a negative trend in net 
exports, suggesting that the increase in consumer spending has 
been absorbed largely by imported goods, such as cars. Overall, 
GDP growth was projected to stand at -0.5% in 2012, followed by 
an increase of 0.7% in 2013 and 1.6% in 2014.

Retail sales stayed at a low level in 2012. At the end of No-
vember retail sales were down 2% measured on quantity and 

around 0.5% measured on value year-on-year. Retail sales 
are still affected by the negative trend in the overall eco-

nomic growth figures, which makes people reluctant to spend 
money because they worry about the future.

Source: Statistics authorities, research institutes and banks

3. Property Market
Finland
Overall, the Finnish property investment market has witnessed 
low levels of transactions since the slowdown in in the first half 
of 2008. Although investment demand has been increasing, the 
scarce supply of prime assets continues to limit transactional 
activity. During 2012, retail investment volumes briefly exceeded 
the low levels of 2011, ending up at EUR 400 million. The forecast 
for 2013 does not indicate any big changes in the market.

The polarisation of the market seems to be continuing. Demand 
for core assets remains strong, as equity-rich investors keep look-
ing for safe havens, while tightening financing conditions are af-
fecting the business logic of value added and opportunistic inves-
tors. Consequently, shopping centre prime yields have remained 
stable or have even slightly decreased, but the secondary yields 
are facing upward pressure.

As a consequence of relatively strong retail sales develop-
ment, retail rents have also been increasing. However, rental 
growth has been focused on the prime locations, except in the re-
tail warehouse sector where the overall rental growth seems to be 
over. At the same time, occupier demand is strongest in prime high 
street and shopping centre units.

Sweden
The retail property transaction volume in Q4 2012 was some SEK 
7.6 billion, which is higher than the SEK 6.8 billion of retail prop-
erty transacted in Q4 2011. However, in 2012 the retail property 
transaction volume was lower than in 2011. In 2011, some SEK 
16.1 billion of retail property was transacted, which compares 
with the SEK 13.4 billion in 2012. Around 80% of the retail prop-
erty transaction volume in Q4 2012 were transactions where 
either the purchaser or the vendor was an international investor.

Investors’ interest is strong for retail property in a good loca-
tion and with good specification, with relatively strong tenants 
and low vacancy rates. However, retail properties which do not 
meet some or all of these criteria will be more difficult to sell.

Yields for prime shopping centres are currently in the region of 
5.50% and 6.25% for prime retail warehouse parks. These yields 
have generally remained stable since mid-2011, although the 
prime yield for retail warehouse parks has increased by 25 bps in 
this quarter.

Recently, prime retail rental growth has been in line with or 
slightly in excess of inflation, while secondary retail rental growth 
has generally been flat or slightly negative. In recent months, shop-
ping centre rental growth has tended to surpass rental growth in 
external retail warehouse parks. The combination of lower eco-
nomic and retail sales growth as well as the development of more 
retail accommodation has meant that recent retail rental growth 
has been lower than what has often been seen in Sweden over the 
last decade.

Estonia
The Estonian consumer confidence indicator in December 2012 
was higher compared to the year-end level of 2011 and reached 
the long-term average level. The sentiment of retail trade enter-
prises was clearly above 10-year indicator average, supported by 
rising demand. Strong sales encourages demand for retail space, 
especially in central Tallinn areas and professionally managed 
modern shopping centres. The average vacancy rates in Tallinn 
shopping centres is close to zero, while retail rents have risen in 
line with inflation.

Retail developers are adding approximately 100,000 square 
metres of new retail space to the Tallinn market over the next 24 
months. This volume includes the launch of two new centres – one 
in East Tallinn and the other in the city centre, plus the expansion 
of existing shopping centre stock. All in all there is over 500,000 
square metres of retail space in the early planning phase, but the 
market will not absorb such a volume and only professional devel-
opers can realise their projects over multiple years. Major gro-
cery chains expand their business in the hyper- and supermarket 
segments. Neighbourhood shopping also has growth potential in 
residential areas.

The investment market has been active in the retail segment; 
besides transactions in the super- and hypermarket segment, 
there was one larger EUR 21.5 million shopping centre transac-
tion in Tallinn in Q3 (GLA 21,500 sq m). The other similar-sized 

VA
LU

AT
IO

N
 S

TA
TE

M
EN

T 
31

 D
EC

EM
BE

R 
20

12



Citycon Oyj • Financial statements 2012    71

shopping centre transaction is in the closing phase and will be fi-
nalised in January 2013. As the transaction market has strength-
ened, retail yields have dropped below 8%.

Lithuania
Vilnius’ retail property market is growing, as three retail projects 
with a total GLA of 60,000 sq m are planned in the near future 
due to international fashion retailers entering the market and 
domestic retailers keeping pace with rising competition. A large 
IKEA store with a GLA of 30,000 sq m will open its doors in 2013. 
Retailer expansion and new brands entering the market have cut 
vacancy rates in prime shopping centres to a minimum. Rent re-
ductions are running out and rents are increasing in line with in-
flation. A large gap persists between rent rates in prime and sec-
ondary centres.

Until mid-2012, the interest from international investors was 
focused mainly on Estonia, but gradually demand is spreading 
across the Baltics, including Vilnius. The last quarter of 2012 
brought about a EUR 25 million retail transaction, as Swedish in-
vestment fund East Capital acquired Gedimino Street 9, a 17,000 
sq m high street shopping mall in the centre of Vilnius. The prime 
shopping centre yields stand close to 8.0% and the increase in 
investment activity will probably lead to further yield reductions.

Denmark
Investment activity in commercial real estate was fairly low again 
in 2012. The total transaction volume was at the same level as 
in 2011, but the retail share of the total volume dropped signifi-
cantly. In 2011 the retail transaction volume was around 30% of 
the total investment volume, but in 2012 this number was close 
to 15%. The primary reason was that one of the landmark proper-
ties in Copenhagen – Illum shopping centre – was traded in 2011 
and this deal alone was DKK 1.6bn. There were no massive deals 
of this kind in 2012 in the retail segment and therefore the share 
of retail investment has dropped.

The primary focus in 2012 in the retail investment market was 
on high street properties in Copenhagen. There has been a grow-
ing interest, particularly from foreign investors, in this type of as-
set and yield is down to 4.75% for prime assets in Copenhagen. In 
the shopping centre market, liquidity is still low because a large 

number of the shopping centres are owned by only two dominant 
investors who are very eager to sell properties. The yield for prime 
shopping centres was around 5-5.5% by the end of 2012 and it 
has been flat for last 12 months.

4. Valuation Rationale
We have adopted a 10-year cash flow model as a main valuation 
method. This model was provided by the Company. Cash flows are 
calculated based on information from existing lease agreements. 
For the period after the expiry of these agreements, our market 
evaluation of the estimated rental value (ERV) replaces the con-
tract rent.

Potential Gross Rental Income equals leased space with re-
spect to contract rents and vacant space with respect to ERV. 
Deducting both the ERV for the void period between the expired 
contract and assumed new contract, and the assumed general 
vacancy level after the start of the assumed new lease, results in 
the Effective Gross Rental Income. Effective Gross Rental Income 
less operating expenses (including repairs and tenant improve-
ments) equals the Net Operating Income (NOI). NOI less any cap-
ital expenditure equals the bottom-level cash flow that has been 
discounted to reach the income stream’s present value.

The residual value at the end of the 10-year cash flow period 
is calculated by using an exit yield to capitalise the 11th year bot-
tom-level cash flow. The value of the property is calculated as the 
sum of the annually discounted net income stream, the discount-
ed residual value at the end of the calculation period, and any oth-
er assets increasing the value (e.g. unused usable building rights).

Development projects are included in the valuation of the port-
folio, in line with information received from representatives of 
the Company. Based on the applied valuation model, future rental 
income is based on finalised rental agreements and rental projec-
tions for the valued development project. Correspondingly, the 
development period is considered a period when premises gener-
ate no or limited income and when uncommitted investments are 
included in the cost side of the valuation model as a value reducing 
factor. Thus, the value of a development project increases auto-
matically as investments are committed and the opening day of 
the renewed premises approaches.

 

5. Valuation
Property Portfolio
The property portfolio consists mainly of retail properties locat-
ed in Finland, Sweden, Estonia, Lithuania and Denmark. Citycon 
Oyj fully or partly owns a total of 76 properties, of which 57 are 
located in Finland, 14 in Sweden, three in Estonia, one in Lithua-
nia and one in Denmark. The core of the portfolio consists of 37 
shopping centre properties, which comprise 91.4% of the port-
folio’s leasable area and represent most of its value. In addition 
to the shopping centres, there are other retail and development 
properties.

Since the previous valuation, two properties have been includ-
ed in the external valuation; Citytalo Shopping Centre, located in 
Oulu, Finland, which is part of Galleria, a property Citycon previ-
ously owned, and Albertslund Shopping Centre, located in Copen-
hagen, Denmark.

The total fair value of the portfolio in Q4 2012 was approxi-
mately EUR 2,704 million. Comparing the Q3 2012 fair value of 
the portfolio, the fair value increased by EUR 48 million, i.e. 1.8% 
and the weighted average yield requirement of the portfolio has 
remained at 6.3%. The increase in fair value is mainly driven by 
investments made in Q4 and new properties (Albertslund and 
Citytalo).

In the table on the next page, weighted average yields (weight-
ed by the value of the property) are presented. Citycon’s portfolio 
includes only a few relatively valuable properties compared to the 
rest of the portfolio. This means that weighted averages are high-
ly influenced by changes in these few properties. Iso Omena is the 
portfolio’s most valuable property.

Properties in Finland
The fair value of the Finnish portfolio is EUR 1,652 million and it 
increased by 1.8% (EUR 29.8 million), compared to the Q3 value. 
Compared to Q3 figures the weighted yield requirement (6.2%) 
has decreased by 10 bps, and the weighted initial yield (6.2%) and 
the reversionary yield (6.8%) have stayed the same. The change 
in the value of the Finnish portfolio is mainly due to the value 
increase in shopping centre properties.
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Properties in Sweden
The fair value of the Swedish portfolio is EUR 736 million, mean-
ing that the portfolio’s value has decreased by 0.6% since Q3. The 
decrease in value is mainly due to the weakening of the Swedish 
krona. The weighted average yield requirement for the Swedish 
portfolio increased by 10 bsp, now being at 6.0%. The weight-
ed average initial yield has decreased by 10 bps (5.6%) and the 
weighted average reversionary yield (6.6%) remained unchanged.

Properties in Baltic countries and Denmark
The value of the Baltic countries and the new business portfolio in 
Denmark is EUR 316 million. Compared to the Q3 value, this rep-
resents a 7.5% increase in value. The increase in value is mainly 
due to the addition of Albertslund in this portfolio. The weighted 
average yield requirement of the portfolio has decreased by 20 
bps, now being 7.7%. The weighted average initial yield decreased 
by 30 bps, now being 7.9% and the weighted average reversion-
ary yield increased to 8.2% by 20 bps.

 
Sensitivity Analysis
A sensitivity analysis of the portfolio’s fair value was carried out 
by creating a summary cash flow based on individual cash flow cal-
culations. Changes in fair value were tested by modifying the key 
input parameters of the calculations. The parameters tested were 
yield requirement, estimated rental value and operating expens-
es. The current fair value of the properties was used as a start-
ing point for the analysis, which was performed by changing one 
parameter at a time while all the others remain unchanged, and 
then calculating the corresponding fair value of the total portfo-
lio. Sensitivity analysis is a simplified model, intended to support 
one’s understanding of the value effect of different parameters 
on the valuation. The figure below gives the results of the analysis.

 As seen in the figure above, the value of the portfolio is most 
sensitive to the changes in estimated rental value and yield re-
quirement. A 10% increase in estimated rental value leads to a 
change of around 14% in value, while a 10% fall in the yield re-
quirement causes an increase of around 11% in value. Changes 
in expenses have more modest effect on the value than other 
parameters.

 

Fair Value as at 31 December 2012
We are of the opinion that the aggregate of the fair value, free of 
liabilities and debt, of the properties in the subject portfolio as at 
31 December 2012, is approximately EUR 2,704,000,000 (Two 
Thousand Seven Hundred and Four Million Euros)

In Helsinki and Stockholm, 16 January 2013
Yours faithfully

Tero Lehtonen
Director
For and on behalf of
Jones Lang LaSalle Finland Oy

Åsa Linder
Director
For and on behalf of
Jones Lang LaSalle AB

Maria Sirén
Analyst
For and on behalf of
Jones Lang LaSalle Finland Oy

Design and production: Citycon Oyj, Spokesman Oy.
Photographs: Imagokuva / Vesa Kippola, Citycon’s photo archive.

Printing: Lönnberg Oy
Paper: Galerie Art Matt 300 g/m²  

Galerie Art Matt 130 g /m², Scandia 2000 White 90 g/m²
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Citycon’s shopping centres in Finland

Arabia
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 14,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-market, S-market, Tarjoustalo, Alko, 
Chico’s, pharmacy

Columbus
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 20,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-citymarket, S-market, Lindex, Seppälä, 
Alko, pharmacy

Duo
Tampere
Citycon’s gross leasable area 13,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, K-supermarket, Lidl, Alko, Posti

Espoontori
Espoo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 17,100 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-supermarket, Tarjoustalo, Posti

Forum
Jyväskylä
Citycon’s gross leasable area 16,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Seppälä, Vero Moda, Tokmanni, K-super-
market

Galleria
Oulu
Citycon’s gross leasable area 6,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Lindex, Life

Heikintori
Espoo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 6,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: KappAhl, Alko, Posti

IsoKarhu
Pori
Citycon’s gross leasable area 14,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, Intersport, Vero Moda, Only, Jack&-
Jones, Gina Tricot

IsoKristiina
Lappeenranta
Citycon’s gross leasable area 19,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Anttila, K-market, Alko, Jim&Jill, Voglia

Isomyyri
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 10,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, Tarjoustalo

Iso Omena
Espoo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 63,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-citymarket, Prisma, library, Finnkino, 
H&M

Jyväskeskus
Jyväskylä
Citycon’s gross leasable area 5,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, KappAhl, Finnkino, Mc Donald’s, 
Elosen Konditoria, Seppälä

Citycon Oyj  
Korkeavuorenkatu 35
FI-00130 Helsinki, FINLAND
Tel. +358 207 664 400
info@citycon.fi
www.citycon.com
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The theme of this year’s Annual  
and  Sustainability Report is 
community engagement

Koskikara
Valkeakoski
Citycon’s gross leasable area 5,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, Alko, Vapaa Valinta, Seppälä

Koskikeskus
Tampere
Citycon’s gross leasable area 34,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Intersport, Gina Tricot, Bik Bok, Promod, 
Seppälä, Lindex

Linjuri
Salo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 9,200 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Pharmacy, Alko, Anttila, K-market, Posti

Lippulaiva
Espoo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 19,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Alko, Anttila, pharmacy, K-supermarket, 
Lidl, Posti, Sky Bowl

Martinlaakso
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 7,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, Lidl, Sampo Pankki, pharmacy

Myllypuro
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 7,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, K-supermarket, media library, 
pharmacy

Myyrmanni
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 39,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-citymarket, H&M, Anttila, pharmacy, 
Alko, Suomalainen Kirjakauppa, Stadium

Sampokeskus
Rovaniemi
Citycon’s gross leasable area 13,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Dressmann, Jack&Jones, MODA, Gina 
Tricot, Pentik, Vero Moda, Vila, Duetto

Torikeskus
Seinäjoki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 11,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, Aleksi 13, KappAhl, Lindex, Pentik

Tikkuri
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 13,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Valintatalo, Nordea, Dressmann, Aleksi 13, 
Seppälä

Trio
Lahti
Citycon’s gross leasable area 45,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, K-supermarket, Gina Tricot, Kekäle, 
Cumulus, Posti

Galleria Esplanad
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 11,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Tiger of Sweden, Maranello, Gant Store, 
Della Marga, Marimekko, M-Boxi, Oscar Jacobson Shop

Tullintori
Tampere
Citycon’s gross leasable area 10,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-market, Seppälä, Vapaa Valinta, phar-
macy

Fruängen Centrum
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 14,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Library, Systembolaget, Läkarhuset

Högdalen Centrum
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 19,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, MatDax, Lindex, Dressmann, pharmacy

Jakobsbergs Centrum
Järfälla
Citycon’s gross leasable area 45,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Coop, H&M, Lindex, Systembolaget

Kista Galleria
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 90,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Åhléns, ICA, New Yorker, Clas Ohlson, 
StayAt Hotel 

Liljeholmstorget Galleria
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 40,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA Kvantum, Willy’s, H&M, Systembola-
get, SATS, Clas Ohlson, MQ, Lindex

Stenungs Torg
Stenungsund
Citycon’s gross leasable area 36,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: KappAhl, Hemtex, Systembolaget, Coop

Strömpilen
Umeå
Citycon’s gross leasable area 26,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA Maxi, Elgiganten, Lindex, H&M

Tumba Centrum
Botkyrka
Citycon’s gross leasable area 25,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, KappAhl, H&M, Dressmann

Åkersberga Centrum
Österåker
Citycon’s gross leasable area 27,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, KappAhl, Lindex, library, Systembolaget

Åkermyntan Centrum
Hässelby
Citycon’s gross leasable area 9,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, Coop, pharmacy, Lidl

Citycon’s shopping centres in the baltic 
countries and in denmark

Rocca al Mare
Tallinn
Citycon’s gross leasable area 53,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Prisma, Marks&Spencer, NewYorker, 
Lindex, Rademar

Kristiine
Tallinn
Citycon’s gross leasable area 42,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Prisma, Zara, NewYorker, M&S, Benetton, 
JYSK

Magistral
Tallinn
Citycon’s gross leasable area 11,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Rimi, Koduextra, Rademar, Tiimari, 
Seppälä

Mandarinas
Vilnius
Citycon’s gross leasable area 7,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Rimi, Hansapank, Farma

Albertslund Centrum
Alberstlund
Citycon’s gross leasable area 14,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Aldi, SuperBest, Vero Moda

Citycon’s shopping centres in Sweden

Shopping centres managed by Citycon
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Koskikara
Valkeakoski
Citycon’s gross leasable area 5,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, Alko, Vapaa Valinta, Seppälä

Koskikeskus
Tampere
Citycon’s gross leasable area 34,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Intersport, Gina Tricot, Bik Bok, Promod, 
Seppälä, Lindex

Linjuri
Salo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 9,200 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Pharmacy, Alko, Anttila, K-market, Posti

Lippulaiva
Espoo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 19,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Alko, Anttila, pharmacy, K-supermarket, 
Lidl, Posti, Sky Bowl

Martinlaakso
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 7,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, Lidl, Sampo Pankki, pharmacy

Myllypuro
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 7,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, K-supermarket, media library, 
pharmacy

Myyrmanni
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 39,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-citymarket, H&M, Anttila, pharmacy, 
Alko, Suomalainen Kirjakauppa, Stadium

Sampokeskus
Rovaniemi
Citycon’s gross leasable area 13,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Dressmann, Jack&Jones, MODA, Gina 
Tricot, Pentik, Vero Moda, Vila, Duetto

Torikeskus
Seinäjoki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 11,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, Aleksi 13, KappAhl, Lindex, Pentik

Tikkuri
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 13,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Valintatalo, Nordea, Dressmann, Aleksi 13, 
Seppälä

Trio
Lahti
Citycon’s gross leasable area 45,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, K-supermarket, Gina Tricot, Kekäle, 
Cumulus, Posti

Galleria Esplanad
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 11,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Tiger of Sweden, Maranello, Gant Store, 
Della Marga, Marimekko, M-Boxi, Oscar Jacobson Shop

Tullintori
Tampere
Citycon’s gross leasable area 10,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-market, Seppälä, Vapaa Valinta, phar-
macy

Fruängen Centrum
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 14,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Library, Systembolaget, Läkarhuset

Högdalen Centrum
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 19,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, MatDax, Lindex, Dressmann, pharmacy

Jakobsbergs Centrum
Järfälla
Citycon’s gross leasable area 45,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Coop, H&M, Lindex, Systembolaget

Kista Galleria
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 90,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Åhléns, ICA, New Yorker, Clas Ohlson, 
StayAt Hotel 

Liljeholmstorget Galleria
Stockholm
Citycon’s gross leasable area 40,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA Kvantum, Willy’s, H&M, Systembola-
get, SATS, Clas Ohlson, MQ, Lindex

Stenungs Torg
Stenungsund
Citycon’s gross leasable area 36,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: KappAhl, Hemtex, Systembolaget, Coop

Strömpilen
Umeå
Citycon’s gross leasable area 26,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA Maxi, Elgiganten, Lindex, H&M

Tumba Centrum
Botkyrka
Citycon’s gross leasable area 25,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, KappAhl, H&M, Dressmann

Åkersberga Centrum
Österåker
Citycon’s gross leasable area 27,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, KappAhl, Lindex, library, Systembolaget

Åkermyntan Centrum
Hässelby
Citycon’s gross leasable area 9,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: ICA, Coop, pharmacy, Lidl

Citycon’s shopping centres in the baltic 
countries and in denmark
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Arabia
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 14,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-market, S-market, Tarjoustalo, Alko, 
Chico’s, pharmacy

Columbus
Helsinki
Citycon’s gross leasable area 20,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-citymarket, S-market, Lindex, Seppälä, 
Alko, pharmacy

Duo
Tampere
Citycon’s gross leasable area 13,500 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, K-supermarket, Lidl, Alko, Posti

Espoontori
Espoo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 17,100 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-supermarket, Tarjoustalo, Posti

Forum
Jyväskylä
Citycon’s gross leasable area 16,700 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Seppälä, Vero Moda, Tokmanni, K-super-
market

Galleria
Oulu
Citycon’s gross leasable area 6,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Lindex, Life

Heikintori
Espoo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 6,300 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: KappAhl, Alko, Posti

IsoKarhu
Pori
Citycon’s gross leasable area 14,900 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, Intersport, Vero Moda, Only, Jack&-
Jones, Gina Tricot

IsoKristiina
Lappeenranta
Citycon’s gross leasable area 19,400 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: Anttila, K-market, Alko, Jim&Jill, Voglia

Isomyyri
Vantaa
Citycon’s gross leasable area 10,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: S-market, Tarjoustalo

Iso Omena
Espoo
Citycon’s gross leasable area 63,000 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: K-citymarket, Prisma, library, Finnkino, 
H&M

Jyväskeskus
Jyväskylä
Citycon’s gross leasable area 5,800 sq.m.
Anchor tenants: H&M, KappAhl, Finnkino, Mc Donald’s, 
Elosen Konditoria, Seppälä

Citycon Oyj  
Korkeavuorenkatu 35
FI-00130 Helsinki, FINLAND
Tel. +358 207 664 400
info@citycon.fi
www.citycon.com
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